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Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

We have made statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including matters discussed under Item 1A. Risk Factors, Item 3. Legal Proceedings, Item
7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, and in other sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K,
that are forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify these statements by forward-looking words such as “may,” “might,” “will,” “should,”
“expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential” or “continue,” the negative of these terms and other comparable
terminology. These forward-looking statements, which are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions about us, may include projections of our future
financial performance, our anticipated growth strategies and anticipated trends in our business. These statements are only predictions based on our current
expectations and projections about future events. There are important factors that could cause our actual results, level of activity, performance or
achievements to differ materially from the results, level of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements,
including those factors discussed under Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Although we believe the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, level of activity,
performance or achievements. Moreover, neither we nor any other person assumes responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of any of these
forward-looking statements. We are under no duty to update any of these forward-looking statements after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K to
conform our prior statements to actual results or revised expectations.
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Commonly Used Defined Terms

The following terms have the following meanings throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K unless the context indicates or requires otherwise:

Acquired Revenue Revenue attributable to acquired business for the most recent trailing twelve-
month period prior to acquisition by BRP at the time the due diligence was
concluded based on a quality of earnings review and not an audit

Amended LLC Agreement Third Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of BRP,
as amended

book of business Insurance policies bound by us on behalf of our Clients
bps Basis points
BRP Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC, our operating company and direct subsidiary of

BRP Group
BRP's LLC Members Holders of membership interests of Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC
BRP Group BRP Group, Inc., our parent company
Clients Our insureds
Colleagues Our employees
Exchange Act Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
GAAP Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
Insurance Company Partners Insurance companies with which we have a contractual relationship
JPM Credit Agreement Credit Agreement, dated as of October 14, 2020, between Baldwin Risk

Partners, LLC, as borrower, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as the Administrative
Agent, the Guarantors party thereto, the Lenders party thereto and the Issuing
Lenders party thereto, as amended by the Amendment No. 1 to Credit
Agreement dated as of May 7, 2021, Amendment No. 2 to Credit Agreement
dated as of June 2, 2021, Amendment No. 3 to Credit Agreement dated as of
August 6, 2021, Amendment No. 4 to Credit Agreement dated as of December
16, 2021, Amendment No. 5 to Credit Agreement dated as of March 28, 2022,
Amendment No. 6 to Credit Agreement dated as of June 27, 2023 and
Amendment No. 7 to Credit Agreement dated as of September 15, 2023

LIBOR London Interbank Offered Rate
LLC Units Membership interests of Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC
MGA Managing General Agent
MSI Millennial Specialty Insurance, LLC, a 2019 Partner
Operating Groups Our reportable segments
Partners Companies that we have acquired, or in the case of asset acquisitions, the

producers
Partnerships Strategic acquisitions made by the Company
Pre-IPO LLC Members Owners of LLC Units of Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC prior to our initial public

offering
QBE Program Administrator
Agreement

Agreement entered into in connection with the Westwood Partnership with an
affiliate of QBE Holdings, Inc., the prior owner of Westwood, under which our
MGA of the Future business provides program administrator services to QBE
Insurance Corporation in connection with the portion of our builder-sourced
homeowners book that is underwritten by affiliates of QBE Insurance
Corporation

Revolving Facility Our revolving credit facility under the JPM Credit Agreement with
commitments in an aggregate principal amount of $600.0 million, maturing
April 1, 2027

Risk Advisors Our producers
SEC U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
Securities Act Securities Act of 1933, as amended
SOFR Secured Overnight Financing Rate
Tax Receivable Agreement Tax Receivable Agreement between BRP Group, Inc. and the holders of LLC

Units in Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC entered into on October 28, 2019
Term Loan B Our term loan facility under the JPM Credit Agreement with a principal amount

of $1.02 billion, maturing October 14, 2027
Westwood Westwood Insurance Agency, a 2022 Partner
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

The Company

BRP Group, Inc. (“BRP Group,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” or “our”) is an independent insurance distribution firm delivering tailored insurance and risk
management insights and solutions that give our Clients the peace of mind to pursue their purpose, passion and dreams. We support our Clients,
Colleagues, Insurance Company Partners and communities through the deployment of vanguard resources, technology and capital to drive both organic and
inorganic growth. When we consistently execute for these key stakeholders, we believe that the outcome is an increase in value for our fifth stakeholder,
our stockholders. We are innovating the industry by taking a holistic and tailored approach to risk management, insurance and employee benefits. Our
growth plan includes continuing to recruit, train and develop industry leading talent, continuing to add geographic representation, insurance product
expertise and end-client industry expertise via our Partnership strategy, and continuing to build out our MGA of the Future platform, which delivers
proprietary, technology-enabled insurance solutions to our internal Risk Advisors as well as to a growing channel of external distribution partners. We are a
destination employer supported by an award-winning culture, powered by exceptional people and fueled by industry-leading growth and innovation.

We represent over two million Clients across the United States and internationally. Our nearly 4,000 Colleagues include approximately 700 Risk Advisors,
who are fiercely independent, relentlessly competitive and “insurance geeks.” We have approximately 115 offices in 24 states, all of which are equipped to
provide diversified products and services to empower our Clients at every stage through our three Operating Groups.

In 2011, we adopted the “Azimuth” as our corporate and cultural constitution. Named after a historical navigation tool used to find “true north,” the
Azimuth asserts our core values, business basics and stakeholder promises. The ideals encompassed by the Azimuth support our mission to deliver
indispensable, tailored insurance and risk management insights and solutions to our Clients. We strive to be regarded as the preeminent insurance advisory
firm—fueled by relationships, powered by people and exemplified by client adoption and loyalty. This type of environment is upheld by the distinct
vernacular we use to describe our services and culture. We are a Firm, instead of an agency; we have Colleagues, instead of employees; and we have Risk
Advisors, instead of producers/agents. We serve Clients instead of customers and we refer to our strategic acquisitions as Partnerships. We refer to
insurance brokerages that we have acquired, or in the case of asset acquisitions, the producers, as Partners.

Industry

Our core products include commercial property and casualty insurance, employee benefits insurance, personal lines insurance, wealth management and
retirement services, and Medicare. As a distributor of these products, we compete on the basis of reputation, client service, industry insights and know-how,
product offerings, ability to tailor our services to the specific needs of a Client and, to a lesser extent, price of our services. In the United States, our
industry is comprised of large, global participants, such as those described in the section titled “Competition” below. The remainder of our industry is
highly fragmented and comprised of over 30,000 regional and community participants that vary significantly in size and scope.

Despite the recent consolidation in the insurance brokerage industry, the industry remains highly fragmented, and the number of independent agencies has
remained roughly constant since 2006. The fragmented industry landscape presents us with the opportunity to continue acquiring high-quality Partners.

Commission revenues are generally based on a percentage of the premiums paid by insureds and normally follow premium levels. Insurance premiums are
cyclical in nature and may vary widely based on market conditions. Various factors, including competition for market share among underwriting
enterprises, increased underwriting capacity and improved economies of scale following consolidations, can result in flat or reduced property/casualty
premium rates (a “soft” market). A soft market tends to put downward pressure on commission revenues. Various countervailing factors, such as greater
than anticipated loss experience, unexpected loss exposure and capital shortages, can result in increasing property/casualty premium rates (a “hard”
market). A hard market tends to favorably impact commission revenues. Hard and soft markets may be broad-based or more narrowly focused across
individual product lines or geographic areas. As markets harden, buyers of insurance (such as our brokerage Clients), have historically tried to mitigate
premium increases and the higher commissions these premiums generate, including by raising their deductibles and/or reducing the overall amount of
insurance coverage they purchase. As the market softens, or costs decrease, these trends have historically reversed. During a hard market, buyers may
switch to negotiated fee in lieu of commission arrangements to compensate us for placing their risks, or may consider the alternative insurance market,
which includes self-insurance, captives, rent-a-captives, risk retention groups and capital market solutions to transfer risk.
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Commercial Property and Casualty Industry

Commercial property and casualty brokers provide businesses with access to property, professional liability, workers’ compensation, management liability,
commercial auto insurance products as well as risk-management services. In addition to negotiating competitive policy terms on behalf of clients, insurance
brokers also serve as a distribution channel for insurers and often perform much of the administrative functions. Insurance brokers generate revenues
through commissions, calculated as a percentage of total insurance premium, and through fees for management and consulting services. We have
relationships with leading commercial writers, as well as regional insurers who have a presence in our target markets. We conduct commercial property and
casualty business within all of our Operating Groups, which includes manufacturing our own proprietary products within our MGA of the Future platform.
Current products include commercial umbrella and management liability, with several additional commercial lines products in our existing product
pipeline.

Employee Benefits Industry

Employee benefit advisors provide businesses and their employees with access to individual and group medical, dental, life and disability coverage. In
addition to functioning as distributors, employee benefits brokers also provide assistance with benefit plan design. Employee benefits brokers’ capabilities
often enable middle-market businesses to fully outsource their employee benefits program design, management and administration without committing
internal resources or investing substantial capital in systems. Employee benefit advisors generate revenues through commissions and fees for management
and consulting services. In recent years, as a result of the Affordable Care Act (“ACA”), healthcare has become increasingly more complex, and the
demand has grown for sophisticated employee benefits consultants. We expect this trend to continue and believe we remain well positioned as a result of
our consistent investment in our employee benefits capabilities. We conduct employee benefits business within our Insurance Advisory Solutions and
Mainstreet Insurance Solutions Operating Groups.

Personal Lines Industry

Personal lines brokers provide individual consumers with access to home, auto, umbrella and recreational insurance products. Similar to commercial lines
agents, personal lines insurance agents generate revenues through commissions and fees for management and consulting services. In addition to negotiating
competitive policy terms on behalf of clients, insurance brokers also serve as a distribution channel for insurers and often perform much of the
administrative functions. We conduct personal lines business within all of our Operating Groups. We believe that embedded distribution will play a
meaningful role in the future of personal lines—to that end, we have made deep investments in technology to enable our long-term vision of creating a one-
stop, digital distribution platform for advisors, consumers and businesses alike. We believe our retail agency model, embedded technology, national
distribution capabilities and ability to build proprietary products in our MGA of the Future platform uniquely position us to execute on this strategy.

Wealth Management and Retirement Services

Wealth management and retirement services is comprised of financial solutions for small and mid-sized businesses and certain individuals. Our specialties
include risk management, employee benefits, and retirement plan consulting. We advise on corporate retirement plans and executive benefits focused on
employee retention and engagement. We also provide comprehensive financial planning and wealth management services to high-net-worth individuals and
families. Wealth management services can include investment advisory services, tax and financial planning, and other services. We conduct wealth
management and retirement services within our Insurance Advisory Solutions Operating Group.

Medicare Industry

In the U.S., Medicare provides health insurance to retirees, who by definition lack coverage via an employer sponsored healthcare program. U.S. citizens
typically become eligible for Medicare upon turning 65 years old. The Medicare market is split between the Original Medicare Plan, a fee-for-service plan
managed by the federal government which represents approximately two-thirds of the market, and Medicare Advantage, a rapidly growing private
Medicare option representing approximately one-third of the market. Medicare advisors within our Mainstreet Insurance Solutions Operating Group assist
in determining optimal coverage and healthcare/doctor access based on an individual’s healthcare needs and spending limitations.
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Business Strategy

We believe our business strategy is centered around using the results of outstanding service to Clients to reinvest the vast majority of retained earnings into
future growth, which we believe over time produces better and more sustainable results for all of our stakeholders, including our Clients, Colleagues,
Insurance Company Partners, the communities in which we work and live, and our stockholders. For our Clients, our growth affords us the ability to
provide better advice and an expanded and more cost effective suite of insurance solutions. For our Colleagues, our growth provides expanded career and
development opportunities. For our Insurance Company Partners, our growth facilitates expanded access to a more diversified universe of Clients and more
distributed pools of risk. For our communities, our growth facilitates enhanced economic contribution, and the ability of our Colleagues to make charitable
impacts. And for our stockholders, we believe that revenue growth, along with margin accretion over time, will generate significant free cash flow and
growth in firm value.

We have taken, and will continue to take, a two-pronged approach to growing our business, which includes investing meaningfully into our existing
businesses to drive organic growth, and to drive inorganic growth via our Partnership strategy.

Over time, our organic growth will be driven primarily by our ability to continue to win new business, our ability to offer and advise on a broader array of
insurance solutions in an increasingly larger geographic footprint, and to capture an increasingly larger portion of the economics associated with the sale of
insurance. To achieve this, we have invested heavily in our sales leadership infrastructure and recruitment of sales talent, technology talent and solutions to
better deliver insurance insights and solutions to our Advisors and Clients. In our MGA of the Future platform, we continue to deliver proprietary and
technology-enabled insurance solutions that provide our Advisors and select external distribution partners speed, ease of use, and certainty of execution,
while also delivering BRP an enhanced share of the economics associated with the underlying insurance transaction. Factors contributing to our organic
growth include net new business growth, fees, rate increases, retention, exposure unit growth, and contingent commissions. Contributions to organic
revenue growth from recent Partnerships begins after BRP has owned the Partner firm for 12 months.

We did not execute any Partnerships during 2023 and we continue to anticipate relatively little Partnership activity in 2024. Though Partnerships have
contributed meaningful inorganic growth to BRP and we expect them to contribute to our long-term growth strategy, we anticipate they will be more
episodic in nature going forward. Adding new Colleagues through Partnerships can significantly bolster our geographic footprint, product expertise, and
end-Client industry expertise, while adding incremental industry-leading talent to our organization. We are uniquely focused on the industry’s best and
fastest growing independent firms, and we believe we offer a truly differentiated value proposition to prospective Partners relative to our more mature
and/or private equity-backed peers, which includes retained business decision-making autonomy, leadership opportunities for new Partners and an
environment focused on entrepreneurialism and the continued growth of our Partners’ businesses. We believe our success attracting high quality Partners
has validated our differentiated value proposition—we have consummated Partnerships with 35 firms since the beginning of 2020, for a total of $538.7
million of Acquired Revenue, which includes eight “Top 100” firms since 2020, more than any other peer in our industry. We also have a highly systematic
and regimented integration process for all new Partners, supported by our fully dedicated integration team, which balances ensuring proper operational,
financial and accounting, and technology and cybersecurity controls with business decision-making autonomy and impact on new Colleagues.

The financial impact of Partnerships may affect the comparability of our results from period to period. While we did not execute on any Partnership
opportunities during 2023, we completed three Partnerships for an aggregate purchase price of $413.8 million during 2022, which contributed $143.6
million of revenue in 2023.

We continue to make the investments designed to better service our Clients and establish a competitive advantage in the industry. Ongoing investments to
date include, but are not limited to, continued buildout of our MGA of the Future platform, continued buildout of our tech-enabled homeowners efforts
(both in the MGA of the Future and in our Mainstreet Insurance Solutions business), numerous enterprise-wide technology initiatives, pursuing potential
alternative capacity, and continued hiring of Risk Advisors and sales leadership infrastructure in our Insurance Advisory Solutions and Mainstreet
Insurance Solutions Operating Groups.
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Operating Groups

We completed a strategic review of our organizational structure in January 2023 and determined that the chief operating decision maker, our chief executive
officer, would change the way he manages and operates our MainStreet and Medicare businesses. Effective in the first quarter of 2023, our chief executive
officer reviews the Medicare and Mainstreet businesses on a combined basis as one operating segment, also determined to be an Operating Group,
Mainstreet Insurance Solutions, which is used by our chief executive officer to make decisions about the resources to be allocated to the Operating Group
and to assess its performance. In addition, the Middle Market and Specialty Operating Groups were rebranded as Insurance Advisory Solutions and
Underwriting, Capacity & Technology Solutions, respectively, effective in the first quarter of 2023.

Effective in the first quarter of 2023, our business is divided into three Operating Groups: Insurance Advisory Solutions, Underwriting, Capacity &
Technology Solutions and Mainstreet Insurance Solutions.

Insurance Advisory Solutions Operating Group (“IAS”)

IAS provides expertly-designed commercial risk management, employee benefits and private risk management solutions for businesses and high-net-worth
individuals, as well as their families. Risk management solutions typically involve the sale of a wide variety of both commercial and personal lines
insurance products that mitigate risks for firms and individuals. Employee benefits solutions can include health plans, dental plans, and retirement accounts
for firms and their employees. We are privileged to have partnered with some of the highest quality independent insurance brokers across the country with
vast and varied strategic capabilities and expertise. We have been intentional in recognizing and elevating this talent across the organization to build world
class industry-focused practice groups and product Centers of Excellence that can be leveraged by the entire firm.

Underwriting, Capacity & Technology Solutions Operating Group (“UCTS”)

UCTS consists of three distinct businesses—our specialty wholesale broker business, our MGA of the Future platform and, as of the third quarter of 2023,
our newly launched reinsurance brokerage business, Juniper Re. Our specialty wholesale broker business, which is expected to be sold in the first quarter of
2024, delivers professionals, individuals and niche industry businesses expanded access to exclusive specialty markets, capabilities and programs requiring
complex underwriting and placement. Through our MGA of the Future platform (representing approximately 90% of UCTS' revenue during 2023), we
manufacture proprietary, technology-enabled insurance products that are then distributed (in many instances via technology and/or API integrations)
internally via our Risk Advisors across our other Operating Groups and externally via select distribution partners, with a focus on sheltered channels where
our products deliver speed, ease of use and certainty of execution, an example of which is our national embedded renters insurance product sold at point of
lease via integrations with property management software providers. As a prominent growth driver for BRP, we have invested heavily in the expansion of
our MGA of the Future product suite, which is now comprised of more than 12 products across both commercial and personal lines, including new product
launches in 2023 (high-net-worth homeowners, flood and commercial property products).

Mainstreet Insurance Solutions Operating Group (“MIS”)

MIS offers personal insurance, commercial insurance, and life and health solutions to individuals and businesses in their communities, with a focus on
accessing Clients via sheltered distribution channels, which include, but are not limited to, new home builders, realtors, mortgage originators/lenders,
master planned communities, and various other community centers of influence. We have invested deeply in talent, technology and capabilities across MIS,
including in Westwood's homeowners solutions that are embedded in many of the top home builders in the U.S., the national expansion of our distribution
footprint through our National Mortgage and Real Estate Center, and enhanced digital capabilities focused on improving the Advisor and Client experience.
MIS also offers consultation for government assistance programs and solutions, including traditional Medicare, Medicare Advantage and Affordable Care
Act, to seniors and eligible individuals through a network of primarily independent contractor agents.

Competition

The business of providing insurance products and services is highly competitive. We compete for Clients on the basis of reputation, client service, program
and product offerings, and our ability to tailor products and services to meet the specific needs of a Client. We actively compete with numerous integrated
financial services organizations as well as insurance companies and brokers, producer groups, individual insurance agents, investment management firms,
independent financial planners and broker-dealers, including public participants, such as Aon plc, Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc., Willis Towers
Watson plc, Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. and Brown & Brown Inc.; private company participants, such as AssuredPartners, Inc., Hub International Limited
and USI, Inc.; and in our personal lines business, Goosehead Insurance, Inc.
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Clients and Insurers

Our Clients are highly diversified and include individuals, professionals, businesses, including those in niche industries, and specialty insurers. No material
part of our business depends upon a single Client or on a few Clients. The loss of any one Client would not have a material adverse effect on our
operations. In 2023, our largest single Client represented less than 1% of our total commissions and fees.

We have relationships with a significant number of Insurance Company Partners who contribute to the commissions and fees we generate. While we do not
have a dependency on any one Insurance Company Partner, we derive a significant portion of our core commissions and fees from a limited number of
Insurance Company Partners. In 2023, two Insurance Company Partners accounted for an aggregate of approximately 17% of our total core commissions
and fees.

Human Capital

BRP is an independent Colleague-centric insurance advisory firm fueled by relationships, powered by people, and exemplified by our Colleagues’ ability to
deliver tailored insurance and risk management insights and solutions to our Clients. Our success continues to be driven by our greatest asset, our talented
team of Colleagues, each of which plays a crucial role in helping us achieve our firm goals. We attract Colleagues who share our passion for nurturing
relationships and focusing on service, and who are inspired by the core values outlined in our cultural guide, The Azimuth.

Powered by People

As of December 31, 2023, BRP had nearly 4,000 Colleagues, the vast majority of whom are full-time. There were 3,851 full-time Colleagues (98% of total
Colleague population) and 76 part-time Colleagues. The firm also partners with over 4,500 independent contracted agents, primarily supporting our
Medicare business.

BRP is a place for Colleagues to build a career, not just have a job, and we believe every Colleague should feel a sense of ownership in the firm. To
promote that connection, we grant all newly-hired Colleagues shares of BRP Group common stock.

We highly value the powerful and innovative results that come from seeking and weighing a broad range of perspectives and we strive to hire and promote
talent that brings wide ranging diversity of thought, background, and experience.

• More than half of our executive leadership team joined BRP from other industries, bringing unique background and thoughtful insight on our
continued best path to success.

• As of December 31, 2023, women comprise 58% of our Colleague population and 50% of our leadership positions.

• We benefit from a wide age range and experience level within the firm. We have a robust mix of entry-level and post-college Colleagues. This
balanced representation fosters our talent strategy of providing great mentoring and learning opportunities for our developing Colleagues.

• Our talent acquisition team continues to proactively source and contact underrepresented candidates as part of our recruiting process for open
roles. Importantly, we hire for competency, capability, and potential, while maintaining a competitive culture that values and rewards results.

BRP continues to make additional investments in ensuring we remain competitive in attracting top talent. All Colleagues are paid at least $15.00 per hour
and we're proud to be an employer leading by example when it comes to living wages. We have also continued to maintain a relatively high annual
retention rate, which was 77% for 2023. Our commitment to rewarding our Colleagues is evidenced by merit increases and bonuses we have continued to
pay each year.

Culture and Belonging

Part of being better together means we operate with transparency and strive to make it easy for others to know us and trust us by striving to always do the
right thing in an open and authentic way. We actively seek out our Colleagues’ input through our formal and anonymous PULSE survey, asking for
feedback on a variety of topics including career path opportunities, trust in team and leadership, and feeling valued. The results of this annual pulse check
are always shared with Colleagues and leadership so thoughtful and meaningful improvements can be made to enhance engagement.

Another way we aim to create a sense of belonging for our Colleagues is by striving to be a destination employer. We are continuously recognized for our
people-first approach, our commitment to a culture of continuous learning, and for providing a place where our Colleagues learn, grow, and thrive.

• BRP continued to be Great Place to Work-Certified™ and once again ranked as a Fortune Best Workplaces in Financial Services and Insurance™
in 2023.
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• We were also recognized by Top Workplaces USA as a 2023 nationally recognized employer for making the world a better place to work by
prioritizing a people-centered culture and giving employees a voice.

We have a variety of ways we promote our culture, support our communities, and take care of each other within the BRP family.

• We sponsor a “Colleagues In Action” program that supports charities, events, and causes that are important and meaningful to our Colleagues.

• We promote our Colleagues actively participating in community outreach by providing three days of Community Service PTO.

• AHT Insurance's International Aid and Development Practice is enabling International Development Organizations and Non-Governmental
Organizations to operate safely and securely, to help the most vulnerable communities in some of the highest risk communities in the world.

• To help any qualifying Colleague experiencing extraordinary hardship, we provide the BRP True North Colleague Fund (operated by America’s
Charities, a 501(c)(3) non-profit organization), to which Colleagues can also contribute by making a donation. BRP has pledged up to $250,000 to
the fund and is honored to provide an additional dollar-for-dollar match for Colleague contributions up to another $250,000.

• We believe in having fun at work and celebrating our successes by promoting peer recognition at all levels of the firm through our “Give a Wow”
compliment program. We share “Give a Wows” with Colleagues during our quarterly Town Hall meetings.

Nurture and Grow Talent

We care about our Colleagues and their families from a holistic perspective and genuinely believe that taking great care of our Colleagues allows them to
live their best life. We offer comprehensive benefits such as health care and retirement savings through an employer-match 401(k) plan, along with a
variety of other personalized benefits valued by our Colleagues, such as:

• Summertime Friday half-days;

• Employee assistance program services, including mental health;

• Expert referral services in legal and financial assistance;

• Company sponsored BRP Vitality Wellness Program, including a partnership with Aaptiv to provide customizable fitness benefits for Colleagues;

• Health Savings Account with $600+ employer contribution;

• Adoption assistance program;

• Paid leave for new parents; and

• Paid sick days and 11 nationally recognized holidays observed.

To support the ongoing growth and development of our Colleagues, we provide education and training on a variety of topics, including technical,
professional and business development, client experience, leadership development, regulatory and compliance topics.

• In 2023, we continued our development of the Azimuth Institute. We began this three-to-five-year project in 2022 to provide both foundational
training and a learning journey for all our IAS client-facing roles in the areas of job skills, system training, insurance acumen, power skills,
business development and leadership training for leaders.

• In 2023, we successfully launched our North Star Program within the Azimuth Institute, which provides an innovative learning journey designed
for newly hired, high-potential young professionals to equip them with the skills, knowledge, and behaviors needed to ensure continued success in
their careers. The program consists of a 90-day comprehensive training program that takes new client service specialists through the core elements
of policy coverage and the workflows necessary to process them in our agency management system. This training is followed by six months of
insurance acumen in either the Professional Risk Consultant or Associate in Risk Management designation program. Following completion of the
program, participants have a deeper understanding of the what, the how, and the why behind the core skills and behaviors needed to thrive in their
new roles.
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• In partnership with The Institutes, we entered into an enterprise agreement with the premier educational purveyor of technical acumen to the
insurance industry. Today we provide access to over 200 of The Institutes course offerings across Commercial, Benefits and Private Risk, all of
which are easily accessible through our learning management system.

• We continue to offer a catalog of more than 400 custom-built training courses, all designed in-house to support individual growth and professional
development. We have expanded our adoption of the LinkedIn Learning platform that provides access to more than 9,000 skill courses across a
broad array of topics that open up a whole new world of learning for our Colleagues.

• We enhanced our sales training program, SCORE (Strategize, Connect, Obtain, Retain and Earn Referrals), for new and developing Risk Advisors
—a 10-week intensive training offered as a combination of online, instructor-led and real-life application training to develop their skills for
generating new business and providing exceptional service to our Clients, and added SCORE PRO—a 6-month advanced sales development
program for Advisors interested in propelling their profession to the next level.

• We support the continuing education and certification needs of our Colleagues by providing access to a variety of technical training courses.
Examples of content include Cyber Risk Fundamentals, Professional Liability and Commercial Property.

• During the fourth quarter of 2023, we successfully piloted a Leadership Development Workshop at our National Mortgage and Real Estate Center
to further develop our MIS leadership group. In 2024, we will continue to focus on building leadership capability by implementing contemporary
performance coaching and development practices designed to empower our leaders and enable our Colleagues to grow and thrive.

We also promote Colleague growth and development through an ongoing performance feedback model, including 90-day and 120-day check-ins for new
Colleagues, and a formal year-end performance check-in for all Colleagues. Our performance feedback processes enable every Colleague to have clear
alignment with how we execute on our goals, maximize their performance potential, and drive their own development and growth through individual
development plans.

Cultivating an Ethical Environment for our Colleagues and Clients

We take very seriously our responsibility to operate with the highest level of integrity and foster an ethical environment for both our Colleagues and
Clients. We have established numerous policies and procedures outlining our intention to live our values and do business in a responsible and ethical
manner, including providing avenues for asking questions or reporting concerns about non-compliance. Many of these can be found publicly on our
Company website at baldwinriskpartners.com or our investor relations website at ir.baldwinriskpartners.com. Documented policies and procedures include,
but are not limited to:

• The Azimuth (our cultural and corporate constitution, available on our Company website);

• Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (available in the “Governance” section of our investor relations website);

• Whistleblower Policy, which governs reporting of concerns related to accounting, auditing and ethical violations (available in the “Governance”
section of our investor relations website);

• Statement of Policy Concerning Trading in Company Securities, which prohibits Colleagues from trading BRP Group securities while in
possession of Material Non-Public Information (available in the “Governance” section of our investor relations website);

• Privacy Policy, which governs how we handle personal client information in a responsible manner (available at the bottom of our Company
homepage);

• Transparency & Disclosure Statement, which sets forth our commitment to fair dealings with our Clients (available at the bottom of our Company
homepage); and

• Anti-Corruption Policy, which defines our commitment to adhere to the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”) and avoid corrupt business
practices (available in the “Governance” section of our investor relations website).
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Seasonality

The insurance brokerage market is seasonal and our results of operations are somewhat affected by seasonal trends. Our Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted
EBITDA Margins are typically highest in the first quarter and lowest in the fourth quarter. This variation is primarily due to fluctuations in our revenues,
while overhead remains consistent throughout the year. Our revenues are generally highest in the first quarter due to a higher degree of first quarter policy
commencements and renewals in certain IAS and MIS lines of business such as employee benefits, commercial and Medicare. In addition, a higher
proportion of our first quarter revenue is derived from our highest margin businesses.

Partnerships can significantly impact Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margins in a given year and may increase the amount of seasonality within
the business, especially results attributable to Partnerships that have not been fully integrated into our business or owned by us for a full year.

Regulation

Our activities in connection with insurance brokerage services are subject to regulation and supervision by state regulatory authorities. State insurance laws
are often complex and generally grant broad discretion to supervisory authorities in adopting regulations and supervising regulated activities, which
generally includes the licensing of insurance brokers and agents, intermediaries and third-party administrators. Our continuing ability to provide insurance
brokerage in the states in which we currently operate is dependent upon our compliance with the rules and regulations promulgated by the regulatory
authorities in each of these states.

The health insurance industry is heavily regulated by the ACA, Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (“CMS”) and state jurisdictions. Each
jurisdiction has its own rules and regulations relating to the offer and sale of health insurance plans, typically administered by a department of insurance,
department of financial services, or similar regulatory authority. We are required to maintain valid life or health agency or agent licenses in each
jurisdiction in which we transact health insurance business.

Regulations and guidelines issued by CMS place a number of requirements on health insurance carriers and agents and brokers in connection with the
marketing and sale of Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D prescription drug plans. We are subject to similar requirements of state insurance
departments with respect to our marketing and sale of Medicare Supplement plans. CMS and state insurance department regulations and guidelines include
a number of prohibitions regarding the ability to contact Medicare-eligible individuals and place many restrictions on the marketing of Medicare-related
plans. In addition, the laws and regulations applicable to the marketing and sale of Medicare-related plans are ambiguous, complex and, particularly with
respect to regulations and guidance issued by CMS for Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D prescription drug plans, change frequently.

We are subject to federal law and the laws of many states that require financial institutions to protect the security and confidentiality of certain sensitive
client information, notify customers about their policies and practices relating to collection, disclosure and security of certain sensitive client information.
The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPAA”) and regulations adopted pursuant to HIPAA require us to maintain the privacy of
protected health information that we collect on behalf of Insurance Company Partners and employer-sponsored health plans, implement measures to
safeguard such information and provide notification in the event of certain breaches in the privacy or confidentiality of such information. The use and
disclosure of certain data that we collect from consumers is also regulated by the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (“GLBA”) and state statutes implementing
GLBA, which generally require brokers to provide Clients with notice regarding how their non-public personal health and financial information is used and
the opportunity to “opt out” of certain disclosures before sharing such information with a third party, and which generally require safeguards for the
protection of personal information.

In addition, our portfolio of companies includes several registered investment advisors (“RIAs”), each of which are federally registered with the SEC. Our
portfolio includes a limited purpose broker dealer (“LPBD”), registered with the SEC, and the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”). These
areas of our financial services business are also subject to rules formulated by the SEC under both the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (the “40 Act”) and
the Exchange Act, as well as by state securities regulators under applicable state law. Through a combination of the SEC, FINRA, the 40 Act and the
Exchange Act, our RIAs and the LPBD are heavily regulated in the areas of duties to Clients, disclosures, communications, contracting, fee sharing,
oversight and audit.

As a publicly-traded company, we are required to file certain reports, and are subject to various marketing restrictions, among other requirements, in
connection with the Exchange Act and SEC regulations.
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Climate Change Risk Management

As an insurance distribution firm, our operations do not have a large environmental footprint or significant direct greenhouse gas emissions. We are
committed to thoughtful stewardship of the environment and our resources while managing the impact on our business.

Through our strategic planning process and risk management framework, we identify and track a number of ways in which our industry, our Clients, and
our operations are being impacted by climate change issues today, or could be impacted by climate change issues in the medium-to-long-term. We take a
number of actions to address relevant opportunities and risks.

• Evolving Client Solutions: Climate-related issues can have an impact on our Clients in a number of ways, for which we can offer relevant risk
management guidance.

• Promoting Client Safety: As a commitment to our Clients’ safety and well-being, we provide resources and information to help prepare for and
protect against severe weather events.

• Ensuring Operational Continuity: We recognize that workplace emergencies might result from extreme weather events, exacerbated by the impacts
of climate change, including hurricanes, floods, tornados, and other natural or environmental disasters. In order to manage workplace emergencies,
we have developed and implemented a company-wide Emergency Preparedness Plan, which describes the process by which we respond when a
major event threatens to harm our organization, our stakeholders, or the general public. Critical elements of the Plan include assigned
responsibilities, relevant operating procedures, crisis communication guidelines, and evacuation and recovery procedures.

Our Corporate Structure

BRP Group is a holding company and its sole material asset is a controlling ownership and profits interest in BRP. BRP Group has engaged to date only in
activities relating to BRP. All of our business is conducted through BRP and its consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates, and the financial results of BRP and
its consolidated subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements of BRP Group.

BRP is currently taxed as a partnership for federal income tax purposes and, as a result, its members, including BRP Group, pay taxes with respect to their
allocable shares of its net taxable income. We expect that redemptions and exchanges of LLC Units will result in increases in the tax basis in our share of
the tangible and intangible assets of BRP that otherwise would not have been available. These increases in tax basis may reduce the amount of tax that we
would otherwise be required to pay in the future. The Tax Receivable Agreement requires BRP Group to pay 85% of the amount of such cash savings, if
any, in U.S. federal, state and local income tax or franchise tax that we actually realize to BRP’s LLC Members that redeem and exchange LLC Units.
Furthermore, payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement will give rise to additional tax benefits and therefore additional payments under the Tax
Receivable Agreement itself.

Available Information

We make available free of charge on our website our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K,
and any amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, as soon as reasonably practicable after
those reports are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. To access these filings, go to our investor relations website at
ir.baldwinriskpartners.com, click on “Financials” and then click on “SEC Filings.” We also make available other reports filed with or furnished to the SEC
under the Exchange Act, including our proxy statements and reports filed by officers and directors under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, as well as our
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, our Insider Trading and Whistleblower Policies, and charters for our Audit Committee, Compensation Committee,
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, Technology and Cyber Risk Committee and Executive Committee. To access these filings, go to our
investor relations website, click on “Governance” and then click on “Governance Overview.” In addition, our website may include disclosure relating to
certain non-GAAP financial measures that we may make public orally, telephonically, by webcast, by broadcast or by similar means from time to time. The
SEC also maintains an internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information filed electronically by us with the SEC,
which are available at www.sec.gov.

We may use our website as a channel of distribution of material company information. Financial and other material information regarding the Company is
routinely posted on and accessible through our website. Any information on our or the SEC's website or obtained through any such website is not part of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our Investor Relations Department can be contacted at ir@baldwinriskpartners.com by going to our investor relations website, clicking on “Resources”
and then “Contact IR,” or by telephone at (813) 259-8032.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Summary Risk Factors

Some of the factors that could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects, include the following:

• We may not have sufficient cash flows from operating activities, cash on hand and available capital sources to service any indebtedness, pay
contingent earnout liabilities, or finance other working capital needs, which could force us to sell assets, cease operations or take other detrimental
actions for our business.

• We have debt outstanding that could adversely affect our financial flexibility and subjects us to restrictions and limitations that could significantly
impact our ability to effectively operate our business.

• We may incur significant additional indebtedness, which may affect our ability to satisfy our obligations under the JPM Credit Agreement.

• Downgrades in our credit ratings could increase future debt financing costs and limit the future availability of debt financing.

• Macroeconomic conditions, political events, other market conditions in the U.S. and around the world and a decline in economic activity could
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

• Volatility or declines in premiums or other adverse trends in the insurance industry may seriously undermine our profitability.

• Because the commissions and fees we earn on the sale of certain insurance products is based on premiums and commission rates set by our
Insurance Company Partners, any decreases in these premiums or commission rates, or actions by our Insurance Company Partners seeking
repayment of commissions, could result in commissions and fees decreases or expenses to us.

• Quarterly and annual variations in our commissions that result from the timing of policy renewals and the net effect of new and lost business
production may have unexpected effects on our results of operations.

• Conditions impacting our Insurance Company Partners or other parties with whom we do business may impact us.

• If we are unable to apply technology effectively in driving value for our Clients through technology-based solutions or gain internal efficiencies
through the application of technology and related tools, our results of operations, client relationships, growth and compliance programs could be
adversely affected.

• Competition in our industry is intense and, if we are unable to compete effectively, we may lose Clients and our business, financial condition and
results of operations may be negatively affected.

• Our inability to retain or hire qualified Colleagues, as well as the loss of any of our executive officers or senior leaders, could negatively impact
our reputation and/or ability to retain existing business and generate new business.

• The occurrence of natural or man-made disasters, health epidemics and pandemics, and associated governmental responses, could result in
declines in business and increases in claims that could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

• Our inability to successfully recover should we experience a disaster or other business continuity problem could cause material financial loss, loss
of human capital, regulatory actions, reputational harm or legal liability.

• If our ability to enroll individuals during enrollment periods is impeded, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be
harmed.

• Partnerships have been, and may in the future continue to be, important to our growth. We may not be able to successfully identify and acquire
Partners or integrate Partners into our company, and we may become subject to certain liabilities assumed or incurred in connection with our
Partnerships that could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

• An impairment of goodwill could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

• In connection with the implementation of our corporate strategies, we face risks associated with the entry into new lines of business and the
growth and development of these businesses.
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• Our business had historically been highly concentrated in the Southeastern United States. While we still maintain a concentration in the
Southeastern United States, our rapid growth has resulted in our having several regional concentrations of our business, such that adverse
economic conditions, natural disasters, loss trends or regulatory changes in one of these regions could adversely affect our financial condition.

• We derive a significant portion of our commissions and fees from a limited number of our Insurance Company Partners, the loss of which could
result in additional expense and loss of market share.

• Our business may be harmed if we lose our relationships with Insurance Company Partners, fail to maintain good relationships with Insurance
Company Partners, become dependent upon a limited number of Insurance Company Partners or fail to develop new Insurance Company Partner
relationships.

• We rely on third parties to perform key functions of our business operations, enabling our provision of services to our Clients. These third parties
may act in ways that could harm our business.

• We rely on a single vendor or a limited number of vendors to provide certain key products or services to us, and the inability of these key vendors
to meet our needs could have a material adverse effect on our business.

• We have experienced significant growth in recent periods, and our recent growth rates may not be indicative of our future growth. As our costs
increase, we may not be able to generate sufficient revenue to achieve and, if achieved, maintain profitability.

• Certain of our results of operations and financial metrics may be difficult to predict as a result of seasonality.

• E&O claims against us, and other incidents, claims, risks, exposures and/or liabilities that require us to make claims against our insurance policies,
may negatively affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

• Non-compliance with or changes in laws, regulations or licensing requirements applicable to us could restrict our ability to conduct our business
and/or could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

• Proposed tort reform legislation, if enacted, could decrease demand for casualty insurance, thereby reducing our commissions revenues.

• Our business depends on information processing systems. Data breaches or other security incidents with respect to our or our vendors’ information
processing systems may hurt our business, financial condition and results of operations.

• We are a holding company with our principal asset being our 55% ownership interest in BRP, and our Pre-IPO LLC Members, whose interest in
our business may be different from yours, have approval rights over certain transactions and actions taken by us.

• In certain circumstances, BRP will be required to make distributions to us and the other holders of LLC Units, and the distributions that BRP will
be required to make may be substantial.

• We will be required to pay BRP’s LLC Members and any other persons that become parties to the Tax Receivable Agreement for certain tax
benefits we may receive, and the amounts we may pay could be significant.
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Risks Relating to our Business Operations and Industry

We may not have sufficient cash flows from operating activities, cash on hand and available capital sources to service any indebtedness, pay contingent
earnout liabilities, or finance other working capital needs, which could force us to sell assets, cease operations or take other detrimental actions for our
business.

As of December 31, 2023, our cash and cash equivalents were $116.2 million and we had $259.0 million of available borrowing capacity on the Revolving
Facility under the JPM Credit Agreement. We will continue to expend substantial cash resources for the foreseeable future for servicing our debt
obligations and future earnout payment liabilities. Borrowings under our JPM Credit Agreement include $998.7 million under the Term Loan B and $341.0
million on the Revolving Facility bearing interest at December 31, 2023 of 8.97% and 8.46%, respectively, through their respective expiration dates of
October 2027 and April 2027. In connection with certain prior Partnerships and acquisitions of select books of business, we are required to pay contingent
earnouts. Based on estimates of the Partners’ future performance using financial projections for the earnout period, the aggregate estimated contingent
earnout liabilities included on our consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2023 was $276.5 million, of which $10.8 million must be settled in cash and
the remaining $265.7 million can be settled in cash or stock at our option. The undiscounted estimated contingent earnout obligation at December 31, 2023
was $309.0 million, of which $11.9 million must be settled in cash and the remaining $297.1 million can be settled in cash or stock at our option. The
maximum estimated exposure to the contingent earnout liabilities was $607.4 million at December 31, 2023. There is no assurance that we will have
sufficient cash flows from operating activities, cash on hand and available capital sources to service any indebtedness or pay contingent earnout liabilities
when due, or finance other working capital needs, and failure to do so may result in a material adverse effect on our business, operations, and financial
condition. Refer to Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources—
Contractual Obligations and Commitments for further discussion of our debt obligations and contingent earnout liabilities.

If our cash flows and capital resources are at any time insufficient to fund our obligations, we may be forced to reduce or delay investments and capital
expenditures, or to sell assets, seek additional capital, restructure or refinance our indebtedness, or reduce or cease operations. There can be no assurance
that additional capital or debt financing will be available to us at any time. Even if additional capital is available, we may not be able to obtain debt or
equity financing on terms favorable to us. In the absence of such operating results and resources, we could face substantial liquidity problems and might be
required to reduce or curtail our operations.

We have debt outstanding that could adversely affect our financial flexibility and subjects us to restrictions and limitations that could significantly
impact our ability to effectively operate our business.

As of December 31, 2023, we had total consolidated debt outstanding of approximately $1.3 billion, collateralized by substantially all the Company’s
assets, including a pledge of all equity securities the Company holds in each of its subsidiaries. During the year ended December 31, 2023, we had debt
servicing costs of $394.9 million, inclusive of $284.4 million in principal repayments and $105.4 million of interest payments.

The level of debt we have outstanding during any period could adversely affect our financial flexibility. We also bear risk at the time debt matures. Our
ability to make interest and principal payments, to refinance our debt obligations and to fund our planned capital expenditures will depend on our ability to
generate cash from operations. Our ability to generate cash from operations is, to a certain extent, subject to general economic, financial, competitive,
legislative, regulatory and other factors that are beyond our control, such as an environment of rising interest rates. The need to service our indebtedness
will also reduce our ability to use cash for other purposes, including earnouts, working capital, dividends to stockholders, acquisitions, capital expenditures,
share repurchases and general corporate purposes. If we cannot service our indebtedness, we may have to take actions such as selling assets, raising
additional equity or reducing or delaying capital expenditures, strategic acquisitions and investments, any of which could impede the implementation of our
business strategy or prevent us from entering into transactions that would otherwise benefit our business. Additionally, we may not be able to effect such
actions, if necessary, on favorable terms, or at all. We may not be able to refinance any of our indebtedness on favorable terms, or at all.
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The JPM Credit Agreement contains covenants that, among other things, restrict our ability to make certain restricted payments, incur additional debt,
engage in certain asset sales, mergers, acquisitions or similar transactions, create liens on assets, engage in certain transactions with affiliates, change our
business or make certain investments and require us to comply with certain financial covenants. The restrictions in the JPM Credit Agreement governing
our debt may prevent us from taking actions that we believe would be in the best interest of our business and our stockholders and may make it difficult for
us to execute our business strategy successfully or effectively compete with companies that are not similarly restricted. We may also incur future debt
obligations that might subject us to additional or more restrictive covenants that could affect our financial and operational flexibility, including our ability
to pay dividends. We cannot make any assurances that we will be able to refinance our debt or obtain additional financing on terms acceptable to us, or at
all. A failure to comply with the restrictions under the JPM Credit Agreement could result in a default under the financing obligations or could require us to
obtain waivers from our lenders for failure to comply with these restrictions. The occurrence of a default that remains uncured or the inability to secure a
necessary consent or waiver could cause our obligations with respect to our debt to be accelerated and have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

We may incur significant additional indebtedness, which may affect our ability to satisfy our obligations under the JPM Credit Agreement.

Under the terms of the JPM Credit Agreement, we may be able to incur significant additional indebtedness, including secured indebtedness, in the future.
This could require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our indebtedness, reduce the availability of our cash
flow to fund working capital and capital expenditures and execute on our Partnership strategy, expose us to the risk of increased interest rates and increase
our vulnerability to adverse economic or industry conditions. If new indebtedness is added to our current indebtedness levels, the related risks that we face
could be increased, and we may not be able to meet all of our debt obligations. Furthermore, the terms of any future indebtedness we may incur could
include more restrictive covenants, which could affect our financial and operational flexibility, including our ability to pay dividends.

Downgrades in our credit ratings could increase future debt financing costs and limit the future availability of debt financing.

The major rating agencies routinely evaluate our credit profile and assign credit ratings to us. During 2023, we experienced a downgrade in our credit rating
based on our increased level of credit risk as a result of increased amount of our total debt outstanding, the financial impacts of the rising interest rate
environment and a recent deterioration in the general macroeconomic environment. If we need to raise capital in the future (for example, in order to
maintain adequate liquidity, fund maturing debt obligations or finance acquisitions or other initiatives), credit rating downgrades would increase our
financing costs, and could limit our access to financing sources. We may also face the risk of a credit rating downgrade if we do not retire or refinance the
debt to levels acceptable to the credit rating agencies in a timely manner.

Macroeconomic conditions, political events, other market conditions in the U.S. and around the world and a decline in economic activity could have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Macroeconomic conditions, political events and other market conditions in the U.S. and around the world, including the recent resurgence of inflation and
interest rate increases, and the risk that the U.S. economy will decelerate into a recession, affect the financial services industry. These conditions may
reduce demand for our services or depress pricing for those services, which could have a material adverse effect on our costs and results of operations.
Changes in macroeconomic and political conditions, such as the impact from rising inflation and interest rates could also shift demand to services for which
we do not have a competitive advantage, and this could negatively affect the amount of business that we are able to obtain. Any changes in U.S. trade
policy could trigger retaliatory actions by affected countries, resulting in “trade wars,” which could affect volume of economic activity in the U.S.,
including demand for our services.

For example, the demand for insurance policies may be depressed by higher levels of inflation. In addition, a significant portion of our operating expenses
goes to employee compensation and benefits, which, in addition to other areas of our operating expenses, are sensitive to inflation. To maintain our ability
to successfully compete for the best talent, rising inflation rates may require us to provide compensation increases beyond historical increases, which may
significantly increase our compensation costs. Consequently, inflation is expected to increase our operating expenses (both compensation and non-
compensation related) over time and may adversely impact our results of operating cash flow.

Moreover, we have various agreements to lease office space located in 24 states throughout the U.S. and part of such leases contain effective annual rent
escalations either fixed or indexed based on a consumer price index or other index. During higher inflationary periods, our rent expenses may increase
significantly, which may adversely affect to our business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

17



Furthermore, during inflationary periods, interest rates have historically increased, which would have a direct effect on the interest expense in case we
decide to refinance our existing long-term borrowings, including the JPM Credit Agreement, or incur in any additional indebtedness.

In addition to macroeconomic conditions, political events and other market conditions, other factors such as business commissions and fees,
microeconomic conditions, and the volatility and strength of the capital markets, can affect our business and economic environment. The demand for
insurance generally rises as the overall level of economic activity increases and generally falls as such activity decreases, affecting both the commissions
and fees generated by our IAS, MIS and UCTS Operating Groups. Downward fluctuations in the year-over-year insurance premiums charged by our
Insurance Company Partners to protect against the same risk, referred to in the industry as softening of the insurance market, could adversely affect our
business as a significant portion of the earnings are determined as a percentage of premium charged to our Clients. Insolvencies and consolidations
associated with an economic downturn could adversely affect our brokerage business through the loss of Clients by hampering our ability to place
insurance business. Also, some of our Clients may experience liquidity problems or other financial difficulties in the event of a prolonged deterioration in
the economy, or any segment or sub-segment of the economy, which could have an adverse effect on our collectability of receivables. Errors and omissions
claims against us, which we refer to as E&O claims, may increase in economic downturns, adversely affecting our brokerage business. In addition, other
incidents, claims, risks, exposures and/or liabilities that require us to make claims against our own policies of insurance may have a similar effect. Also, the
volatility or decline of economic or other market conditions could result in the increased surrender of insurance products or cause individuals to forgo
insurance, thereby impacting our contingent commissions, which are primarily driven by our Insurance Company Partners’ growth and profitability
metrics. A decline in economic activity could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Volatility or declines in premiums or other adverse trends in the insurance industry may seriously undermine our profitability.

We derive most of our commissions and fees from our brokerage and related services. We do not determine the insurance premiums on which our
commissions are generally based. Moreover, insurance premiums are cyclical in nature and may vary widely based on market conditions. Because of
market cycles for insurance product pricing, which we cannot predict or control, our brokerage commissions and fees and profitability can be volatile or
remain depressed for significant periods of time. In addition, there have been and may continue to be—including as a result of substantial increases in
insurance premiums— various trends in the insurance industry toward alternative insurance markets, including, among other things, greater levels of self-
insurance, captives, rent-a-captives, risk retention groups and non-insurance capital markets-based solutions to traditional insurance. Our ability to generate
premium-based commission revenue may also be challenged by the growing desire of some clients to compensate brokers based upon flat fees rather than a
percentage of premium. This could negatively impact us because fees are generally not indexed for inflation and might not increase with premiums as
commissions do or with the level of service provided.

As traditional risk-bearing insurance companies continue to outsource the production of premium commissions and fees to non-affiliated brokers or agents
such as us, those insurance companies may seek to further minimize their expenses by reducing the commission rates payable to insurance brokers or
agents. The reduction of these commission rates, along with general volatility or declines in premiums, may significantly affect our profitability. Because
we do not determine the timing or extent of premium pricing changes, it is difficult to precisely forecast our commission and contingent commissions and
fees, including whether they will significantly decline. As a result, we may have to adjust our budgets for future acquisitions, capital expenditures, dividend
payments, loan repayments and other expenditures to account for unexpected changes in commissions and fees, and any decreases in premium rates may
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Because the commissions and fees we earn on the sale of certain insurance products is based on premiums and commission rates set by our Insurance
Company Partners, any decreases in these premiums or commission rates, or actions by our Insurance Company Partners seeking repayment of
commissions, could result in commissions and fees decreases or expenses to us.

We derive commissions and fees from the sale of insurance products that are paid by our Insurance Company Partners from whom our Clients purchase
insurance. Because payments for the sale of insurance products are processed internally by our Insurance Company Partners, we may not receive a payment
that is otherwise expected in any particular period until after the end of that period, which can adversely affect our ability to budget for significant future
expenditures. Additionally, our Insurance Company Partners or their affiliates may, under certain circumstances, seek the chargeback or repayment of
commissions as a result of policy lapse, surrender, cancellation, rescission, default or upon other specified circumstances. As a result of the chargeback or
repayment of commissions, we may incur an expense in a particular period related to commissions and fees previously recognized in a prior period and
reflected in our financial statements. Such an expense could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations, particularly
if the expense is greater than the amount of related commissions and fees retained by us.

The commission rates are set by our Insurance Company Partners and are based on the premiums that the Insurance Company Partners charge. The
potential for changes in premium rates is significant, due to pricing cyclicality in the insurance market. In addition, the insurance industry has been
characterized by periods of intense price competition due to excessive underwriting capacity and periods of favorable premium levels due to shortages of
capacity. Capacity could also be reduced by our Insurance Company Partners’ failing or withdrawing from writing certain coverages and/or geographic
areas that we offer our Clients. Commission rates and premiums can change based on prevailing legislative, economic and competitive factors that affect
our Insurance Company Partners. These factors, which are not within our control, include the capacity of our Insurance Company Partners to place new
business, underwriting and non-underwriting profits of our Insurance Company Partners, consumer demand for insurance products, the availability of
comparable products from other insurance companies at a lower cost and the availability of alternative insurance products, such as government benefits and
self-insurance products, to consumers. We cannot predict the timing or extent of future changes in commission rates or premiums or the effect any of these
changes will have on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Quarterly and annual variations in our commissions that result from the timing of policy renewals and the net effect of new and lost business
production may have unexpected effects on our results of operations.

Our commission income (including profit-sharing contingent commissions and override commissions) can vary quarterly or annually due to the timing of
policy renewals and the net effect of new and lost business production. We do not control the factors that cause these variations. Specifically, Clients’
demand for insurance products can influence the timing of renewals, new business and lost business (which includes policies that are not renewed and
cancellations). In addition, we rely on our Insurance Company Partners for the payment of certain commissions. Quarterly and annual fluctuations in
commissions and fees based on increases and decreases associated with the timing of new business, policy renewals and payments from our Insurance
Company Partners may adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Profit-sharing contingent commissions are special revenue-sharing override commissions paid by our Insurance Company Partners based on the attainment
of certain metrics such as the profitability, volume or growth of the business placed with such companies generally during the prior year. These are not
guaranteed payments and our Insurance Company Partners may change the calculations or potentially elect to stop paying them at all on an annual basis.
Over the last two years contingent commissions generally have been in the range of 7.0% to 9.0% of the year’s total core commissions and fees. Increases
in loss ratios experienced by our Insurance Company Partners will result in a decreased profit to them and may result in decreases in payments of
contingent or profit-sharing commissions to us. Due to, among other things, potentially poor macroeconomic conditions, the inherent uncertainty of loss in
our Clients’ industries and changes in underwriting criteria (including profitability, volume or growth thresholds), due in part to the high loss ratios
experienced by our Insurance Company Partners, we cannot predict the payment of these profit-sharing contingent commissions. Further, we have no
control over the ability of our Insurance Company Partners to estimate loss reserves, which affects our ability to make profit-sharing calculations. Override
commissions are paid by our Insurance Company Partners based on the attainment of certain metrics such as the profitability, volume or growth of the
business that we place with them and are generally paid over the course of the year or in the beginning of the following year. Because profit-sharing
contingent commissions and override commissions materially affect our commissions and fees, any decrease in their payment to us could adversely affect
our results of operations, profitability and our financial condition.
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See “—Our business had historically been highly concentrated in the Southeastern United States. While we still maintain a concentration in the
Southeastern United States, our rapid growth has resulted in our having several regional concentrations of our business, such that adverse economic
conditions, natural disasters, loss trends or regulatory changes in one of these regions could adversely affect our financial condition.”

Conditions impacting our Insurance Company Partners or other parties with whom we do business may impact us.

We have a significant amount of accounts receivable from our Insurance Company Partners with whom we place insurance. If those Insurance Company
Partners were to experience liquidity problems or other financial difficulties, we could encounter delays or defaults in payments owed to us, which could
have a significant adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations. The potential for one of our Insurance Company Partners to cease
writing insurance we offer our Clients could negatively impact overall capacity in the industry, which in turn could have the effect of reduced placement of
certain lines and types of insurance and reduced commissions and fees and profitability for us. Questions about one of our Insurance Company Partners’
perceived stability or financial strength may contribute to such Insurance Company Partners’ strategic decisions to focus on certain lines of insurance to the
detriment of others. The failure of an Insurance Company Partner with whom we place insurance could result in E&O claims against us by our Clients, and
the failure of our Insurance Company Partners could make the E&O insurance we rely upon cost prohibitive or unavailable, which could have a significant
adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations. In addition, if any of our Insurance Company Partners merge or if one of our large
Insurance Company Partners fails or withdraws from certain geographic areas or from offering certain lines of insurance, overall risk-taking capital
capacity could be negatively affected, which could reduce our ability to place certain lines of insurance and, as a result, reduce our commissions and fees
and profitability. Such failures or insurance withdrawals on the part of our Insurance Company Partners could occur for any number of reasons, including
large unexpected payouts related to climate events or other emerging risk areas.

If we are unable to apply technology effectively in driving value for our Clients through technology-based solutions or gain internal efficiencies
through the application of technology and related tools, our results of operations, client relationships, growth and compliance programs could be
adversely affected.

Our future success depends, in part, on our ability to anticipate and respond effectively to the threat of, and the opportunity presented by, digital disruption
and other technology change. These may include new applications or insurance-related services based on artificial intelligence, machine learning, robotics,
blockchain or new approaches to data mining. We may be exposed to competitive risks related to the adoption and application of new technologies by
established market participants (for example, through disintermediation) or new entrants such as technology companies, Insurtech start-up companies and
others. We must also develop and implement technology solutions and technical expertise among our employees that anticipate and keep pace with rapid
and continuing changes in technology, industry standards, client preferences and control standards. We may not be successful in anticipating or responding
to these developments on a timely and cost-effective basis, and our ideas may not be accepted in the marketplace. Additionally, the effort to gain
technological expertise and develop new technologies in our business may require us to incur significant expenses. Our technological development projects
may also not deliver the benefits we expect once they are completed or may be replaced or become obsolete more quickly than expected, which could result
in the accelerated recognition of expenses. If we cannot develop or implement new technologies as quickly as our competitors, or if our competitors
develop more cost-effective technologies or product offerings, we could experience a material adverse effect on our results of operations, client
relationships, growth and compliance programs. Our investments in new products and services may not generate the expected returns, which could hinder
our ability to generate organic growth in the future.

Competition in our industry is intense and, if we are unable to compete effectively, we may lose Clients and our business, financial condition and
results of operations may be negatively affected.

The business of providing insurance products and services is highly competitive and we expect competition to intensify. We compete for Clients on the
basis of reputation, Client service, program and product offerings and our ability to tailor products and services to meet the specific needs of a Client.
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We actively compete with numerous integrated financial services organizations as well as Insurance Company Partners and brokers, producer groups,
individual insurance agents, investment management firms, independent financial planners and broker-dealers. Competition may reduce the fees that we
can obtain for services provided, which would have an adverse effect on commissions and fees and margins. Many of our competitors have greater
financial and marketing resources than we do and may be able to offer products and services that we do not currently offer and may not offer in the future.
To the extent that banks, securities firms, insurance companies’ affiliates and the financial services industry may experience further consolidation, we may
experience increased competition from insurance companies and the financial services industry, as a growing number of larger financial institutions
increasingly, and aggressively, offer a wider variety of financial services, including insurance intermediary services. In addition, a number of insurance
companies are engaged in the direct sale of insurance, primarily to individuals, and do not pay commissions to brokers or other market intermediaries.
Furthermore, we compete with various other companies that provide risk-related services or alternatives to traditional insurance services, including
Insurtech start-up companies, which are focused on using technology and innovation, including artificial intelligence (AI), digital platforms, data analytics,
robotics and blockchain, to simplify and improve the Client experience, increase efficiencies, alter business models and effect other potentially disruptive
changes in the industries in which we operate. In addition, in recent years, private equity sponsors have invested tens of billions of dollars into the
insurance sector, transforming existing players and creating new ones to compete with large brokers. These new competitors, alliances among competitors
or mergers of competitors could emerge and gain significant market share, and some of our competitors may have or may develop a lower cost structure,
adopt more aggressive pricing policies or provide services that gain greater market acceptance than the services that we offer or develop. With respect to
our sale of Medicare-related insurance, we also compete with government-run health insurance exchanges. The federal government operates a website
where Medicare beneficiaries can purchase Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D prescription drug plans or be referred to carriers to purchase
Medicare Supplement plans. We also compete with the original Medicare program. The Affordable Care Act exchanges have websites where individuals
and small businesses can purchase health insurance, and they also have offline customer support and enrollment capabilities.

Competitors may be able to respond to the need for technological changes and innovate faster, or price their services more aggressively. They may also
compete for skilled professionals, finance acquisitions, fund internal growth and compete for market share more effectively than we do. To respond to
increased competition and pricing pressure, we may have to lower the cost of our services or decrease the level of services provided to Clients, which could
have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Some of our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of litigation more effectively than we can because they have substantially greater resources. In the
event that any of such competitors initiates litigation against us, such litigation, even if without merit, could be time-consuming and costly to defend and
may divert management’s attention and resources away from our business and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Similarly, any increase in competition due to new legislative or industry developments could adversely affect us. These developments include:

• increased capital-raising by insurance companies, which could result in new capital in the industry, which in turn may lead to lower insurance
premiums and commissions;

• insurance companies selling insurance directly to the insured without the involvement of a broker or other intermediary;

• changes in our business compensation model as a result of legal, policy and/or regulatory developments;

• federal and state governments establishing programs to provide property insurance in catastrophe-prone areas or other alternative market types of
coverage that compete with, or completely replace, insurance products offered by insurance companies;

• climate change regulation in the U.S. and around the world moving us toward a low-carbon economy, which could create new competitive
pressures around innovative insurance solutions; and

• increased competition from new market participants such as banks, accounting firms, consulting firms and Internet or other technology firms
offering risk management, insurance brokerage services or new distribution channels for insurance, such as payroll firms.

New competition as a result of these or other competitive or industry developments could cause the demand for our products and services to decrease,
which could in turn adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Our inability to retain or hire qualified Colleagues, as well as the loss of any of our executive officers or senior leaders, could negatively impact our
reputation and/or ability to retain existing business and generate new business.

Our success depends on our ability to attract and retain skilled and experienced personnel. There is significant competition from within the insurance
industry and from businesses outside the industry for exceptional employees, especially in key positions. Our competitors may be able to offer a work
environment with higher compensation or more opportunities than we can. Any new personnel we hire may not be or become as productive as we expect,
as we may face challenges in adequately or appropriately integrating them into our workforce and culture. Our effort to retain and develop personnel may
also result in significant additional expenses, which could adversely affect our profitability. We can make no assurances that qualified Colleagues will
continue to be employed or that we will be able to attract and retain qualified personnel in the future. If we are not able to successfully attract, retain and
motivate our Colleagues, whether as a result of an insufficient number of qualified applicants, difficulty in recruiting new Colleagues, or inadequate
resources to train, integrate, and retain qualified Colleagues, our business, financial condition, results of operations and reputation could be materially and
adversely affected.

In addition, we could be adversely affected if we fail to adequately plan for the succession of our senior leaders, including our founders and key executives,
or if one or more of them is the victim of any accident, injury, illness or other ailment. In particular, our future success depends substantially on the
continued service of our co-founder and Chairman, Lowry Baldwin, and our Chief Executive Officer, Trevor Baldwin. The loss of our senior managers or
other key personnel (including the legacy management of certain joint ventures or acquired subsidiaries) in any circumstance, including any limitation on
the performance of their duties or short- or long-term absence as a result of any accident, injury, illness or other ailment, or our inability to continue to
identify, recruit and retain such personnel, could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The occurrence of natural or man-made disasters, health epidemics and pandemics and associated governmental responses, could result in declines in
business and increases in claims that could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are exposed to various risks arising out of natural disasters, including earthquakes, hurricanes, fires, floods, landslides, tornadoes, typhoons, tsunamis,
hailstorms, explosions, climate events or weather patterns and public health crises, epidemics or pandemic health events, as well as man-made disasters,
including acts of terrorism, military actions, cyber-terrorism, explosions and biological, chemical or radiological events, and associated governmental
responses. The continued threat of terrorism and ongoing military actions may cause significant volatility in global financial markets, and a natural or man-
made disaster could trigger an economic downturn in the areas directly or indirectly affected by the disaster. These consequences could, among other
things, result in a decline in business and increased claims from those areas. They could also result in reduced underwriting capacity of our Insurance
Company Partners, making it more difficult for our Colleagues and contracted agents to place business. Disasters also could disrupt public and private
infrastructure, including communications and financial services, which could disrupt our ordinary business operations. Any increases in loss ratios due to
natural or man-made disasters could impact our contingent commissions, which are primarily driven by both growth and profitability metrics.

A natural or man-made disaster also could disrupt the operations of our counterparties or result in increased prices for the products and services they
provide to us. Finally, a natural or man-made disaster could increase the incidence or severity of E&O claims against us, or other incidents, claims, risks,
exposures and/or liabilities that require us to make claims against our insurance policies.

See “—Our business had historically been highly concentrated in the Southeastern United States. While we still maintain a concentration in the
Southeastern United States, our rapid growth has resulted in our having several regional concentrations of our business, such that adverse economic
conditions, natural disasters, loss trends or regulatory changes in one of these regions could adversely affect our financial condition.”
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Our inability to successfully recover should we experience a disaster or other business continuity problem could cause material financial loss, loss of
human capital, regulatory actions, reputational harm or legal liability.

Our operations are dependent upon our ability to protect our personnel, offices, and technology infrastructure against damage from business continuity
events that could have a significant disruptive effect on our operations. Should we experience a local or regional disaster or other business continuity
problem, such as an earthquake, hurricane, terrorist attack, pandemic, protest or riot, security breach, power loss, telecommunications failure or other
natural or man-made disaster, our continued success will depend, in part, on the availability of personnel, office facilities, and the proper functioning of
computer, telecommunication and other related systems and operations. In events like these, we can experience near-term operational challenges in
particular areas of our operations. We could potentially lose key executives, personnel, client data or experience material adverse interruptions to our
operations or delivery of services to Clients in a disaster recovery scenario. We may experience additional disruption due to system upgrades, outages, an
increase in remote work or other impacts as a result of health epidemics or pandemics. Our inability to successfully recover should we experience a disaster
or other business continuity problem, could materially interrupt our business operations and cause material financial loss, loss of human capital, regulatory
actions, reputational harm, damaged client relationships, or legal liability. Our insurance coverage with respect to natural disasters is limited and is subject
to deductibles and coverage limits. Such coverage may not be adequate, or may not continue to be available at commercially reasonable rates and terms.

If our ability to enroll individuals during enrollment periods is impeded, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be harmed.

It is difficult for the health insurance Risk Advisors we employ and our systems and processes to handle the increased volume of health insurance
transactions that occur in a short period of time during the healthcare reform annual open enrollment period and the Medicare annual enrollment period. We
hire additional Colleagues on a temporary or seasonal basis in a limited period of time to address the expected increase in the volume of health insurance
transactions during the Medicare annual enrollment period. We must ensure that our health insurance Risk Advisors and those of outsourced call centers are
timely licensed, trained and certified and have the appropriate authority to sell health insurance in a number of states and for a number of different health
insurance companies. We depend on our own Colleagues, state departments of insurance, government exchanges and Insurance Company Partners for
licensing, certification and appointment. If our ability to market and sell Medicare-related health insurance and individual and family health insurance is
constrained during an enrollment period for any reason, such as technology failures, reduced allocation of resources, any inability to timely employ, license,
train, certify and retain our Colleagues and our contractors and their health insurance Risk Advisors to sell health insurance, interruptions in the operation
of our website or systems or issues with government-run health insurance exchanges, we could acquire fewer members, suffer a reduction in our
membership and our business, results of operations and financial condition could be harmed.

Partnerships have been, and may in the future continue to be, important to our growth. We may not be able to successfully identify and acquire
Partners or integrate Partners into our company, and we may become subject to certain liabilities assumed or incurred in connection with our
Partnerships that could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Strategic acquisitions to complement and further expand our business, which we refer to as Partnerships, have been an important part of our competitive
strategy. The acquisition landscape is competitive and accordingly we do not expect that Partnerships will be as important to our growth in 2024, although
we will remain active in pursuing potential transactions. Our ability to identify and complete acquisitions, or if we are inefficient or unsuccessful at
integrating any Partner into our operations, may impact our ability to achieve our planned rates of growth or improve our market share, profitability or
competitive position in specific markets or services. The process of integrating a Partner has created, and will continue to create, operating difficulties. The
risks we face include:

• diversion of management time and focus from operating our core business to acquisition integration challenges;

• excessive costs of deploying our business support and financial management tools in acquired companies;

• delays in the successful integration of the Partner into our operations;

• failure to successfully integrate the Partner into our operations, including cultural challenges associated with integrating and retaining Colleagues;

• failure to achieve anticipated efficiencies or benefits, including through the loss of key Clients or personnel of the Partner;

• failure to realize our strategic objectives for the Partner or further develop the Partner; and
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• the consequences of the conduct of our acquired companies prior to their acquisition by us, including the occurrence of data breaches or other
cybersecurity attacks during the integration of information systems, as well as increased costs associated with implementing state and regulatory
compliance procedures, including data privacy and cybersecurity protections.

Furthermore, when regulatory approval of our proposed Partnerships is required, our ability to complete such Partnerships may be limited by an ongoing
regulatory review or other issues with the relevant regulator.

There may be liabilities that we fail to discover while conducting due diligence, that we inadequately assess or that are not properly disclosed to us. In
particular, to the extent that any Partner (i) failed to comply with or otherwise violated applicable laws or regulations, (ii) failed to fulfill contractual
obligations to Clients, Insurance Company Partners or other third parties such as vendors, service providers or contracted agents, or (iii) incurred material
liabilities or obligations to Clients that are not identified during the diligence process, we, as the successor owner, may be financially responsible for these
violations, failures and liabilities and may suffer financial or reputational harm or otherwise be adversely affected. In addition, as part of a Partnership, we
may assume responsibilities and obligations of the Partner pursuant to the terms and conditions of agreements entered by the acquired entity that are not
consistent with the terms and conditions that we typically accept and require. We also may be subject to litigation or other claims in connection with a
Partner, including claims from Colleagues, Clients, stockholders or other third parties. Any material liabilities we incur that are associated with our
Partnerships could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our Partnership strategy is also affected by our ability to secure additional debt or equity financing in the future to fund acquisitions. We may not be able to
obtain such additional financing or, if available, it may not be in amounts and on terms acceptable to us. We cannot predict or guarantee that we will
successfully identify suitable acquisition candidates, consummate any Partnership or integrate any Partner. Any failure to do so could have an adverse
impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

An impairment of goodwill could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

When we acquire Partners, we record goodwill and other intangible assets. As of December 31, 2023, goodwill represented 40% of our total assets.
Goodwill is not amortized and is subject to assessment for impairment at least annually. The identification and measurement of goodwill impairment
involves the estimation of the fair value of our reporting units. We compare the fair value of each reporting unit with its carrying amount to determine if
there is potential impairment of goodwill. Management reviews the carrying value attributed to each reporting unit at least annually to determine if the facts
and circumstances suggest that there is impairment.

We may in the future be required to take additional goodwill or other asset impairment charges. Any such non-cash charges could have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

In connection with the implementation of our corporate strategies, we face risks associated with the entry into new lines of business and the growth and
development of these businesses.

From time to time, either through Partnerships or internal development, we may enter new lines of business or offer new products and services within
existing lines of business. These new lines of business or new products and services may present additional risks, particularly in instances where the
markets are not fully developed. Such risks include the investment of significant time and resources; the possibility that these efforts will not be successful;
the possibility that the marketplace does not accept our products or services, or that we are unable to retain Clients that adopt our new products or services;
and the risk of additional liabilities associated with these efforts. Other risks include developing knowledge of and experience in the new lines of business,
integrating the Partner into our systems and culture, recruiting professionals and developing and capitalizing on new relationships with experienced market
participants. External factors, such as compliance with new or revised regulations, competitive alternatives and shifting market preferences may also impact
the successful implementation of a new line of business. Failure to manage these risks in the acquisition or development of new businesses could materially
and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, if we dispose of or otherwise exit certain businesses, there can
be no assurance that we will not incur certain disposition-related charges, or that we will be able to reduce overhead related to the divested assets. Our
investments in new products and services may not generate the expected returns, which could hinder our ability to generate organic growth in the future.
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Our business had historically been highly concentrated in the Southeastern United States. While we still maintain a concentration in the Southeastern
United States, our rapid growth has resulted in our having several regional concentrations of our business, such that adverse economic conditions,
natural disasters, loss trends or regulatory changes in one of these regions could adversely affect our financial condition.

A significant portion of our business remains concentrated in the Southeastern U.S., with several other regional concentrations. The insurance business is
primarily a state-regulated industry, and therefore state legislatures may enact laws that adversely affect the insurance industry. Because our business is
concentrated in several regions of the U.S., we face greater exposure to unfavorable changes in regulatory conditions in those regions than insurance
intermediaries whose operations are more diversified through a greater number of states. In addition, the occurrence of adverse economic conditions,
natural or other disasters, loss trends or other circumstances specific to or otherwise significantly impacting these states could adversely affect our financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows. Increases in loss ratios, combined ratios and related costs experienced by our Insurance Company Partners
will result in a decreased profit to them and may result in decreases in payments of contingent or profit-sharing commissions to us. This trend may also
cause one or more of our Insurance Company Partners to reduce or cease writing insurance we offer our Clients, whether in part, entirely or on a
geographic basis, which in turn could reduce our ability to place certain lines of insurance and, as a result, reduce our commissions and fees and
profitability.

In addition, we are susceptible to losses and interruptions caused by hurricanes (particularly in Florida, where our headquarters and numerous offices are
located), earthquakes, tornadoes, power shortages, telecommunications failures, water shortages, floods, fire, extreme weather conditions, geopolitical
events, such as terrorist acts, and other natural or man-made disasters. Hurricanes in particular may have an outsized impact on the insurance industry. We
expect to continue to grow our footprint throughout the country and beyond, but our plans to execute on this geographic diversification effort may not be
successful.

We derive a significant portion of our commissions and fees from a limited number of our Insurance Company Partners, the loss of which could result
in additional expense and loss of market share.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, two Insurance Company Partners accounted for an aggregate of approximately 17% of our total core commissions
and fees. Should either of these Insurance Company Partners seek to terminate their respective arrangements with us or in the case of material financial
impairment of such Insurance Company Partners, we could be forced to move our business to other Insurance Company Partners and additional expense
and loss of market share could possibly result.

Our business may be harmed if we lose our relationships with Insurance Company Partners, fail to maintain good relationships with Insurance
Company Partners, become dependent upon a limited number of Insurance Company Partners or fail to develop new Insurance Company Partner
relationships.

Our business typically enters into contractual agency relationships with Insurance Company Partners that are sometimes unique to BRP Group, but
nonexclusive and terminable on short notice by either party for any reason. In many cases, Insurance Company Partners also have the ability to amend the
terms of our agreements unilaterally, including commission rates on short notice. Our Insurance Company Partners may be unwilling to allow us to sell
their existing or new insurance products or may amend our agreements with them, for a variety of reasons, including for competitive or regulatory reasons
or because of a reluctance to distribute their products through our platform. Our Insurance Company Partners may decide to rely on their own internal
distribution channels, choose to exclude us from their most profitable or popular products, or decide not to distribute insurance products in individual
markets in certain geographies or altogether. The termination or amendment of our relationship with an Insurance Company Partner could reduce the
variety of insurance products we offer. We also could lose a source of, or be paid reduced commissions for, future sales and could lose renewal
commissions for past sales. Our business could also be harmed if we fail to develop new Insurance Company Partner relationships.

In the future, it may become necessary for us to offer insurance products from a reduced number of Insurance Company Partners or to derive a greater
portion of our commissions and fees from a more concentrated number of Insurance Company Partners as our business and the insurance industry evolve.
Should our dependence on a smaller number of Insurance Company Partners increase, whether as a result of the termination of Insurance Company Partner
relationships, Insurance Company Partner consolidation or otherwise, we may become more vulnerable to adverse changes in our relationships with our
Insurance Company Partners, particularly in states where we offer insurance products from a relatively small number of Insurance Company Partners or
where a small number of insurance companies dominate the market. The termination, amendment or consolidation of our relationship with our Insurance
Company Partners could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We rely on third parties to perform key functions of our business operations, enabling our provision of services to our Clients. These third parties may
act in ways that could harm our business.

We rely on third parties, and in some cases subcontractors, to provide services, data, and information, such as technology, information security, billing
systems, funds transfers, data processing and administration and support functions, that are critical to our business operations. These third parties include
correspondents, agents and other brokerage and intermediaries, insurance markets, data providers, plan trustees, payroll service providers, benefits
administrators, software and system vendors, health plan providers, investment managers and providers of human resources, among others. As we do not
fully control the actions of these third parties, we are subject to the risk that their decisions, actions or inactions may adversely impact us and replacing
these service providers could create significant delays and expenses. Because we do not control our vendors and our ability to monitor their cybersecurity is
limited, we cannot ensure the cybersecurity measures they take will be sufficient to protect any information we share with them or to which they may have
access. Due to applicable laws and regulations or contractual obligations, we may be held responsible for security breaches, cyberattacks or other similar
incidents attributed to our vendors as they relate to the information we share with them or to which we grant them access. A failure by third parties to
comply with service level agreements or regulatory or legal requirements in a high-quality and timely manner, particularly during periods of our peak
demand for their services, could result in economic and reputational harm to us. In addition, we face risks as we transition from in-house functions to third-
party support functions and providers, or vice versa, that there may be disruptions in service or other unintended results that may adversely affect our
business operations. These third parties face their own technology, operating, business, and economic risks, and any significant failures by them, including
the improper use or disclosure of our confidential Client, Colleague, consumer, or Company information, could cause harm to our reputation. An
interruption in or the cessation of service by any service provider as a result of systems failures, data breaches or other cybersecurity incidents, capacity
constraints, financial difficulties, or for any other reason could disrupt our operations, impact our ability to offer certain products and services, and result in
contractual or regulatory fines or penalties, liability claims from Clients, or Colleagues, damage to our reputation, and harm to our business.

We rely on a single vendor or a limited number of vendors to provide certain key products or services to us, and the inability of these key vendors to
meet our needs could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Historically, we have contracted with and rely on a single vendor or a limited number of vendors to provide certain key products or services to us such as
information technology support and billing systems. If these vendors are unable to meet our needs because they fail to perform adequately, are no longer in
business, are experiencing shortages or supply chain issues or discontinue a certain product or service we need, our business, financial condition and results
of operations may be adversely affected. By way of example, certain payment processing vendors of ours have in the past discontinued or threatened to
discontinue, and may in the future discontinue or threaten to discontinue, certain payment processing products upon which we rely in certain parts of our
business, which if executed upon could disrupt our ability to operate those certain parts of our business and/or could require us to make substantial
additional investments to remediate.

While alternative sources for these products and services exist, in the event we are forced to rely on them, we may not be able to develop these alternative
sources quickly and cost-effectively or at all, which could materially impair our ability to operate our business. Furthermore, our vendors may request
changes in pricing, payment terms or other contractual obligations between the parties, which could require us to make substantial additional investments.

We have experienced significant growth in recent periods, and our recent growth rates may not be indicative of our future growth. As our costs
increase, we may not be able to generate sufficient revenue to achieve and, if achieved, maintain profitability.

We have experienced significant revenue growth in recent periods. In future periods, we may not be able to sustain revenue growth consistent with recent
history, or at all. We believe our revenue growth depends on a number of factors, including, but not limited to, our ability to:

• attract new Clients, successfully deploy and implement our products, obtain Client renewals and provide our Clients with excellent Client support;

• increase our network of Insurance Company Partners and the profit-sharing, override and/or contingent commissions that we earn from such
Insurance Company Partners;

• adequately expand, train, integrate and retain our Colleagues, including our executive officers and senior leaders, and maintain or increase our
sales force’s productivity;

• improve our internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures to ensure timely and accurate reporting of our
operational and financial results;
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• successfully introduce new products and enhance existing products;

• successfully deploy information technology assets for use by our Colleagues and interaction with our Clients and Insurance Company Partners;

• adapt to the ever-changing regulatory and legal landscape;

• protect sensitive, personal and confidential information and data within BRP’s custody from third party bad actors;

• successfully identify and acquire new Partners;

• successfully integrate Partnerships into the Company in an operationally efficient manner;

• service our existing indebtedness;

• access the capital markets or otherwise obtain access to capital to satisfy future needs of the Company;

• successfully introduce our products to new markets and geographies; and

• successfully compete against larger companies and new market entrants.

We may not successfully accomplish any of these objectives and ongoing macroeconomic and geopolitical uncertainty may impact our ability to
successfully accomplish any of the above, and as a result, it is difficult for us to forecast our future results of operations. Our historical growth rate should
not be considered indicative of our future performance and may decline in the future. In future periods, our revenue could grow more slowly than in recent
periods or decline for any number of reasons, including those outlined above. If our revenue or revenue growth rates decline, investors’ perceptions of our
business may be adversely affected and the market price of common stock could decline.

Certain of our results of operations and financial metrics may be difficult to predict as a result of seasonality.

We have presented, and may continue to present, certain non-GAAP financial measures, such as Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin, in
filings with the SEC and other public statements. Any failure to accurately report and present our non-GAAP financial measures could cause us to fail to
meet our reporting obligations and could cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial and other information, which would likely have a
negative effect on the trading price of our stock.

The insurance brokerage market is seasonal and our results of operations are somewhat affected by seasonal trends. Our Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted
EBITDA Margins are typically highest in the first quarter and lowest in the fourth quarter. This variation is primarily due to fluctuations in our revenue,
while overhead remains consistent throughout the year. Our revenues are generally highest in the first quarter due to the impact of contingent commission
payments received in the first quarter from Insurance Company Partners that we cannot readily estimate before receipt without the risk of significant
reversal and a higher degree of first quarter policy commencements and renewals in certain IAS and MIS lines of business such as employee benefits,
commercial and Medicare. In addition, a higher proportion of our first quarter revenue is derived from our highest margin businesses.

Partnerships can significantly impact Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margins in a given year and may increase the amount of seasonality within
the business, especially results attributable to Partnerships that have not been fully integrated into our business or owned by us for a full year.

Damage to our reputation could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our reputation is one of our key assets. We advise our Clients on and provide services related to a wide range of subjects and our ability to attract and retain
Clients depends greatly on the external perceptions of our level of service, trustworthiness, business practices, financial condition and other subjective
qualities. If a Client is not satisfied with our services, it could cause us to incur additional costs and impair profitability or lose the Client relationship
altogether, which may negatively impact other Clients’ perception regarding us. Our success is also dependent on maintaining a good reputation with
existing and potential Colleagues, investors, Insurance Company Partners, vendors, regulators and the communities in which we operate. Negative
perceptions or publicity regarding these or other matters, including our association with Clients or business partners who themselves have a damaged
reputation, or from actual or alleged conduct by us or our Colleagues, could damage our reputation. Any of these matters could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Increasing scrutiny and changing expectations from investors, Clients and our Colleagues with respect to our environmental, social and governance
(“ESG”) practices may impose additional costs on us or expose us to new or additional risks.

There is increased focus, including from governmental organizations, investors, employees and Clients, on ESG issues such as environmental stewardship,
climate change, diversity and inclusion, pay equity, racial justice, workplace conduct and cybersecurity and data privacy. There can be no certainty that we
will manage such issues successfully, or that we will successfully meet society’s expectations as to our proper role. Negative public perception, adverse
publicity or negative comments in social media, including as a result of actions taken by companies we acquire before the acquisition, could damage our
reputation, or harm our relationships with investors, other stakeholders, regulators and the communities in which we operate, if we do not, or are not
perceived to, adequately address these issues. Any harm to our reputation could impact Colleague engagement and retention and the willingness of Clients
and Insurance Company Partners to do business with us.

A variety of organizations have developed ratings to measure the performance of companies on ESG topics, and the results of these assessments are widely
publicized. Investments in funds that specialize in companies that perform well in such assessments are increasingly popular, and major institutional
investors have publicly emphasized the importance of such ESG measures to their investment decisions. Unfavorable ratings of BRP Group or our industry,
as well as omission of inclusion of our stock into ESG-oriented investment funds may lead to negative investor sentiment and the diversion of investment
to other companies or industries, which could have a negative impact on our stock price.

The provision of advisory services to Clients with respect to captive insurance, and specifically, utilization of an 831(b) election, is subject to numerous,
complex and frequently changing laws, regulations and governmental interpretations of the same, and non-compliance or changes in laws and
regulations or governmental interpretations of the same, could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We have an advisory services business that assists certain Clients with establishment of captive insurance companies, for their own purposes, which
leverage the benefits of Section 831(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and which are subject to audit and oversight from the Internal
Revenue Service (“IRS”). The IRS has conducted investigations, and may be conducting investigations, of certain peers of ours that also provide similar
services, with respect to whether or not such third parties are acting as a tax shelter promoter in connection with those operations. We have no reason to
believe that we have been or are currently a target of any such investigation. If the IRS were to disallow 831(b) elections, modify its guidance around
831(b) elections, or otherwise investigate our business and conclude that we are a tax shelter promoter, such actions, whether or not merited, could harm
our business, results of operations and financial condition.

If we fail to manage future growth effectively, our business could be materially adversely affected.

We have experienced rapid growth. This growth has placed significant demands on management and our operational infrastructure. As we continue to
grow, we must effectively integrate, develop and motivate a large number of new Colleagues, while maintaining the beneficial aspects of our Company
culture. If we do not manage the growth of our business and operations effectively, the quality of our services and efficiency of our operations could suffer
and we may not be able to execute on our business plan, which could harm our brand, results of operations and overall business.

Our corporate culture has contributed to our success, and if we cannot maintain this culture, or if we experience a change in management,
management philosophy or business strategy, our business may be harmed.

We believe that a significant contributor to our success has been our entrepreneurial and sales-oriented culture, as outlined in the Azimuth, our corporate
constitution. As we grow, including from the integration of Colleagues and businesses acquired in connection with previous or future Partnerships, we may
find it difficult to maintain important aspects of our corporate culture, which could negatively affect our profitability or our ability to retain and recruit
people of the highest integrity and quality who are essential to our future success. We may face pressure to change our culture as we grow, particularly if
we experience difficulties in attracting competent personnel who are willing to embrace our culture. In addition, as our organization grows and we are
required to implement more complex organizational structures, or if we experience a change in management, management philosophy or business strategy,
we may find it increasingly difficult to maintain the beneficial aspects of our corporate culture, which could negatively impact our future success.
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Our results may be adversely affected by changes in the mode of compensation in the insurance industry.

In the past, state regulators have scrutinized the manner in which insurance brokers are compensated. For example, the Attorney General of the State of
New York brought charges against members of the insurance brokerage community. These actions have created uncertainty concerning longstanding
methods of compensating insurance brokers. Given that the insurance brokerage industry has faced scrutiny from regulators in the past over its
compensation practices, and the transparency and discourse to Clients regarding brokers’ compensation, it is possible that regulators may choose to revisit
the same or other practices in the future. If they do so, compliance with new regulations along with any sanctions that might be imposed for past practices
deemed improper could have an adverse impact on our future results of operations and inflict significant reputational harm on our business.

Climate risks, risks associated with the physical effects of climate events, and risks associated with governmental responses to climate risks, could
adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

The effects of climate events continue to create an alarming level of concern. The U.S. Congress, state legislatures and federal and state regulatory agencies
continue to propose numerous initiatives to supplement the global effort to address climate and climate-related events. If new legislation or regulation is
enacted, we could incur increased costs and capital expenditures to comply with its limitations, which may impact our financial condition and operating
performance.

In addition, the U.S. Federal Reserve recently identified the climate as a systemic risk to the economy. It also reported that a gradual change in investor
sentiment regarding climate risk introduces the possibility of abrupt tipping points or significant swings in sentiment, which could create unpredictable
follow-on effects in financial markets. If this occurred, not only would we be negatively impacted by the general economic decline, but a drop in the stock
market affecting our stock price could negatively impact our ability to grow through mergers and acquisitions financed using our common stock.

The transition to a low-carbon economy could harm specific industries or sectors such as oil and gas in ways that could impact our business. Our Clients in
certain industries may be more adversely affected by climate events and could go out of business or have reduced needs for insurance-related services,
which could adversely impact our revenues. Negative publicity arising from our association with Clients in disfavored businesses or industries, or the
perception that we are not sufficiently focused on climate risks, could damage our reputation with investors, Clients, Colleagues and regulators. In addition,
the transition to a low-carbon economy could give rise to the need for innovative insurance and risk management solutions for entirely new industries and
companies, as well as advice and services to bolster climate resilience for existing companies. If we fail to innovate in response to these changes, we could
lose market share to our competitors or new market entrants that do.

Moreover, if our Insurance Company Partners fail or withdraw from offering certain lines of coverage because of large payouts related to climate events,
overall risk-taking capital capacity could be negatively affected, which could reduce our ability to place certain lines of coverage and, as a result, reduce
our revenues and profitability.

Furthermore, climate events may pose physical risks to our business, such as the frequency and intensity of unfavorable weather conditions, such as fires,
hurricanes, tornadoes, drought, water shortages, rainfall, unseasonably warm. Overall, climate events, their effects and the resulting, unknown impact could
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Relating to Legal, Compliance and Regulatory Matters

E&O claims against us, and other incidents, claims, risks, exposures and/or liabilities that require us to make claims against our insurance policies,
may negatively affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We have significant insurance agency and brokerage operations, and are subject to claims and litigation in the ordinary course of business resulting from
alleged and actual E&O in placing insurance and rendering coverage advice. In addition, many of our Colleagues regularly interact with Clients and
prospective Clients in the field, which increases the risks of property and casualty claims arising from such interactions. Further, many of our office
locations are in jurisdictions (such as California, Texas and Florida) that see higher incidents of climate events (such as hurricanes, other aggressive
weather patterns and earthquakes). Dealing with any of these activities can involve the expenditure of substantial amounts of money. Since E&O claims
against us may allege our liability for all or part of the amounts in question, claimants may seek large damage awards. These claims can involve significant
defense costs. E&O could include failure to, whether negligently or intentionally, place coverage on behalf of Clients, provide our Insurance Company
Partners with complete and accurate information relating to the risks being insured or appropriately apply funds that we hold on a fiduciary basis. It is not
always possible to prevent or detect E&O and other types of claims, and the precautions we take may not be effective in all cases.
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We have E&O insurance coverage to protect against the risk of liability resulting from our alleged and actual E&O. We also maintain a variety of other
property and casualty policies of insurance providing varying degrees of protection against loss and damage to our property and liability for certain conduct
of our Colleagues. Prices for these policies of insurance and the scope and limits of the coverage terms available depend on our claims history as well as
market conditions that are outside of our control. While we endeavor to purchase coverage that is appropriate to our assessment of our risk, we are unable
to predict with certainty the frequency, nature or magnitude of claims for direct or consequential damages or whether our policies of insurance will cover
such claims.

In establishing liabilities for claims, we utilize case level reviews by outside counsel and an internal analysis to estimate potential losses. The liability is
reviewed annually and adjusted as developments warrant. Given the unpredictability of E&O and other claims and of litigation that could flow from them,
it is possible that an adverse outcome in a particular matter could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition or cash
flow in a given quarterly or annual period.

Non-compliance with or changes in laws, regulations or licensing requirements applicable to us could restrict our ability to conduct our business
and/or could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The industry in which we operate is subject to extensive regulation. We are subject to regulation and supervision both federally and in each applicable local
jurisdiction. In general, these regulations are designed to protect Clients and the insured and to protect the integrity of the financial markets, rather than to
protect stockholders or creditors. Our ability to conduct business in these jurisdictions depends on our compliance with the rules and regulations, including
securities laws, promulgated by federal, state and other regulatory and self-regulatory authorities. Failure to comply with regulatory requirements, or
changes in regulatory requirements or interpretations, could result in actions by regulators, potentially leading to fines and penalties, adverse publicity and
damage to our reputation in the marketplace. There can be no assurance that we will be able to adapt effectively to any changes in law. Furthermore, in
some areas of our business, we act on the basis of our own or the industry's interpretations of applicable laws or regulations, which may conflict from state
to state. In the event those interpretations eventually prove different from the interpretations of regulatory authorities, we may be penalized. In extreme
cases, revocation of a subsidiary’s authority to do business in one or more jurisdictions could result from failure to comply with regulatory requirements.
Due to the complexity, periodic modification and differing interpretations of state insurance laws and regulations, we may not have always been, and we
may not always be, in compliance with them. In addition, we could face lawsuits by Clients, the insured and other parties for alleged violations of certain of
these laws and regulations. It is difficult to predict whether changes resulting from new laws and regulations, as well as changes in interpretation of current
laws and regulations, will affect the industry or our business and, if so, to what degree.

Colleagues and principals who engage in the solicitation, negotiation or sale of insurance, or provide certain other insurance services, generally are required
to be licensed individually. Insurance and laws and regulations govern whether licensees may share commissions with unlicensed entities and individuals.
We believe that any payments we make to third parties are in compliance with applicable laws. However, should any regulatory agency take a contrary
position and prevail, we will be required to change the manner in which we pay fees to such Colleagues or principals or require entities receiving such
payments to become registered or licensed.

State insurance laws grant supervisory agencies, including state departments of insurance, departments of financials services, and similar regulatory
authorities, broad administrative authority. State insurance regulators and the National Association of Insurance Commissioners continually review existing
laws and regulations, some of which affect our business. These supervisory agencies regulate many aspects of the insurance business, including, the
licensing of insurance brokers and agents and other insurance intermediaries, the handling of third-party funds held in a fiduciary capacity and trade
practices, such as marketing, advertising and compensation arrangements entered into by insurance brokers and agents. This legal and regulatory oversight
could reduce our profitability or limit our growth by increasing the costs of legal and regulatory compliance, and by limiting or restricting the products or
services we sell, the markets we serve or enter, the methods by which we sell our products and services, and the form of compensation we can accept from
our Clients, Insurance Company Partners and third parties. Moreover, in response to perceived excessive cost or inadequacy of available insurance, states
have from time to time created state insurance funds and assigned risk pools, which compete directly, on a subsidized basis, with private insurance
providers.

Federal, state and other regulatory and self-regulatory authorities have focused on, and continue to devote substantial attention to, the insurance industry as
well as to the sale of products or services to seniors. Regulatory review or the issuance of interpretations of existing laws and regulations may result in the
enactment of new laws and regulations that could adversely affect our operations or our ability to conduct business profitably. We are unable to predict
whether any such laws or regulations will be enacted and to what extent such laws and regulations would affect our business.
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Other legislative developments that could adversely affect us include: changes in our business compensation model as a result of regulatory developments
(for example, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act), and federal and state governments establishing programs to provide health insurance or
other alternative market types of coverage, that compete with, or completely replace, insurance products offered by insurance carriers. Also, as climate risk
issues become more prevalent, the U.S. is beginning to respond to these issues. This increasing governmental focus on climate risks may result in new
environmental regulations that cause us to incur additional compliance costs, which may adversely impact our results of operations and financial condition.

An increasing quantity of state legislatures and judiciaries, as well as the Federal Trade Commission, have begun promulgating laws, orders and regulations
that reflect a shifting sentiment against the enforceability of certain types of restrictive covenant agreements, including non-compete agreements and non-
solicitation agreements, that are core to our business. The further promulgation of such laws, orders and regulations could adversely affect our operations or
our ability to conduct business profitably. We are unable to predict whether any such laws, orders or regulations will be enacted, and if enacted,
enforceable, and to what extent such laws and regulations would affect our business.

Proposed tort reform legislation, if enacted, could decrease demand for casualty insurance, thereby reducing our commission revenues.

Legislation concerning tort reform has been considered, from time to time, in the United States Congress and in several state legislatures. Among the
provisions considered in such legislation have been limitations on damage awards, including punitive damages, and various restrictions applicable to class
action lawsuits. Enactment of these or similar provisions by Congress, or by states in which we sell insurance, could reduce the demand for casualty
insurance policies or lead to a decrease in policy limits of such policies sold, thereby reducing our commission revenues.

Regulations affecting Insurance Company Partners with which we place insurance affect how we conduct our operations.

Our Insurance Company Partners are also regulated by state departments of insurance for solvency and other issues and are subject to reserve requirements.
We cannot guarantee that all Insurance Company Partners with which we do business comply with regulations instituted by state departments of insurance.
We may need to expend resources to address questions or concerns regarding our relationships with these Insurance Company Partners, which diverts
management resources away from business operations.

Our business is subject to risks related to legal proceedings, regulatory investigations, and governmental inquiries and actions.

We are subject to litigation, regulatory investigations and claims arising in the ordinary course of our business operations. The risks associated with these
matters often may be difficult to assess or quantify and the existence and magnitude of potential claims often remain unknown for substantial periods of
time. While we have insurance coverage for some of these potential claims, others may not be covered by insurance, insurers may dispute coverage or any
ultimate liabilities may exceed our coverage. We may be subject to actions and claims relating to the sale, solicitation and negotiation of insurance,
including the suitability of such products and services, as well as denials of coverage from our Insurance Company Partners. Actions and claims may result
in the rescission of such sales; consequently, our Insurance Company Partners may seek to recoup commissions paid to us, which may lead to legal action
against us. The outcome of such actions cannot be predicted and such claims or actions could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We are subject to laws and regulations, as well as regulatory investigations. The insurance industry has been subject to a significant level of scrutiny by
various regulatory bodies, including state Attorneys General offices and state departments of insurance, concerning certain practices within the insurance
industry. These practices include, without limitation, the receipt of contingent commissions by insurance brokers and agents from insurance companies and
the extent to which such compensation has been disclosed, the collection of agency fees, which we define as fees separate from commissions charged
directly to Clients for efforts performed in the issuance of new insurance policies, bid rigging and related matters. From time to time, our subsidiaries
receive informational requests from governmental authorities.

There have been a number of revisions to existing, or proposals to modify or enact new, laws and regulations regarding insurance agents and brokers. These
actions have imposed or could impose additional obligations on us with respect to our products sold. Some insurance companies have agreed with
regulatory authorities to end the payment of contingent commissions on insurance products, which could impact our commissions that are based on the
volume, consistency and profitability of business generated by us.
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We cannot predict the impact that any new laws, rules or regulations may have on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Given the
current regulatory environment and the number of our subsidiaries operating in local markets throughout the country, it is possible that we will become
subject to further governmental inquiries and subpoenas and have lawsuits filed against us. Regulators may raise issues during investigations, examinations
or audits that could, if determined adversely, have a material impact on us. The interpretations of regulations by regulators may change and statutes may be
enacted with retroactive impact. We could also be materially adversely affected by any new industry-wide regulations or practices that may result from
these proceedings.

Our involvement in any investigations and lawsuits would cause us to incur additional legal and other costs and, if we were found to have violated any
laws, we could be required to pay fines, damages and other costs, perhaps in material amounts. Regardless of final costs, these matters could have a
material adverse effect on us by exposing us to negative publicity, reputational damage, harm to client relationships or diversion of personnel and
management resources.

In addition, we may from time to time be subject to certain litigation brought by one or more of our stockholders. The outcome of any such litigation,
particularly class action lawsuits, is difficult to assess or quantify. Plaintiffs in these types of lawsuits may seek recovery of very large or indeterminate
amounts, and the magnitude of the potential loss relating to such lawsuits, including the possibility of having attorney’s fees awarded, may remain
unknown for substantial periods of time. The cost to defend such litigation may be significant. There may also be adverse publicity associated with
litigation, regardless of whether the allegations are valid or whether we are ultimately found liable. As a result, litigation may materially adversely affect
our businesses, financial condition and results of operations.

The marketing and sale of Medicare plans are subject to numerous, complex and frequently changing laws and regulations, and non-compliance or
changes in laws and regulations could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

The marketing and sale of Medicare plans are subject to numerous laws, regulations and guidelines at the federal and state level. The marketing and sale of
Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D prescription drug plans are principally regulated by CMS. The marketing and sale of Medicare Supplement plans
are principally regulated on a state-by-state basis by state departments of insurance. The laws and regulations applicable to the marketing and sale of
Medicare plans are numerous, ambiguous and complex, and, particularly with respect to regulations and guidance issued by CMS for Medicare Advantage
and Medicare Part D prescription drug plans, change frequently. The telephone calls on which we enroll individuals into Medicare Advantage and
Medicare Part D prescription drug plans are required to be recorded. Health insurance companies audit these recordings for compliance and listen to them
in connection with their investigation of complaints. In addition, Medicare eligible individuals may receive a special election period and the ability to
change Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D prescription drug plans outside the Medicare annual enrollment period in the event that the sale of the
plan was not in accordance with CMS rules and guidelines. Given CMS’s scrutiny of Medicare product health insurance companies and the responsibility
of the Insurance Company Partners for actions that we take, Insurance Company Partners may terminate our relationship with them or take other corrective
action if our Medicare product sales, marketing and operations are not in compliance or give rise to too many complaints. The termination of our
relationship with Insurance Company Partners for this reason would reduce the products we are able to offer, could result in the loss of commissions for
past and future sales and would otherwise harm our business, results of operations and financial condition.

As a result of the laws, regulations and guidelines relating to the sale of Medicare plans, we have altered, and likely will have to continue to alter, our
websites and sales process to comply with several requirements that are not applicable to our sale of non-Medicare-related health insurance plans. For
instance, many aspects of our online platforms and our marketing material and processes, as well as changes to these platforms, materials and processes,
including call center scripts, must be filed on a regular basis with CMS and reviewed and approved by health insurance companies in light of CMS
requirements. In addition, certain aspects of our Medicare plan marketing partner relationships have been in the past, and will be in the future, subjected to
CMS and health insurance company review. Changes to the laws, regulations and guidelines relating to Medicare plans, their interpretation or the manner
in which they are enforced could be incompatible with these relationships, our platforms or our sale of Medicare plans, which could harm our business,
results of operations and financial condition.

Due to changes in CMS guidance or enforcement or interpretation of existing guidance applicable to our marketing and sale of Medicare products, or as a
result of new laws, regulations and guidelines, CMS, state departments of insurance or Insurance Company Partners may determine to object to or not to
approve aspects of our online platforms or marketing material and processes and may determine that certain existing aspects of our Medicare-related
business are not in compliance. As a result, the progress of our Medicare operations could be slowed or we could be prevented from operating aspects of
our Medicare commissions and fees generating activities altogether, which would harm our business, results of operations and financial condition,
particularly if it occurred during the Medicare annual enrollment period.
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We have received, and may in the future receive, inquiries from CMS or state departments of insurance regarding our marketing and business practices and
compliance with laws and regulations. Inquiries and proceedings initiated by the government could adversely impact our health insurance licenses, require
us to pay fines, require us to modify marketing and business practices, result in litigation and otherwise harm our business, operating results or financial
condition.

In May 2021, CMS changed its process for the submission and approval of marketing materials related to Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D
prescription drug plans. The practical application of the previous process allowed for a lead carrier to handle most of the review and filing of Medicare plan
marketing materials with CMS. The new process requires each carrier to approve of each filed marketing material and has resulted in a more complicated
and time consuming process to get our marketing material filed with CMS and through the process with carriers. In October 2021, CMS issued new
guidance that significantly broadens the types of marketing materials that we are required to file with CMS, including the requirement to file certain generic
marketing materials that refer to the benefits or costs of Medicare Advantage or Medicare Part D prescription drug plans but that do not specifically
mention a health insurance carrier's name or a specific plan. As a result, we now submit to each Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D prescription
drug plan carrier with which we have a relationship a significantly larger number of marketing materials than we have in the past. We may not be able to
use certain of our marketing materials and implement our marketing programs effectively if CMS or an Insurance Company Partner has comments or
disapproves of our marketing materials. If we do not timely file the additional marketing materials with CMS, if Insurance Company Partners do not adapt
to the new CMS requirements or increase the efficiency with which they review our marketing material, or if we or our marketing partners are not
successful in timely receiving Insurance Company Partner or CMS approval of our marketing materials, it could harm our sales and also harm our ability to
efficiently change and implement new or existing marketing material, including call center scripts and our websites, which could impact negatively in our
business, operating results and financial condition, particularly if such delay or non-compliance occurs during the Medicare annual enrollment period.

Efforts to reduce healthcare costs and alter healthcare financing practices could adversely affect our business.

The U.S. healthcare industry is subject to increased governmental regulation at both the federal and state levels. Certain proposals have been made at the
federal and state government levels in an effort to control healthcare costs, including proposing to lower reimbursement under the Medicare program.
These proposals include “single payor” government funded healthcare and price controls on prescription drugs. If these or similar efforts are successful, our
business and operations could be materially adversely affected. In addition, changing political, economic and regulatory influences may affect healthcare
financing and reimbursement practices. If the current healthcare financing and reimbursement system changes significantly, our business could be
materially adversely affected. Congress periodically considers proposals to reform the U.S. healthcare system such as the Patient Protection and Affordable
Care Act and the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act in 2010. Our Insurance Company Partners may react to these proposals and the uncertainty
surrounding them by reducing or delaying purchases of services that we provide. We cannot predict what effect, if any, these proposals may have on our
business. Other legislative or market-driven changes in the healthcare system that we cannot anticipate could also materially adversely affect our
consolidated results of operations, consolidated financial position or consolidated cash flow from operations.

Risks Relating to Intellectual Property and Cybersecurity

Our business depends on information processing systems. Data breaches or other security incidents with respect to our or our vendors' information
processing systems may hurt our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our ability to provide insurance services to Clients and to create and maintain comprehensive tracking and reporting of Client accounts depends on our
capacity to collect, store, retrieve and otherwise process data, manage significant databases and expand and periodically upgrade our information
processing capabilities. As our operations evolve, we will need to continue to make investments in new and enhanced information systems. Additionally, as
our information system providers revise and upgrade their hardware, software and equipment technology, we may encounter difficulties integrating these
new technologies into our business. Interruption or loss of our information processing capabilities or adverse consequences from implementing new or
enhanced systems could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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In the course of providing financial services, we may electronically store, transmit or otherwise process personally identifiable information, such as social
security numbers or credit card or bank information, of Clients or employees of Clients. Breaches in data security or infiltration of our network security by
unauthorized persons could cause interruptions in operations and damage to our reputation, among other adverse impacts. While we maintain policies,
procedures and technological safeguards designed to protect the security and privacy of this information, we cannot entirely eliminate the risk of, and have
in the past experienced, improper access to or disclosure of personally identifiable information and related costs to mitigate the consequences from such
events. Privacy laws, rules and regulations are matters of growing public concern and are continuously changing in the states in which we operate. The
failure to adhere to or successfully implement procedures to respond to these laws, rules and regulations could result in legal liability or impairment to our
reputation.

Further, despite security measures we and our vendors take, our systems and those of our vendors may be vulnerable to physical break-ins, unauthorized
access, viruses or other disruptive problems. As we continue to expand our business through Partnerships, we may be exposed to increased vulnerability to
data breaches, cybersecurity attacks and other security incidents during the integration of information systems. If our systems or facilities were infiltrated or
damaged, our Clients could experience data loss, financial loss and significant business interruption leading to a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations. We may be required to expend significant additional resources to modify protective measures, to investigate
and remediate vulnerabilities or other exposures or to make required notifications.

Our business depends on a strong brand, and any failure to maintain, protect, defend and enhance our brand would hurt our ability to grow our
business, particularly in new markets where we have limited brand recognition.

We have developed, and will continue to develop, a strong brand that we believe has contributed significantly to the success of our business. Maintaining,
protecting and enhancing those brands is critical to growing our business, particularly in new markets where we have limited brand recognition. If we do
not successfully build and maintain a strong brand, our business could be materially harmed. Maintaining and enhancing the quality of our brand may
require us to make substantial investments in areas such as marketing, community relations, outreach and employee training. We actively engage in
advertisements, targeted promotional mailings and email communications, and engage on a regular basis in public relations and sponsorship activities.
These investments may be substantial and may fail to encompass the optimal range of traditional, online and social advertising media to achieve maximum
exposure and benefit to our brand. Moreover, our brand promotion activities may not generate brand awareness or yield increased revenue and, even if they
do, any increased revenue may not offset the expenses we incur in building our brand. If we fail to successfully promote and maintain our brand or incur
substantial expenses in an unsuccessful attempt to promote and maintain our brand, we may fail to attract new Clients or retain our existing Clients to the
extent necessary to realize a sufficient return on our brand-building efforts.

We believe that our portfolio of trademarks (some of which are pending registration) have significant value and that these and other intellectual property are
valuable assets that are critical to our success. Unauthorized uses or other infringement, misappropriation or violation of our trademarks, service marks or
other intellectual property could diminish the value of our brand and may adversely affect our business. Effective intellectual property protection may not
be available in every market in which we operate. Moreover, the laws of some countries do not protect intellectual property and proprietary rights to the
same extent as the laws of the United States, and mechanisms for enforcement of intellectual property rights in some foreign countries may be inadequate.
Additionally, we cannot guarantee that future trademark registrations for pending or future applications will issue, or that any registered trademarks will be
enforceable or provide adequate protection of our intellectual property and other proprietary rights. The United States Patent and Trademark Office and
various foreign trademark offices also require compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment and other similar provisions during the
trademark registration process and after a registration has issued. There are situations in which noncompliance can result in abandonment or cancellation of
a trademark filing, resulting in partial or complete loss of trademark rights in the relevant jurisdiction. If this occurs, our competitors might be able to enter
the market under identical or similar brands.

Failure to adequately protect our intellectual property rights could damage our brand and impair our ability to compete effectively. Even where we have
effectively secured statutory protection for our trademarks and other intellectual property, our competitors and other third parties may infringe,
misappropriate or otherwise violate our intellectual property. In the course of litigation, or as a preventative measure, such competitors and other third
parties may attempt to challenge the scope of our rights or invalidate our intellectual property. If such challenges were to be successful, it could limit our
ability to prevent others from using similar marks or designs may ultimately result in a reduced distinctiveness of our brand in the minds of consumers.
Defending or enforcing our trademark rights, branding practices and other intellectual property could result in the expenditure of significant resources and
divert the attention of management, which in turn may materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations, even if such defense or
enforcement is ultimately successful.
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Failure to obtain, maintain, protect, defend or enforce our intellectual property rights, or allegations that we have infringed, misappropriated or
otherwise violated the intellectual property rights of others, could harm our reputation, ability to compete effectively, business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Our success and ability to compete depends in part on our ability to obtain, maintain, protect, defend and enforce our intellectual property. To protect our
intellectual property rights, we rely on a combination of trademark and copyright laws in the United States and certain other jurisdictions (whether via
international convention, treaty or otherwise), trade secret protection, confidentiality agreements and other contractual arrangements with our affiliates,
Colleagues, Clients, Partners and others. However, such measures provide only limited protection and the steps that we take to protect our intellectual
property may be inadequate to deter infringement, misappropriation or other violation of our intellectual property or proprietary information. Policing
unauthorized use of our intellectual property is difficult, expensive and time-consuming, particularly in countries where the laws may not be as protective
of intellectual property rights as those in the United States and where mechanisms for enforcement of intellectual property rights may be weak. We may be
required to spend significant resources to monitor and protect our intellectual property rights. In addition, we may be unable to detect the unauthorized use
of our intellectual property rights.

Failure to protect our intellectual property adequately could harm our reputation and affect our ability to compete effectively. In addition, even if we initiate
litigation against third parties, such as suits alleging infringement, misappropriation or other violation of our intellectual property, we may not prevail.
Litigation brought to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights could be costly, time-consuming and distracting to management. Our efforts to
enforce our intellectual property rights may be met with defenses, counterclaims and countersuits attacking the validity and enforceability of our
intellectual property rights. Additionally, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is
a risk that some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation. An adverse determination of any
litigation proceedings could put our intellectual property at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and could put our related intellectual property
at risk of not issuing or being cancelled. There could also be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions, or other interim proceedings or
developments. If securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a material adverse effect on the price of our common
stock. Any of the foregoing could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Meanwhile, third parties may assert intellectual property-related claims against us, including claims of infringement, misappropriation or other violation of
their intellectual property, which may be costly to defend, could require the payment of damages, legal fees, settlement payments, royalty payments and
other costs or damages, including treble damages if we are found to have willfully infringed, and could limit our ability to use or offer certain technologies,
products or other intellectual property. Any intellectual property claims, with or without merit, could be expensive, take significant time and divert
management’s resources, time and attention from other business concerns. Moreover, other companies, including our competitors, may have the capability
to dedicate substantially greater resources to enforce their intellectual property rights and to defend claims that may be brought against them. Successful
challenges against us could require us to modify or discontinue our use of technology or business processes where such use is found to infringe,
misappropriate or otherwise violate the rights of others, or require us to purchase costly licenses from third parties, which may not be available on
commercially reasonable terms, or at all. Even if a license is available to us, it could be non-exclusive thereby giving our competitors and other third parties
access to the same technologies licensed to us, and we may be required to pay significant upfront fees, milestone payments or royalties, which would
increase our operating expenses. Any of the foregoing could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Improper disclosure of confidential, personal or proprietary information, whether due to human error, misuse of information by Colleagues,
contractors, vendors or third party bad actors, or as a result of cyberattacks or other security incidents with respect to our or our vendors’ systems,
tools, information, processes or services, or failure to comply with applicable laws, rules, regulations, orders, industry standards and contractual
obligations regarding data privacy, security and/or cybersecurity, could result in regulatory scrutiny, legal and financial liability, reputational harm,
lost revenue, and remediation costs, and could have an adverse effect on our business and/or operations.

We maintain confidential, personal and proprietary information relating to our Company, our Colleagues, our Insurance Company Partners, our vendors and
our actual and prospective Clients. This information could include personally identifiable information, protected health information, such as information
regarding the medical history of Clients, financial information, and other categories of sensitive or protected information. We are subject to laws, rules,
regulations, orders, industry standards, contractual obligations and other legal obligations relating to the collection, use, retention, security, transfer, storage,
disposition and other processing of this information. These requirements may also apply to transfers of information among our affiliates, as well as to
transactions we enter into with unaffiliated third-parties.
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Cybersecurity risks have significantly increased in recent years, in part, because of the proliferation of new technologies, the use of the internet and
telecommunications technologies to exchange information and conduct transactions, and the increased sophistication and activities of computer hackers,
organized crime, terrorists, and other external parties, including foreign state actors. We have in the past and may in the future be subject to cyberattacks.
These cyberattacks could include computer viruses, malicious or destructive code, phishing attacks, social engineering attacks, denial of service or
information, improper access by employees or third-party partners or other security breaches that have or could in the future result in the unauthorized
release, gathering, monitoring, misuse, loss or destruction of our confidential, proprietary, personal, and other information concerning Colleagues, Clients,
Insurance Company Partners, vendors or consumers, or otherwise materially disrupt our network access or business operations.

Cybersecurity breaches, cyberattacks and other similar incidents, including, among other things, computer viruses, denial of service or information attacks,
ransomware attacks, credential stuffing, social engineering, human error, fraud, unauthorized parties gaining access to our information technology systems,
malware infections, phishing campaigns and vulnerability exploit attempts could disrupt the security of our internal systems and business applications or
those of our vendors and impair our ability to provide services to our Clients and protect the privacy of their data. Any such incidents may also compromise
confidential business information, result in intellectual property or other confidential or proprietary information being lost or stolen, including Client,
Colleague or Company data, which could harm our reputation, competitive position or otherwise adversely affect our business. Cyber threats are constantly
evolving, which makes it more difficult to detect cybersecurity incidents, assess their severity or impact in a timely manner, and successfully defend against
them. The hybrid and remote work environment is increasing the attack surface available to criminals, as more companies and individuals work remotely
and otherwise work online. Consequently, the risk of a cybersecurity incident has increased, and as cybersecurity threats evolve, we may be required to
expend significant additional resources to continue to modify or enhance our protective measures or to investigate or remediate any information security
vulnerabilities, security breaches, cyberattacks or other similar incidents. We cannot provide assurances that our preventative efforts, or those of our
vendors or service providers, will be successful, and we may not be able to anticipate all security breaches, cyberattacks or other similar incidents, detect or
react to such incidents in a timely manner, implement guaranteed preventive measures against such incidents, or adequately remediate any such incident.

Although we maintain policies, procedures and technical safeguards designed to protect the security and privacy of confidential, personal and proprietary
information, we cannot eliminate the risk of, and have in the past experienced, improper access to or disclosure of personally identifiable information and
related costs to mitigate the consequences from such events. It is possible that the measures we implement, including our security controls over personal
data and training of Colleagues on data security, may not prevent improper access to, disclosure of or misuse of confidential, personal or proprietary
information. This could cause harm to our reputation, create legal exposure or subject us to liability under laws that protect personal data, resulting in
increased costs or loss of commissions and fees. In addition, improper access to or disclosure of personal and proprietary information could occur in a
target we acquire prior to the acquisition or as a result of actions taken prior to the acquisition or during the integration period. Even if we receive
indemnification for such events (which may not be the cure), such events could cause harm to our reputation, create legal exposure or subject us to liability
under laws that protect personal data.

The occurrence of any security breach, cyberattack or other similar incident with respect to our or our vendors’ systems, or our failure to make adequate or
timely disclosures to the public, regulators, law enforcement agencies or affected individuals, as applicable, following any such event, could cause harm to
our reputation, subject us to additional regulatory scrutiny, expose us to civil litigation, fines, damages or injunctions or subject us to liability under
applicable data privacy, cybersecurity and other laws, rules and regulations, resulting in increased costs or loss of commissions and fees, any of which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Additionally, we cannot be certain that our insurance
coverage will be adequate for cybersecurity liabilities actually incurred, that insurance will continue to be available to us on economically reasonable terms,
or at all, or that our insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim.

We are subject to complex and frequently changing laws, rules and regulations in the various jurisdictions in which we operate relating to the collection,
use, retention, security, transfer, storage, disposition and other processing of personal information. For example, legislators in the United States have passed
new and more robust cybersecurity legislation in light of the recent broad-based cyberattacks at a number of companies. These and similar initiatives
around the country could increase the cost of developing, implementing or securing our networks, tools, systems and other information technology assets
and require us to allocate more resources to improved technologies, adding to our information technology and compliance costs. Ensuring that our
collection, use, retention, security, transfer, storage, disposition and other processing of personal information complies with applicable laws, regulations,
rules and standards regarding data privacy and cybersecurity in relevant jurisdictions can increase operating costs, impact the development of new products
or services, and reduce operational efficiency.
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At the federal level, we are subject to, among other laws, rules and regulations, the GLBA, which requires financial institutions to, among other things,
periodically disclose their privacy policies and practices relating to sharing personal information and, in some cases, enables retail customers to opt out of
the sharing of certain personal information with unaffiliated third parties. The GLBA also requires financial institutions to implement an information
security program that includes administrative, technical and physical safeguards to ensure the security and confidentiality of consumer records and
information. We are also subject to the rules and regulations promulgated under the authority of the Federal Trade Commission, which regulates unfair or
deceptive acts or practices, including with respect to data privacy and cybersecurity. Moreover, the United States Congress has recently considered, and is
currently considering, various proposals for more comprehensive data privacy and cybersecurity legislation, to which we may be subject if passed. Data
privacy and cybersecurity are also areas of increasing state legislative focus and we are, or may in the future become, subject to various state laws and
regulations regarding data privacy and cybersecurity. For example, the California Consumer Protection Act of 2018 (the “CCPA”), which became effective
on January 1, 2020, applies to for-profit businesses that conduct business in California and meet certain revenue or data collection thresholds. The CCPA
gives California residents the right to, among other things, request disclosure of information collected about them and whether that information has been
sold to others, request deletion of personal information (subject to certain exceptions), opt out of the sale of their personal information, and not be
discriminated against for exercising these rights. The CCPA contains several exemptions, including an exemption applicable to personal information that is
collected, processed, sold or disclosed pursuant to the GLBA. Further, effective in most material respects starting on January 1, 2023, the California
Privacy Rights Act (“CPRA”) (which was passed via a ballot initiative as part of the November 2020 election) has significantly modified the CCPA,
including by expanding California residents’ rights with respect to certain sensitive personal information. The CPRA also creates a new state agency which
will be vested with authority to implement and enforce the CCPA and the CPRA. Other states where we do business, or may in the future do business, or
from which we otherwise collect, or may in the future otherwise collect, personal information of residents have adopted or are considering adopting similar
laws. For example, Virginia and Colorado have recently adopted comprehensive data privacy laws similar to the CCPA, which went into effect in January
and July of 2023, respectively. In addition, laws in all 50 U.S. states generally require businesses to provide notice under certain circumstances to
consumers whose personal information has been improperly accessed, disclosed or otherwise compromised as a result of a data breach. Certain state laws
and regulations may be more stringent, broader in scope, or offer greater individual rights, with respect to personal information than federal or other state
laws and regulations, and such laws and regulations may differ from each other, which may complicate compliance efforts and increase compliance costs.
Aspects of the CCPA, the CPRA, and other federal and state laws and regulations relating to data privacy and cybersecurity, as well as their enforcement,
remain unclear, and we may be required to modify our practices in an effort to comply with them.

Further, while we strive to publish and prominently display privacy policies that are accurate, comprehensive, and compliant with applicable laws,
regulations, rules and industry standards, we cannot ensure that our privacy policies and other statements regarding our practices will be sufficient to
protect us from claims, proceedings, liability or adverse publicity relating to data privacy or cybersecurity. Although we endeavor to comply with our
privacy policies, we may at times fail to do so or be alleged to have failed to do so. The publication of our privacy policies and other documentation that
provide promises and assurances about privacy, data protection and cybersecurity can subject us to potential federal or state action if they are found to be
deceptive, unfair, or misrepresentative of our actual practices.

Any actual or perceived failure to adhere to, or successfully implement processes in response to, changing legal or regulatory requirements in this area or to
comply with our privacy policies could result in legal liability, including litigation (including class actions), claims, proceedings, regulatory fines, penalties
or other sanctions, governmental investigations, enforcement actions, the expenditure of substantial costs, time and other resources, damage to our
reputation in the marketplace and other adverse impacts, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

A failure or disruption of our operational processes or systems, whether due to technological error or human error or misconduct, could negatively
impact our reputation, customers, clients, businesses or results of operations and financial condition.

We seek to maintain and develop new software or technology where appropriate to better serve our Clients. This includes developing new software,
technology, and automated systems (including, but not limited to, billing systems) to support our insurance products. Notwithstanding these upgrades and
the proliferation of technology and technology-based risk and control systems, our businesses ultimately rely on people as our greatest resource, and, from
time to time, they have in the past and may in the future make mistakes or engage in violations of applicable policies, laws, rules or procedures that are not
always caught immediately by our technological processes or by our controls and other procedures, which are intended to prevent and detect such errors or
violations. We have in the past and in the future could experience operational incidents caused by human error due to failure to properly utilize software or
technology or adhere to applicable policies and procedures, calculation errors, mistakes in addressing emails, errors in software or model development or
implementation, or simple errors in judgment.
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Operational incidents could result in financial losses as well as misappropriation, corruption, or loss of confidential Client specific information, including
social security numbers, private health information, payment card numbers, or bank account information. Such an incident could significantly negatively
impact our reputation, customers, clients, businesses or results of operations and financial condition. Cyber-related and other operational incidents can also
result in legal and regulatory proceedings, fines, and other costs.

We rely on the availability and performance of information technology services provided by third parties.

While we maintain some of our critical information technology systems, we also depend on third-party service providers to provide important information
technology services relating to, among other things, agency management services, sales and service support, network, device and event monitoring,
cybersecurity, electronic communications and certain finance functions. If the service providers to which we outsource these functions do not perform
effectively, we may not be able to achieve the expected cost savings and may have to incur additional costs to correct errors made by such service
providers. Depending on the function involved, such errors may also lead to business disruption, processing inefficiencies, the loss of or damage to
intellectual property through a security breach, the loss of sensitive, personal or confidential data through a security breach, or otherwise. While we and our
third-party service providers have not experienced any significant disruption, failure or breach impacting our or their information technology systems, any
such disruption, failure or breach could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Relating to our Organizational Structure

We are a holding company with our principal asset being our 55% ownership interest in BRP, and our Pre-IPO LLC Members, whose interest in our
business may be different from yours, have approval rights over certain transactions and actions taken by us or BRP.

We are a holding company, and our principal asset is our direct or indirect ownership of 55% of the outstanding LLC Units. We have no independent means
of generating commissions and fees.

Further, we are a party to a Stockholders Agreement entered into in connection with the initial public offering with the Pre-IPO LLC Members. Pursuant to
the terms of the Stockholders Agreement, so long as the Pre-IPO LLC Members and their permitted transferees (collectively, the “Holders”) beneficially
own at least 10% of the aggregate number of outstanding shares of our common stock (the “Substantial Ownership Requirement”), the Holders have
approval rights over certain transactions and actions taken by us and BRP, including:

• a merger, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of the assets of BRP and its subsidiaries;

• any dissolution, liquidation or reorganization (including filing for bankruptcy) of BRP and its subsidiaries or any acquisition or disposition of any
asset for consideration in excess of 5% of our and our subsidiaries' total assets on a consolidated basis;

• the incurrence, guarantee, assumption or refinancing of indebtedness, or grant of a security interest, in excess of 10% of total assets (or that would
cause aggregate indebtedness or guarantees thereof to exceed 10% of total assets);

• the issuance of certain additional equity interests of the Company, BRP or any of their subsidiaries in an amount exceeding $10 million (other than
pursuant to an equity incentive plan that has been approved by our board of directors);

• the establishment or amendment of any equity, purchase or bonus plan for the benefit of employees, consultants, officers or directors;

• any capital or other expenditure in excess of 5% of total assets;

• the declaration or payment of dividends on Class A common stock or distributions by BRP on LLC Units other than tax distributions as defined in
the Amended LLC Agreement;

• changing the number of directors on our board of directors;

• hiring, termination or replacement of, establishment of compensation (including benefits) payable to, or making other significant decisions
involving, our or BRP's senior management and key employees, including our Chief Executive Officer, including entry into or modification of
employment agreements, adopting or modifying plans relating to any incentive securities or employee benefit plans or granting incentive
securities or benefits under any existing plans;

• changing our or BRP’s jurisdiction of incorporation;

• changing the location of our or BRP’s headquarters;
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• changing our or BRP’s name;

• changing our or BRP’s fiscal year;

• changing our public accounting firm;

• amendments to our or BRP’s governing documents; and

• adopting a shareholder rights plan.

Furthermore, the Stockholders Agreement provides that, for so long as the Substantial Ownership Requirement is met, the Holders may designate the
nominees for a majority of the members of our board of directors, including the Chairman of our board of directors.

Notwithstanding the rights afforded to the Holders under the Stockholders Agreement, Baldwin Insurance Group Holdings, LLC, an entity controlled by
Lowry Baldwin, our Chairman and the Holder of a majority of the shares of the Company's Class B common stock held by all of the Holders (the “Majority
Holder”), and the Company have entered into a consent and defense agreement (the “Consent Agreement”) pursuant to which the Majority Holder has
irrevocably consented to and approved, on behalf of itself and the other Holders, certain transactions and actions taken by the Company and BRP (each, a
“Specified Matter”) that the Independent Committee (as defined below) determines in good faith is in the best interests of the Company and its
stockholders in their capacity as such, in satisfaction of the approval rights with respect to such Specific Matter. Further, the Majority Holder irrevocably
agreed, on behalf of itself and the other Holders, not to designate any nominee for election to service on the Company's board if the Independent
Committee determines in good faith that action by the board in furtherance of the nomination of such person to the board would not be in the best interests
of the Company and its stockholders in their capacity as such.

A group comprised of Lowry Baldwin, our Chairman, Baldwin Insurance Group Holdings, LLC, an entity controlled by Lowry Baldwin, Elizabeth
Krystyn, Laura Sherman, Trevor Baldwin, our Chief Executive Officer, Dan Galbraith, President, BRP and Chief Executive Officer, Retail Brokerage
Operations, and Brad Hale, our Chief Financial Officer, and certain trusts established by such individuals, have entered into a Voting Agreement, as
amended, with Lowry Baldwin, our Chairman, pursuant to which, in connection with any meeting of our stockholders or any written consent of our
stockholders, each such person and trust party will agree to vote or exercise their right to consent in the manner directed by Lowry Baldwin. As of the date
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, Lowry Baldwin through the Voting Agreement beneficially owns 25.4% of the voting power of our common stock.

This concentration of ownership and voting power may also delay, defer or even prevent an acquisition by a third party or other change of control of our
Company, which could deprive you of an opportunity to receive a premium for your shares of Class A common stock and may make some transactions
more difficult or impossible without the support of the Holders, even if such events are in the best interests of stockholders other than the Holders.
Furthermore, this concentration of voting power with Holders may have a negative impact on the price of our Class A common stock. In addition, the
Holders will have the ability to designate the nominees for a majority of the members of our board of directors, including the Chairman of our board of
directors, until the Substantial Ownership Requirement is no longer met. As a result, the Holders may not be inclined to permit us to issue additional shares
of Class A common stock, including for the facilitation of acquisitions, if it would dilute their holdings below the Substantial Ownership Requirement.

Furthermore, Holders’ interests may not be fully aligned with yours, which could lead to actions that are not in your best interests. Because the Holders
hold a majority of their economic interests in our business through BRP rather than through BRP Group, they may have conflicting interests with holders of
shares of our Class A common stock. For example, the Holders may be in a different tax position than holders of shares of our Class A common stock,
which could influence their decisions regarding whether and when BRP should dispose of assets or incur new or refinance existing indebtedness, especially
in light of the existence of the Tax Receivable Agreement, and whether and when we should undergo certain changes of control for purposes of the Tax
Receivable Agreement or terminate the Tax Receivable Agreement. In addition, the structuring of future transactions may take into consideration these tax
or other considerations even where no similar benefit would accrue to holders of shares of our Class A common stock. Pursuant to the Bipartisan Budget
Act of 2015, for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017, if the IRS makes audit adjustments to BRP’s federal income tax returns, it may assess and
collect any taxes (including any applicable penalties and interest) resulting from such audit adjustment directly from BRP. If, as a result of any such audit
adjustment, BRP is required to make payments of taxes, penalties and interest, BRP’s cash available for distributions to us may be substantially reduced.
These rules are not applicable to BRP for tax years beginning on or prior to December 31, 2017. In addition, the Holders’ significant ownership in us and
approval rights under the Stockholders Agreement may discourage someone from making a significant equity investment in us, or could discourage
transactions involving a change in control, including transactions in which you as a holder of shares of our Class A common stock might otherwise receive
a premium for your shares over the then-current market price.
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In certain circumstances, BRP will be required to make distributions to us and the other holders of LLC Units, and the distributions that BRP will be
required to make may be substantial.

Under the Amended LLC Agreement, BRP will generally be required from time to time to make pro rata distributions in cash to us and the other holders of
LLC Units at certain assumed tax rates in amounts that are intended to be sufficient to cover the taxes on our and the other LLC Unit holders’ respective
allocable shares of the taxable income of BRP. As a result of (i) potential differences in the amount of net taxable income allocable to us and the other LLC
Unit holders, (ii) the lower tax rate applicable to corporations than individuals and (iii) the favorable tax benefits that we anticipate receiving from
(a) previous acquisitions by BRP Group of LLC Units and future taxable redemptions or exchanges of LLC Units for shares of our Class A common stock
or cash and (b) payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement, we expect that these tax distributions will be in amounts that exceed our tax liabilities and
obligations to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement. Our board of directors will determine the appropriate uses for any excess cash so
accumulated, which may include, among other uses, dividends, repurchases of our Class A common stock, the payment of obligations under the Tax
Receivable Agreement and the payment of other expenses. We will have no obligation to distribute such cash (or other available cash other than any
declared dividend) to our stockholders. No adjustments to the redemption or exchange ratio of LLC Units for shares of Class A common stock will be made
as a result of either (i) any cash distribution by us or (ii) any cash that we retain and do not distribute to our stockholders. To the extent that we do not
distribute such excess cash as dividends on our Class A common stock and instead, for example, hold such cash balances or lend them to BRP, holders of
LLC Units would benefit from any value attributable to such cash balances as a result of their ownership of Class A common stock following a redemption
or exchange of their LLC Units.

We will be required to pay BRP’s LLC Members and any other persons that become parties to the Tax Receivable Agreement for certain tax benefits we
may receive, and the amounts we may pay could be significant.

Previous acquisitions by BRP Group of LLC Units from BRP's LLC Members and future taxable redemptions or exchanges by BRP’s LLC Members of
LLC Units for shares of our Class A common stock or cash, as well as other transactions described herein, are expected to result in tax basis adjustments to
the assets of BRP that will be allocated to us and thus produce favorable tax attributes. These tax attributes would not be available to us in the absence of
those transactions. The tax basis adjustments are expected to reduce the amount of tax that we would otherwise be required to pay in the future.

The Tax Receivable Agreement with BRP’s LLC Members provides for the payment by us to BRP’s LLC Members of 85% of the amount of cash savings,
if any, in U.S. federal, state and local income tax or franchise tax that we actually realize as a result of (i) any increase in tax basis in BRP Group’s assets
resulting from (a) previous acquisitions by BRP Group of LLC Units from BRP’s LLC Members, (b) the purchase of LLC Units from BRP’s LLC
Members using the net proceeds from any future offering, (c) redemptions or exchanges by BRP’s LLC Members of LLC Units for shares of our Class A
common stock or cash or (d) payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement and (ii) tax benefits related to imputed interest resulting from payments made
under the Tax Receivable Agreement. The payment obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement are our obligations and not obligations of BRP.

The actual increases in tax basis with respect to future taxable redemptions, exchanges or purchases of LLC Units, as well as the amount and timing of any
payments we are required to make under the Tax Receivable Agreement will depend on a number of factors, including the market value of our Class A
common stock at the time of future redemptions or exchanges, the prevailing federal tax rates applicable to us over the life of the Tax Receivable
Agreement (as well as the assumed combined state and local tax rate), the amount and timing of the taxable income that we generate in the future and the
extent to which future redemptions, exchanges or purchases of LLC Units are taxable transactions.

Payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement are not conditioned on BRP’s LLC Members’ continued ownership of us. There may be a material negative
effect on our liquidity if the payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement exceed the actual benefits we receive in respect of the tax attributes subject to
the Tax Receivable Agreement and/or distributions to us by BRP are not sufficient to permit us to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement.

In addition, although we are not aware of any issue that would cause the IRS to challenge the tax basis increases or other benefits arising under the Tax
Receivable Agreement, BRP’s LLC Members will not reimburse us for any payments previously made if such tax basis increases or other tax benefits are
subsequently disallowed, except that any excess payments made to BRP’s LLC Members will be netted against future payments otherwise to be made
under the Tax Receivable Agreement, if any, after our determination of such excess. As a result, in such circumstances, we could make payments to BRP’s
LLC Members under the Tax Receivable Agreement that are greater than our actual cash tax savings and we may not be able to recoup those payments,
which could negatively impact our liquidity.
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In addition, the Tax Receivable Agreement provides that, upon certain mergers, asset sales or other forms of business combination, or certain other changes
of control, our or our successor’s obligations with respect to tax benefits would be based on certain assumptions, including that we or our successor would
have sufficient taxable income to fully utilize the increased tax deductions and tax basis and other benefits covered by the Tax Receivable Agreement. As a
result, upon a change of control, we could be required to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement that are greater than the specified percentage
of our actual cash tax savings, which could negatively impact our liquidity.

This provision of the Tax Receivable Agreement may result in situations where BRP’s LLC Members have interests that differ from or are in addition to
those of our other stockholders. In addition, we could be required to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement that are substantial and in excess
of our, or a potential acquirer’s, actual cash savings in income tax.

Our obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement will also apply with respect to any person who is issued LLC Units in the future and who becomes a
party to the Tax Receivable Agreement.

Finally, because we are a holding company with no operations of our own, our ability to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement depends on
the ability of BRP to make distributions to us. The JPM Credit Agreement restricts the ability of BRP to make distributions to us, which could affect our
ability to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement. To the extent that we are unable to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement
for any reason, such payments will be deferred and will accrue interest until paid, which could negatively impact our results of operations and could also
affect our liquidity in periods in which such payments are made.

We are dependent upon distributions from BRP to pay dividends, if any, and taxes, make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement and pay other
expenses.

As the sole managing member of BRP, we intend to cause BRP to make distributions to the holders of LLC Units and us, in amounts sufficient to (i) cover
all applicable taxes payable by us and the holders of LLC Units, (ii) allow us to make any payments required under the Tax Receivable Agreement and (iii)
fund dividends to our stockholders in accordance with our dividend policy, to the extent that our board of directors declares such dividends.

Deterioration in the financial conditions, earnings or cash flow of BRP and its subsidiaries for any reason could limit or impair their ability to pay such
distributions. Additionally, to the extent that we need funds and BRP is restricted from making such distributions to us under applicable law or regulation,
as a result of covenants in its debt agreements or otherwise, we may not be able to obtain such funds on terms acceptable to us, or at all, and, as a result,
could suffer a material adverse effect on our liquidity and financial condition.

Risks Relating to Ownership of our Class A Common Stock

Some provisions of Delaware law and our certificate of incorporation and by-laws may deter third parties from acquiring us and diminish the value of
our Class A common stock.

Our certificate of incorporation and by-laws provide for, among other things:

• division of our board of directors into three classes of directors, with each class as equal in number as possible, serving staggered three-year terms;

• until the Substantial Ownership Requirement is no longer met, the Holders may designate a majority of the nominees for election to our board of
directors, including the nominee for election to serve as Chairman of our board of directors;

• our ability to issue additional shares of Class A common stock and to issue preferred stock with terms that our board of directors may determine,
in each case without stockholder approval (other than as specified in our certificate of incorporation);

• the absence of cumulative voting in the election of directors; and

• advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals and nominations.

These provisions in our certificate of incorporation and by-laws may discourage, delay or prevent a transaction involving a change in control of our
company that is in the best interest of our minority stockholders. Even in the absence of a takeover attempt, the existence of these provisions may adversely
affect the prevailing market price of our Class A common stock if they are viewed as discouraging future takeover attempts. These provisions could also
make it more difficult for stockholders to nominate directors for election to our board of directors and take other corporate actions.
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Certain statutory provisions afforded to stockholders are not applicable to us.

Our certificate of incorporation and Stockholders Agreement provides that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the doctrine of “corporate opportunity”
under Delaware law will only apply against our directors and officers and their respective affiliates for competing activities related to insurance brokerage
activities. This doctrine will not apply to any business activity other than insurance brokerage activities. Furthermore, the Pre-IPO LLC Members have
business relationships outside of our business.

We may issue a substantial amount of our common stock in the future, which could cause dilution to investors and otherwise adversely affect our stock
price.

A key element of our growth strategy is to make acquisitions. As part of our acquisition strategy, we may issue shares of our common stock, as well as LLC
Units of BRP, as consideration for such acquisitions. These issuances could be significant. To the extent that we make acquisitions and issue our shares of
common stock as consideration, your equity interest in us will be diluted. Any such issuance will also increase the number of outstanding shares of
common stock that will be eligible for sale in the future. Persons receiving shares of our common stock in connection with these acquisitions may be more
likely to sell off their common stock, which may influence the price of our common stock. In addition, the potential issuance of additional shares in
connection with anticipated acquisitions could lessen demand for our common stock and result in a lower price than might otherwise be obtained. We may
issue a significant amount of our common stock in the future for other purposes as well, including in connection with financings, including to finance the
cash portion of acquisition consideration to execute on our Partnership strategy, for compensation purposes, in connection with strategic transactions or for
other purposes.

We expect that our stock price will be volatile, which could cause the value of your investment to decline, and you may not be able to resell your shares
for a profit.

Securities markets worldwide have experienced, and are likely to continue to experience, significant price and volume fluctuations. This market volatility,
as well as general economic, market or political conditions, could reduce the market price of our Class A common stock regardless of our results of
operations. The trading price of our Class A common stock is likely to be volatile and subject to wide price fluctuations in response to various factors,
including:

• market conditions in the broader stock market in general, or in our industry in particular;

• actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly financials and results of operations;

• introduction of new products and services by us or our competitors;

• issuance of new or changed securities analysts’ reports or recommendations;

• investor perceptions of us and the industries in which we or our Clients operate;

• low trading volumes or sales, or anticipated sales, of large blocks of our Class A common stock, including those by our existing investors or our
Partners;

• concentration of Class A common stock ownership;

• additions or departures of key personnel;

• regulatory or political developments;

• litigation and governmental investigations;

• changing economic and political conditions;

• the perceived adequacy of our ESG efforts;

• our ability or perceived ability to:

◦ attract new Clients, successfully deploy and implement our products, obtain Client renewals and provide our Clients with excellent Client
support;

◦ increase our network of Insurance Company Partners and the profit-sharing, override and/or contingent commissions that we earn from such
Insurance Company Partners;

◦ adequately expand, train, integrate and retain our Colleagues, including our executive officers and senior leaders, and maintain or increase our
sales force’s productivity;

◦ improve our internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures to ensure timely and accurate reporting of our
operational and financial results;
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◦ successfully introduce new products and enhance existing products;

◦ successfully deploy information technology assets for use by our Colleagues and interaction with our Clients and Insurance Company
Partners;

◦ adapt to the ever-changing regulatory and legal landscape;

◦ protect sensitive, personal and confidential information and data within BRP’s custody from third party bad actors;

◦ successfully identify and acquire new Partners;

◦ successfully integrate Partnerships into the Company in an operationally efficient manner;

◦ service our existing indebtedness;

◦ access the capital markets or otherwise obtain access to capital to satisfy future needs of the Company;

◦ successfully introduce our products to new markets and geographies; and

◦ successfully compete against larger companies and new market entrants.

• announced or completed acquisitions of businesses or technologies by us or our competitors; and

• new laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing laws or regulations applicable to our business, including developments relating to the
health care industry and the marketing and sale of Medicare plans.

These and other factors may cause the market price and demand for shares of our Class A common stock to fluctuate substantially, which may limit or
prevent investors from readily selling their shares of Class A common stock and may otherwise negatively affect the liquidity of our Class A common
stock. In addition, in the past, when the market price of a stock has been volatile, holders of that stock have sometimes instituted securities class action
litigation against the company that issued the stock. If any of our stockholders brought a lawsuit against us, we could incur substantial costs defending the
lawsuit. Such a lawsuit could also divert the time and attention of our management from our business, which could significantly harm our profitability and
reputation.

Our ability to pay dividends to our Class A common stockholders may be limited by our holding company structure, contractual restrictions and
regulatory requirements.

We are a holding company and have no material assets other than our ownership of LLC Units in BRP and we do not have any independent means of
generating commissions and fees. We intend to cause BRP to make pro rata distributions to BRP’s LLC Members and us in an amount at least sufficient to
allow us and BRP’s LLC Members to pay all applicable taxes, to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement and to pay our corporate and other
overhead expenses. BRP is a distinct legal entity and may be subject to legal or contractual restrictions that, under certain circumstances, may limit our
ability to obtain cash from them. If BRP is unable to make distributions, we may not receive adequate distributions, which could materially and adversely
affect our dividends and financial position and our ability to fund any dividends to Class A common stock.

Our board of directors will periodically review the cash generated from our business and the capital expenditures required to finance our global growth
plans and determine whether to declare periodic dividends to our stockholders. Our board of directors will take into account general economic and business
conditions, including our financial condition and results of operations, capital requirements, contractual restrictions, including restrictions and covenants
contained in the JPM Credit Agreement, business prospects and other factors that our board of directors considers relevant. In addition, the JPM Credit
Agreement limits the amount of distributions that BRP can make to us and the purposes for which distributions could be made. Accordingly, we may not be
able to pay dividends to our Class A common stockholders even if our board of directors would otherwise deem it appropriate. Refer to Item 7.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources for additional information.
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Short selling could increase the volatility of our stock price of our Class A Common Stock.

Short selling is the practice of selling securities that the seller does not own but rather has borrowed or intends to borrow from a third party with the
intention of buying identical securities at a later date to return to the lender. A short seller hopes to profit from a decline in the value of the securities
between the sale of the borrowed securities and the purchase of the replacement shares, as the short seller expects to pay less in that purchase than it
received in the sale. As it is therefore in the short seller’s interest for the price of the stock to decline, some short sellers publish, or arrange for the
publication of, opinions or characterizations regarding the relevant issuer, its business prospects and similar matters, calculated to or which may create
negative market momentum, and which may permit them to obtain profits for themselves as a result of selling the stock short. These opinions and
characterizations may contain falsehoods, incomplete and deceptive statements and/or otherwise be misleading. Issuers whose securities have historically
had limited trading volumes, and issuers who are susceptible to relatively high volatility levels, can be particularly vulnerable to such short seller attacks. In
addition to impacting the pricing of our stock, such short seller attacks could also divert the time and attention of our management from our business, which
could significantly harm our profitability and reputation.

If securities analysts do not publish research or reports about our business or if they publish negative evaluations of our Class A common stock, the
price of our Class A common stock could decline.

The trading market for our Class A common stock will rely in part on the research and reports that industry or securities analysts publish about us or our
business. We currently have research coverage by industry and securities analysts. If no or few analysts continue coverage of us, the trading price of our
Class A common stock would likely decrease. If one or more of the analysts covering our business downgrade their evaluations of our Class A common
stock, the price of our Class A common stock could decline. If one or more of these analysts cease to cover our Class A common stock, we could lose
visibility in the trading market for our Class A common stock, which in turn could cause our Class A common stock price to decline.

If we experience material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in the future, or otherwise fail to maintain an effective environment of internal
controls, we may not be able to accurately or timely report our financial condition or results of operations, which may adversely affect investor
confidence in us and, as a result, the value of our common stock.

If we identify material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting in the future, or if we are unable to comply
with the demands that will be placed upon us as a public company, including the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, in a timely
manner, we may be unable to accurately report our financial results, or report them within the timeframes required by the SEC. In addition, if we are unable
to disclose that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if our independent registered public accounting firm is unable to express an
opinion as to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our
financial reports, we may face restricted access to the capital markets, and our stock price may be adversely affected.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY

We face significant and persistent cybersecurity risks due to: the scope of geographies, networks and systems we must defend against cybersecurity attacks;
the complexity, technical sophistication, value, and widespread use of our systems, products and processes; the attractiveness of our systems, products and
processes to threat actors (including state-sponsored organizations) seeking to inflict harm on us or our Clients; and our use of third-party products, services
and components.
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While we have not, as of the date of this Form 10-K, experienced a cybersecurity threat or incident that resulted in a material adverse impact to our
business or operations, there can be no guarantee that we will not experience such an incident in the future. Such incidents, whether or not successful, could
result in our incurring significant costs related to, for example, rebuilding our internal systems, implementing additional threat protection measures,
providing modifications or replacements to our products and services, defending against litigation, responding to regulatory inquiries or actions, paying
damages, providing Clients with incentives to maintain a business relationship with us, or taking other remedial steps with respect to third parties, as well
as incurring significant reputational harm. In addition, these threats are constantly evolving, thereby increasing the difficulty of successfully defending
against them or implementing adequate preventative measures. We seek to detect and investigate unauthorized attempts and attacks against our network,
products and services, and to prevent their occurrence and recurrence where practicable through changes or updates to our internal processes and tools and
changes or updates to our products and services; however, we remain potentially vulnerable to known or unknown threats. In some instances, we, our
trading partners, our Clients, and our service providers and contractors can be unaware of a threat or incident or its magnitude and effects. Further, there is
increasing regulation regarding responses to cybersecurity incidents, including reporting to regulators, which could subject us to additional liability and
reputational harm. Refer to Item 1A. Risk Factors of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more information on our cybersecurity risks.

Our business involves the storage and transmission of a significant amount of confidential and sensitive information. As a result, we take the
confidentiality, integrity and availability of this highly sensitive information seriously and invest significant time, effort and resources into protecting such
information. Our cybersecurity strategy was designed with the foregoing principles in mind and prioritizes detecting and responding to threats and effective
management of security risks.

To implement our cybersecurity strategy, we maintain various safeguards to secure the data we hold, including encrypting sensitive data, utilizing a robust
24/7/365 security monitoring system, regularly assessing product features for security vulnerabilities, conducting continuous internal penetration tests, and
leveraging multi-factor authentication to help effectively protect sensitive information and appropriate access rights. We also have data and cybersecurity
protection and control policies to facilitate a secure environment for sensitive information and to preserve the availability of critical data and systems. We
have processes in place to assess and manage vendor cybersecurity risks, which include initial and periodic security program reviews through the use of
third party vendors who specialize in this subject matter. We have engaged our independent, internal audit team that reports directly to the Chair of the
Audit Committee of our board of directors to audit our adherence to our cybersecurity policies. These audits help us assess our internal preparedness,
adherence to best practices and industry standards, and compliance with applicable laws and regulations as well as help us to identify areas for continued
focus and improvement. We conduct annual information security awareness training for employees involved in the systems or processes connected to
confidential and sensitive information. We also carry insurance that provides certain, limited protection against potential losses arising from a cybersecurity
incident.

The Technology & Cyber Risk Committee of our board of directors (the “TCRC”) is responsible for overseeing and reviewing our cybersecurity program
and cybersecurity risk exposure and the steps taken to monitor and mitigate such exposure. The TCRC updates the full board of directors on cybersecurity
matters periodically.

Our information security team for IAS, MIS and Corporate is led by our Chief Digital & Information Officer (“CDIO”), who also serves as our Chief
Information Security Officer (“CISO”) for IAS, MIS and Corporate. Our CDIO/CISO reports to our President, BRP & CEO, Retail Brokerage Operations.
Our CDIO/CISO has served in the role since 2021 and has experience in application security, intrusion detection, penetration testing, complex threat
modeling, and unconventional cyber-attack vectors, having previously led technology teams at Comerica Bank, HSBC, Citibank and General Electric. Our
CDIO/CISO oversees a team of information security professionals who are devoted full time to assessing and managing cybersecurity threats on a day-to-
day basis. Our CDIO/CISO attends each quarterly meeting of the TCRC to brief members on information security matters and discuss cybersecurity risks
generally.

Our information security team for UCTS is led by our President of Digital Strategy & Innovation (“PDSI”), who also serves as our CISO for UCTS. Our
PDSI/CISO reports to our President, BRP & CEO, Underwriting, Capacity and Technology Operations. Our PDSI/CISO has served in the role since 2022
and has experience in application security, intrusion detection, penetration testing, complex threat modeling, and unconventional cyber-attack vectors,
having previously led technology teams at Crum & Forster, QBE North America, QBE FIRST, N.E.W. Customer Service Companies, Inc. and Wipro
Technologies. Our PDSI/CISO oversees a team of information security professionals who are devoted full time to assessing and managing cybersecurity
threats on a day-to-day basis. Our PDSI/CISO also attends each quarterly meeting of the TCRC to brief members on information security matters and
discuss cybersecurity risks generally.

In addition, our management team has established an internal Cyber Steering Committee (the “Cyber SteerCo”), which includes processes designed to
identify, assess, categorize, and monitor key current and evolving risks facing us, including cybersecurity risks. Each of the CDIO/CISO and PDSI/CISO sit
on the Cyber SteerCo along with the our General Counsel and former CISO.
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Management is made aware of current and evolving cybersecurity risks through the Cyber SteerCo reporting. Furthermore, in the event of a material or
potentially material cybersecurity event, senior members of management are promptly informed of such event and oversee triage, response, and disclosure
efforts pursuant to the terms of a documented incident response plan.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters is located in leased offices in Tampa, Florida. The leases consist of approximately 105,000 square feet and expire in August
2030. Our insurance brokerage business leases office space in approximately 115 operating locations located in 24 states throughout the U.S. These offices
are generally located in shopping centers, small office parks and office buildings, with lease terms expiring through the next seven years. These facilities
are suitable for our needs and we believe that they are well maintained.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, the ultimate disposition of
these matters will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES

Our Class A common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market (“Nasdaq”) under the symbol “BRP.” Our Class B common stock is not listed nor
traded on any stock exchange.

On February 20, 2024, there were 123 stockholders of record of our Class A common stock and 58 stockholders of record of our Class B common stock.
The number of record holders does not include persons who held shares of our Class A common stock in nominee or “street name” accounts through
brokers.

Dividend Policy

Subject to funds being legally available, we intend to cause BRP to make pro rata distributions to the holders of LLC Units and us in an amount at least
sufficient to allow us and the holders of LLC Units to pay all applicable taxes, to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement and to pay our
corporate and other overhead expenses. The declaration and payment of any dividends will be at the sole discretion of our board of directors, which may
change our dividend policy at any time. We do not currently pay dividends outside of tax payments. Should that change, our board of directors will take
into account:

• general economic and business conditions;

• our financial condition and operating results;

• our available cash and current and anticipated cash needs;

• our capital requirements;

• contractual, legal, tax and regulatory restrictions and implications on the payment of dividends by us to our stockholders or by our subsidiaries
(including BRP) to us; and

• such other factors as our board of directors may deem relevant.

BRP Group is a holding company and has no material assets other than its ownership of LLC Units in BRP, and as a consequence, our ability to declare and
pay dividends to the holders of our Class A common stock will be subject to the ability of BRP to provide distributions to us. If BRP makes such
distributions, the holders of LLC Units will be entitled to receive equivalent distributions from BRP. However, because we must pay taxes, make payments
under the Tax Receivable Agreement and pay our expenses, amounts ultimately distributed as dividends to holders of our Class A common stock are
expected to be less than the amounts distributed by BRP to the holders of LLC Units on a per share basis.

Assuming BRP makes distributions to its members in any given year, the determination to pay dividends, if any, to our Class A common stockholders out
of the portion, if any, of such distributions remaining after our payment of taxes, Tax Receivable Agreement payments and expenses (any such portion, an
“excess distribution”) will be made by our board of directors. Because our board of directors may determine to pay or not pay dividends to our Class A
common stockholders, our Class A common stockholders may not necessarily receive dividend distributions relating to excess distributions, even if BRP
makes such distributions to us.

Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table provides information about our repurchase of shares of our Class A common stock during the three months ended December 31, 2023:

Total Number of Shares
Purchased

Average Price Paid
per Share

Total Number of Shares
Purchased as Part of Publicly

Announced Plans or Programs

Maximum Value that may yet
be Purchased under the Plans

or Programs

October 1, 2023 to October 31, 2023 71,730  $ 22.08  —  $ — 
November 1, 2023 to November 30, 2023 349  20.17  —  — 
December 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023 52,093  17.62  —  — 

Total 124,172  $ 20.20  —  $ — 

__________
(1)    We purchased 124,172 shares during the three months ended December 31, 2023, which were acquired from our employees to cover required tax withholding on the vesting of shares

granted under the BRP Group Omnibus Incentive and Partnership Inducement Award Plans.

Performance Graph

The following performance graph compares the cumulative total shareholder return of an investment in our Class A common stock since October 24, 2019
(first day of trading) through December 31, 2023 to the cumulative total return of the Russell 2000 Index (“Russell 2000”) and the Standard & Poor
Composite 1500 Insurance Brokers Index (“S&P 1500”). The graph assumes that $100 was invested on October 24, 2019 and the reinvestment of
dividends, if any. The share price performance presented below is not necessarily indicative of future results.

(1)
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ITEM 6. RESERVED

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial
statements and the related notes and other financial information included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition to historical
consolidated financial information, the following discussion contains forward-looking statements that reflect our plans, estimates, and beliefs. Our actual
results may differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth in Item 1A. Risk
Factors and included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF 2023 FINANCIAL RESULTS

We are a rapidly growing independent insurance distribution firm delivering solutions that give our Clients the peace of mind to pursue their purpose,
passion and dreams. The following is a summary of our 2023 financial results:

Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2023 were $1.2 billion, an increase of $237.8 million, or 24%, year over year. Core commissions and fees grew
organically by $161.7 million as a result of new and renewal business from Clients across industry sectors and continued outperformance from our MGA of
the Future platform. 2023 commissions and fees also grew $44.7 million from the impact of 2022 Partnerships for which there were no comparable
revenues in the same period of 2022 and $25.5 million from profit-sharing and other revenue driven by improvements in performance on our profit-sharing
arrangements. In addition, investment income grew $6.7 million due to an improved cash management strategy and growing yield on our invested cash.

Operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2023 were $1.3 billion, an increase of $249.3 million, or 25%, year over year. The increase in
operating expenses was primarily attributable to commissions, employee compensation and benefits, which grew in part due to the correlation of
compensation to our revenue growth and as a result of investing in our future as we continue to launch new products in our MGA of the Future product
suite and expand the distribution footprint of our national mortgage and real estate channel. Change in fair value of contingent consideration increased due
to positive changes in revenue growth trends of certain partners and accretion of the contingent earnout obligations approaching their respective
measurement dates. Other operating expenses increased in part as a result of our continued investments in technology and new product development and
expansion.

Interest expense, net, for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $119.5 million, an increase of $48.4 million, or 68%, year over year. Interest expense, net,
increased as a result of the higher interest rate environment during 2023 and, to a lesser extent, higher average borrowings outstanding on our credit facility.

Other income (expense), net, for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $(0.7) million, a decrease of $26.9 million year over year. Other income (expense),
net, decreased as a result of a fair value gain recognized on interest rate caps in 2022 in connection with rising interest rates and market estimates for future
rate increases.

Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $164.0 million, an increase of $87.3 million compared to a net loss of $76.7 million in the same period
of 2022.

Adjusted EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $250.2 million, an increase of $53.7 million year over year. Adjusted EBITDA Margin was
21% for 2023 compared to 20% for 2022.

Organic Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $1.2 billion as compared to $700.1 million for the same period of 2022. Organic Revenue
Growth was $187.2 million, or 19%, for 2023 compared to $132.6 million, or 23%, for 2022. Refer to the Non-GAAP Financial Measures section below
for reconciliations of Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA Margin, Organic Revenue and Organic Revenue Growth to the most directly comparable
GAAP financial measures.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 AND 2022

For a discussion of our 2021 financial results and a comparison of financial results for the years ended December 31, 2022 to 2021, refer to Part II, Item 7.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on
February 28, 2023 and the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (relating to the Company's reclassification of historical segment information) filed with
the SEC on May 9, 2023.

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our financial statements as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022 and for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 and the related notes and other financial information included in
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In addition to historical financial information, the following discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties
and assumptions. Our actual results and timing of selected events may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a
result of many factors, including those discussed under Item 1A. Risk Factors.

The following is a discussion of our consolidated results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

For the Years

Ended December 31, Variance

(in thousands, except percentages) 2023 2022 Amount %
Revenues:

Commissions and fees $ 1,211,828  $ 980,720  $ 231,108  24 %
Investment income 6,727  —  6,727  — %

Total revenues 1,218,555  980,720  237,835  24 %

Operating expenses:
Commissions, employee compensation and benefits 911,354  719,445  191,909  27 %
Other operating expenses 190,267  173,708  16,559  10 %
Amortization expense 92,704  81,738  10,966  13 %
Change in fair value of contingent consideration 61,083  32,307  28,776  89 %
Depreciation expense 5,698  4,620  1,078  23 %

Total operating expenses 1,261,106  1,011,818  249,288  25 %

Operating loss (42,551) (31,098) (11,453) 37 %

Other income (expense):
Interest expense, net (119,465) (71,072) (48,393) 68 %
Other income (expense), net (718) 26,137  (26,855) (103)%

Total other expense (120,183) (44,935) (75,248) 167 %

Loss before income taxes (162,734) (76,033) (86,701) 114 %
Income tax expense 1,285  715  570  80 %

Net loss (164,019) (76,748) (87,271) 114 %
Less: net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (73,878) (34,976) (38,902)

Net loss attributable to BRP Group $ (90,141) $ (41,772) $ (48,369)
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Seasonality

The insurance brokerage market is seasonal and our results of operations are somewhat affected by seasonal trends. Our Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted
EBITDA Margins are typically highest in the first quarter and lowest in the fourth quarter. This variation is primarily due to fluctuations in our revenues,
while overhead remains consistent throughout the year. Our revenues are generally highest in the first quarter due to a higher degree of first quarter policy
commencements and renewals in certain IAS and MIS lines of business such as employee benefits, commercial and Medicare. In addition, a higher
proportion of our first quarter revenue is derived from our highest margin businesses.

Partnerships can significantly impact Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margins in a given year and may increase the amount of seasonality within
the business, especially results attributable to Partnerships that have not been fully integrated into our business or owned by us for a full year.

Commissions and Fees

We earn commissions and fees by facilitating the arrangement between Insurance Company Partners and Clients for the carrier to provide insurance to the
insured party. Our commissions and fees are usually a percentage of the premium paid by the insured and generally depend on the type of insurance, the
particular Insurance Company Partner and the nature of the services provided. Under certain arrangements with Clients, we earn pre-negotiated service fees
for insurance placement services. Additionally, we earn policy fees for acting in the capacity of an MGA and fulfilling certain administrative functions on
behalf of Insurance Company Partners, including delivery of policy documents, processing payments and other administrative functions. We may also
receive profit-sharing commissions, which represent variable consideration paid by Insurance Company Partners associated with the placement of
coverage. Profit-sharing commissions are generally based primarily on underwriting results, but may also contain considerations for volume, growth or
retention. Other revenue streams include other ancillary income, premium financing income and marketing income based on negotiated cost reimbursement
for fulfilling specific targeted Medicare marketing campaigns.

Commissions and fees increased by $231.1 million, or 24%, year over year to $1.2 billion driven by organic growth in core commissions and fees of $161.7
million related to new and renewal business across Client industry sectors and continued outperformance from our MGA of the Future platform.
Commissions and fees also increased $44.7 million from the impact of 2022 Partnerships for which there were no comparable revenues in the same period
of 2022 and $25.5 million from profit-sharing and other revenue driven by improvements in performance on our profit-sharing arrangements.

Major Sources of Commissions and Fees

The following table sets forth our commissions and fees by major source for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

For the Years

Ended December 31, Variance

(in thousands, except percentages) 2023 2022 Amount %

Commission revenue $ 967,552  $ 786,794  $ 180,758  23 %
Profit-sharing revenue 93,437  66,091  27,346  41 %
Consulting and service fee revenue 74,637  61,244  13,393  22 %
Policy fee and installment fee revenue 65,386  55,362  10,024  18 %
Other income 10,816  11,229  (413) (4)%

Total commissions and fees $ 1,211,828  $ 980,720  $ 231,108 

Commission revenue represents commissions earned from providing insurance placement services to Clients. Commission revenue increased by $180.8
million, or 23%, year over year. Commission revenue grew organically by $140.0 million as a result of new and renewal business across all industries. In
addition, 2023 commission revenue grew $40.7 million from the impact of 2022 Partnerships for which there were no comparable revenues in the same
period of 2022.

Profit-sharing revenue represents bonus-type revenue earned as a sales incentive provided by certain Insurance Company Partners. Profit-sharing revenue
increased by $27.3 million, or 41%, year over year driven by improvements in performance against profit-sharing measures such as premium volumes and
loss ratio-related parameters.

Consulting and service fee revenue represents negotiated fees earned for providing insurance placement services to Clients and specialty insurance
consulting revenue. Consulting and service fee revenue increased by $13.4 million, or 22%, year over year, driven by growth in service fees earned by our
legacy risk management and captive businesses.
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Policy fee and installment fee revenue represents revenue earned by our UCTS Operating Group for acting in the capacity of an MGA and providing
payment processing services and other administrative functions on behalf of Insurance Company Partners. Policy fee and installment fee revenue increased
by $10.0 million, or 18%, year over year driven by growth in our multi-family product.

Other income consists of other ancillary income, premium financing income and marketing income that is based on agreed upon cost reimbursement for
fulfilling specific targeted Medicare marketing campaigns. Other income was relatively flat year over year.

Investment Income

Investment income is earned by investing assets held in trust. Investment income earned in 2023 was $6.7 million due to improvements in our cash
management strategy and growing yield on our invested cash.

Commissions, Employee Compensation and Benefits

Commissions, employee compensation and benefits is our largest expense. It consists of (i) base compensation comprising salary, bonuses and benefits paid
and payable to Colleagues, commissions paid to Colleagues and outside commissions paid to others; and (ii) equity-based compensation associated with the
grants of restricted and unrestricted stock awards to senior management, Colleagues, Risk Advisors and directors. We expect to continue to experience a
general rise in commissions, employee compensation and benefits expense commensurate with expected revenue growth as our compensation arrangements
with our Colleagues and Risk Advisors contain significant bonus or commission components driven by the results of our operations. In addition, we
operate in competitive markets for human capital and need to maintain competitive compensation levels as we expand geographically and create new
products and services.

Commissions, employee compensation and benefits expense increased $191.9 million, or 27%, year over year, due in part to the correlation of
compensation to our revenue growth and as a result of investing in our future as we continue to launch new products in our MGA of the Future product
suite and expand the distribution footprint of our national mortgage and real estate channel. Colleague compensation and benefits increased $77.4 million,
or 16%, from supporting the growth of our business. Outside commissions increased $49.1 million, or 31%, due to a change in business mix and overall
growth in the business. The increase in commissions, employee compensation and benefits expense also includes $25.1 million attributable to the impact of
2022 Partnerships for which there was no comparable compensation expense in the same period of 2022. Other increases to commissions, employee
compensation and benefits expense include severance of $17.3 million related to the retirement of two of our executive officers and Colleague
terminations, and share-based compensation expense of $8.8 million.

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses include travel, accounting, legal and other professional fees, placement fees, rent, office expenses and other costs associated with
our operations. Our occupancy-related costs and professional services expenses, in particular, generally increase or decrease in relative proportion to the
number of our Colleagues and the overall size and scale of our business operations.

Other operating expenses increased $16.6 million year over year driven by investments in technology to support our growth of $17.3 million, lead
generation fees relating to the expansion of our national mortgage and real estate channel of $2.2 million, rent expense of $2.7 million and payment
processing fees for our MGA business of $1.5 million. These increases were partially offset by lower costs for repairs and maintenance of $4.0 million and
professional fees of $2.9 million.

Amortization Expense

Amortization expense increased by $11.0 million year over year driven in part by amortization of intangible assets recorded in connection with our
Westwood Partnership.

Change in Fair Value of Contingent Consideration

Change in fair value of contingent consideration was a $61.1 million loss for the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to a $32.3 million loss for the
same period of 2022. The fair value loss related to contingent consideration for 2023 was impacted by positive changes in revenue growth trends of certain
partners and accretion of the contingent earnout obligations approaching their respective measurement dates.
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Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net, increased by $48.4 million year over year resulting primarily from the higher interest rate environment and, to a lesser extent, higher
average borrowings outstanding on our credit facility. We expect interest expense to increase slightly in 2024 as interest rates are expected to remain high in
the near-term.

Refer to Item 7A. Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures About Market Risk for further discussion of the impact of rising interest rates on our results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net, decreased by $26.9 million year over year driven by a $26.2 million gain recognized on interest rate caps for 2022 in
connection with rising interest rates and market estimates for future rate increases. Comparatively, we recognized a $1.7 million loss on interest rate caps
for 2023.

FINANCIAL CONDITION—COMPARISON OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL CONDITION AT DECEMBER 31, 2023 TO DECEMBER 31,
2022.

Our total assets and total liabilities increased $39.8 million and $160.9 million, respectively, year over year. The most significant changes in assets and
liabilities are described below.

Premiums, commissions and fees receivable, net increased $95.8 million and premiums payable to insurance companies increased $84.3 million. The
increase in each can be attributed to our revenue growth and the timing of cash collections and payments.

Intangible assets, net decreased $82.6 million as a result of amortization expense of $92.7 million, offset in part by capitalized software development costs
of $18.3 million related to infrastructure to support our business.

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities increased $27.2 million as a result of higher accrued compensation and benefits of $8.8 million and accrued
expenses of $10.2 million related to bonus and severance expense. Accrued expenses and other current liabilities also include an earnout incentive bonus of
$8.0 million related to a portion of a contingent earnout earned by one of our Partners, which is payable to certain Colleagues at the Partner's option.

Long term debt increased $160.1 million and our revolving line of credit decreased $164.0 million. During 2023, we increased our long-term debt
borrowings with an incremental loan of $170.0 million and we used $165.0 million of the proceeds to partially repay outstanding amounts on the revolving
line of credit, resulting in increased available borrowing capacity under the revolving line of credit to pay our future earnout obligations.

Contingent earnout liabilities increased $9.5 million resulting from an increase of $61.1 million related to fair value adjustments impacted by positive
changes in revenue growth trends of certain Partners, offset in part by $52.3 million of settlements.

At December 31, 2023, assets and liabilities held for sale were $64.4 million and $43.9 million, respectively, as a result of our intention to sell our specialty
wholesale broker business as describe in Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Assets
held for sale are primarily comprised of premiums, commissions and fees receivable, net, intangible assets, net and goodwill, which reclassified $36.5
million, $11.7 million and $9.5 million from each of the respective financial statement captions. Liabilities held for sale are primarily comprised of
premiums payable to insurance companies of $42.3 million.

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA Margin, Organic Revenue, Organic Revenue Growth, Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted Diluted Earnings Per
Share (“EPS”), are not measures of financial performance under GAAP and should not be considered substitutes for GAAP measures, including
commissions and fees (for Organic Revenue and Organic Revenue Growth), net income (loss) (for Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin), net
income (loss) attributable to BRP Group (for Adjusted Net Income) or diluted earnings (loss) per share (for Adjusted Diluted EPS), which we consider to
be the most directly comparable GAAP measures. These non-GAAP financial measures have limitations as analytical tools, and when assessing our
operating performance, you should not consider these non-GAAP financial measures in isolation or as substitutes for commissions and fees, net income
(loss), net income (loss) attributable to BRP Group, diluted earnings (loss) per share or other consolidated income statement data prepared in accordance
with GAAP. Other companies in our industry may define or calculate these non-GAAP financial measures differently than we do, and accordingly, these
measures may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies.
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We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, change in fair value of contingent consideration and
certain items of income and expense, including share-based compensation expense, transaction-related Partnership and integration expenses, severance, and
certain non-recurring items, including those related to raising capital. We believe that Adjusted EBITDA is an appropriate measure of operating
performance because it eliminates the impact of income and expenses that do not relate to business performance, and that the presentation of this measure
enhances an investor’s understanding of our financial performance.

Adjusted EBITDA Margin is Adjusted EBITDA divided by total revenues. Adjusted EBITDA Margin is a key metric used by management and our board
of directors to assess our financial performance. We believe that Adjusted EBITDA Margin is an appropriate measure of operating performance because it
eliminates the impact of income and expenses that do not relate to business performance, and that the presentation of this measure enhances an investor’s
understanding of our financial performance. We believe that Adjusted EBITDA Margin is helpful in measuring profitability of operations on a consolidated
level.

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin have important limitations as analytical tools. For example, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA
Margin:

• do not reflect any cash capital expenditure requirements for the assets being depreciated and amortized that may have to be replaced in the future;

• do not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;

• do not reflect the impact of certain cash charges resulting from matters we consider not to be indicative of our ongoing operations;

• do not reflect the interest expense or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments on our debt;

• do not reflect share-based compensation expense and other non-cash charges; and

• exclude certain tax payments that may represent a reduction in cash available to us.

We calculate Organic Revenue based on commissions and fees for the relevant period by excluding the first twelve months of commissions and fees
generated from new Partners. Organic Revenue Growth is the change in Organic Revenue period-to-period, with prior period results adjusted to include
commissions and fees that were excluded from Organic Revenue in the prior period because the relevant Partners had not yet reached the twelve-month
owned mark, but which have reached the twelve-month owned mark in the current period. For example, revenues from a Partner acquired on June 1, 2022
are excluded from Organic Revenue for 2022. However, after June 1, 2023, results from June 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022 for such Partners are compared
to results from June 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023 for purposes of calculating Organic Revenue Growth in 2023. Organic Revenue Growth is a key metric
used by management and our board of directors to assess our financial performance. We believe that Organic Revenue and Organic Revenue Growth are
appropriate measures of operating performance as they allow investors to measure, analyze and compare growth in a meaningful and consistent manner.

We define Adjusted Net Income as net income (loss) attributable to BRP Group adjusted for depreciation, amortization, change in fair value of contingent
consideration and certain items of income and expense, including share-based compensation expense, transaction-related Partnership and integration
expenses, severance, and certain non-recurring costs that, in the opinion of management, significantly affect the period-over-period assessment of operating
results, and the related tax effect of those adjustments. We believe that Adjusted Net Income is an appropriate measure of operating performance because it
eliminates the impact of income and expenses that do not relate to business performance.

Adjusted Diluted EPS measures our per share earnings excluding certain expenses as discussed above and assuming all shares of Class B common stock
were exchanged for Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis. Adjusted Diluted EPS is calculated as Adjusted Net Income divided by adjusted diluted
weighted-average shares outstanding. We believe Adjusted Diluted EPS is useful to investors because it enables them to better evaluate per share operating
performance across reporting periods.
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Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin

The following table reconciles Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin to net loss, which we consider to be the most directly comparable GAAP
financial measure:

For the Years

Ended December 31,

(in thousands, except percentages) 2023 2022

Revenues $ 1,218,555  $ 980,720 

Net loss $ (164,019) $ (76,748)
Adjustments to net loss:

Interest expense, net 119,465  71,072 
Amortization expense 92,704  81,738 
Change in fair value of contingent consideration 61,083  32,307 
Share-based compensation 56,222  47,389 
Transaction-related Partnership and integration expenses 28,748  34,588 
Severance 18,514  1,255 
Depreciation expense 5,698  4,620 
(Gain) loss on interest rate caps 1,670  (26,220)
Income tax provision 1,285  715 
Other 28,834  25,774 

Adjusted EBITDA $ 250,204  $ 196,490 
Adjusted EBITDA Margin 21 % 20 %

__________
(1)    Other addbacks to Adjusted EBITDA include certain income and expenses that are considered to be non-recurring or non-operational, including certain recruiting costs,

professional fees, litigation costs and bonuses. In 2022, these addbacks also included certain expenses related to remediation efforts.

Organic Revenue and Organic Revenue Growth

The following table reconciles Organic Revenue and Organic Revenue Growth to commissions and fees, which we consider to be the most directly
comparable GAAP financial measure:

For the Years

Ended December 31,

(in thousands, except percentages) 2023 2022

Commissions and fees $ 1,211,828  $ 980,720 
Partnership commissions and fees (44,696) (280,660)

Organic Revenue $ 1,167,132  $ 700,060 
Organic Revenue Growth $ 187,213  $ 132,610 
Organic Revenue Growth % 19 % 23 %

__________
(1)    Includes the first twelve months of such commissions and fees generated from newly acquired Partners.
(2)    Organic Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2022 used to calculate Organic Revenue Growth for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $979.9 million, which is

adjusted to reflect revenues from Partnerships that reached the twelve-month owned mark during the year ended December 31, 2023.

(1)

(1)

(2)

(2)
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Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted Diluted EPS

The following table reconciles Adjusted Net Income to net loss attributable to BRP Group and reconciles Adjusted Diluted EPS to diluted loss per share,
which we consider to be the most directly comparable GAAP financial measures:

For the Years

Ended December 31,

(in thousands, except per share data) 2023 2022

Net loss attributable to BRP Group $ (90,141) $ (41,772)
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (73,878) (34,976)
Amortization expense 92,704  81,738 
Change in fair value of contingent consideration 61,083  32,307 
Share-based compensation 56,222  47,389 
Transaction-related Partnership and integration expenses 28,748  34,588 
Severance 18,514  1,255 
(Gain) loss on interest rate caps, net of cash settlements 12,588  (24,012)
Depreciation 5,698  4,620 
Amortization of deferred financing costs 5,129  5,120 
Other 28,834  25,774 

Adjusted pre-tax income 145,501  132,031 
Adjusted income taxes 14,405  13,071 

Adjusted Net Income $ 131,096  $ 118,960 

Weighted-average shares of Class A common stock outstanding - diluted 60,135  56,825 
Dilutive effect of unvested stock awards 3,874  3,526 
Exchange of Class B common stock 53,132  55,450 

Adjusted diluted weighted-average shares outstanding 117,141  115,801 

Adjusted Diluted EPS $ 1.12  $ 1.03 

Diluted loss per share $ (1.50) $ (0.74)
Effect of exchange of Class B common stock and net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests per share 0.10  0.08 
Other adjustments to loss per share 2.64  1.80 
Adjusted income taxes per share (0.12) (0.11)

Adjusted Diluted EPS $ 1.12  $ 1.03 

___________
(1)    Other addbacks to Adjusted Net Income include certain income and expenses that are considered to be non-recurring or non-operational, including certain recruiting

costs, professional fees, litigation costs and bonuses. In 2022, these addbacks also included certain expenses related to remediation efforts.
(2)    Represents corporate income taxes at assumed effective tax rate of 9.9% applied to adjusted pre-tax income.
(3)    Assumes the full exchange of Class B common stock for Class A common stock pursuant to the Amended LLC Agreement.

(1)

(2)

(3)
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INSURANCE ADVISORY SOLUTIONS OPERATING GROUP RESULTS

The Insurance Advisory Solutions Operating Group (“IAS”) provides expertly-designed commercial risk management, employee benefits and private risk
management solutions for businesses and high-net-worth individuals, as well as their families, through our national footprint which has assimilated some of
the highest quality independent insurance brokers in the country with vast and varied strategic capabilities and expertise.

For the Years
Ended December 31, Variance

(in thousands, except percentages) 2023 2022 Amount %
Revenues:

Commissions and fees $ 626,828  $ 558,776  $ 68,052  12 %
Investment income 3,637  —  3,637  — %

Total revenues 630,465  558,776  71,689  13 %

Operating expenses:
Commissions, employee compensation and benefits 433,596  385,492  48,104  12 %
Other operating expenses 79,100  73,638  5,462  7 %
Amortization expense 51,568  50,209  1,359  3 %
Change in fair value of contingent consideration 41,481  26,429  15,052  57 %
Depreciation expense 1,462  1,476  (14) (1)%

Total operating expenses 607,207  537,244  69,963  13 %

Operating income 23,258  21,532  1,726  8 %
Total other income (expense) (106) 497  (603) (121)%

Income before income taxes $ 23,152  $ 22,029  $ 1,123  5 %

Commissions and Fees

IAS generates commissions for placing insurance policies on behalf of its Insurance Company Partners. IAS generates profit-sharing income based on
either the underlying book of business or performance, such as loss ratios. IAS also generates fees from consulting and service fee arrangements, which are
in place with certain Clients for a negotiated fee.

IAS commissions and fees increased $68.1 million, or 12%, year over year to $626.8 million. Core commissions and fees grew organically by $58.9
million, which was driven by 17% sales velocity (new business as a percentage of prior year commissions and fees) and resultant net new business across
Client industry sectors, as well as by growth arising from rate and exposure of 3%. Certain industries, such as construction, were impacted by a difficult
financing environment, which caused a slowdown in job starts. Renewal business was impacted by rate increases across many property-related policies,
partially offset by premium rate reductions in lines such as Directors and Officers Liability. IAS commissions and fees also increased from profit-sharing
and other revenue of $9.3 million driven by improvements in performance against profit-sharing measures such as premium volumes and loss ratio-related
parameters.

Commissions, Employee Compensation and Benefits

Commissions, employee compensation and benefits expense for IAS increased $48.1 million, or 12%, year over year. Colleague compensation, and
benefits increased $33.7 million, or 9%, in correlation with our revenue growth. IAS commissions, employee compensation and benefits expense for 2023
also included $8.5 million related to contingent earnout liabilities that were reclassified, at the Partner's option, to an earnout incentive bonus that will be
paid out to Colleagues.

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses for IAS increased $5.5 million year over year, driven by our investment in technology to support our growth and integration
activity of $6.2 million and travel and entertainment costs of $2.9 million. These increases were partially offset by lower costs for professional fees of $1.5
million, software and internet expenses of $1.3 million and consulting fees of $1.1 million.
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Change in Fair Value of Contingent Consideration

Change in fair value of contingent consideration for IAS was a $41.5 million loss for the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to a $26.4 million
loss for the same period of 2022. The fair value loss related to contingent consideration for 2023 was impacted by positive changes in revenue growth
trends of certain Partners and accretion of the contingent earnout obligations approaching their respective measurement dates.

UNDERWRITING, CAPACITY & TECHNOLOGY SOLUTIONS OPERATING GROUP RESULTS

The Underwriting, Capacity & Technology Solutions Operating Group (“UCTS”) consists of three distinct businesses. Through our MGA of the Future
platform, we manufacture proprietary, technology-enabled insurance products with a focus on sheltered channels where our products deliver speed, ease of
use and certainty of execution, an example of which is our national embedded renters insurance product sold at point of lease via integrations with property
management software providers. Our MGA of the Future product suite is now comprised of more than 12 products across personal, commercial and
specialty lines. Our specialty wholesale broker business delivers professionals, individuals and niche industry businesses expanded access to exclusive
specialty markets, capabilities and programs requiring complex underwriting and placement. And in the third quarter of 2023, we launched our reinsurance
brokerage business, Juniper Re.

For the Years
Ended December 31, Variance

(in thousands, except percentages) 2023 2022 Amount %
Revenues:

Commissions and fees $ 418,014  $ 307,748  $ 110,266  36 %
Investment income 2,135  —  2,135  — %

Total revenues 420,149  307,748  112,401  37 %

Operating expenses:
Commissions, employee compensation and benefits 311,708  218,859  92,849  42 %
Other operating expenses 44,663  31,313  13,350  43 %
Amortization expense 18,188  16,946  1,242  7 %
Change in fair value of contingent consideration 17,755  5,354  12,401  232 %
Depreciation expense 705  615  90  15 %

Total operating expenses 393,019  273,087  119,932  44 %

Operating income 27,130  34,661  (7,531) (22)%
Total other income (expense) 1,148  (371) 1,519  n/m

Income before income taxes $ 28,278  $ 34,290  $ (6,012) (18)%

__________
n/m    not meaningful

Commissions and Fees

UCTS generates commissions for underwriting and placing insurance policies on behalf of its Insurance Company Partners. In addition, UCTS generates
policy fee and installment fee revenue for acting in the capacity of an MGA and fulfilling certain administrative functions on behalf of Insurance Company
Partners, including delivery of policy documents, processing payments and other administrative functions. UCTS also generates profit-sharing income,
generally based on the profitability on the underlying book of business of the policies it generates on behalf of its Insurance Company Partners.
Furthermore, UCTS generates fees from service fee arrangements, which are in place with certain customers for a negotiated fee.

UCTS commissions and fees increased $110.3 million, or 36%, year over year to $418.0 million. The increase is primarily attributable to higher core
commissions and fees of $99.0 million, which was driven by continued outperformance in our multi-family business (accounting for $28 million of the
year-over-year increase in core commissions and fees) and momentum in our homeowners and commercial umbrella products (accounting for $33 million
and $17 million, respectively, of the year-over-year increase in core commissions and fees), with the remaining contribution attributable to new business
across our other product lines. Profit-sharing and other revenue increased by $11.3 million driven by strong underwriting performance in our multi-family
and homeowners product suite.
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Commissions, Employee Compensation and Benefits

Commissions, employee compensation and benefits expense for UCTS includes both outside commissions paid to partners that distribute UCTS' MGA
products and compensation paid primarily to Colleagues, and to a small extent, outside contractors. Commissions, employee compensation and benefits
expense for UCTS increased $92.8 million year over year as a result of increases in outside commissions and other compensation. Outside commissions
increased $55.8 million, or 36%, in line with the growth in UCTS commissions and fees. Colleague compensation, and benefits increased $27.9 million, or
45%, driven by continued investments in headcount to support the growth of existing and new products.

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses for UCTS increased $13.4 million year over year, driven by continued investments in infrastructure to support the growth of the
business of $10.1 million and payment processing fees for our MGA business of $1.5 million.

Change in Fair Value of Contingent Consideration

Change in fair value of contingent consideration for UCTS was a $17.8 million loss for the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to a $5.4 million
loss for the same period of 2022. The fair value loss related to contingent consideration for 2023 was impacted by positive changes in revenue growth
trends of certain partners and accretion of the contingent earnout obligations approaching their respective measurement dates.

MAINSTREET INSURANCE SOLUTIONS OPERATING GROUP RESULTS

The Mainstreet Insurance Solutions Operating Group (“MIS”) offers personal insurance, commercial insurance, and life and health solutions to individuals
and businesses in their communities, with a focus on accessing clients via sheltered distribution channels, which include, but are not limited to, new home
builders, realtors, mortgage originators/lenders, master planned communities, and various other community centers of influence. MIS also offers
consultation for government assistance programs and solutions, including traditional Medicare, Medicare Advantage and Affordable Care Act, to seniors
and eligible individuals through a network of primarily independent contractor agents.

For the Years

Ended December 31, Variance

(in thousands, except percentages) 2023 2022 Amount %
Revenues:

Commissions and fees $ 234,697  $ 157,038  $ 77,659  49 %
Total revenues 234,697  157,038  77,659  49 %

Operating expenses:
Commissions, employee compensation and benefits 148,240  97,732  50,508  52 %
Other operating expenses 31,698  25,702  5,996  23 %
Amortization expense 22,848  14,578  8,270  57 %
Change in fair value of contingent consideration 1,847  524  1,323  252 %
Depreciation expense 570  278  292  105 %

Total operating expenses 205,203  138,814  66,389  48 %

Operating income 29,494  18,224  11,270  62 %
Total other income 30  28  2  7 %

Income before income taxes $ 29,524  $ 18,252  $ 11,272  62 %

Commissions and Fees

MIS generates commissions for placing insurance policies on behalf of its Insurance Company Partners. In addition, MIS generates profit-sharing income
based on either the underlying book of business or performance, such as loss ratios. MIS also generates commissions and fees in the form of marketing
income, which is earned through co-branded marketing campaigns with our Insurance Company Partners.
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MIS commissions and fees increased $77.7 million, or 49%, year over year to $234.7 million. MIS core commissions and fees grew organically by $30.8
million driven by our legacy Mainstreet business (accounting for $8.6 million of the year-over-year increase in core commissions and fees), the national
mortgage and real estate channel (accounting for $6.3 million of the year-over-year increase in core commissions and fees), and our Westwood Partner
(accounting for $15.9 million of the year-over-year increase in core commissions and fees subsequent to reaching the twelve-month owned mark). MIS
commissions and fees also grew $42.2 million from the impact of 2022 Partnerships for which there were no comparable revenues in the same period of
2022. In addition, MIS profit-sharing and other revenue increased by $4.8 million primarily resulting from improvements in loss ratios and the number of
policies sold.

Commissions, Employee Compensation and Benefits

Commissions, employee compensation and benefits expense for MIS increased $50.5 million. or 52%, year over year, due in part to the correlation of
compensation to our revenue growth and as a result of investing in our future as we continue to expand the distribution footprint of our national mortgage
and real estate channel. Significant drivers of commissions, employee compensation and benefits expense include Colleague compensation and benefits,
which increased $12.2 million, or 21%, and outside commissions, which increased $9.4 million, or 25%. The increase in commissions, employee
compensation and benefits expense also includes $24.5 million attributable to the impact of 2022 Partnerships for which there was no comparable
compensation expense in the same period of 2022.

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses in MIS increased $6.0 million year over year, driven by higher lead generation fees relating to the expansion of our national
mortgage and real estate channel of $4.3 million, investment in technology to support our growth of $2.5 million and travel and entertainment of $1.1
million. These increases were partially offset by lower costs for professional fees of $1.7 million.

Amortization Expense

Amortization expense in MIS increased $8.3 million year over year, primarily driven by the amortization of intangible assets recorded in connection with
our Westwood Partnership.

Change in Fair Value of Contingent Consideration

The fair value loss related to contingent consideration for MIS of $1.8 million in 2023 was primarily related to our Westwood Partnership, which
outperformed on our platform since the date of Partnership.
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CORPORATE AND OTHER RESULTS
For the Years

Ended December 31, Variance
(in thousands, except percentages) 2023 2022 Amount %
Revenues:

Commissions and fees $ (67,711) $ (42,842) $ (24,869) 58 %
Investment income 955  —  955  — %

Total revenues (66,756) (42,842) (23,914) 56 %

Operating expenses:
Commissions, employee compensation and benefits 17,810  17,362  448  3 %
Other operating expenses 34,806  43,055  (8,249) (19)%
Amortization expense 100  5  95  n/m
Depreciation expense 2,961  2,251  710  32 %

Total operating expenses 55,677  62,673  (6,996) (11)%

Operating loss (122,433) (105,515) (16,918) 16 %

Other income (expense):
Interest expense, net (119,652) (71,334) (48,318) 68 %
Other income (expense), net (1,603) 26,245  (27,848) (106)%

Total other expense (121,255) (45,089) (76,166) 169 %

Loss before income taxes (243,688) (150,604) (93,084) 62 %
Income tax expense 1,170  715  455  64 %

Net loss $ (244,858) $ (151,319) $ (93,539) 62 %

__________
n/m    not meaningful

Commissions and Fees

The Corporate and Other non-reportable segment records the elimination of intercompany revenue from the Operating Groups. During 2023, UCTS
recorded intercompany commissions and fees of $65.9 million related to the QBE Program Administrator Agreement and agency bill arrangements, and
MIS recorded intercompany commissions of $1.8 million under agency bill and direct bill arrangements.

The substantial increase in intercompany commissions and fees year over year is related to the QBE Program Administrator Agreement, which was
effective May 1, 2022. We expect revenue recognized from this agreement to continue to grow as we serve as the MGA on more intersegment revenue such
as homeowners insurance sold through MIS.

Commissions, Employee Compensation and Benefits

The Corporate and Other non-reportable segment records the elimination of intercompany commissions, employee compensation and benefits expense
from the Operating Groups. Corporate and Other commissions, employee compensation and benefits decreased from higher intercompany commissions
expense elimination of $24.9 million, which was offset by higher severance expense of $13.0 million related to the retirement of two of our executive
officers and Colleague terminations, and higher advisor commissions expense of $13.1 million.

A significant portion of the intercompany commissions, employee compensation and benefits expense recorded to Corporate and Other is related to the
QBE Program Administrator Agreement. We expect commissions, employee compensation and benefits expense related to this agreement to continue to
grow as we serve as the MGA on more intersegment revenue such as homeowners insurance sold through the MIS.
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Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses in Corporate and Other decreased $8.2 million year over year driven by lower costs for travel and entertainment of $3.2 million,
repairs and maintenance of $2.1 million, licenses and taxes of $1.6 million, advertising and marketing of $1.3 million and consulting fees of $1.1 million.
These decreases were partially offset by higher costs for rent expense of $1.9 million.

Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net, increased by $48.3 million year over year resulting primarily from the higher interest rate environment and, to a lesser extent, higher
average borrowings outstanding on our credit facility. We expect interest expense to increase slightly in 2024 as interest rates are expected to remain high in
the near-term.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net, decreased by $27.8 million year over year driven by a $26.2 million gain recognized on interest rate caps for 2022 in
connection with rising interest rates and market estimates for future rate increases. Comparatively, we recognized a $1.7 million loss on interest rate caps
for 2023.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our primary liquidity needs for the foreseeable future will include cash to (i) provide capital to facilitate the organic growth of our business and to fund
future Partnerships, (ii) pay operating expenses, including cash compensation to our Colleagues and expenses related to being a public company, (iii) make
payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement, (iv) pay interest and principal due on borrowings under the JPM Credit Agreement, (v) pay contingent
earnout liabilities, (vi) pay income taxes, and (vii) fund potential investments in third party businesses that support the growth of our business, which may
include the sponsorship of, and a minority, non-controlling interest in, an investment fund, the purpose of which may include facilitating the establishment
of additional and alternative capacity that supports the growth of our MGA of the Future business.

We have historically financed our operations and funded our debt service through the sale of our insurance products and services, and we have financed
significant cash needs to fund growth through the acquisition of Partners through debt and equity financing.

In the near term, we intend to fund our earnout obligations with cash and cash equivalents, cash flow from operations and available borrowings. During
2023, we increased our borrowings under the Term Loan B by $170.0 million and we used $165.0 million of the proceeds to partially repay outstanding
amounts under the Revolving Facility, which increased our available borrowing capacity to pay our future earnout obligations. From time to time, we will
consider raising additional debt or equity financing if and as necessary to support our growth, including in connection with the exploration of Partnership
opportunities or to refinance existing obligations on an opportunistic basis.

As of December 31, 2023, our cash and cash equivalents were $116.2 million and we had $259.0 million of available borrowing capacity on the Revolving
Facility under the JPM Credit Agreement. We believe that our cash and cash equivalents, cash flow from operations and available borrowings will be
sufficient to fund our working capital and meet our commitments for the next twelve months and beyond.

See Item 1A. “Risk Factors—Risks Relating to our Business Operations and Industry—Partnerships have been, and may in the future continue to be,
important to our growth. We may not be able to successfully identify and acquire Partners or integrate Partners into our company, and we may become
subject to certain liabilities assumed or incurred in connection with our Partnerships that could harm our business, results of operations and financial
condition.”

JPM Credit Agreement

As of December 31, 2023, our JPM Credit Agreement provides for senior secured credit facilities in an aggregate principal amount of $1.62 billion, which
consists of (i) a term loan facility in the principal amount of $1.02 billion maturing in October 2027 (the “Term Loan B”) and (ii) a revolving credit facility
with commitments in an aggregate principal amount of $600.0 million maturing in April 2027 (the “Revolving Facility”).

The Term Loan B accrues interest at term SOFR plus a credit spread adjustment between 11 bps and 43 bps based on the term SOFR rate plus an applicable
margin of 350 bps, subject to a term SOFR floor of 50 bps. At December 31, 2023, the outstanding borrowings on the Term Loan B of $998.7 million had
an applicable interest rate of 8.97%.
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Borrowings under the Revolving Facility accrue interest at SOFR plus 210 bps to SOFR plus 310 bps based on total net leverage ratio. BRP will pay a
letter of credit fee equal to the margin then in effect with respect to SOFR loans under the Revolving Facility multiplied by the daily amount available to be
drawn under any letter of credit, a fronting fee and any customary documentary and processing charges for any letter of credit issued under the JPM Credit
Agreement. The outstanding borrowings on the Revolving Facility of $341.0 million had an applicable interest rate of 8.46% at December 31, 2023. The
Revolving Facility is also subject to a commitment fee of 0.40% on the unused capacity at December 31, 2023.

We have entered into interest rate cap agreements to limit the potential impact of interest rate changes on cash flows. The interest rate caps limit the
variability of the base rate to the amount of the cap. The interest rate cap agreements in place at December 31, 2023 mitigate the interest rate volatility on
$300.0 million of debt to a maximum base rate of 1.50% through March 2024 and mitigate the interest rate volatility on $1.2 billion of debt to a maximum
base rate of 7.00% through November 2025.

The Revolving Facility and the Term Loan B are collateralized by a first priority lien on substantially all the assets of BRP, including a pledge of all equity
securities of certain of its subsidiaries. The JPM Credit Agreement contains covenants that, among other things, restrict our ability to make certain
restricted payments, incur additional debt, engage in certain asset sales, mergers, acquisitions or similar transactions, create liens on assets, engage in
certain transactions with affiliates, change our business, make certain investments or restrict BRP’s ability to make dividends or other distributions to BRP
Group. In addition, the JPM Credit Agreement contains financial covenants requiring us to maintain our Total First Lien Net Leverage Ratio (as defined in
the JPM Credit Agreement) at or below 7.00 to 1.00.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following table represents our contractual obligations and commitments, aggregated by type, at December 31, 2023:

Payments Due by Period

(in thousands) Total
Less than


1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years
More than


5 years

Operating leases $ 111,197  $ 21,499  $ 39,532  $ 32,422  $ 17,744 
Debt obligations payable 1,766,074  128,209  253,661  1,384,204  — 
Undiscounted estimated contingent earnout obligation 308,997  233,433  75,564  —  — 
USF Grant 4,200  848  1,720  1,632  — 

Total $ 2,190,468  $ 383,989  $ 370,477  $ 1,418,258  $ 17,744 

__________
(1)    Represents noncancelable operating leases for our facilities, including operating leases classified as held for sale on the consolidated balance sheet at December 31,

2023. Operating lease expense was $23.2 million and $19.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
(2)    Represents scheduled debt obligation and interest payments under the JPM Credit Agreement.
(3)    Represents the total expected future payments to be made to Partners at December 31, 2023.

Our contractual obligations and commitments are comprised of operating lease obligations, principal and interest payments on our borrowings under the
JPM Credit Agreement, potential payments of contingent earnout liabilities and our commitment to the University of South Florida (“USF”).

Our operating lease obligations represent noncancelable agreements for our corporate headquarters and office space for our insurance brokerage business.
Our operating lease agreements expire through February 2031. These obligations do not include leases with an initial term of twelve months or less, which
are expensed as incurred. We may extend, terminate or otherwise modify or sub-lease facilities as needed to best suit the needs of our business. The lease
term is the non-cancelable period of the lease and includes options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that an option will be
exercised.

Borrowings under our JPM Credit Agreement include $998.7 million under the Term Loan B and $341.0 million on the Revolving Facility. Interest payable
on outstanding borrowings on the Term Loan B and Revolving Facility in the table above was calculated based on applicable interest rates at December 31,
2023 of 8.97% and 8.46%, respectively, through their respective maturity dates of October 2027 and April 2027.

(1)

(2)

(3)
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Substantially all of our Partnerships and certain acquisitions of select books of business that do not constitute a complete business enterprise include
contractual earnout provisions. We record an estimation of the fair value of the contingent earnout obligations at the Partnership date as a component of the
consideration paid. Our contingent earnout obligations are measured at fair value each reporting period based on the present value of the expected future
payments to be made to Partners in accordance with the provisions outlined in the respective purchase agreements. The recorded obligations are based on
estimates of the Partners’ future performance using financial projections for the earnout measurement period. The aggregate estimated contingent earnout
liabilities included on our consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2023 was $276.5 million, of which $10.8 million must be settled in cash and the
remaining $265.7 million can be settled in cash or stock at our option. The undiscounted estimated contingent earnout obligation presented in the table
above represents the total expected future payments to be made to the Partners. The undiscounted estimated contingent earnout obligation at December 31,
2023 was $309.0 million, of which $11.9 million must be settled in cash and the remaining $297.1 million can be settled in cash or stock at our option. The
maximum estimated exposure to the contingent earnout liabilities was $607.4 million at December 31, 2023.

As of December 31, 2023, we have a remaining commitment to USF to donate $4.2 million through October 2028. The gift will provide support for the
School of Risk Management and Insurance in the USF Muma College of Business. It is currently anticipated that Lowry Baldwin, the Company's
Chairman, will fund half of this commitment.

Effects of Inflation

Certain of our lease agreements feature annual rent escalations either fixed or based on a consumer price index or other index, which, historically, have not
had a material impact on our results of operations, including our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021. Given the
recent rise in inflation, we anticipate the inflation rate increase for the upcoming year to be higher than those of past years. Despite this anticipated increase,
we do not anticipate the inflation rate increase for 2024 to have a material impact on our results of operations. We have monitored and will continue to
monitor the components of compensation costs and operating expenses for the potential impact of inflation.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not invest in any off-balance sheet vehicles that provide liquidity, capital resources, market or credit risk support, or engage in any activities that
expose us to any liability that is not reflected in our consolidated financial statements except for those described under this Liquidity and Capital Resources
section.

Dividend Policy

Assuming BRP makes distributions to its members in any given year, the determination to pay dividends, if any, to our Class A common stockholders out
of the portion, if any, of such distributions remaining after our payment of taxes, Tax Receivable Agreement payments and expenses (any such portion, an
“excess distribution”) will be made at the sole discretion of our board of directors. Our board of directors may change our dividend policy at any time.
Refer to Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities—Dividend Policy for
additional information.

Tax Receivable Agreement

BRP Group is a party to the Tax Receivable Agreement with BRP’s LLC Members that provides for the payment by BRP Group to BRP’s LLC Members
of 85% of the amount of cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state and local income tax or franchise tax that BRP Group actually realizes as a result of (i)
any increase in tax basis in BRP assets resulting from (a) previous acquisitions by BRP Group of LLC Units from BRP’s LLC Members, (b) the acquisition
of LLC Units from BRP’s LLC Members using the net proceeds from any future offering, (c) redemptions or exchanges by BRP’s LLC Members of LLC
Units and the corresponding number of shares of Class B common stock for shares of Class A common stock or cash or (d) payments under the Tax
Receivable Agreement, and (ii) tax benefits related to imputed interest resulting from payments made under the Tax Receivable Agreement.
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Holders of LLC Units (other than BRP Group) may, subject to certain conditions and transfer restrictions described above, redeem or exchange their LLC
Units for shares of Class A common stock of BRP Group on a one-for-one basis. BRP intends to make an election under Section 754 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the regulations thereunder (the “Code”) effective for each taxable year in which a redemption or exchange of LLC
Units for shares of Class A common stock occurs, which is expected to result in increases to the tax basis of the assets of BRP at the time of a redemption
or exchange of LLC Units. The redemptions or exchanges are expected to result in increases in the tax basis of the tangible and intangible assets of BRP.
These increases in tax basis may reduce the amount of tax that BRP Group would otherwise be required to pay in the future. The Tax Receivable
Agreement with BRP’s LLC Members provides for the payment by us to BRP’s LLC Members of 85% of the amount of cash savings, if any, in U.S.
federal, state and local income tax or franchise tax that BRP Group actually realizes as a result of the transactions listed in the preceding paragraph. This
payment obligation is an obligation of BRP Group and not of BRP. For purposes of the Tax Receivable Agreement, the cash tax savings in income tax will
be computed by comparing the actual income tax liability of BRP Group (calculated with certain assumptions) to the amount of such taxes that BRP Group
would have been required to pay had there been no increase to the tax basis of the assets of BRP as a result of the redemptions or exchanges and had BRP
Group not entered into the Tax Receivable Agreement. Estimating the amount of payments that may be made under the Tax Receivable Agreement is by its
nature imprecise, insofar as the calculation of amounts payable depends on a variety of factors. The actual increase in tax basis, as well as the amount and
timing of any payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement, will vary depending upon a number of factors, including the timing of redemptions or
exchanges, the price of shares of our Class A common stock at the time of the redemption or exchange, the extent to which such redemptions or exchanges
are taxable, the amount and timing of our income, the tax rates then applicable and the portion of our payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement
constituting imputed interest. We account for the effects of these increases in tax basis and associated payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement
arising from future redemptions or exchanges as follows:

• we record an increase in deferred tax assets for the estimated income tax effects of the increases in tax basis based on enacted federal and state tax
rates at the date of the redemption or exchange;

• to the extent we estimate that we will not realize the full benefit represented by the deferred tax asset, based on an analysis that will consider,
among other things, our expectation of future earnings, we reduce the deferred tax asset with a valuation allowance; and

• we record 85% of the estimated realizable tax benefit (which is the recorded deferred tax asset less any recorded valuation allowance) as an
increase to the liability due under the Tax Receivable Agreement and the remaining 15% of the estimated realizable tax benefit as an increase to
additional paid-in capital.

All of the effects of changes in any of our estimates after the date of the redemption or exchange will be included in net income. Similarly, the effect of
subsequent changes in the enacted tax rates will be included in net income.

During 2023, we exchanged 2,082,424 LLC Units of BRP on a one-for-one basis for shares of BRP Group's Class A common stock and cancelled the
corresponding shares of BRP Group's Class B common stock. We receive an increase in our share of the tax basis in the net assets of BRP due to the
interests being redeemed. We have assessed the realizability of the net deferred tax assets and in that analysis have considered the relevant positive and
negative evidence available to determine whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized. We have
recorded a full valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets at BRP Group as of December 31, 2023, which will be maintained until there is sufficient
evidence to support the reversal of all or some portion of these allowances.

Deferred Tax Assets

To determine the realizability of our deferred tax assets, we analyzed if the Company was in a cumulative pre-tax income or loss position over a three-year
period (2021, 2022 and 2023). Based on the analysis, the Company is in a pre-tax book loss position, and therefore we have determined that its deferred tax
assets are not more likely than not to be realized. Accordingly, we maintain a full valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets. As the Company
emerges from its cumulative loss position, we will reassess the realizability of our deferred tax assets and the necessity for a full valuation allowance.
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Sources and Uses of Cash

The following table summarizes our cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities for the periods indicated:

For the Years

Ended December 31,

Variance(in thousands) 2023 2022

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 44,644  $ (2,462) $ 47,106 
Net cash used in investing activities (21,922) (414,357) 392,435 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (26,230) 419,553  (445,783)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash (3,508) 2,734  (6,242)
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year 230,471  227,737  2,734 

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year $ 226,963  $ 230,471  $ (3,508)

Operating Activities

The primary sources and uses of cash for operating activities are net income (loss) adjusted for non-cash items and changes in assets and liabilities, or
operating working capital, and payment of contingent earnout consideration. Net cash provided by operating activities increased $47.1 million year over
year, driven by an increase in cash related to lower contingent earnout consideration payments in excess of the liability recognized at the acquisition date of
$25.6 million and better operating leverage year over year.

Investing Activities

The primary sources and uses of cash for investing activities relate to cash consideration paid to fund Partnerships and other investments to grow our
business. Net cash used in investing activities decreased $392.4 million year over year, driven by a decrease in cash consideration paid for Partnership
activity of $389.2 million as a result of an overall decrease in Partnership activity during 2023.

Financing Activities

The primary sources and uses of cash for financing activities relate to the issuance of our Class A common stock; debt servicing costs in connection with
the JPM Credit Agreement, as well as purchases, sales and settlements of interest rate caps to mitigate interest rate volatility on that debt; payment of
contingent earnout consideration; and other equity transactions. Net cash provided by financing activities decreased $445.8 million year over year to net
cash used in financing activities of $26.2 million, driven by a decrease in net proceeds from borrowings on our credit facilities of $464.9 million, offset in
part by an increase in cash from fewer payments of contingent earnout consideration up to the amount of purchase price accrual of $20.4 million.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Please refer to Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K for a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements that may impact us.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP, which requires management to make estimates, judgments and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Our estimates, judgments and assumptions are continually evaluated based on
historical experience, known or expected trends, independent valuations and other factors we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. As future
events and their effects cannot be determined with precision, actual results could differ significantly from these estimates. Our most critical accounting
policies and estimates, as discussed below, govern the more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial
statements.

Critical Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognition

Commission revenue is earned at a point in time upon the effective date of bound insurance coverage, as no performance obligation exists after coverage is
bound. The Company makes its best estimate of direct bill commissions at the policy effective date, particularly in employee benefits within IAS, which is
subject to change based on enrollment and other factors over the policy period.

Commission revenue is recorded net of an allowance for estimated policy cancellations. The allowance for estimated policy cancellations is determined
based on an evaluation of historical and current cancellation data.

Medicare contracts in the Mainstreet Insurance Solutions Operating Group are multi-year arrangements in which we are entitled to renewal commissions.
However, we have applied a constraint to renewal commissions that limits revenue recognized when a risk of significant reversals exists based on: (i)
historical renewal patterns; and (ii) the influence of external factors outside of our control, including policyholder discretion over plans and Insurance
Company Partner relationship, political influence, and a contractual provision, which limits our right to receive renewal commissions to ongoing
compliance and regulatory approval of the relevant Insurance Company Partner and compliance with the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services.

Profit-sharing commissions represent a form of variable consideration, which includes additional commissions over base commissions received from
Insurance Company Partners. A constraint of variable consideration is necessary when commissions and fees are subject to significant reversal. Profit-
sharing commissions associated with loss performance are uncertain, and therefore, are subject to significant reversal as loss data remains subject to
material change. Management estimates profit-sharing commissions using historical outcomes and known trends impacting premium volume or loss ratios,
subject to a constraint. The constraint is relieved when management estimates commissions and fees that are not subject to significant reversal, which often
coincides with the earlier of written notification from the Insurance Company Partner that the target has been achieved or cash collection. Year-end
amounts incorporate estimates subject to a constraint or where applicable, are based on confirmation from Insurance Company Partners after calculation of
premium volume or loss ratios that are impacted by catastrophic losses.

Costs to obtain contracts includes compensation in the form of producer commissions paid on new business. These incremental costs are capitalized as
deferred commission expense and amortized over five years, which represents management’s estimate of the average period over which a Client maintains
its initial coverage relationship with the original Insurance Company Partner.

The nature of estimates used in recognizing commissions and fees revenue do not involve a significant level of subjectivity, judgment, or estimation
uncertainty that could have a material impact on the Company's results of operations.

Critical Accounting Estimates

We have determined that there are significant judgments and uncertainties included in the application of guidance for impairment of intangible assets and
goodwill; valuation of contingent consideration; and valuation allowance for deferred tax assets. The nature of the estimates and assumptions used and the
impact the estimates and assumptions could have on our actual results are discussed in the tables below.
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Description Judgments and Uncertainties Effect if Actual Results Differ from Assumptions

Impairment of Intangible Assets
We evaluate our definite-lived intangible assets
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
of such assets may not be recoverable. These
events and circumstances include, but are not
limited to: higher than expected attrition for
relationships; a current expectation that an
intangible asset will be disposed of significantly
before the end of its previously estimated useful
life, such as when we classify a business as held
for sale; or a significant adverse change in the
extent or manner in which we use an intangible
asset.




Undiscounted cash flow analyses are used to
determine if impairment exists; if impairment is
determined to exist, the loss is calculated based
on estimated fair value.

Our impairment evaluations require us to apply
judgment in determining whether a triggering
event has occurred, including the evaluation of
whether it is more-likely-than-not that a
intangible asset will be disposed of significantly
before the end of its previously estimated useful
life. Incorrect estimation of useful lives may
result in inaccurate amortization charges over
future periods leading to future impairment.




Our impairment loss calculations contain
uncertainties because they require management to
make assumptions and to apply judgment to
estimate future cash flows and asset fair values,
including forecasting useful lives of the assets and
selecting the discount rate that reflects the risk
inherent in future cash flows.

During the last three years, we have not made any
changes in the accounting methodology used to
evaluate the impairment of intangible assets or to
estimate the useful lives of our intangible assets.


At December 31, 2023, we had $1.0 billion of
intangible assets, which are included in each of
our reporting units at the following amounts:


Insurance Advisory Solutions—$678.2 million


Underwriting, Capacity & Technology Solutions
—$109.4 million


Mainstreet Insurance Solutions—$221.7 million


We performed a qualitative analysis of each of our
asset groups as of October 1, 2023 and determined
that there were no events or changes in
circumstances that had occurred to indicate that
the carrying amount of our intangible assets may
not be recoverable. The Company also determined
there were no triggering events through December
31, 2023 that would cause the Company to
perform an interim period analysis. We did not
record impairment charges for intangible assets in
2023, 2022 or 2021.
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Description Judgments and Uncertainties Effect if Actual Results Differ from Assumptions

Impairment of Goodwill
Goodwill is not amortized but rather tested at
least annually for impairment, or more often if
events or changes in circumstances indicate it is
more-likely-than-not that the carrying amount of
the asset may not be recoverable. Goodwill is
tested for impairment at the reporting unit level,
which represents the operating segment. Goodwill
is tested for impairment by either performing a
qualitative evaluation or a quantitative test. The
qualitative evaluation is an assessment of factors
to determine whether it is more-likely-than-not
that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than
its carrying amount, including goodwill. We may
elect not to perform the qualitative assessment for
some or all of our reporting units and instead
perform a quantitative impairment test.




We estimate the fair value of each reporting unit
using a combination of the income approach and
the market approach.




The income approach incorporates the use of a
discounted cash flow method in which the
estimated future cash flows and terminal value are
calculated for each reporting unit and then
discounted to present value using an appropriate
discount rate.

Our impairment evaluations require us to apply
judgment in determining whether a triggering
event has occurred.




The valuation of our reporting units requires
significant judgment in evaluation of recent
indicators of market activity and estimated future
cash flows, discount rates, and other factors. Our
impairment analyses contain inherent
uncertainties due to uncontrollable events that
could positively or negatively impact anticipated
future economic and operating conditions.




In making these estimates, the weighted-average
cost of capital is utilized to calculate the present
value of future cash flows and terminal value.
Many variables go into estimating future cash
flows, including estimates of our future revenue
growth and operating results. When estimating
our projected revenue growth and future operating
results, we consider industry trends, economic
data, and our competitive advantage.




The market approach estimates fair value of a
reporting unit by using market comparables for
reasonably similar public companies.

During the last three years, we have not made any
changes in the accounting methodology used to
evaluate impairment of goodwill.


At December 31, 2023, we had $1.4 billion of
goodwill. Our goodwill is included in each of our
Operating Groups at the following amounts:


Insurance Advisory Solutions—$906.1 million


Underwriting, Capacity & Technology Solutions
—$261.9 million


Mainstreet Insurance Solutions—$244.3 million


A quantitative goodwill impairment analysis was
performed for each of our reporting units as of
October 1, 2023. Based on these studies, the
implied fair value of each of our reporting units
was substantially in excess of its carrying value.
Therefore, we concluded there were no indicators
of impairment. A hypothetical 10% decrease in
the estimated fair value of any of our reporting
units would not have resulted in a different
conclusion.
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Description Judgments and Uncertainties Effect if Actual Results Differ from Assumptions

Valuation of Contingent Consideration

Substantially all of our Partnerships and certain
acquisitions of select books of business that do
not constitute a complete business enterprise
include contingent consideration arrangements,
which are based on the acquired company
achieving thresholds related to revenues, total
insured value or number of rented units. The
structure of these contingent earn-out
arrangements can reduce the risk of overpaying
for acquisitions if the projected financial results
are not achieved.


The fair values of these contingent consideration
arrangements are included as part of the purchase
price of the acquired companies on their
respective acquisition dates. For each transaction,
we estimate the fair value of contingent earnout
payments as part of the initial purchase price and
record the estimated fair value of contingent
consideration as a liability on the consolidated
balance sheets. The fair values of the earnout
arrangements are estimated by discounting the
expected future contingent payments to present
value using a variation of the income approach,
specifically using a Monte Carlo Simulation
approach. We have 26 Partners with a
corresponding contingent consideration liability
still outstanding at December 31, 2023.

The fair value of the contingent consideration
arrangements is estimated by simulating the
metrics corresponding to a payment using a
Monte Carlo Simulation approach and
discounting the expected future contingent
payments to present value. The key assumptions
used in our valuation were: (i) forecast of
revenue, total insured value or number of rented
units, (ii) the volatility associated with the
revenues, total insured value or number of rented
units, (iii) risk-adjusted discount rate applied to
forecasted revenues, total insured value or number
of rented units, and (iv) the credit-adjusted
discount rate related to the payment of the
contingent consideration.




These estimates are influenced by many factors,
including historical financial information,
guideline public company data, and management's
expectations for future revenue of the acquired
businesses, total insured value and number of
rented units, as well as market conditions,
economic conditions and the company’s
performance. Changes in these inputs could have
a significant impact on the fair value of the
contingent consideration liability.

We review and re-assess the estimated fair value
of contingent consideration on a quarterly basis,
and the updated fair value could be materially
different from the initial estimates or prior
quarterly amounts. Any changes in the estimated
fair value of contingent considerations and
adjustments to the estimated fair value related to
unobservable inputs will be recognized within
change in fair value of contingent consideration in
the consolidated statements of comprehensive
loss. We recognized $61.1 million of expense
related to the change in fair value of contingent
consideration in 2023.


At December 31, 2023, we recorded $276.5
million of contingent consideration liabilities
related to the 26 contingent consideration
arrangements still outstanding and the total
potential maximum of the contingent
consideration payments is $607.4 million. If all
remaining revenue, insured value and rental units
targets were achieved, our Partners would be
entitled to payments of up to $408.8 million in
calendar year 2024 for achieving targets through
September 30, 2024; $188.5 million in calendar
year 2025 for achieving targets through
September 30, 2025; and $10.0 million in
calendar year 2026 for achieving targets through
September 30, 2026. If the actual achievement of
contingent consideration payments in 2024
through 2026 was at the maximum target
amounts, we would record an additional $330.9
million of expense over the next three years.
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Description Judgments and Uncertainties Effect if Actual Results Differ from Assumptions

Valuation Allowance for Deferred Tax Assets
We record a tax provision for the anticipated tax
consequences of the reported results of
operations. We compute the provision for income
taxes using the asset and liability method, under
which deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the expected future tax
consequences of temporary differences between
the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and
liabilities, and for operating losses and tax credit
carryforwards. We measure deferred tax assets
and liabilities using the currently enacted tax rates
in each jurisdiction that applies to taxable income
in effect for the years in which those tax assets
are expected to be realized or settled.




We are required to establish a valuation allowance
for deferred tax assets and record a charge to
income if it is determined, based on available
evidence at the time the determination is made,
that it is more likely than not that some portion or
all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Our evaluation of the realizability of the deferred
tax assets contains uncertainties because it
requires management to make assumptions and to
apply judgment to estimate future taxable income
or loss. Many variables go into estimating future
taxable income or loss, including estimates of our
future revenue growth and management's
expectations of ongoing investments. Our
evaluation also requires management to consider
significant, objective evidence to determine if it is
more likely than not that we will be able to realize
our deferred tax assets in the future.
Considerations include recent results of
operations, projected future taxable income, tax-
planning strategies, potential changes in tax law
and rates, and future reversals of existing taxable
temporary differences.









During the last three years, we have not made any
changes in the accounting methodology used to
evaluate the realizability of the deferred tax assets.


We review and re-assess our cumulative three-
year loss before income taxes on a quarterly basis.
Deferred tax assets have been reduced by a full
valuation allowance at December 31, 2023 due to
a determination that it is more likely than not that
all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized
based on the weight of all available evidence.


If we had concluded that it was more likely than
not that the full deferred tax assets will be
realized, our valuation allowance would have
been reversed and we would have recognized
deferred tax assets of approximately $140.1
million on our consolidated balance sheet at
December 31, 2023.


If we did not have a valuation allowance
established, we would have recognized an income
tax benefit of approximately $19.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2023.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risk is the potential loss arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices, such as premium amounts, interest rates and equity prices. We are
exposed to market risk through our investments and borrowings under the JPM Credit Agreement. We use derivative instruments to mitigate our risk
related to the effect of rising interest rates on our cash flows. However, we do not use derivative instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

Our invested assets are held primarily as cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash. To a lesser extent, we may also utilize certificates of deposit, U.S.
treasury securities and professionally managed short duration fixed income funds. These investments are subject to market risk. The fair values of our
invested assets at December 31, 2023 and 2022 approximated their respective carrying values due to their short-term duration and therefore, such market
risk is not considered to be material.

At December 31, 2023, we had $998.7 million and $341.0 million of borrowings outstanding under the Term Loan B and the Revolving Facility,
respectively. These borrowings bear interest on a floating basis tied to either the prime rate or one of various other variable rates as defined in the JPM
Credit Agreement. The variable rate currently in effect for each of the Term Loan B and the Revolving Facility is SOFR. The Term Loan B accrues interest
at term SOFR plus a credit spread adjustment between 11 bps and 43 bps based on the term SOFR rate plus an applicable margin of 350 bps, subject to a
term SOFR floor of 50 bps. Borrowings under the Revolving Facility accrue interest at SOFR plus 210 bps to SOFR plus 310 bps based on total net
leverage ratio.

We have entered into interest rate cap agreements to limit the potential impact of interest rate changes on cash flows. The interest rate caps limit the
variability of the base rate to the amount of the cap. The interest rate cap agreements in place at December 31, 2023 mitigate the interest rate volatility on
$300.0 million of debt to a maximum base rate of 1.50% through March 2024 and mitigate the interest rate volatility on $1.2 billion of debt to a maximum
base rate of 7.00% through November 2025. Taking the interest rate cap agreements into consideration, an increase of 100 basis points on the variable
interest rates in effect at December 31, 2023 would increase our annual interest expense for the JPM Credit Agreement by $10.4 million.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of BRP Group, Inc.

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of BRP Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2023 and
2022, and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, of stockholders’ equity and mezzanine equity and of cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2023, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). We also have
audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting,
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the
Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities
laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal
control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management, acting under the authority delegated to them by the Board; and (iii) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect
on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated
financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not
alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below,
providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Valuation of Contingent Earnout Liabilities

As described in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s contingent earnout liabilities balance was $276.5 million as of December
31, 2023. The fair value of the contingent earnout liabilities is based on Monte Carlo simulations that measure the present value of the expected future
payments to be made to acquired companies or producers (“Partners”) in accordance with the provisions outlined in the respective purchase agreements. In
determining the fair value, management estimates the Partner’s future performance using financial projections developed for the Partner and market
participant assumptions that were derived for revenue growth, the number of rental units tracked or the insured value of sourced homeowners insurance.
Management estimates future payments using the earnout formula and performance targets specified in each purchase agreement and the financial
projections. These payments are discounted to present value using a risk-adjusted rate.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the valuation of contingent earnout liabilities is a critical matter
are (i) the significant judgment by management in estimating the fair value of the contingent earnout liabilities; (ii) a high degree of auditor judgment,
subjectivity, and effort in performing procedures and evaluating management’s significant assumptions related to revenue growth and risk-adjusted
discount rates; and (iii) the audit effort involved the use of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge.

75



Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to management’s valuation of the contingent earnout liabilities,
including the development of the significant assumptions related to revenue growth and risk-adjusted discount rates. These procedures also included,
among others (i) reading the purchase agreements and terms related to the contingent earnout and (ii) testing management’s process for estimating the fair
value of the contingent earnout liabilities. Testing management’s process included evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation method, testing the
completeness and accuracy of underlying data provided by management, and evaluating the reasonableness of the significant assumptions related to
revenue growth and risk-adjusted discount rates. Evaluating the significant assumptions related to revenue growth and risk-adjusted discount rates involved
considering the historical performance of the Partners, the historical performance of the Company, as well as industry and economic performance and
forecasts. Professionals with specialized skill and knowledge were used to assist in evaluating the appropriateness of the Company’s valuation method and
the reasonableness of the risk-adjusted discount rates.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Tampa, Florida
February 28, 2024

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2019.
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BRP GROUP, INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31,
(in thousands, except share and per share data) 2023 2022

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 116,209  $ 118,090 
Restricted cash 104,824  112,381 
Premiums, commissions and fees receivable, net 627,791  531,992 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 12,730  9,936 
Assets held for sale 64,351  — 

Total current assets 925,905  772,399 
Property and equipment, net 22,713  25,405 
Right-of-use assets 85,473  96,465 
Other assets 38,134  45,935 
Intangible assets, net 1,017,343  1,099,918 
Goodwill 1,412,369  1,422,060 

Total assets $ 3,501,937  $ 3,462,182 
Liabilities, Mezzanine Equity and Stockholders’ Equity

Current liabilities:
Premiums payable to insurance companies $ 555,569  $ 471,294 
Producer commissions payable 64,304  53,927 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 152,954  125,743 
Related party notes payable 1,525  1,525 
Current portion of contingent earnout liabilities 215,157  46,717 
Liabilities held for sale 43,931  — 

Total current liabilities 1,033,440  699,206 
Revolving line of credit 341,000  505,000 
Long-term debt, less current portion 968,183  809,862 
Contingent earnout liabilities, less current portion 61,310  220,219 
Operating lease liabilities, less current portion 78,999  87,692 
Other liabilities 123  164 

Total liabilities 2,483,055  2,322,143 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 20)
Mezzanine equity:

Redeemable noncontrolling interest 394  487 
Stockholders’ equity:

Class A common stock, par value $0.01 per share, 300,000,000 shares authorized; 64,133,950 and 61,447,368 shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively 641  614 
Class B common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, 100,000,000 shares authorized; 52,422,494 and 54,504,918
shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively 5  5 
Additional paid-in capital 746,671  704,291 
Accumulated deficit (186,905) (96,764)
Stockholder notes receivable —  (42)

Total stockholders’ equity attributable to BRP Group 560,412  608,104 
Noncontrolling interest 458,076  531,448 

Total stockholders’ equity 1,018,488  1,139,552 
Total liabilities, mezzanine equity and stockholders’ equity $ 3,501,937  $ 3,462,182 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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BRP GROUP, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

For the Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands, except share and per share data) 2023 2022 2021
Revenues:

Commissions and fees $ 1,211,828  $ 980,720  $ 567,290 
Investment income 6,727  —  — 

Total revenues 1,218,555  980,720  567,290 

Operating expenses:
Commissions, employee compensation and benefits 911,354  719,445  400,050 
Other operating expenses 190,267  173,708  102,162 
Amortization expense 92,704  81,738  48,720 
Change in fair value of contingent consideration 61,083  32,307  45,196 
Depreciation expense 5,698  4,620  2,788 

Total operating expenses 1,261,106  1,011,818  598,916 

Operating loss (42,551) (31,098) (31,626)

Other income (expense):
Interest expense, net (119,465) (71,072) (26,899)
Other income (expense), net (718) 26,137  424 

Total other expense (120,183) (44,935) (26,475)

Loss before income taxes (162,734) (76,033) (58,101)
Income tax expense 1,285  715  19 

Net loss (164,019) (76,748) (58,120)
Less: net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (73,878) (34,976) (27,474)

Net loss attributable to BRP Group $ (90,141) $ (41,772) $ (30,646)

Comprehensive loss $ (164,019) $ (76,748) $ (58,120)
Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (73,878) (34,976) (27,474)

Comprehensive loss attributable to BRP Group (90,141) (41,772) (30,646)

Basic and diluted loss per share $ (1.50) $ (0.74) $ (0.64)
Basic and diluted weighted-average shares of Class A common stock outstanding 60,134,776  56,825,348  47,587,866 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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BRP GROUP, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Mezzanine Equity

Stockholders' Equity Mezzanine Equity

Class A 
Common Stock

Class B 
Common Stock

Additional
Paid-in Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Stockholder Notes
Receivable

Non-
controlling

Interest Total

Redeemable Non-
controlling

Interest(in thousands, except share data) Shares Amount Shares Amount

Balance at December 31, 2020 44,953,166  $ 450  49,828,383  $ 5  $ 392,139  $ (24,346) $ (465) $ 402,087  $ 769,870  $ 98 
Net income (loss) —  —  —  —  —  (30,646) —  (27,645) (58,291) 171 
Issuances of Class A common stock,
net of underwriting discounts and
offering costs 9,200,000  92  —  —  159,101  —  —  109,128  268,321  — 
Equity issued in business
combinations 1,053,190  10  7,441,139  1  86,606  —  —  107,990  194,607  — 
Share-based compensation, net of
forfeitures 2,465,032  25  —  —  16,621  —  —  960  17,606  — 
Redemption of Class B common
stock 931,471  9  (931,471) —  8,535  —  —  (8,544) —  — 
Tax distributions to BRP's LLC
Members —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (5,072) (5,072) — 
Repayment of stockholder notes
receivable —  —  —  —  —  —  246  —  246  — 
Balance at December 31, 2021 58,602,859  586  56,338,051  6  663,002  (54,992) (219) 578,904  1,187,287  269 
Net income (loss) —  —  —  —  —  (41,772) —  (35,194) (76,966) 218 
Equity issued in business
combinations 226,338  2  —  —  2,525  —  —  2,282  4,809  — 
Share-based compensation, net of
forfeitures 777,037  8  29,430  —  30,658  —  —  (2,100) 28,566  — 
Redemption and cancellation of Class
B common stock 1,841,134  18  (1,862,563) (1) 8,106  —  —  (8,123) —  — 
Tax distributions to BRP's LLC
Members —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (4,321) (4,321) — 
Repayment of stockholder notes
receivable —  —  —  —  —  —  177  —  177  — 
Balance at December 31, 2022 61,447,368  614  54,504,918  5  704,291  (96,764) (42) 531,448  1,139,552  487 
Net income (loss) —  —  —  —  —  (90,141) —  (74,170) (164,311) 292 
Share-based compensation, net of
forfeitures 676,512  7  —  —  23,685  —  —  19,995  43,687  — 
Redemption of Class B common
stock 2,082,424  21  (2,082,424) —  19,975  —  —  (19,996) —  — 
Cancellation of Class A common
stock (72,354) (1) —  —  (1,280) —  —  1,281  —  — 
Tax distributions to BRP's LLC
Members —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (482) (482) — 
Repayment of stockholder notes
receivable —  —  —  —  —  —  42  —  42  — 
Distributions to variable interest
entities —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (385)

Balance at December 31, 2023 64,133,950  $ 641  52,422,494  $ 5  $ 746,671  $ (186,905) $ —  $ 458,076  $ 1,018,488  $ 394 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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BRP GROUP, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (164,019) $ (76,748) $ (58,120)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 98,402  86,358  51,508 
Change in fair value of contingent consideration 61,083  32,307  45,196 
Share-based compensation expense 60,008  47,389  19,193 
Payment of contingent earnout consideration in excess of purchase price accrual (24,326) (49,926) (4,825)
Amortization of deferred financing costs 5,129  5,120  3,506 
(Gain) loss on interest rate caps 1,670  (26,220) 123 
Other loss 361  135  311 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquisitions:
Premiums, commissions and fees receivable, net (132,269) (183,006) (64,501)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (6,849) (10,383) (9,681)
Right-of-use assets 17,963  (13,492) (81,646)
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities 140,675  173,362  55,188 
Operating lease liabilities (13,184) 16,531  83,877 
Other liabilities —  (3,889) — 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 44,644  (2,462) 40,129 
Cash flows from investing activities:

Capital expenditures (21,376) (21,979) (5,321)
Proceeds from the sale of assets 3,259  —  — 
Cash consideration paid for asset acquisitions (2,118) (3,356) (3,212)
Investments in and loans to business ventures (1,687) (1,103) (1,907)
Cash consideration paid for business combinations, net of cash received —  (387,919) (668,033)

Net cash used in investing activities (21,922) (414,357) (678,473)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from issuance of Class A common stock, net of underwriting discounts —  —  269,375 
Payment of common stock offering costs —  —  (1,054)
Payment of contingent earnout consideration up to amount of purchase price accrual (27,949) (48,309) (7,723)
Proceeds from revolving line of credit 111,000  512,000  420,210 
Payments on revolving line of credit (275,000) (42,000) (385,210)
Proceeds from long-term debt 170,000  —  441,430 
Payments on long-term debt (9,376) (8,509) (5,630)
Payments of debt issuance costs (4,998) (1,821) (1,124)
Proceeds from the sale and settlement of interest rate caps 10,918  21,246  — 
Purchase of interest rate caps —  (3,838) (6,461)
Tax distributions to BRP's LLC Members (482) (9,393) — 
Proceeds from repayment of stockholder notes receivable 42  177  246 
Distributions to variable interest entities (385) —  — 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (26,230) 419,553  724,059 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash (3,508) 2,734  85,715 
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year 230,471  227,737  142,022 
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year $ 226,963  $ 230,471  $ 227,737 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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BRP GROUP, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Continued)

For the Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021

Supplemental schedule of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest $ 105,386  $ 62,702  $ 22,110 
Cash paid for taxes 1,430  1,419  — 

Disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities $ 6,414  $ 24,910  $ 86,524 
Capital expenditures incurred but not yet paid 3,583  855  350 
Right-of-use assets increased through lease modifications and reassessments 1,063  5,905  6,131 
Contingent earnout liabilities assumed in business combinations and asset acquisitions 723  14,918  127,420 
Increase (decrease) in goodwill resulting from measurement period adjustments for prior year
business combinations (211) 5,534  (2,206)
Equity interest issued in business combinations and asset acquisitions —  4,809  194,607 
Conversion of contingent earnout liability to related party notes payable and to settle related party
notes receivable —  2,143  61,500 
Equity issued in satisfaction of a liability —  711  — 
Non-cash debt issuance costs incurred —  —  11,557 
Non-cash tax distributions payable —  —  5,072 

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash:
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash per consolidated balance sheet $ 221,033 
Restricted cash included in assets held for sale 5,930 

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year per consolidated statements of
cash flows $ 226,963 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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BRP GROUP, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Business and Basis of Presentation

BRP Group, Inc. (“BRP Group” or the “Company”) was incorporated in the state of Delaware on July 1, 2019. BRP Group is a diversified insurance
agency and services organization that markets and sells insurance products and services to its Clients throughout the U.S. A significant portion of the
Company’s business is concentrated in the Southeastern U.S., with several other regional concentrations. BRP Group and its subsidiaries operate through
three reportable segments (“Operating Groups”), including Insurance Advisory Solutions, Underwriting, Capacity & Technology Solutions and Mainstreet
Insurance Solutions, which are discussed in more detail in Note 21.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of BRP Group and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions and balances
have been eliminated in consolidation.

As the sole manager of Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC (“BRP”), BRP Group operates and controls all the business and affairs of BRP, and has the sole voting
interest in, and controls the management of, BRP. Accordingly, BRP Group consolidates BRP in its consolidated financial statements, resulting in a
noncontrolling interest related to the membership interests of BRP (the “LLC Units”) held by BRP's members (“BRP's LLC Members”) in its consolidated
financial statements.

The Company has prepared these consolidated financial statements in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 810,
Consolidation (“Topic 810”). Topic 810 requires that if an enterprise is the primary beneficiary of a variable interest entity, the assets, liabilities, and results
of operations of the variable interest entity should be included in the consolidated financial statements of the enterprise. The Company has recognized
certain entities as variable interest entities, of which the Company is the primary beneficiary, and has included the accounts of these entities in the
consolidated financial statements. Refer to Note 4 for additional information regarding the Company’s variable interest entities.

Topic 810 also requires that the equity of a noncontrolling interest shall be reported on the consolidated balance sheets within total equity of the Company.
Certain redeemable noncontrolling interests are reported on the consolidated balance sheets as mezzanine equity. Topic 810 also requires revenues,
expenses, gains, losses, net income or loss, and other comprehensive income or loss to be reported in the consolidated financial statements at consolidated
amounts, which include amounts attributable to the owners of the parent and the noncontrolling interests. Refer to the Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest
and Noncontrolling Interest sections of Note 2 for additional information.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosures of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from these estimates. Significant estimates underlying the accompanying consolidated financial statements include the
application of guidance for revenue recognition; impairment of intangible assets and goodwill; the valuation of contingent consideration; and the valuation
allowance for deferred tax assets.

Changes in Presentation

Effective in January 2023, the Company’s Mainstreet and Medicare businesses were combined under one Operating Group, Mainstreet Insurance Solutions.
In addition, the Middle Market and Specialty Operating Groups were rebranded as Insurance Advisory Solutions and Underwriting, Capacity &
Technology Solutions, respectively. Prior year segment reporting information in Note 21 has been recast to conform to the current organizational structure.

In addition, certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation. These reclassifications had no impact on the
Company's previously reported consolidated financial position or results of operations.
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Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2023-07, Segment Reporting
(“Topic 280”)—Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures (“ASU 2023-07”) to enhance the disclosure requirements for reportable segments. ASU
2023-07 requires disclosure of significant segment expenses regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), as well as an aggregate
amount of other segment items included within segment profit or loss and a description of its composition. Additionally, ASU 2023-07 requires disclosure
of the title and position of the CODM and a description of how the CODM utilizes the reported measure of segment profit or loss to assess segment
performance. ASU 2023-07 requires segment disclosures under Topic 280 on an annual and interim basis. This guidance is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2023 and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. The Company expects the adoption of this
standard to expand its annual and interim segment disclosures, but otherwise have no impact on the consolidated financial statements.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740)—Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures (“ASU 2023-09”) to
enhance the transparency and usefulness of income tax disclosures. ASU 2023-09 requires disclosure of specific categories and disaggregation of
information in the rate reconciliation table using both percentages and reporting currency amounts. ASU 2023-09 also requires disclosure of disaggregated
information related to income taxes paid, income or loss from continuing operations before income tax expense or benefit, and income tax expense or
benefit from continuing operations. This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. The Company expects the adoption of
this standard to expand its income tax disclosures, but otherwise have no impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU No. 2021-08, Business Combinations (Topic 805)—Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from
Contracts with Customers (“ASU 2021-08”) to improve the accounting for acquired revenue contracts with customers in a business combination by
addressing diversity in practice and inconsistency related to (i) the recognition of an acquired contract liability and (ii) payment terms and their effect on
subsequent revenue recognized by the acquirer. ASU 2021-08 requires that, at the acquisition date, an entity recognize and measure contract assets and
contract liabilities acquired in a business combination in accordance with ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“Topic 606”) as if it
had originated the contracts, while also taking into account how the acquiree applied Topic 606. The Company adopted ASU 2021-08 effective January 1,
2023. The adoption of this guidance did not have any impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (“Topic 848”)—Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on
Financial Reporting (“ASU 2020-04”), which established optional expedients and exceptions for applying GAAP to contracts, hedging relationships, and
other transactions affected by reference rate reform to provide temporary relief during the transition period of Topic 848 and ease the potential burden of
accounting for, or recognizing the effects of, reference rate reform on financial reporting. In December 2022, the FASB issued ASU No. 2022-06,
Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Deferral of the Sunset Date of Topic 848 to defer the sunset date of Topic 848 from December 31, 2022 to December
31, 2024 as a result of the extension of the intended cessation of USD LIBOR to June 30, 2023. The Company has adopted the optional expedient within
ASU 2020-04 to account for modifications of contracts within the scope of ASC Topic 470, Debt, including Amendment No. 6 to the JPM Credit
Agreement dated June 27, 2023 discussed in Note 11. The adoption of this guidance did not have any impact on our consolidated financial statements.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with Topic 606.

The Company earns commission revenue by providing insurance placement services to insureds (“Clients”) under direct bill and agency bill arrangements
with Insurance Company Partners for private risk management, commercial risk management, wealth management, employee benefits and Medicare
insurance types. Commission revenues are usually a percentage of the premium paid by Clients and generally depend upon the type of insurance, the
Insurance Company Partner and the nature of the services provided. In some limited cases, the Company shares commissions with other agents or brokers
who have acted jointly with the Company in a transaction. The Company controls the fulfillment of the performance obligation and its relationship with its
Insurance Company Partners and the outside agents. Commissions shared with downstream agents or brokers are recorded in commission, employee
compensation and benefits expense in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss.
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Commission revenue is recorded net of allowances for estimated policy cancellations, which are determined based on an evaluation of historical and
current cancellation data.

Commissions for brokerage services may be invoiced near the effective date of the underlying policy or over the term of the arrangement in installments
during the policy period. However, regardless of the payment terms, commissions are recognized at a point in time upon the effective date of bound
insurance coverage, as no performance obligation exists after coverage is bound.

The Company earns service fee revenue for providing insurance placement services to Clients for a negotiated fee and consulting revenue is earned by
providing specialty insurance consulting. Service fee and consulting revenues from certain agreements are recognized over time depending on when the
services within the contract are satisfied and when the Company has transferred control of the related services to the customer.

Profit-sharing commissions represent bonus-type revenue that is earned by the Company as a sales incentive provided by certain Insurance Company
Partners. The Company receives profit-sharing commissions based primarily on underwriting results, but may also contain considerations for volume,
growth, loss performance or retention. Profit-sharing commissions associated with relatively predictable measures are estimated and recognized over time.
The profit-sharing commissions are recorded as the underlying policies that contribute to the achievement of the metric are placed with any adjustments
recognized when payments are received or as additional information that affects the estimate becomes available. Profit-sharing commissions associated
with loss performance are uncertain, and therefore, are subject to significant reversal as loss data remains subject to material change. Management
estimates profit-sharing commissions using historical outcomes and known trends impacting premium volume or loss ratios, subject to a constraint. The
constraint is relieved when management estimates the revenue is not subject to significant reversal, which often coincides with the earlier of written notice
from the Insurance Company Partner that the target has been achieved, or cash collection. Year-end amounts incorporate estimates subject to a constraint or
where applicable, are based on confirmation from Insurance Company Partners after calculation of premium volume or loss ratios that are impacted by
catastrophic losses.

The Company earns policy fee revenue for acting in its capacity as a managing general agent (“MGA”) on behalf of the Insurance Company Partner and
fulfilling certain services including delivery of policy documents, processing payments and other administrative functions during the term of the insurance
policy. Policy fee revenue is deferred and recognized over the life of the policy. These deferred amounts are recognized as contract liabilities, which are
included as a component of accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company earns installment fee revenue
for payment processing services performed on behalf of the Insurance Company Partner related to policy premiums paid on an installment basis. The
Company recognizes installment fee revenue in the period the services are performed.

The Company also earns investment income, which primarily consists of interest earnings on available cash invested in treasury money market funds. The
Company recognizes investment income in the period the revenue is earned.

The Company pays an incremental amount of compensation in the form of producer commissions on new business. These incremental costs are capitalized
as deferred commission expense and amortized over five years, which represents management’s estimate of the average benefit period for new business.
The Company has concluded that this period is consistent with the transfer to the Client of the services to which the asset relates.

Due to the relatively short time period between the information gathering phase and binding insurance coverage, the Company has determined that costs to
fulfill contracts are not significant. Therefore, costs to fulfill a contract are expensed as incurred.

Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid short-term instruments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash includes amounts that are legally restricted as to use or withdrawal. Restricted cash represents cash collected from Clients that is payable to
Insurance Company Partners and for which segregation of this cash is required by contract with the relevant insurance company providing coverage or by
law within the state. The Company also holds restricted cash specifically in its role as an MGA.
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Premiums, Commissions and Fees Receivable, Net

Premiums receivable represent premiums due from Clients when the Company acts in its capacity as insurance agent or broker on behalf of the Insurance
Company Partner. In an agency bill contract, the Company typically collects premiums from Clients and, after deducting its authorized commissions,
remits the net premiums to the appropriate Insurance Company Partners. Commissions receivable reflect commissions due from Insurance Company
Partners. In a direct bill contract, the Insurance Company Partners collect the premiums directly from Clients and remit the applicable commissions to the
Company. Fees receivable represent policy fees, consulting fees, service fees and other related amounts due from Clients in service transactions.

Premiums, commissions and fees receivable are reported net of allowances for estimated policy cancellations. The allowance for estimated policy
cancellations was $12.6 million and $8.4 million at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, which represents a reserve for future reversals in
commission and fee revenues related to the potential cancellation of Client insurance policies that were in force as of each year end. The allowance for
estimated policy cancellations is established through a charge to revenues. The allowance for estimated policy cancellations is offset in part by a producer
commissions chargeback of $5.7 million and $3.3 million at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The producer commissions chargeback is
established through a charge to commissions, employee compensation and benefits expense and is netted against producer commissions payable on the
consolidated balance sheets.

The Company recognizes an allowance for credit losses that reflects the Company's estimate of expected credit losses for its premiums, commissions and
fees receivable. This allowance is not significant during any periods presented.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment is stated at cost. For financial reporting purposes, depreciation of property and equipment is calculated using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Useful Life
(in Years)

Leasehold improvements 5 - 10
Furniture 7
Equipment 5
Other 3

Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful life or the reasonably assured lease term at
inception of the lease. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts. The
difference between the net book value of the assets and proceeds from disposal is recognized as a gain or loss on disposal, which is included in other
income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. Routine maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred, while
costs of improvements and renewals are capitalized.

Property and equipment is evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.
An asset is considered to be impaired when the sum of the undiscounted future net cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual
disposition does not exceed its carrying amount. The amount of the impairment loss, if any, is measured as the amount by which the carrying value of the
asset exceeds its fair value.

Capitalized Software

The Company capitalizes certain costs to develop software for internal use as capitalized software in accordance with ASC Topic 350-40, Internal-Use
Software. Costs incurred during the preliminary project stage and post-implementation stage of an internal-use software project are expensed as incurred
while costs incurred during the application development stage of an internal-use software project are capitalized. Costs related to updates and
enhancements to the software are only capitalized if they result in additional functionality to the Company. Capitalized software was $28.5 million and
$10.1 million at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectfully, which is presented net of accumulated amortization of $1.4 million at December 31, 2023 on
the consolidated balance sheets. Capitalized software is included as a component of software under intangible assets, net on the consolidated balance
sheets. The Company amortizes capitalized software on the straight-line basis over estimated useful lives of three to five years. Amortization expense
recorded for capitalized software was $1.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023.
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Intangible Assets, Net and Goodwill

The Company has recognized separately identifiable intangible assets in connection with strategic acquisitions made by the Company (“Partnerships”), as
well as those related to software purchased and developed for internal use. Intangible assets identified in a Partnership are recorded at fair value on the
acquisition date. The excess of the purchase price in a business combination over the fair value of the identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired
and liabilities assumed is assigned to goodwill.

Intangible assets are stated at cost, less accumulated amortization, and consist of acquired relationships, software and trade names acquired in connection
with business combinations. Acquired relationships and trade names are being amortized based on a pattern of economic benefit over estimated useful lives
of 15 to 20 years and one to five years, respectively. Software is amortized on the straight-line basis over estimated useful lives of two to five years.

Management assesses the fair value of acquired relationships, software and trade names by considering the estimated future cash flow benefits associated
with ownership of the assets through the use of recognized income approach valuation methods. The valuation of these intangible assets involves
significant assumptions concerning matters such as revenue and expense growth rates, customer attrition rates, obsolescence rates, royalty rates and
discount rates.

The Company reviews its definite-lived intangible assets and other long-lived assets for impairment whenever an event occurs that indicates the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. No impairment was recorded for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 or 2021.

Goodwill is subject to an impairment assessment on an annual basis or whenever indicators of impairment are present. The Company generally performs a
qualitative assessment to determine whether a quantitative impairment test is necessary. On October 1, 2023, the Company elected to perform the
quantitative test in lieu of the optional qualitative assessment. In a quantitative assessment, the Company compares the fair value of each reporting unit
with its carrying amount to determine if there is potential impairment of goodwill. If the carrying value of a reporting unit is greater than the fair value, an
impairment charge is recorded for the amount that the carrying amount of the reporting unit, including goodwill, exceeds its fair value, limited to the
amount of goodwill of the reporting unit. No impairment was recorded for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 or 2021.

Deferred Financing Costs, Net

Deferred financing costs consist of origination fees and debt issuance costs related to obtaining and amending credit facilities. The Company has recorded
these costs as an asset and liability on the consolidated balance sheets in accordance with ASC Topic 835-30, Interest. Deferred financing costs associated
with revolving credit facilities are included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets while those related to term loans are recorded as an offset to
long-term debt. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, deferred financing costs included in other assets were $6.4 million each, net of accumulated amortization
of $3.5 million and $2.8 million, respectively. Deferred financing costs and original issue discount included in long-term debt totaled $32.0 million and
$27.0 million, net of accumulated amortization of $11.7 million and $7.3 million, at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Such costs are amortized
using the effective interest method over the terms of the respective debt. Amortization of deferred financing costs, which is included in interest expense, net
in the accompanying consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, was approximately $5.1 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2023 and
2022 and $3.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Derivative Instruments

The Company utilizes derivative financial instruments, consisting of interest rate caps, to manage the Company’s interest rate exposure. Derivative
instruments are recognized as assets or liabilities at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company has not designated these derivatives as
hedging instruments for accounting purposes and, accordingly, the changes in fair value of these derivatives are recognized in earnings. Cash payments and
receipts under the derivative instruments are classified within cash flows from financing activities in the accompanying consolidated statements of cash
flows. The Company does not use derivative instruments for trading or speculative purposes.
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Self-Insurance Reserve

The Company has a self-insured health insurance plan for which it carries an insurance program with specific retention levels or high per-claim deductibles
for expected losses. The Company records a liability for all unresolved claims and for an estimate of incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) claims at the
anticipated cost that falls below its specified retention levels or per-claim deductible amounts. In establishing reserves, the Company considers actuarial
assumptions and judgments regarding economic conditions and the frequency and severity of claims. The Company had an IBNR reserve of $3.8 million
and $1.8 million at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, which is included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the consolidated
balance sheets.

Leases

The Company accounts for leases under ASC Topic 842, Leases (“Topic 842”). A lease is an agreement between two or more parties that creates
enforceable rights and obligations that conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Topic
842 requires an entity to determine whether a contract is a lease or contains a lease at the inception of the contract, considering all relevant facts and
circumstances. There are two main components in determining if a contract is a lease: (i) a right to use an identified asset and (ii) control over the use of the
identified asset. A customer does not have the right to use an identified asset if, at inception of the contract, a supplier has the substantive right to substitute
the asset throughout the period of use. Control over the use of the identified asset requires a customer to obtain “substantially all the economic benefits”
and to have the “ability to direct the use of the asset.”

Topic 842 requires the recognition of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet. Leases are classified at their commencement date, which
is defined as the date on which the lessor makes the underlying asset available for use by the lessee, as either operating or finance leases based on the
economic substance of the agreement. The Company recognizes right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on its consolidated balance sheets for operating
leases. Lease liabilities are measured at the lease commencement date as the present value of the future lease payments determined using either (i) the
interest rate implicit in the lease, if readily determinable, or (ii) the Company's incremental borrowing rate on the lease commencement date. Right-of-use
assets are measured as the lease liability plus initial direct costs and prepaid lease payments less lease incentives. The lease term is the non-cancelable
period of the lease and includes options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that an option will be exercised.

The Company elected to not separate lease and non-lease components and instead accounts for them as a single lease component for all classes of
underlying assets. The Company does not include variable payments that are not based on an index or rate in the single lease component, regardless of
whether they are related to the lease or non-lease component.

The Company elected to not recognize a lease liability or right-of-use asset on the consolidated balance sheets for leases with an initial term of 12 months
or less. Operating lease expenses on capitalized leases and short-term leases are recognized on a straight-line basis over the respective lease term, inclusive
of rent escalation provisions and rent holidays, as a component of other operating expense in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss.

Contingent Earnout Liabilities

The Company accounts for contingent consideration relating to business combinations as a contingent earnout liability and an increase to goodwill at the
date of acquisition and continually remeasures the liability at each balance sheet date by recording changes in fair value through change in fair value of
contingent consideration in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. The ultimate settlement of contingent earnout liabilities relating to business
combinations may be for amounts that are materially different from the amounts initially recorded and may cause volatility in the Company’s results of
operations.

The Company accounts for contingent consideration relating to asset acquisitions as a contingent earnout liability and an increase to the cost of the acquired
assets on a relative fair value basis at the date of acquisition. Once recognized, the contingent earnout liability is not derecognized until the contingency is
resolved and the consideration is issued or becomes issuable. If the amount initially recognized as a liability exceeds the fair value of the contingent
consideration issued or issuable, the entity recognizes that amount as a reduction to the cost of the acquired assets. The ultimate settlement of contingent
earnout liabilities relating to asset acquisitions may be for amounts that are materially different from the amounts initially recorded.

The Company determines the fair value of contingent earnout liabilities based on future cash flow projections under various potential scenarios and weighs
the probability of these outcomes as discussed further in Note 19.
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Assets and Liabilities Held for Sale

The Company classifies assets and related liabilities as held for sale (the “disposal group”) when: (i) management has committed to a plan to sell the
disposal group, (ii) the disposal group is available for immediate sale, (iii) there is an active program to locate a buyer, (iv) the sale and transfer of the
disposal group is probable within one year, (v) the disposal group is being actively marketed for sale at price that is reasonable in relation to its current fair
value, and (vi) it is unlikely that significant changes will be made to the plan to sell the disposal group.

Assets and liabilities held for sale are presented separately within the consolidated balance sheets with any adjustments necessary to measure the disposal
group at the lower of its carrying value or fair value less costs to sell. Goodwill is allocated to the disposal group based on the relative fair value of the
disposal group and the portion of the reporting unit to be retained. Any gain or loss on held for sale assets and liabilities is included as a component of other
income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. Depreciation of property and equipment and amortization of intangible and
right-of-use assets are not recorded while these assets are classified as held for sale. For each period the disposal group remains classified as held for sale,
its recoverability is reassessed and any necessary adjustments are made to its carrying value. Refer to Note 3 for a discussion of assets and liabilities held
for sale at December 31, 2023.

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest

ASC Topic 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity, requires noncontrolling interests that are redeemable for cash or other assets to be classified outside
of permanent equity if they are redeemable (i) at a fixed or determinable price on a fixed or determinable date, (ii) at the option of the holder, or (iii) upon
the occurrence of an event that is not solely within the control of the issuer.

Redeemable noncontrolling interests are reported at estimated redemption value measured as the greater of estimated fair value at the end of each reporting
period or the historical cost basis of the redeemable noncontrolling interest adjusted for cumulative earnings or loss allocations. The resulting increases or
decreases to redemption value, if applicable, are recognized as adjustments to retained earnings.

Noncontrolling Interest

Noncontrolling interests are reported at historical cost basis adjusted for cumulative earnings or loss allocations and classified as a component of
stockholders’ equity on the consolidated balance sheets.

Income Taxes

BRP is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal, state and local income tax purposes. As a partnership, BRP’s taxable income or loss is included in the
taxable income of its members. BRP Group and BRP Colleague Inc., an indirect subsidiary of BRP Group, are both C corporations and taxable entities.

The Company accounts for income taxes pursuant to the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred income tax assets and
liabilities related to the expected future tax consequences arising from temporary differences between the carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and
liabilities based on enacted statutory tax rates applicable to the periods in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse. Any effects of changes
in income tax rates or laws are included in income tax expense in the period of enactment.

The Company and its subsidiaries follow ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes. A component of this standard prescribes a recognition and measurement threshold
of uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. For those benefits to be recognized, a tax position must be more likely than not to be
sustained upon examination by taxing authorities. Management has evaluated the Company’s tax positions and concluded that the Company has taken no
uncertain tax positions that require adjustment to the financial statements to comply with the provisions of this guidance. The Company does not expect
any of its tax positions to change significantly in the near term.
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Tax Receivable Agreement

The Company’s future exchanges of LLC Units from BRP’s LLC Members and the corresponding number of shares of Class B common stock for shares of
Class A common stock, is expected to result in increases in its share of the tax basis of the tangible and intangible assets of BRP, which will increase the tax
depreciation and amortization deductions that otherwise would not have been available to BRP Group. These increases in tax basis and tax depreciation and
amortization deductions are expected to reduce the amount of cash taxes that BRP Group would otherwise be required to pay in the future. BRP Group has
entered into a Tax Receivable Agreement with the other members of BRP that requires it to pay them 85% of the amount of cash savings, if any, in U.S.
federal, state, and local income tax that BRP Group actually realizes (or, under certain circumstances, is deemed to realize) as a result of the increases in tax
basis in connection with exchanges by the recipients described above and certain other tax benefits attributable to payments under the Tax Receivable
Agreement.

Share-Based Compensation

Share-based payments to directors, officers, Colleagues and consultants are measured based on the estimated grant-date fair value. The grant-date fair value
of restricted and unrestricted stock awards is equal to the market value of BRP Group’s Class A common stock on the date of grant. The Company also
issues stock awards that vest based on service conditions, performance conditions, or market conditions. The Company applies the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model, a Monte Carlo Simulation, or a lattice model, depending on the vesting conditions, in determining the fair value of performance-based
restricted stock unit awards to Colleagues. The Company recognizes share-based compensation expense over the requisite service period for awards
expected to ultimately vest. The Company recognizes forfeitures as they occur. Refer to Note 15 for additional information regarding our share-based
compensation plans.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying values of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities, including cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, premiums, commissions and fees
receivable, premiums payable to insurance companies, producer commissions payable and accrued expenses and other current liabilities, approximate their
fair values because of the short maturity and liquidity of those instruments.

Contingencies

The Company accounts for contingencies in accordance with ASC Topic 450-20, Loss Contingencies. Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from various
claims and legal actions are recorded when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount is reasonably estimable. In certain cases, where a
range of loss exists, the Company accrues the minimum amount in the range if no amount within the range is a better estimate than any other amount. Refer
to Note 20 for additional information regarding the Company's contingencies.

Concentrations

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash. The
Company manages this risk by using high credit worthy financial institutions. Interest-bearing accounts and noninterest-bearing accounts are insured by the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) up to $250,000. Deposits exceed amounts insured by the FDIC. The Company has not experienced any
losses from its deposits.

3. Assets and Liabilities Held for Sale

Since its launch in January 2020, the Company's specialty wholesale broker business has not benefited from the same degree of capital allocation, focus
and prioritization as the retail and MGA businesses. After assessing the various paths forward for the specialty wholesale broker business near the end of
2023, management concluded that a plan to sell the specialty wholesale broker business creates the greatest opportunity for both the Company and the
specialty wholesale broker business.

The Company determined that its specialty wholesale broker business, operating within the Underwriting, Capacity & Technology Solutions Operating
Group, met the criteria to be classified as held for sale at December 31, 2023. The assets and liabilities of the specialty wholesale broker business have been
recorded as held for sale at their carrying value, which was determined to be lower than the fair value of the net assets less costs to sell and, as a result, no
gain or loss was recorded. The planned divestiture did not meet the criteria of a discontinued operation and the Company will continue to report the
operating results for its specialty wholesale broker business as continuing operations in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss until a sale is
completed. Subsequent to the end of 2023, the Company entered into a definitive agreement for the sale of the business, which is expected to close on
March 1, 2024. Refer to Note 22 for additional information.
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The table below provides a summary of the major classes of assets and liabilities that have been classified as held for sale on the consolidated balance
sheets:

(in thousands) December 31, 2023

Restricted cash $ 5,930 
Premiums, commissions and fees receivable, net 36,470 
Property and equipment, net 50 
Right-of-use assets 310 
Other assets 395 
Intangible assets, net 11,716 
Goodwill 9,480 

Assets held for sale $ 64,351 

Premiums payable to insurance companies $ 42,289 
Producer commissions payable 955 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 589 
Operating lease liabilities, less current portion 98 

Liabilities held for sale $ 43,931 

__________
(1)    Includes the current portion of operating lease liabilities.

4. Variable Interest Entities

Topic 810 requires a reporting entity to consolidate a variable interest entity (“VIE”) when the reporting entity has a variable interest or combination of
variable interests that provide the entity with a controlling financial interest in the VIE. The Company continually assesses whether it has a controlling
financial interest in each of its VIEs to determine if it is the primary beneficiary of the VIE and should, therefore, consolidate each of the VIEs. A reporting
entity is considered to have a controlling financial interest in a VIE if it has (i) the power to direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly impact the
VIE’s economic performance, and (ii) the obligation to absorb the losses of, or the right to receive benefits from, the VIE that could potentially be
significant to the VIE.

The Company determined that it is the primary beneficiary of its VIEs, which include Laureate Insurance Partners, LLC, BKS Smith, LLC, BKS MS, LLC
and BKS Partners Galati Marine Solutions, LLC. The Company has consolidated its VIEs into the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Total revenues and expenses of the Company’s consolidated VIEs included in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss were $2.0 million and
$1.1 million, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2023, $1.7 million and $1.0 million, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2022, and
$1.0 million and $0.6 million, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Total assets and liabilities of the Company's consolidated VIEs included on the consolidated balance sheets were $0.8 million and $0.2 million,
respectively, at December 31, 2023 and $0.4 million and $0.1 million, respectively, at December 31, 2022. The assets of the consolidated VIEs can only be
used to settle the obligations of the consolidated VIEs and the creditors of the liabilities of the consolidated VIEs do not have recourse to the Company.

(1)
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5. Revenue

The following table provides disaggregated revenues by major source:

For the Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021

Commission revenue $ 967,552  $ 786,794  $ 472,495 
Profit-sharing revenue 93,437  66,091  37,392 
Consulting and service fee revenue 74,637  61,244  30,182 
Policy fee and installment fee revenue 65,386  55,362  19,903 
Other income 10,816  11,229  7,318 
Investment income 6,727  —  — 

Total revenues $ 1,218,555  $ 980,720  $ 567,290 

__________
(1)    Commission revenue is earned by providing insurance placement services to Clients under direct bill and agency bill arrangements with Insurance Company Partners

for private risk management, commercial risk management, wealth management, employee benefits and Medicare insurance types.
(2)    Profit-sharing revenue represents bonus-type revenue that is earned by the Company as a sales incentive provided by certain Insurance Company Partners.
(3)    Service fee revenue is earned for providing insurance placement services to Clients for a negotiated fee and consulting revenue is earned by providing specialty

insurance consulting.
(4)    Policy fee revenue represents revenue earned for acting in the capacity of an MGA and fulfilling certain administrative functions on behalf of Insurance Company

Partners, including delivery of policy documents, processing payments and other administrative functions. Installment fee revenue represents revenue earned by the
Company for providing payment processing services on behalf of Insurance Company Partners related to policy premiums paid on an installment basis.

(5)    Other income includes other ancillary income, premium financing income and marketing income that is based on agreed-upon cost reimbursement for fulfilling specific
targeted Medicare marketing campaigns.

(6)    Investment income represents interest earnings on available cash invested in treasury money market funds.

The application of Topic 606 requires the use of management judgment. The following are the areas of most significant judgment as it relates to Topic 606:

• The Company considers the policyholders as representative of its customers in the majority of contractual relationships, with the exception of
Medicare contracts in its Mainstreet Insurance Solutions Operating Group, where the Insurance Company Partner is considered its customer.

• Medicare contracts in the Mainstreet Insurance Solutions Operating Group are multi-year arrangements in which the Company is entitled to
renewal commissions. However, the Company has applied a constraint to renewal commissions that limits revenue recognized when a risk of
significant reversals exists based on: (i) historical renewal patterns; and (ii) the influence of external factors outside of the Company’s control,
including policyholder discretion over plans and Insurance Company Partner relationship, political influence, and a contractual provision, which
limits the Company’s right to receive renewal commissions to ongoing compliance and regulatory approval of the relevant Insurance Company
Partner and compliance with the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services.

• The Company recognizes separately contracted commission revenue at the effective date of insurance placement and considers any ongoing
interaction with the customer to be insignificant in the context of the obligations of the contract.

• Variable consideration includes estimates of direct bill commissions, reserves for policy cancellations and accruals for profit-sharing income.

• Costs to obtain a contract are deferred and recognized over five years, which represents management’s estimate of the average benefit period for
new business.

• Due to the relatively short time period between the information gathering phase and binding insurance coverage, the Company has determined that
costs to fulfill contracts are not significant. Therefore, costs to fulfill a contract are expensed as incurred.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)
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6. Contract Assets and Liabilities

Contract assets arise when the Company recognizes (i) revenue for amounts which have not yet been billed and (ii) receivables for premiums to be
collected on behalf of Insurance Company Partners. Contract liabilities relate to payments received in advance of performance under the contract before the
transfer of a good or service to the customer. Contract assets are included in premiums, commissions and fees receivable, net and contract liabilities are
included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. The balances of contract assets and liabilities arising from
contracts with customers were as follows:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022

Contract assets $ 342,692  $ 278,023 
Contract liabilities 30,281  30,981 

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recognized revenue of $31.0 million related to the contract liabilities balance at December 31,
2022.

7. Deferred Commission Expense

The Company pays an incremental amount of compensation in the form of producer commissions on new business. In accordance with ASC Topic 340,
Other Assets and Deferred Costs, these incremental costs are deferred and amortized over five years, which represents management’s estimate of the
average benefit period for new business. Deferred commission expense represents producer commissions that are capitalized and not yet expensed and are
included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets. The table below provides a rollforward of deferred commission expense:

For the Years

Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2023 2022

Balance at beginning of year $ 21,669  $ 11,336 
Costs capitalized 12,032  14,967 
Amortization (7,145) (4,634)
Deferred commission expense classified as held for sale (351) — 

Balance at end of year $ 26,205  $ 21,669 

8. Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net consists of the following:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022

Equipment $ 17,779  $ 19,331 
Leasehold improvements 8,400  8,072 
Furniture 7,262  4,132 
Construction in process 2,728  2,190 
Other 514  342 

Total property and equipment 36,683  34,067 
Accumulated depreciation (13,970) (8,662)

Property and equipment, net $ 22,713  $ 25,405 

Depreciation expense recorded for property and equipment was $5.7 million, $4.6 million and $2.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022
and 2021, respectively.
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9. Intangible Assets, Net and Goodwill

Intangible assets consist of the following:

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

(in thousands)
Gross Carrying

Value
Accumulated
Amortization Net Carrying Value

Gross Carrying
Value

Accumulated
Amortization Net Carrying Value

Acquired relationships $ 1,135,834  $ (186,487) $ 949,347  $ 1,153,031  $ (124,228) $ 1,028,803 
Software 99,733  (46,543) 53,190  81,392  (30,790) 50,602 
Trade names 27,924  (13,118) 14,806  28,623  (8,110) 20,513 

Total intangible assets $ 1,263,491  $ (246,148) $ 1,017,343  $ 1,263,046  $ (163,128) $ 1,099,918 

__________
(1)    Acquired relationships exclude $20.7 million of gross carrying value and $9.4 million of accumulated amortization classified as held for sale at December 31, 2023.

The Company had several asset acquisitions during each of the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, which resulted in the addition of acquired
relationships of $3.5 million and $3.4 million, respectively, with estimated weighted-average useful lives of 15 years and 18.7 years, respectively. The
Company also had several business combinations during the year ended December 31, 2022, which resulted in the addition of acquired relationships of
$189.8 million, software of $29.5 million and trade names of $4.4 million with estimated weighted-average useful lives of 20 years, 5 years and 4.9 years,
respectively.

Amortization expense recorded for intangible assets was $92.7 million, $81.7 million and $48.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and
2021, respectively.

Future annual estimated amortization expense over the next five years for intangible assets is as follows (in thousands):

For the Years Ending December 31, Amortization

2024 $ 89,322 
2025 89,503 
2026 83,890 
2027 73,616 
2028 67,454 

The changes in carrying value of goodwill by Operating Group are as follows:

(in thousands)
Insurance Advisory

Solutions

Underwriting,
Capacity &
Technology
Solutions

 Mainstreet
Insurance Solutions  Total

Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 901,127  $ 264,018  $ 63,596  $ 1,228,741 
Goodwill of acquired businesses —  6,877  180,908  187,785 
Measurement period adjustments 5,018  516  —  5,534 

Balance at December 31, 2022 906,145  271,411  244,504  1,422,060 
Measurement period adjustments —  —  (211) (211)
Goodwill classified as held for sale —  (9,480) —  (9,480)

Balance at December 31, 2023 $ 906,145  $ 261,931  $ 244,293  $ 1,412,369 

__________
(1)    Measurement period adjustments recorded during 2022 relating to businesses acquired in 2021 increased premiums, commissions and fees receivable by $3.8 million,

increased current liabilities by $9.1 million, and increased consideration by $0.2 million.
(2)    Measurement period adjustments recorded during 2023 relating to businesses acquired in 2022 decreased current liabilities by $0.2 million.
(3)    Refer to Note 3 for additional information regarding goodwill classified as held for sale.

(1)

(1)

(2)

(3)
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10. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following:
December 31,

(in thousands) 2023 2022

Accrued compensation and benefits $ 53,728  $ 44,903 
Contract liabilities 30,281  30,981 
Accrued expenses 23,274  13,101 
Current portion of operating lease liabilities 16,704  14,043 
Current portion of long-term debt 10,243  8,509 
Earnout incentive bonus 8,020  — 
Other 10,704  14,206 

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 152,954  $ 125,743 

__________
(1)    Represents the unpaid portion of contingent earnout liabilities that were reclassified, at the Partner's option, to an earnout incentive bonus, which is payable to

Colleagues. Refer to the contingent earnout liabilities rollforward in Note 19 for additional information.

11. Long-Term Debt

On October 14, 2020, the Company entered into a credit agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A (the “JPM Credit Agreement”). As of December 31,
2022, the JPM Credit Agreement, as amended, provided for senior secured credit facilities in an aggregate principal amount of $1.45 billion, which
consisted of (i) a term loan facility in the principal amount of $850.0 million maturing October 14, 2027 (the “Term Loan B”) and (ii) a revolving credit
facility with commitments in an aggregate principal amount of $600.0 million maturing April 1, 2027 (the “Revolving Facility”). The JPM Credit
Agreement is secured by substantially all assets of the Company.

Through June 30, 2023, the Term Loan B bore interest at LIBOR plus 350 bps, subject to a LIBOR floor of 50 bps. On June 27, 2023, the Company entered
into Amendment No. 6 to the JPM Credit Agreement, under which, effective July 1, 2023, the interest rate on the Term Loan B changed to term SOFR plus
a credit spread adjustment between 11 bps and 43 bps based on the term SOFR rate plus an applicable margin of 350 bps, subject to a term SOFR floor of
50 bps. The other terms of the Term Loan B and the terms of the Revolving Facility remained unchanged.

On September 15, 2023, the Company entered into Amendment No. 7 to the JPM Credit Agreement to provide for a new senior secured first lien
incremental term loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of $170.0 million (the “Incremental Term Loan B”), which represents an increase in the
aggregate principal amount of the Term Loan B from $850.0 million to $1.02 billion. The Company used a portion of the proceeds from the Incremental
Term Loan B to partially repay outstanding amounts under the Revolving Facility.

The Company capitalized debt issuance costs related to the JPM Credit Agreement of $5.0 million and $1.8 million during the years ended December 31,
2023 and 2022, respectively.

At December 31, 2023, the outstanding borrowings on the Term Loan B of $998.7 million had an applicable interest rate of 8.97%. Comparatively, at
December 31, 2022, the outstanding borrowings on the Term Loan B of $838.1 million had an applicable interest rate of 7.79%. The outstanding
borrowings on the Term Loan B are presented net of unamortized debt issuance costs of $20.3 million and $19.7 million on the consolidated balance sheets
at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

(1)
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Future annual maturities of the Term Loan B are as follows as of December 31, 2023:

(in thousands) Amount

Payments for the years ending December 31,
2024 $ 10,243 
2025 10,243 
2026 10,243 
2027 968,008 
Total long-term debt 998,737 

Less: unamortized debt discount and issuance costs (20,311)
Net long-term debt $ 978,426 

Borrowings under the Revolving Facility accrue interest at SOFR plus 210 bps to SOFR plus 310 bps based on total net leverage ratio. The outstanding
borrowings on the Revolving Facility of $341.0 million at December 31, 2023 had an applicable interest rate of 8.46%. Comparatively, the outstanding
borrowings on the Revolving Facility of $505.0 million at December 31, 2022 had an applicable interest rate of 7.41%. The Revolving Facility is also
subject to a commitment fee of 0.40% on the unused capacity at December 31, 2023.

The JPM Credit Agreement requires the Company to meet certain financial covenants and comply with customary affirmative and negative covenants as
listed in the underlying agreement. The Company was in compliance with these covenants at December 31, 2023.

Interest Rate Caps

The Company uses interest rate caps to mitigate its exposure to interest rate risk on its debt by limiting the impact of interest rate changes on cash flows.
The interest rate caps limit the variability of the applicable base rate to the amount of the cap. At December 31, 2023, the Company held three interest rate
caps; one interest rate cap with a notional amount of $300.0 million and interest rate cap of 1.50% expiring on March 10, 2024 and two interest rate caps
each with a notional amount of $600.0 million and interest rate cap of 7.00% expiring on November 30, 2025. The interest rate caps, which are included as
a component of other assets on the consolidated balance sheets, are recorded at an aggregate fair value of $2.6 million and $15.2 million at December 31,
2023 and 2022, respectively.

The Company recognized a loss on interest rate caps of $1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, which included an unrealized fair value loss of
$12.6 million, offset in part by a realized gain related to settlements received of $10.9 million. The unrealized fair value loss for 2023 relates to changes in
the interest rate curve and our March 10, 2024 interest rate cap approaching maturity. Comparatively, the Company recognized and a gain on interest rate
caps of $26.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 in connection with rising interest rates and market estimates for future rate increases. The gain
or loss on interest rate caps is included as a component of other income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss.

12. Leases

The Company has operating leases relating to its facilities and office equipment with terms expiring though February 2031. Determination of whether a
new contract is a lease is made at contract inception or at the modification date for a modified contract. The Company's operating leases may require fixed
rental payments, variable lease payments based on usage or sales and fixed non-lease costs relating to the leased asset. Fixed non-lease costs such as
common-area maintenance costs are included in the measurement of the right-of-use asset and lease liability as the Company does not separate lease and
non-lease components. Variable lease payments are generally not included in the measurement of the right-of-use asset and lease liability and are recorded
as lease expense in the period incurred. Short-term leases of 12 months or less are expensed in conjunction with the Company's short-term policy election.

The Company's operating leases may include renewal or termination options. Options to extend or terminate leases are excluded from balance sheet
recognition until the options are reasonably certain to be exercised. The Company only included executed options to extend its leases in its calculation of
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities at December 31, 2023.
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Operating lease right-of-use assets and lease liabilities were as follows:
December 31,

(in thousands) 2023 2022

Assets:
Right-of-use assets $ 85,473  $ 96,465 

Liabilities:
Operating lease liabilities, current portion $ 16,704  $ 14,043 
Operating lease liabilities, non-current 78,999  87,692 

Total operating lease liabilities $ 95,703  $ 101,735 

The components of the lease costs were as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021

Operating lease costs $ 23,195  $ 19,921  $ 13,086 
Variable lease costs 3,677  3,073  2,853 

Supplemental cash flow information relating to our leases was as follows:
For the Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021

Cash paid for amounts included in measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows used in operating leases $ 19,587  $ 17,125  $ 11,562 

Operating lease non-cash items:
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities $ 6,414  $ 24,910  $ 86,524 
Right-of-use assets increased through lease modifications and reassessments 1,063  5,905  6,131 

Weighted average remaining lease terms and discount rates were as follows:

December 31,
2023 2022

Operating leases:
Remaining lease term 5.4 years 6.2 years
Discount rate 5.3 % 5.1 %
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Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating lease agreements at December 31, 2023 were as follows:

(in thousands)
Minimum Future Lease

Payments
For the years ending December 31,

2024 $ 21,258 
2025 20,459 
2026 18,973 
2027 17,953 
2028 14,469 

Thereafter 17,744 
Total minimum lease payments 110,856 

Less: amounts representing interest or imputed interest (15,153)
Present value of lease liabilities $ 95,703 

13. Stockholders’ Equity and Noncontrolling Interest

Capital Stock

BRP Group’s certificate of incorporation authorized capital stock consisting of 300 million shares of Class A common stock with a par value $0.01 per
share, 100 million shares of Class B common stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share, and 50 million shares of preferred stock with a par value of $0.01
per share.

The following table shows a rollforward of our common stock outstanding for the prior three years:

Class A

Common Stock

Class B

Common Stock

Shares issued at December 31, 2020 44,953,166  49,828,383 
Shares issued to the public in follow-on offerings 9,200,000  — 
Shares issued in connection with Partnerships 1,053,190  7,441,139 
Common stock and restricted stock grants under Partnership Inducement Award Plan, net of forfeitures
and shares withheld for taxes 1,558,694  — 
Common stock and restricted stock grants under Omnibus Incentive Plan, net of forfeitures and shares
withheld for taxes 906,338  — 
Redemption of Class B shares of common stock for Class A shares 931,471  (931,471)

Shares issued at December 31, 2021 58,602,859  56,338,051 
Shares issued in connection with Partnerships 226,338  — 
Common stock and restricted stock grants under Partnership Inducement Award Plan, net of forfeitures
and shares withheld for taxes (7,593) — 
Common stock and restricted stock grants under Omnibus Incentive Plan, net of forfeitures and shares
withheld for taxes 784,630  — 
Redemption of Class B shares of common stock for Class A shares 1,841,134  (1,841,134)
Equity issued in satisfaction of a liability —  29,430 
Forfeiture of unvested Class B shares —  (21,429)

Shares issued at December 31, 2022 61,447,368  54,504,918 
Common stock and restricted stock grants under Partnership Inducement Award Plan, net of forfeitures
and shares withheld for taxes (177,555) — 
Common stock and restricted stock grants under Omnibus Incentive Plan, net of forfeitures and shares
withheld for taxes 854,067  — 
Redemption of Class B shares of common stock for Class A shares 2,082,424  (2,082,424)
Cancellation of Class A shares to settle obligation from Partner (72,354) — 

Shares issued at December 31, 2023 64,133,950  52,422,494 
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Class A Common Stock

Stockholders of BRP Group’s Class A common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held of record on all matters on which stockholders are entitled
to vote generally, including the election or removal of directors, although they do not have cumulative voting rights in the election of directors.
Stockholders of Class A common stock are entitled to receive dividends when and if declared by our board of directors, subject to any restrictions on the
payment of dividends.

Upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up and after payment in full of all amounts required to be paid to creditors and to the holders of preferred
stock having liquidation preferences, if any, the stockholders of Class A common stock will be entitled to receive pro rata our remaining assets available for
distribution.

Class B Common Stock

The Class B common stock can be exchanged (together with a corresponding number of LLC Units) for shares of Class A common stock on a one-for-one
basis, subject to certain restrictions, and the shares of Class B common stock will be cancelled on a one-for-one basis with the redemption or exchange.
Except for transfers to us pursuant to the Amended LLC Agreement or to certain permitted transferees, BRP’s LLC Members are not permitted to sell,
transfer or otherwise dispose of any LLC Units or shares of Class B common stock.

Each share of Class B common stock entitles the stockholder to one vote per share, together with holders of Class A common stock as a single class, on all
matters submitted to a vote of our stockholders. If at any time the ratio at which LLC Units are redeemable or exchangeable for shares of Class A common
stock changes from one-for-one, the number of votes to which Class B common stockholders are entitled will be adjusted accordingly. Class B common
stockholders will vote together with Class A common stockholders as a single class on all matters on which stockholders are entitled to vote generally,
except as otherwise required by law. Class B common stockholders do not have cumulative voting rights in the election of directors, nor do they have any
right to receive dividends or to receive a distribution upon a liquidation or winding up of BRP Group.

Noncontrolling Interest

BRP Group is the sole managing member of BRP. As such, BRP Group consolidates BRP in its consolidated financial statements, resulting in a
noncontrolling interest related to the LLC Units held by BRP’s LLC Members in its consolidated financial statements.

The following table summarizes the ownership interest in BRP:

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
LLC Units Percentage LLC Units Percentage

Interest in BRP held by BRP Group 64,133,950  55 % 61,447,368  53 %
Noncontrolling interest in BRP held by BRP’s LLC Members 52,422,494  45 % 54,504,918  47 %

Total 116,556,444  100 % 115,952,286  100 %

14. Related Party Transactions

Due to/from Related Parties

The Company has $1.5 million due from related parties at December 31, 2023, which includes amounts due from Partners for post-closing cash
requirements in accordance with Partnership agreements. This receivable also includes $0.8 million for a loan made to an entity formed for the benefit of
MSI and with which BRP, Lowry Baldwin, the Company's Chairman, and members of the Company's executive management team have made capital
commitments. Due from related parties is included in prepaid expenses and other current assets on the consolidated balance sheets.

Related party notes payable of $1.5 million at December 31, 2023 and 2022 relate to the settlement of contingent earnout consideration for one of the
Company's Partners.

Commission Revenue

The Company serves as a broker for Holding Company of the Villages, Inc. (“The Villages”), a significant shareholder, and certain affiliated entities.
Commission revenue recorded from transactions with The Villages and affiliated entities was $2.1 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2023
and 2022 and $1.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2021.
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The Company serves as a broker for certain entities in which a member of our board of directors has a material interest. Commission revenue recorded
from transactions with these entities was $0.3 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

Commissions and Consulting Expense

Two brothers of Lowry Baldwin, the Company's Chairman, collectively received producer commissions from the Company comprising approximately $0.6
million during each of the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

The Company had a consulting agreement with Accenture, with which an independent member of our board of directors holds an executive leadership
position. Consulting expense recorded as a result of this transaction was $0.4 million and $1.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

Rent Expense

The Company has various agreements to lease office space from wholly-owned subsidiaries of The Villages. Rent expense ranges from approximately
$3,000 to $12,000 per month, per lease. Lease agreements expire on various dates through December 2027. Total rent expense incurred with respect to The
Villages and its wholly-owned subsidiaries was approximately $0.4 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and $0.5 million for
the year ended December 31, 2021. Total right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities included on the Company's balance sheets relating to these lease
agreements were $1.4 million each at December 31, 2023 and $1.7 million each at December 31, 2022.

The Company has various agreements to lease office space from other related parties. Rent expense ranges from approximately $1,000 to $59,000 per
month, per lease. Lease agreements expire on various dates through December 2030. Total rent expense incurred with respect to other related parties was
approximately $3.9 million, $3.8 million and $2.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Total right-of-use assets
and operating lease liabilities included on the Company's balance sheets relating to these lease agreements were $12.9 million and $13.4 million,
respectively, at December 31, 2023 and $15.0 million and $15.4 million, respectively, at December 31, 2022.

Other

Lowry Baldwin, the Company's Chairman, paid $0.3 million of BRP's commitment to the University of South Florida (“USF”) during each of the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. Refer to Note 20 for additional information regarding this commitment.

15. Share-Based Compensation

Omnibus Incentive Plan and Partnership Inducement Award Plan

On October 24, 2019, the Company adopted the BRP Group, Inc. Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “Omnibus Plan”) and on November 27, 2020, the Company
adopted the BRP Group, Inc. Partnership Inducement Award Plan (the “Inducement Plan” and collectively with the Omnibus Plan, the “Plans”) to motivate
and reward Colleagues and certain other individuals to perform at the highest level and contribute significantly to the Company’s success, thereby
furthering the best interests of BRP Group’s stockholders. The Plans permit the grant of both nonqualified and incentive stock options, stock appreciation
rights, restricted stock awards (“RSAs”), restricted stock unit awards (“RSUs”), other performance awards (including performance-based RSUs (“PSUs”)
issued in connection with the Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) for executives), cash-based awards and share-based awards to the Company’s directors,
officers, Colleagues and, solely with respect to the Omnibus Plan, consultants. The aggregate value of all compensation paid to a non-employee director
under the Omnibus Plan in any calendar year may not exceed $250,000 and awards granted under the Inducement Plan require a minimum vesting period
of one year.

The Plans are administered by the Compensation Committee, the members of which are independent members of the board of directors. The Compensation
Committee assesses issuances under the Plans in the context of the Company's fully-diluted capital composition, which includes shares of Class A common
stock and Class B common stock.

The total number of shares of Class A common stock authorized for issuance under the Omnibus Plan and Inducement Plan was 8,461,907 and 3,000,000,
respectively, at December 31, 2023. Under the Omnibus Plan, the number of shares of Class A common stock reserved for issuance will increase on the
first day of each fiscal year by the lesser of (i) 2% of the aggregate shares of Class A and Class B common stock outstanding on the last day of the
immediately preceding fiscal year and (ii) such number of shares as determined by the Company’s board of directors. In accordance therewith, the number
of authorized shares of Class A common stock reserved for issuance under the Omnibus Plan increased by 2,331,128 shares effective January 1, 2024.
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At December 31, 2023, there were 1,385,732 and 1,626,454 shares of Class A common stock available for grant under the Omnibus Plan and Inducement
Plan, respectively. The Company issues new shares of Class A common stock upon the grant of RSAs and the vesting of PSUs. During the year ended
December 31, 2023, the Company made awards of RSAs, PSUs and fully-vested shares under the Plans to its non-employee directors, officers, Colleagues
and consultants. Fully-vested shares issued to directors, officers and Colleagues during the year ended December 31, 2023 were vested upon issuance while
RSAs issued to Colleagues and consultants generally either cliff vest after three to four years or vest ratably over three to five years. The vesting of RSAs
and PSUs issued to the Company's executive officers is discussed below under Long-Term Incentive Plan.

The following table summarizes the activity for awards granted by the Company under the Plans:

Shares

Weighted-Average
Grant-Date Fair Value

Per Share

Non-vested awards outstanding at December 31, 2020 826,027  $ 15.92 
Granted 2,758,207  31.72 
Vested and settled (279,494) 21.33 
Forfeited (89,009) 22.25 

Non-vested awards outstanding at December 31, 2021 3,215,731  28.83 
Granted 1,258,300  26.58 
Vested and settled (756,655) 28.24 
Forfeited (122,073) 26.75 

Non-vested awards outstanding at December 31, 2022 3,595,303  28.26 
Granted 1,855,051  28.97 
Vested and settled (1,541,042) 25.93 
Forfeited (387,722) 32.17 

Non-vested awards outstanding at December 31, 2023 3,521,590  29.22 
Non-vested awards outstanding at December 31, 2023 that are expected to vest 2,888,235  29.68 

The total fair value of shares that vested and settled under the Plans was $40.0 million, $21.4 million and $6.0 million for the years ended December 31,
2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Non-vested awards outstanding at December 31, 2023 include 596,272 PSUs expected to vest, which have an aggregate
intrinsic value of $14.3 million and a weighted-average remaining contractual term of 1.6 years.

Share-based compensation is recognized ratably over the vesting period of the respective awards and includes expense related to issuances under the Plans,
MIU Conversion LLC Units (defined below) and, prior to 2023, advisor incentive awards. Share-based compensation also includes the portion of annual
bonuses that are payable in fully-vested shares of Class A common stock. The Company recognizes share-based compensation expense for the Plans net of
actual forfeitures. The Company recorded share-based compensation expense of $56.2 million, $47.4 million and $19.2 million for the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Shared-based compensation expense is included in commissions, employee compensation and benefits
expense in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. The Company had $64.0 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-
vested shares at December 31, 2023, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.0 years.

Long-Term Incentive Plan

During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, the Compensation Committee awarded the Company’s executive officers incentive
compensation awards under the LTIP consisting of (i) PSUs with an aggregate target grant date value of $7.6 million, $5.1 million and $3.1 million,
respectively, and (ii) RSAs with an aggregate grant date value of $0.4 million, $1.5 million and $1.0 million, respectively. The incentive compensation
awards granted during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 have an aggregate maximum value of $25.9 million, $14.2 million and $8.8
million, respectively.
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As part of the adoption of the LTIP each year, the Compensation Committee approves the form of PSU award agreement (the “Form PSU Award
Agreement”) under the Omnibus Plan in connection with the granting of PSUs to its executive officers. The Form PSU Award Agreement provides for the
granting of PSUs, which generally vest in the quarter following the end of a performance period of three years. The number of PSUs, if any, that will
actually be earned pursuant to a PSU award will depend on the level of performance achieved with respect to applicable performance goals during the
applicable performance period. The RSAs vest in equal annual installments over five years.

Valuation Assumptions

The fair value of PSUs with market conditions was estimated on the grant date using a Monte Carlo analysis to model the value of the PSUs using the
following assumptions. Expected volatility is based on an average of implied volatility on the valuation date and the one-year historical volatility of BRP
Group and publicly-traded companies within a peer group and the Russell 3000 Index. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury rates in
effect at the time of the grant. Expected term is based on the remaining measurement period of the awards at the grant date. The assumptions used in
calculating the fair value of the PSUs with market conditions are set forth in the table below.

For the Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Expected volatility minimum 18 % 19 % 18 %
Expected volatility maximum 364 % 267 % 172 %
Risk-free interest rate 4.41 % 2.00 % 0.27 %
Expected term 2.9 years 2.8 years 2.7 years

Management Incentive Units

Management Incentive Units (“MIUs”) were non-voting units issued to certain senior management prior to October 2019. In connection with the
Company's initial public offering in October 2019, all remaining MIUs were converted to restricted LLC Units (and corresponding shares of Class B
common stock) (“MIU Conversion LLC Units”) that contained identical vesting conditions to the original MIU issuances. As such, no MIUs remain issued
and outstanding.

The non-vested MIU Conversion LLC Units vested according to time-based benchmarks through 2023. There were 429,747, 450,744 and 467,237 MIU
Conversion LLC Units that vested during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

16. Retirement Plan

The Company sponsors a 401(k) retirement plan for Colleagues who meet specific age and service requirements. This plan allows for participants to make
salary deferral contributions. Employer matching and profit-sharing contributions to this plan are discretionary. Company contributions were $16.9 million,
$11.4 million and $5.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

17. Income Taxes

BRP Group is the sole managing member of BRP, which is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal, state and local income tax purposes. As a partnership,
BRP is not subject to U.S. federal and certain state and local income taxes. Any taxable income or loss generated by BRP is passed through to and included
in the taxable income or loss of its partners, including BRP Group, on a pro rata basis. BRP Group is subject to U.S. federal income taxes, in addition to
state and local income taxes, with respect to BRP Group’s allocable share of income of BRP.
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Components of income tax expense include the following:

For the Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021

Current
Federal $ 75  $ 18  $ 11 
State and local 1,250  693  3 

Total current income tax expense 1,325  711  14 
Deferred

Federal (40) (2) 4 
State and local —  6  1 

Total deferred income tax expense (40) 4  5 
Total income tax expense $ 1,285  $ 715  $ 19 

Income tax expense at the Company’s effective tax rate differed from the statutory tax rate as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2021

Loss before income taxes $ (162,734) $ (76,033) $ (58,101)

Noncontrolling interest 18,357  9,415  7,072 
Tax provision at statutory rate (21%) (34,593) (15,966) (12,201)
Effect of:

Valuation allowance 20,574  8,787  6,942 
State and local income tax (5,799) (2,659) (2,403)
Meals and entertainment 1,134  291  86 
IRC 162(m) 987  152  435 
Share-based compensation 778  124  (467)
State rate change (479) 824  (12)
True-up and adjustments 128  (502) 3 
MIU issuance 67  187  452 
Other 131  62  112 

Total income tax expense $ 1,285  $ 715  $ 19 

The following table summarizes the components of deferred tax assets and liabilities:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022

Deferred tax assets
Investment in Partnerships $ 105,398  $ 86,871 
163(j) limitation carryforward 22,313  8,119 
Net operating loss 9,719  6,313 
Capitalized transaction costs 1,955  2,147 
Charitable contributions 757  442 

Total deferred tax assets 140,142  103,892 
Less: valuation allowance (140,142) (103,892)

Net deferred tax assets $ —  $ — 
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Deferred tax balances reflect the impact of temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities and their tax basis and are stated at
the tax rates in effect when the temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The Company assessed the future realization of the tax benefit
of its existing deferred tax assets and concluded that it is more likely than not that all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized in the future. As a result,
the Company recorded a valuation allowance of $140.1 million and $103.9 million against its deferred tax assets at December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company has not recognized any uncertain tax positions, penalties, or interest as management has concluded that no such
positions exist. The Company is subject to federal examination for tax years beginning with the year ended December 31, 2020 and state examination for
tax years beginning with the year ended December 31, 2019. One of the Company's subsidiaries is currently under audit with the IRS for the year ended
December 31, 2020. The Company is not under audit for other taxable entities, jurisdictions or tax years. In addition, all of our federal net operating losses
and 163(j) interest expense limitations can be carried forward indefinitely while our state net operating losses will begin to expire in 2039.

Tax Receivable Agreement

BRP makes an election under Section 754 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the regulations thereunder (the “Code”) effective for
each taxable year in which a redemption or exchange of LLC Units and corresponding Class B common stock for shares of Class A common stock occurs.
Exchanges result in tax basis adjustments to the assets of BRP, which produce favorable tax attributes and reduce the amount of tax that BRP Group is
required to pay. The Company has determined that it is more likely than not that these benefits will not be realized.

BRP Group is a party to the Tax Receivable Agreement with BRP’s LLC Members that provides for the payment by BRP Group to BRP’s LLC Members
of 85% of the amount of cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state and local income tax or franchise tax that BRP Group actually realizes as a result of (i)
any increase in tax basis in BRP assets resulting from (a) previous acquisitions by BRP Group of LLC Units from BRP’s LLC Members, (b) the acquisition
of LLC Units from BRP’s LLC Members using the net proceeds from any future offering, (c) redemptions or exchanges by BRP’s LLC Members of LLC
Units and the corresponding number of shares of Class B common stock for shares of Class A common stock or cash or (d) payments under the Tax
Receivable Agreement, and (ii) tax benefits related to imputed interest resulting from payments made under the Tax Receivable Agreement.

This payment obligation is an obligation of BRP Group and not of BRP. For purposes of the Tax Receivable Agreement, the cash tax savings in income tax
will be computed by comparing the actual income tax liability of BRP Group (calculated with certain assumptions) to the amount of such taxes that BRP
Group would have been required to pay had there been no increase to the tax basis of the assets of BRP as a result of the redemptions or exchanges and had
BRP Group not entered into the Tax Receivable Agreement. Estimating the amount of payments that may be made under the Tax Receivable Agreement is
by its nature imprecise, insofar as the calculation of amounts payable depends on a variety of factors. While the actual increase in tax basis, as well as the
amount and timing of any payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement, will vary depending upon a number of factors, including the timing of
redemptions or exchanges, the price of shares of our Class A common stock at the time of the redemption or exchange, the extent to which such
redemptions or exchanges are taxable and the amount and timing of our income. The Company accounts for the effects of these increases in tax basis and
associated payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement arising from future redemptions or exchanges as follows:

• records an increase in deferred tax assets for the estimated income tax effects of the increases in tax basis based on enacted federal and state tax
rates at the date of the redemption or exchange;

• to the extent it is estimated that the Company will not realize the full benefit represented by the deferred tax asset, based on an analysis that will
consider, among other things, our expectation of future earnings, the Company reduces the deferred tax asset with a valuation allowance; and

• records 85% of the estimated realizable tax benefit (which is the recorded deferred tax asset less any recorded valuation allowance) as an increase
to the liability due under the Tax Receivable Agreement and the remaining 15% of the estimated realizable tax benefit as an increase to additional
paid-in capital.

All of the effects of changes in any of our estimates after the date of the redemption or exchange will be included in net income. Similarly, the effect of
subsequent changes in the enacted tax rates will be included in net income.

18. Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) attributable to BRP Group by the weighted-average number of shares of Class A
common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is computed giving effect to all potentially dilutive shares of common stock.
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The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted loss per share:

For the Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands, except per share data) 2023 2022 2021

Basic and diluted loss per share:
Loss attributable to BRP Group $ (90,141) $ (41,772) $ (30,646)
Shares used for basic and diluted loss per share:

Basic and diluted weighted-average shares of Class A common stock outstanding 60,135  56,825  47,588 
Basic and diluted loss per share $ (1.50) $ (0.74) $ (0.64)

Potentially dilutive securities consist of unvested stock awards, including RSAs and PSUs, in addition to shares of Class B common stock, which can be
exchanged (together with a corresponding number of LLC Units) for shares of Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis. The following potentially
dilutive securities were excluded from the Company's diluted weighted-average number of shares outstanding calculation for the periods presented as their
inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.

For the Years Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Unvested RSAs and PSUs 3,874,639  3,595,303  3,119,909 
Shares of Class B common stock 53,132,031  54,504,918  56,338,051 

The shares of Class B common stock do not share in the earnings or losses attributable to BRP Group, and therefore, are not participating securities.
Accordingly, a separate presentation of basic and diluted earnings per share of Class B common stock under the two-class method has not been included.

19. Fair Value Measurements

ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurement (“Topic 820”) established a framework for measuring fair value. That framework provides a fair value hierarchy
that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurement) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurement). The three levels of
the fair value hierarchy under Topic 820 are described below:

Level 1:    Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the Company has the
ability to access.

Level 2:    Inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted market prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar
instruments in markets that are not active, and model-based valuation techniques for which all significant assumptions are observable in the
market.

Level 3:    Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value measurement.

The fair value measurement level for assets and liabilities within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the
fair value measurement. Valuation techniques used need to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.
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Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The following table summarizes the Company’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis within each level of the fair value
hierarchy:

December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022

Level 2
Interest rate caps $ 2,562  $ 15,150 

Level 2 Assets $ 2,562  $ 15,150 
Level 3

Contingent earnout liabilities $ 276,467  $ 266,936 
Level 3 Liabilities $ 276,467  $ 266,936 

The fair value of interest rate caps is determined using the market standard methodology of discounting the future expected cash receipts that would occur
if variable interest rates rise above the strike rate of the caps. The variable interest rates used in the calculation of projected receipts on the caps are based
on an expectation of future interest rates derived from observable market interest rate curves and volatilities.

Methodologies used for liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy at December 31, 2023 and 2022 are
based on limited unobservable inputs. These methods may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of the net realizable value or
reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, while the Company believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market
participants, the use of methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a different fair value
measurement at the reporting date.

The fair value of contingent earnout liabilities is based on sales projections for the acquired entities, which are reassessed each reporting period. Based on
the Company’s ongoing assessment of the fair value of its contingent earnout liabilities, the Company recorded a net increase in the estimated fair value of
such liabilities of $61.1 million, $32.3 million and $45.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The Company has
assessed the maximum estimated exposure to the contingent earnout liabilities to be $607.4 million at December 31, 2023.

The Company measures contingent earnout liabilities at fair value each reporting period using significant unobservable inputs classified within Level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy. The Company uses a probability weighted value analysis as a valuation technique to convert future estimated cash flows to a single
present value amount. The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurements are sales projections over the earnout period, and the
probability outcome percentages assigned to each scenario. Significant increases or decreases to either of these inputs would result in a significantly higher
or lower liability with a higher liability capped by the contractual maximum of the contingent earnout liabilities. Ultimately, the liability will be equivalent
to the amount settled, and the difference between the fair value estimate and amount settled will be recorded in earnings for business combinations, or as a
change in the cost of the assets acquired for asset acquisitions.

The fair value of the contingent earnout liabilities is based on Monte Carlo simulations that measure the present value of the expected future payments to be
made to Partners in accordance with the provisions outlined in the respective purchase agreements, which is a Level 3 fair value measurement. In
determining fair value, the Company estimates the Partner’s future performance using financial projections developed by management for the Partner and
market participant assumptions that were derived for revenue growth, the number of rental units tracked or the insured value of sourced homeowners
insurance. Revenue growth rates generally ranged from 10% to 35% at December 31, 2023 and from 8% to 35% at December 31, 2022. The Company
estimates future payments using the earnout formula and performance targets specified in each purchase agreement and these financial projections. These
payments are discounted to present value using a risk-adjusted rate that takes into consideration market-based rates of return that reflect the ability of the
Partner to achieve the targets. These discount rates generally ranged from 7.50% to 13.75% at December 31, 2023 and from 6.50% to 18.00% at
December 31, 2022. Changes in financial projections, market participant assumptions for revenue growth, or the risk-adjusted discount rate, would result in
a change in the fair value of contingent consideration.
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The following table sets forth a summary of the changes in the fair value of the Company’s contingent earnout liabilities, which are measured at fair value
on a recurring basis utilizing Level 3 assumptions in their valuation:

For the Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2023 2022

Balance at beginning of year $ 266,936  $ 258,589 
Change in fair value of contingent consideration 61,083  32,307 
Fair value of contingent consideration issuances 723  14,918 
Settlement of contingent consideration (52,275) (38,878)

Balance at end of year $ 276,467  $ 266,936 

__________
(1)    The Company reclassified $8.5 million of its contingent earnout liabilities through the issuance of an incentive bonus during the year ended December 31, 2023, which

results in a reduction to the change in fair value of contingent consideration and an increase to commissions, employee compensation and benefits expense in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. The incentive bonus that remains unpaid at the end of the year is reflected as an earnout incentive bonus in Note 10.

(2)    The Company settled $2.1 million and $61.5 million of its contingent earnout liabilities through the issuance of related party notes payable and reduction of related
party notes receivable during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, the latter of which was included as payments of contingent earnout
consideration in the consolidated statements of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2022 when the related party notes payable were paid.

Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities Not Measured at Fair Value

The fair value of long-term debt and the revolving line of credit is based on an estimate using a discounted cash flow analysis and current borrowing rates
for similar types of borrowing arrangements. The carrying amount and estimated fair value of long-term debt and the revolving line of credit were as
follows:

Fair Value
Hierarchy

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

(in thousands) Carrying Amount
Estimated Fair

Value Carrying Amount
Estimated Fair

Value

Long-term debt Level 2 $ 998,737  $ 997,489  $ 838,114  $ 816,155 
Revolving line of credit Level 2 341,000  335,963  505,000  476,304 
__________
(1)    The carrying amount of long-term debt reflects outstanding borrowings on the Term Loan B, which are presented net of unamortized debt discount and issuance costs of

$20.3 million and $19.7 million at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, on the consolidated balance sheets.

20. Commitments and Contingencies

As of December 31, 2023, BRP has a remaining commitment to USF to donate $4.2 million through October 2028. The gift will provide support for the
School of Risk Management and Insurance in the USF Muma College of Business. It is currently anticipated that Lowry Baldwin, the Company's
Chairman, will fund half of the amounts to be donated by BRP.

Legal

The Company is involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. A liability is recorded when a loss is considered
probable and is reasonably estimable in accordance with GAAP. In the opinion of management, the ultimate resolution of these matters will not have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

(1)

(2)

(1)
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21. Segment Information

The Company completed a strategic review of its organizational structure in January 2023 and determined that the chief operating decision-maker, the chief
executive officer, would change the way he manages and operates the Company’s Mainstreet and Medicare businesses. Effective in the first quarter of
2023, the chief executive officer reviews the Medicare and Mainstreet businesses on a combined basis as one operating segment, also determined to be an
Operating Group, Mainstreet Insurance Solutions, which is used by the chief executive officer to make decisions about the resources to be allocated to the
Operating Group and to assess its performance. In addition, the Middle Market and Specialty Operating Groups were rebranded as Insurance Advisory
Solutions and Underwriting, Capacity & Technology Solutions, respectively, effective in the first quarter of 2023.

Effective in the first quarter of 2023, BRP Group’s business is divided into three Operating Groups: Insurance Advisory Solutions, Underwriting, Capacity
& Technology Solutions and Mainstreet Insurance Solutions.

• The Insurance Advisory Solutions (“IAS”) Operating Group provides expertly-designed commercial risk management, employee benefits and
private risk management solutions for businesses and high-net-worth individuals, as well as their families, through our national footprint which
has assimilated some of the highest quality independent insurance brokers in the country with vast and varied strategic capabilities and expertise.

• The Underwriting, Capacity & Technology Solutions (“UCTS”) Operating Group consists of three distinct businesses—our specialty wholesale
broker business, our MGA of the Future platform and, as of the third quarter of 2023, our newly launched reinsurance brokerage business, Juniper
Re. Our specialty wholesale broker business delivers professionals, individuals and niche industry businesses expanded access to exclusive
specialty markets, capabilities and programs requiring complex underwriting and placement. Through its MGA of the Future platform, the
Company manufactures proprietary, technology-enabled insurance products that are then distributed (in many instances via technology and/or API
integrations) internally via Risk Advisors across its other Operating Groups and externally via select distribution partners, with a focus on
sheltered channels where our products deliver speed, ease of use and certainty of execution, an example of which is the national embedded renters
insurance product sold at point of lease via integrations with property management software providers.

• The Mainstreet Insurance Solutions (“MIS”) Operating Group offers personal insurance, commercial insurance and life and health solutions to
individuals and businesses in their communities, with a focus on accessing Clients via sheltered distribution channels, which include, but are not
limited to, new home builders, realtors, mortgage originators/lenders, master planned communities, and various other community centers of
influence. The MIS Operating Group also offers consultation for government assistance programs and solutions, including traditional Medicare,
Medicare Advantage and Affordable Care Act, to seniors and eligible individuals through a network of primarily independent contractor agents.

In all its Operating Groups, the Company generates commissions from insurance placement under both agency bill and direct bill arrangements, and profit-
sharing income based on either the underlying book of business or performance, such as loss ratios. All Operating Groups also generate other ancillary
income and premium financing income.

In the IAS and UCTS Operating Groups, the Company generates fees from service fee and consulting arrangements. Service fee arrangements are in place
with certain Clients for providing insurance placement services.

In the UCTS Operating Group, the Company generates fees from policy fee and installment fee arrangements. Policy fee revenue is earned for acting in the
capacity of an MGA and providing payment processing services and other administrative functions on behalf of Insurance Company Partners.

In the MIS Operating Group, the Company generates commissions and fees from marketing income, which is earned through co-branded Medicare
marketing campaigns with the Company’s Insurance Company Partners.

In addition, the Company generates investment income in the IAS and UCTS Operating Groups and the Corporate and Other non-reportable segment.

The Company’s chief operating decision maker, the chief executive officer, uses net income (loss) and net income (loss) before interest, taxes, depreciation,
amortization, and one-time transactional-related expenses or non-recurring items to manage resources and make decisions about the business.
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Summarized financial information regarding the Company’s Operating Groups is shown in the following tables. The Corporate and Other non-reportable
segment includes any expenses not allocated to the Operating Groups and corporate-related items, including interest expense. Intersegment revenue and
expenses are eliminated through Corporate and Other. Service center expenses and other overhead are allocated to the Company’s Operating Groups based
on either revenue or headcount as applicable to each expense.

For the Year Ended December 31, 2023

(in thousands)
Insurance Advisory

Solutions

Underwriting,
Capacity &
Technology
Solutions

 Mainstreet
Insurance Solutions

 Corporate
and Other  Total

Revenues:
Commissions and fees $ 626,828  $ 418,014  $ 234,697  $ (67,711) $ 1,211,828 
Investment income 3,637  2,135  —  955  6,727 

Total revenues 630,465  420,149  234,697  (66,756) 1,218,555 

Operating expenses:
Commissions, employee compensation and benefits 433,596  311,708  148,240  17,810  911,354 
Other operating expenses 79,100  44,663  31,698  34,806  190,267 
Amortization expense 51,568  18,188  22,848  100  92,704 
Change in fair value of contingent consideration 41,481  17,755  1,847  —  61,083 
Depreciation expense 1,462  705  570  2,961  5,698 

Total operating expenses 607,207  393,019  205,203  55,677  1,261,106 

Operating income (loss) 23,258  27,130  29,494  (122,433) (42,551)

Other income (expense):
Interest income (expense), net 157  —  30  (119,652) (119,465)
Other income (expense), net (263) 1,148  —  (1,603) (718)

Total other income (expense) (106) 1,148  30  (121,255) (120,183)

Income (loss) before income taxes 23,152  28,278  29,524  (243,688) (162,734)
Income tax expense 13  —  102  1,170  1,285 

Net income (loss) $ 23,139  $ 28,278  $ 29,422  $ (244,858) $ (164,019)

Capital expenditures $ 1,330  $ 7,571  $ 3,482  $ 8,993  $ 21,376 
At December 31, 2023

Total assets $ 2,250,545  $ 688,588  $ 518,593  $ 44,211  $ 3,501,937 

__________
(1)    During the year ended December 31, 2023, the UCTS Operating Group recorded intercompany commissions and fees of $65.9 million and the MIS Operating Group

recorded intercompany commissions and fees of $1.8 million. Intercompany commissions and fees and intercompany commission expense are eliminated through
Corporate and Other.

(1)

(1)
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

(in thousands)
Insurance Advisory

Solutions

Underwriting,
Capacity &
Technology
Solutions

 Mainstreet
Insurance Solutions

 Corporate
and Other  Total

Revenues:
Commissions and fees $ 558,776  $ 307,748  $ 157,038  $ (42,842) $ 980,720 

Total revenues 558,776  307,748  157,038  (42,842) 980,720 

Operating expenses:
Commissions, employee compensation and benefits 385,492  218,859  97,732  17,362  719,445 
Other operating expenses 73,638  31,313  25,702  43,055  173,708 
Amortization expense 50,209  16,946  14,578  5  81,738 
Change in fair value of contingent consideration 26,429  5,354  524  —  32,307 
Depreciation expense 1,476  615  278  2,251  4,620 

Total operating expenses 537,244  273,087  138,814  62,673  1,011,818 

Operating income (loss) 21,532  34,661  18,224  (105,515) (31,098)

Other income (expense):
Interest income (expense), net 232  —  30  (71,334) (71,072)
Other income (expense), net 265  (371) (2) 26,245  26,137 

Total other income (expense) 497  (371) 28  (45,089) (44,935)

Income (loss) before income taxes 22,029  34,290  18,252  (150,604) (76,033)
Income tax expense —  —  —  715  715 

Net income (loss) $ 22,029  $ 34,290  $ 18,252  $ (151,319) $ (76,748)

Capital expenditures $ 1,738  $ 5,655  $ 3,018  $ 11,568  $ 21,979 
At December 31, 2022

Total assets $ 2,240,483  $ 616,117  $ 530,504  $ 75,078  $ 3,462,182 

__________
(1)    During the year ended December 31, 2022, the IAS Operating Group recorded intercompany commissions and fees of $1.7 million; the UCTS Operating Group

recorded intercompany commissions and fees of $39.2 million; and the MIS Operating Group recorded intercompany commissions and fees of $1.9 million.
Intercompany commissions and fees and intercompany commission expense are eliminated through Corporate and Other.

(1)

(1)
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2021

(in thousands)
Insurance Advisory

Solutions

Underwriting,
Capacity &
Technology
Solutions

 Mainstreet
Insurance Solutions

 Corporate
and Other  Total

Revenues:
Commissions and fees $ 363,822  $ 144,455  $ 61,736  $ (2,723) $ 567,290 

Total revenues 363,822  144,455  61,736  (2,723) 567,290 

Operating expenses:
Commissions, employee compensation and benefits 234,652  102,824  39,193  23,381  400,050 
Other operating expenses 50,037  13,716  10,259  28,150  102,162 
Amortization expense 34,056  11,326  3,333  5  48,720 
Change in fair value of contingent consideration 32,735  11,881  580  —  45,196 
Depreciation expense 1,483  184  345  776  2,788 

Total operating expenses 352,963  139,931  53,710  52,312  598,916 

Operating income (loss) 10,859  4,524  8,026  (55,035) (31,626)

Other income (expense):
Interest income (expense), net (150) (2) 1  (26,748) (26,899)
Other income (expense), net 573  (38) (4) (107) 424 

Total other income (expense) 423  (40) (3) (26,855) (26,475)

Income (loss) before taxes 11,282  4,484  8,023  (81,890) (58,101)
Income tax expense —  —  —  19  19 

Net income (loss) $ 11,282  $ 4,484  $ 8,023  $ (81,909) $ (58,120)

Capital expenditures $ 949  $ 590  $ 191  $ 3,591  $ 5,321 

__________
(1)    During the year ended December 31, 2021, the IAS Operating Group recorded intercompany commissions and fees of $1.5 million; the UCTS Operating Group

recorded intercompany commissions and fees of $0.2 million; and the MIS Operating Group recorded intercompany commissions and fees of $1.1 million.
Intercompany commissions and fees and intercompany commission expense are eliminated through Corporate and Other.

22. Subsequent Events

On January 26, 2024, the Company signed a definitive agreement for the sale of its specialty wholesale broker business for proceeds of approximately
$58.9 million. The transaction is expected to close on March 1, 2024, subject to customary closing conditions. The Company has not yet completed a
determination of the gain or loss to be recognized from this transaction. Refer to Note 3 for additional information on the specialty wholesale broker
business, the assets and liabilities of which were classified as held for sale as of December 31, 2023.

On January 30, 2024, the Company accelerated settlement of Brush Creek Partners' contingent earnout and entered into notes payable agreements with each
of Brush Creek Partners' stockholders for a combined principal amount of $8.2 million. The related party notes are payable as follows: (i) $2.05 million is
payable within 30 days of the date of the agreement, and (ii) $6.15 million is payable on February 28, 2025.

On January 1, 2024, the Company's FounderShield Partner moved from the UCTS Operating Group to the IAS Operating Group. As of December 31,
2023, this realignment has not yet been reflected within the Company's financial statements. Quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for the 2024 periods will
include a revision of the UCTS and IAS Operating Groups and corresponding information for prior periods will be retrospectively revised to reflect this
change.

(1)

(1)
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act as of the end
of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)
under the Exchange Act, means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a
company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified
in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company’s
management, including its principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving
their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on
this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at a
reasonable assurance level as of December 31, 2023.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)
under the Exchange Act.

Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of our consolidated financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Management’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our
assets, (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management,
acting under authority delegated to them by our board of directors, and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on our financial statements.

Management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2023. In making this assessment, management used the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
(2013) set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). Based on this assessment, management has
concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2023 to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which is included in the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm section under
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2023, which were identified in
connection with management’s evaluation required by paragraph (d) of Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Exchange Act, that materially affected, or that
are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

On February 27, 2024, the Compensation Committee of the Company’s board of directors approved a one-time $750,000 promotion bonus payment to Mr.
Daniel Galbraith, President, BRP and CEO, Retail Brokerage Operations. If, before February 27, 2025, Mr. Galbraith’s employment is terminated (i) by the
Company for Cause or (ii) by Mr. Galbraith without Good Reason, Mr. Galbraith will be required to repay a portion of the promotion bonus payment, pro-
rated based on the proportionate number of days served in his role prior to the termination of his employment with the Company in relation to the one-year
period ending on February 27, 2025. The terms “Cause” and “Good Reason” are defined by reference in the Summary of Mr. Galbraith's One-Time
Promotion Bonus Payment, which is filed as Exhibit 10.3 to this Annual Report on 10-K.

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

None.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation
14A within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all employees, including executive officers, and to directors. The Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics is available on the Governance Overview page of our investor relations website at ir.baldwinriskpartners.com. Any approved
amendments to, or waiver of, any provision of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics will be posted on our investor relations website at the
aforementioned address.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation
14A within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation
14A within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation
14A within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation
14A within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(1)    Consolidated financial statements: Refer to Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(2)    Consolidated financial statement schedules. All schedules are omitted for the reason that the information is included in the consolidated financial
statements or the notes thereto or that they are not required or are not applicable.

(3)    Exhibits: The exhibits listed in the accompanying index are filed, furnished or incorporated by reference as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Exhibit No. Description of Exhibit

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of BRP Group, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 31, 2019).

3.2 Certificate of Amendment to the Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated herein by reference
to Exhibit 3.1 of the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 15,
2020).

3.3 Amended and Restated By-Laws of BRP Group, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 31, 2019).

3.4 First Amendment to Amended and Restated By-Laws of BRP Group, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.4 of the
registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 9, 2023).

4.1* Description of Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Amended.
10.1† Employment Agreement, dated as of October 28, 2019, between Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC and Trevor L. Baldwin (incorporated

herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on March 24, 2020).

10.2† Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of October 28, 2019, between Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC and Daniel
Galbraith (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 22, 2020).

10.3†* Summary of Mr. Galbraith's One-Time Promotion Bonus Payment
10.4† Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of October 28, 2019, between Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC and Bradford

Hale (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2022).

10.5† Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of March 23, 2020, between Baldwin Risk Partners,
LLC and Bradford Hale (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2022).

10.6† Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2021, between Baldwin Risk Partners,
LLC and Bradford Hale (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2022).

10.7† Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of October 28, 2019, between Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC and Kris
Wiebeck (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 24, 2020).

10.8† Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2021, between Baldwin Risk Partners,
LLC and Kris Wiebeck (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 1, 2022).

10.9†* Retirement Agreement & General Release, dated as of November 3, 2023, between Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC, BRP Colleague
Inc. and Kris Wiebeck.
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Exhibit No. Description of Exhibit

10.10† Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of October 28, 2019, between Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC and John
Valentine (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 24, 2020).

10.11†* Retirement Agreement & General Release, dated as of November 3, 2023, between Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC, BRP Colleague
Inc. and John Valentine.

10.12† BRP Group, Inc. Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of the registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 23, 2019).

10.13† Form of BRP Group, Inc. Omnibus Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Award Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
10.7 of the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 23,
2019).

10.14† Form of Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC Restricted Unit Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of the
registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 23, 2019).

10.15† Form of BRP Group, Inc. Omnibus Incentive Plan Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on May 6, 2021).

10.16† BRP Group, Inc. Partnership Inducement Award Plan (as amended November 16, 2021) (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
99 of the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-261126) filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on November 16, 2021).

10.17 Third Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC, dated as of October 7, 2019,
by and among Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC and its members (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of the registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 24, 2020).

10.18 First Amendment to the Third Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC, dated
as of November 3, 2020, by and among Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC and its members (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
10.15 of the registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 28, 2023).

10.19† Form of Director and Executive Officer Indemnification Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of the
registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 23, 2019).

10.20 Stockholders Agreement, dated as of October 28, 2019, by and among BRP Group, Inc. and the other persons and entities party
thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on October 31, 2019).

10.21 Consent and Defense Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 9, 2023).

10.22 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of October 28, 2019, by and among BRP Group, Inc. and the other persons and entities
party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on October 31, 2019).

10.23 Tax Receivable Agreement, dated as of October 28, 2019, by and among BRP Group, Inc., Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC and each of
the other persons and entities party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 31, 2019).

10.24 Credit Agreement, dated as of October 14, 2020, by and among Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company,
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as the Administrative Agent, the Guarantors party thereto, the Lenders party thereto and the Issuing
Lenders party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 15, 2020).

10.25 Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement, dated as of May 7, 2021, by and among Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC, a Delaware limited
liability company, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as the Administrative Agent, the Guarantors party thereto, the Lenders party
thereto and the Issuing Lenders party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the registrant's Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 10, 2021).

10.26 Amendment No. 2 to Credit Agreement, dated as of June 2, 2021, by and among Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC, a Delaware limited
liability company, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as the Administrative Agent, the Guarantors party thereto, the Lenders party
thereto and the Issuing Lenders party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the registrant's Current Report
on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 3, 2021).
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Exhibit No. Description of Exhibit

10.27 Amendment No. 3 to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 6, 2021, by and among Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC, a Delaware limited
liability company, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as the Administrative Agent, the Guarantors party thereto, the Lenders party
thereto and the Issuing Lenders party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 12, 2021).

10.28 Amendment No. 4 to Credit Agreement, dated as of December 16, 2021, by and among Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as the Administrative Agent, the Guarantors party thereto, the Lenders
party thereto and the Issuing Lenders party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 21, 2021).

10.29 Amendment No. 5 to Credit Agreement, dated as of March 28, 2022, by and among Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as the Administrative Agent, the Guarantors party thereto, the Lenders
party thereto and the Issuing Lenders party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 31, 2022).

10.30 Amendment No. 6 to Credit Agreement, dated as of June 27, 2023, by and among Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC, a Delaware limited
liability company, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as the Administrative Agent, the Guarantors party thereto, the Lenders party
thereto and the Issuing Lenders party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant's Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 9, 2023).

10.31 Amendment No. 7 to Credit Agreement, dated as of September 15, 2023, by and among Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as the Administrative Agent, the Guarantors party thereto, the Lenders
party thereto and the Issuing Lenders party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant's Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 19, 2023).

21* List of Subsidiaries of BRP Group, Inc.
23.1* Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
31.1* Certification of the Registrant’s Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
31.2* Certification of the Registrant’s Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
32** Certification of the Registrant’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted

pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
97* BRP Group, Inc. Clawback Policy
101.INS* Inline XBRL Instance Document - the Instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data file because XBRL tags are

embedded within the Inline XBRL document
101.SCH* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

__________
*    Filed herewith
**    Furnished herewith and as such are deemed not “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, nor shall they be deemed incorporated by

reference in any filing under the Securities Act, except as shall be expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing.
†    Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

BRP GROUP, INC.

Date: February 28, 2024 By: /s/ Trevor L. Baldwin
    Trevor L. Baldwin
    Chief Executive Officer
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Pursuant to requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and
in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Lowry Baldwin Chairman of the Board of Directors February 28, 2024
Lowry Baldwin

/s/ Trevor L. Baldwin Chief Executive Officer and Director February 28, 2024
Trevor L. Baldwin (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Bradford L. Hale Chief Financial Officer February 28, 2024
Bradford L. Hale (Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ Corbyn Lichon Chief Accounting Officer February 28, 2024
Corbyn Lichon (Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ Jay Cohen Director February 28, 2024
Jay Cohen

/s/ Joseph J. Kadow Director February 28, 2024
Joseph J. Kadow

/s/ Barbara Matas Director February 28, 2024
Barbara Matas

/s/ Sathish Muthukrishnan Director February 28, 2024
Sathish Muthukrishnan

/s/ Sunita Parasuraman Director February 28, 2024
Sunita Parasuraman

/s/ Ellyn Shook Director February 28, 2024
Ellyn Shook

/s/ Chris Sullivan Director February 28, 2024
Chris Sullivan

/s/ Myron Williams Director February 28, 2024
Myron Williams
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EXHIBIT 4.1

Description of Securities
Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Amended

As of December 31, 2023, BRP Group, Inc. has one class of securities registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”): our Class A common stock, par value $0.01 per share, or the “Class A common stock”.

For purposes of this description, references to “the Company,” “BRP Group,” “us,” “we” or “our” refer to BRP Group, Inc. and not any of its
subsidiaries.

Description of BRP Group Common Stock

The following is a summary of the material terms of our capital stock and the provisions of our Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation, as amended (our “Charter”) and Amended and Restated By-laws (our “By-laws”) and is subject to and qualified in its entirety
by reference to the Charter and By-laws, each of which is incorporated by reference as an exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of
which this exhibit is a part. It also summarizes some relevant provisions of the Delaware General Business Corporation Law, which we refer
to as “Delaware law” or “DGCL” and is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference to the DGCL. Since the terms of our Charter, By-
laws, and Delaware law are more detailed than the general information provided below, you should only rely on the actual provisions of those
documents and Delaware law.

Authorized Capital Stock

Our authorized capital stock consists of 300,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, par value $0.01 per share, 100,000,000 shares of
Class B common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (the “Class B common stock”), and 50,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value
$0.01 per share. Unless our board of directors determines otherwise, we will issue all shares of our capital stock in uncertificated form.

Common Stock

Class A Common Stock

Holders of shares of our Class A common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held of record on all matters on which
stockholders are entitled to vote generally, including the election or removal of directors. The holders of our Class A common stock do not
have cumulative voting rights in the election of directors.

Holders of shares of our Class A common stock are entitled to receive dividends when and if declared by our board of directors out
of funds legally available therefor, subject to any statutory or contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends and to any restrictions on
the payment of dividends imposed by the terms of any outstanding preferred stock.

Upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up and after payment in full of all amounts required to be paid to creditors and to the
holders of preferred stock having liquidation preferences, if any, the holders of shares of our Class A common stock will be entitled to receive
pro rata our remaining assets available for distribution.

All outstanding shares of our Class A common stock are fully paid and non-assessable. The Class A common stock are not subject to
further calls or assessments by us. The rights, powers and privileges of our Class A common stock are subject to those of the holders of any
shares of our preferred stock or any other series or class of stock we may authorize and issue in the future.

Class B Common Stock

Holders of shares of our Class B common stock will vote together with holders of our Class A common stock as a single class on all
matters on which stockholders are entitled to vote generally, except

    



as otherwise required by law. Each share of Class B common stock generally entitles its holder to one vote per share on all matters submitted
to a vote of our stockholders. If at any time the ratio at which membership interests (“LLC Units”) of Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC (“BRP
LLC”) are redeemable or exchangeable for shares of our Class A common stock changes from one-for-one as in accordance with the Third
Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of BRP LLC (as amended, the “Amended LLC Agreement”), the number of
votes to which Class B common stockholders are entitled will be adjusted accordingly. The holders of our Class B common stock do not have
cumulative voting rights in the election of directors.

Holders of our Class B common stock do not have any right to receive dividends or to receive a distribution upon a liquidation or
winding up of BRP Group, Inc.

Transferability, Redemption and Exchange of Class B Shares and LLC Units

There are no limitations in the Amended LLC Agreement on the number of LLC Units issuable in the future by BRP LLC and we are
not required to own a majority of LLC Units outstanding at any time. Under the Amended LLC Agreement, holders of outstanding LLC
Units (the “BRP LLC Members”) have the right (subject to the terms of the Amended LLC Agreement) to require BRP LLC to redeem all or
a portion of their LLC Units for, at our election, newly-issued shares of Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis or a cash payment
equal to the three-day volume weighted average market price of one share of our Class A common stock for each LLC Unit redeemed
(subject in either case to customary adjustments, including for stock splits, stock dividends and reclassifications) in accordance with the
terms of the Amended LLC Agreement. Additionally, in the event of a redemption request by a holder of LLC Units, we may, at our option,
effect a direct exchange of cash or Class A common stock for LLC Units in lieu of such a redemption. Shares of Class B common stock will
be cancelled on a one-for-one basis if we, following a redemption request of a holder of LLC Units, redeem or exchange LLC Units of such
holder of LLC Units pursuant to the terms of the Amended LLC Agreement.

Except for transfers to us pursuant to the Amended LLC Agreement or to certain permitted transferees, BRP LLC Members are not
permitted to sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any LLC Units or shares of Class B common stock.

Certain Provisions of Delaware Law, Our Charter and By-laws, the Stockholders Agreement, the Amended LLC Agreement and the
Voting Agreement Affecting Our Common Stock

Authorized But Unissued Capital Stock

Delaware law does not require stockholder approval for any issuance of authorized shares. However, the listing requirements of the
Nasdaq Global Select Market, which would apply so long as the shares of Class A common stock remains listed on the Nasdaq Global Select
Market, require stockholder approval of certain issuances equal to or exceeding 20% of the then outstanding voting power or the then
outstanding number of shares of Class A common stock (we believe the position of the Nasdaq Global Select Market is that the calculation in
this latter case treats as outstanding shares of Class A common stock issuable upon redemption or exchange of outstanding LLC Units not
held by BRP Group, Inc.). These additional shares of Class A common stock may be used for a variety of corporate purposes, including
future public offerings, to raise additional capital and to facilitate acquisitions.

One of the effects of the existence of unissued and unreserved common stock or preferred stock may be to enable our board of
directors to issue shares to persons friendly to current management, which issuance could render more difficult or discourage an attempt to
obtain control of our company by means of a merger, tender offer, proxy contest or otherwise, and thereby protect the continuity of our
management and possibly deprive the stockholders of opportunities to sell their shares at prices higher than prevailing market prices.

Dividends

The Delaware General Corporation Law, or the DGCL, permits a corporation to declare and pay dividends out of “surplus” or, if
there is no “surplus,” out of its net profits for the fiscal year in which the
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dividend is declared and/or the preceding fiscal year. “Surplus” is defined as the excess of the net assets of the corporation over the amount
determined to be the capital of the corporation by its board of directors. The capital of the corporation is typically calculated to be (and
cannot be less than) the aggregate par value of all issued shares of capital stock. Net assets equals the fair value of the total assets minus total
liabilities. The DGCL also provides that dividends may not be paid out of net profits if, after the payment of the dividend, remaining capital
would be less than the capital represented by the outstanding stock of all classes having a preference upon the distribution of assets.
Declaration and payment of any dividend will be subject to the discretion of our board of directors.

Stockholder Meetings

Our Charter and our By-laws provide that annual stockholder meetings will be held at a date, time and place, if any, as exclusively
selected by our board of directors. Our Charter provides that special meetings of the stockholders may be called only by or at the direction of
the board of directors, the chairman vice chairman of our board of directors or the chief executive officer. To the extent permitted under
applicable law, we may conduct meetings by remote communications, including by webcast.

Other Provisions

Neither the Class A common stock nor the Class B common stock has any preemptive or other subscription rights.

There are no redemption or sinking fund provisions applicable to the Class A common stock or Class B common stock.

At such time when no LLC Units remain redeemable or exchangeable for shares of our Class A common stock, our Class B common
stock will be cancelled.

Corporate Opportunity

Our Charter provides that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the doctrine of “corporate opportunity” will only apply against our
directors and officers and their respective affiliates for competing activities related to insurance brokerage activities.

Anti-Takeover Effects of Our Charter and By-laws

Our Charter and By-laws contain certain provisions that are intended to enhance the likelihood of continuity and stability in the
composition of our board of directors and that may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a future takeover or change in control
of BRP Group unless such takeover or change in control is approved by our board of directors. These provisions include:

No cumulative voting. Under the DGCL, the right to vote cumulatively does not exist unless the certificate of incorporation
specifically authorizes cumulative voting. Our Charter does not authorize cumulative voting. Therefore, stockholders holding a majority in
voting power of the shares of our common stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors will be able to elect all our directors.

Election and removal of directors; staggered board of directors. Our Charter provides that our board shall consist of not less than
three nor more than 13 directors. Our Charter also provides that, subject to the rights granted to one or more series of preferred stock then
outstanding, any vacancies on our board will be filled only by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors, even if less than a
quorum. In addition, our Stockholders Agreement, dated as of October 28, 2019, by and among us and the other persons and entities party
thereto (our “Stockholders Agreement”), provides certain approval rights to the Holders (as defined below) with respect to our board
composition. See “Approval Rights of the Pre-IPO LLC Members under Our Stockholders Agreement.”

In addition, our Charter provides that our board of directors is divided into three classes of directors, with each class as equal in
number as possible, serving staggered three-year terms. Subject to obtaining any required stockholder votes, directors may only be removed
for cause and by the affirmative
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vote of holders of 75% of the total voting power of our outstanding shares of common stock, voting together as a single class. This
requirement of a super-majority vote to remove directors for cause could enable a minority of our stockholders to exercise veto power over
any such removal.

Action by written consent; special meetings of stockholders. Our Charter provides that stockholder action can be taken only at an
annual or special meeting of stockholders and cannot be taken by written consent in lieu of a meeting; provided, that any action required or
permitted to be taken by the holders of the Class B common stock, voting separately as a class, may be effected by the consent in writing of
the holders of a majority of the total voting power of the Class B common stock entitled to vote thereon, voting together as a single class in
lieu of a duly called annual or special meeting of holders of Class B common stock.

Advance notice procedures. Our By-laws establish an advance notice procedure for stockholder proposals to be brought before an
annual meeting of our stockholders, including proposed nominations of persons for election to the board of directors. Stockholders at an
annual meeting will only be able to consider proposals or nominations specified in the notice of meeting or brought before the meeting by or
at the direction of the board of directors or by a stockholder who was a stockholder of record on the record date for the meeting, who is
entitled to vote at the meeting and who has given our Secretary timely written notice, in proper form, of the stockholder’s intention to bring
that business before the meeting. Although our By-laws do not give our board of directors the power to approve or disapprove stockholder
nominations of candidates or proposals regarding other business to be conducted at a special or annual meeting, the By-laws may have the
effect of precluding the conduct of certain business at a meeting if the proper procedures are not followed or may discourage or deter a
potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect its own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of our
company.

Super-majority approval requirements. The DGCL generally provides that the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the
total voting power of the shares entitled to vote on any matter is required to amend a corporation’s certificate of incorporation or by-laws,
unless either a corporation’s certificate of incorporation or by-laws require a greater percentage. Our Charter and By-laws provide that the
affirmative vote of holders of 75% of the total voting power of our outstanding common stock eligible to vote in the election of directors,
voting together as a single class, will be required to amend, alter, change or repeal specified provisions, including those relating to actions by
written consent of stockholders, calling of special meetings of stockholders, election and removal of directors, business combinations and
amendment of our Charter and By-laws. This requirement of a super-majority vote to approve amendments to our Charter and By-laws could
enable a minority of our stockholders to exercise veto power over any such amendments. In addition, our Stockholders Agreement provides
certain approval rights to the Holders with respect to the amendment of our Charter and/or By-laws. See “Approval Rights of the Pre-IPO
LLC Members under Our Stockholders Agreement.”

Business combinations with interested stockholders. In general, Section 203 of the DGCL prohibits a publicly held Delaware
corporation from engaging in a business combination, such as a merger, with a person or group owning 15% or more of the corporation’s
voting stock for a period of three years following the date the person became an interested stockholder, unless (with certain exceptions) the
business combination or the transaction in which the person became an interested stockholder is approved in a prescribed manner. We are
governed by the “business combination” provisions of Section 203 of the DGCL; provided, that it shall only apply to a “person” who is an
“interested stockholder” (each as defined in Section 203 of the DGCL). In addition, our Stockholders Agreement provides certain approval
rights to the Holders with respect to certain transactions including a business combination. See “Approval Rights of the Pre-IPO LLC
Members under Our Stockholders Agreement.”

Approval Rights of the Pre-IPO LLC Members under Our Stockholders Agreement

Pursuant to the terms of the Stockholders Agreement, so long as the owners of membership interests of BRP LLC prior to our initial
public offering, which include: Trevor Baldwin, our Chief Executive Officer; Lowry Baldwin, our Chairman; Baldwin Insurance Group
Holdings, LLC, an entity controlled by Lowry Baldwin; Elizabeth Krystyn, one of our founders; Laura Sherman, one of our
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founders; Daniel Galbraith, President, BRP and CEO, Retail Brokerage Operations; Brad Hale, our Chief Financial Officer; and The Villages
Invesco, LLC, and certain other historical equity holders including equity holders in companies that we have acquired, or in the case of asset
acquisitions, the producers (the “Pre-IPO LLC Members”), and their permitted transferees beneficially hold at least 10% of the aggregate
number of outstanding shares of our common stock (the “Substantial Ownership Requirement”), the Pre-IPO LLC Members and their
permitted transferees (collectively, the “Holders”) have approval rights over certain transactions and actions taken by us and BRP LLC,
including: a merger, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of the assets of BRP LLC and its subsidiaries; any dissolution, liquidation
or reorganization (including filing for bankruptcy) of BRP LLC and its subsidiaries or any acquisition or disposition of any asset for
consideration in excess of 5% of our and our subsidiaries’ total assets on a consolidated basis; the incurrence, guarantee, assumption or
refinancing of indebtedness, or grant of a security interest, in excess of 10% of total assets (or that would cause aggregate indebtedness or
guarantees thereof to exceed 10% of total assets); the issuance of certain additional of our equity interests of the Company, BRP LLC or any
of their subsidiaries in an amount exceeding $10 million (other than pursuant to an equity incentive plan that has been approved by our board
of directors); the establishment or amendment of any equity, purchase or bonus plan for the benefit of employees, consultants, officers or
directors; any capital or other expenditure in excess of 5% of total assets; the declaration or payment of dividends on Class A common stock
or distributions by BRP LLC on LLC Units other than tax distributions as defined in the Amended LLC Agreement; changing the number of
directors on the board; hiring, termination or replacement of, establishment of compensation (including benefits) payable to, or making other
significant decisions involving, our or BRP LLC's senior management and key employees, including our Chief Executive Officer, including
entry into or modification of employment agreements, adopting or modifying plans relating to any incentive securities or employee benefit
plans or granting incentive securities or benefits under any existing plans; changing our or BRP LLC’s jurisdiction of incorporation or
organization; changing the location of our or BRP LLC’s headquarters; changing our or BRP LLC’s name; changing our or BRP LLC’s fiscal
year; changing our public accounting firm; amendments to our or BRP LLC’s governing documents; and adopting a shareholder rights plan.
Furthermore, the Stockholders Agreement provides that, for so long as the Substantial Ownership Requirement is met, the Holders may
designate the nominees for a majority of the members of our board of directors, including the Chairman of our board of directors.

Notwithstanding the rights afforded to the Holders under the Stockholders Agreement, Baldwin Insurance Group Holdings, LLC, an
entity controlled by Lowry Baldwin, the Chairman of our board and the Holder of a majority of the shares of our Class B common stock held
by all of the Holders (the “Majority Holder”), and the Company have entered into a consent and defense agreement (the “Consent
Agreement”) pursuant to which the Majority Holder has irrevocably consented to and approved, on behalf of itself and the other Holders,
certain transactions and actions taken by the Company and BRP LLC (each, a “Specified Matter”) that the Independent Committee (as
defined below) determines in good faith is in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders in their capacity as such, in satisfaction
of the approval rights with respect to such Specific Matter. Further, the Majority Holder irrevocably agreed, on behalf of itself and the other
Holders, not to designate any nominee for election to service on our board if the Independent Committee determines in good faith that action
by the board in furtherance of the nomination of such person to the board would not be in the best interests of our Company and our
stockholders in their capacity as such.

In connection with the Consent Agreement, our board, with the consent of the Majority Holder under the Stockholders Agreement,
has amended our By-Laws to, among other things:

• create a committee of the board, composed of all directors then in office who the board determines both (i) qualify as an independent
director under the corporate governance standards of Nasdaq and (ii) have no relationship with the Company or any Holder that
would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director (such committee, the
“Independent Committee”); and

• empower the Independent Committee, acting unanimously, to make any and all determinations contemplated or required by the
Consent Agreement.
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Exclusive Forum Provision

Our Charter provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware shall be the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any derivative
action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors,
officers or employees to us or our stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL,
and (iv) any action asserting a claim against us governed by the internal affairs doctrine.

This choice of forum provision does not preclude or contract the scope of exclusive federal or concurrent jurisdiction for any actions
brought under the Exchange Act or the Securities Act. Accordingly, our exclusive forum provision will not apply to claims arising under the
Exchange Act or the Securities Act and will not relieve us of our duties to comply with the federal securities laws and the rules and
regulations thereunder, and our stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with these laws, rules and regulations.

Voting Agreement

A group comprised of Lowry Baldwin, our Chairman, Baldwin Insurance Group Holdings, LLC (an entity controlled by Lowry
Baldwin), Elizabeth Krystyn, Laura Sherman, Trevor Baldwin, our Chief Executive Officer, Bradford Hale, our Chief Financial Officer,
Daniel Galbraith, President, BRP and CEO, Retail Brokerage Operations, and certain trusts established by such individuals have entered into
a voting agreement (as amended, the “Voting Agreement”) with Lowry Baldwin, our Chairman, pursuant to which, in connection with any
meeting of our shareholders or any written consent of our shareholders, each such person and trust party thereto will agree to vote or exercise
their right to consent in the manner directed by Lowry Baldwin. As of December 31, 2023, Lowry Baldwin through the Voting Agreement
beneficially owned approximately 25.4% of the combined voting power of our Class A and Class B common stock.

Directors’ Liability; Indemnification of Directors and Officers

Our Charter limits the liability of our directors to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL and provides that we will provide them
with customary indemnification. We entered into customary indemnification agreements with each of our executive officers and directors that
provide them, in general, with customary indemnification in connection with their service to us or on our behalf.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our Class A common stock is American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC.

Securities Exchange

Our Class A common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “BRP.”
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EXHIBIT 10.3

Summary of Mr. Galbraith’s One-Time Promotion Bonus Payment

On February 27, 2024, the Compensation Committee of the board of directors of BRP Group, Inc. (the “Company”)
approved a one-time $750,000 promotion bonus payment to Mr. Daniel Galbraith, President, BRP and CEO, Retail Brokerage
Operations. If, before February 27, 2025, Mr. Galbraith’s employment is terminated (i) by the Company for Cause (as defined in
his Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with the Company), or (ii) by Mr. Galbraith without Good Reason (as
defined in the Company’s Form of BRP Group, Inc. Omnibus Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Award Agreement previously filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission), Mr. Galbraith will be required to repay a portion of the promotion bonus
payment, pro-rated based on the proportionate number of days served in his role prior to the termination of his employment with
the Company in relation to the one-year period ending on February 27, 2025.



EXHIBIT 10.9

RETIREMENT AGREEMENT & GENERAL RELEASE

This RETIREMENT AGREEMENT & GENERAL RELEASE (this “Agreement”), dated as of November 3, 2023, is entered
into by and among Kristopher A. Wiebeck (“Employee”), Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“BRP LLC”),
and BRP Colleague Inc., a Florida corporation (“BRP Colleague”) (BRP LLC and BRP Colleague are co-employers of Employee and
collectively referred to herein as the “Company”). Capitalized terms that are used but not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to
such terms in the Employment Agreement (defined below).

BACKGROUND

Employee is employed by the Company on an “at will” basis pursuant to that certain Amended & Restated Employment Agreement
by and between the Company and Employee, dated October 28, 2019 (including Amendment #1 thereto dated April 1, 2021, the
“Employment Agreement”), including the Amended and Restated Restrictive Covenants Agreement appended thereto (the “RCA”).
Employee, BRP Group, Inc. (“BRP Group”) and BRP LLC (and the other parties signatory thereto) are also parties to that certain Third
Amended and Restated Limited Liability Agreement of Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC, dated as of October 7, 2019 (as amended, the “LLC
Agreement”).

The Company and Employee desire to enter into this Agreement to agree to the terms upon which, effective as of 11:59 p.m. Eastern
Time on December 31, 2023 (the “Retirement Date”), (a) Employee shall Retire (as that term is defined below) from the insurance industry,
(b) Employee’s employment with the Company shall terminate and (c) Employee shall resign from all positions as an officer and/or director
of BRP Group and any of its applicable direct or indirect subsidiaries (including BRP LLC).

Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, Employee shall not become entitled to any other salary, bonuses, commissions,
employee benefits, or compensation or payments of any kind from the Company or any of its affiliates after the Retirement Date, and all of
Employee’s rights to salary, bonuses, commissions, employee benefits, and other compensation and payments of any kind that would have
accrued or become payable after the Retirement Date shall cease upon such Retirement Date other than those expressly required under
applicable law. The Company may offset any amounts Employee owes it against any amounts it owes Employee hereunder. The Company
represents and affirms that, as of the date of this Agreement, it is not aware of any amounts owed to it by Employee.

The Company will provide Employee with certain financial benefits and other consideration in return for Employee’s execution of
this Agreement, including without limitation, Addendum 1 to this Agreement (“Addendum 1”) and the release Employee is providing under
this Agreement and Addendum 1.

OPERATIVE TERMS

The parties agree as follows:

1. Background. The parties acknowledge and agree that the information contained in the Background section of this
Agreement is true and accurate and agree that all such information and statements are incorporated into the operative terms of this Agreement
by this reference.



2. Retirement; Severance Benefits.

2.1        In consideration of the Severance Benefits (as defined below) provided under this Agreement, Employee agrees to
Retire (as defined below), as of the Retirement Date. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Retire” or “Retirement” means a permanent
retirement from the insurance industry, which for this purpose includes, without limitation, (a) any Competing Business (as defined in the
RCA), (b) any Competitive Enterprise (as defined in the LLC Agreement), (c) any insurance or reinsurance brokerage or agency, (d) any
insurance or reinsurance intermediary, (e) any insurance or reinsurance managing general agent, (f) any insurance or reinsurance
underwriting or claims administration or processing business, (g) any insurance or reinsurance carrier business, and (h) any third-party
administrator business in connection with any of the same, all of which shall constitute a “Competing Operation” for purposes of this
Agreement. For clarity, the foregoing shall prohibit Employee from (i) being employed by a Competing Operation, (ii) directly or indirectly
providing consulting or advisory services to a Competing Operation or an investor in a Competing Operation (in each case, whether or not
associated with remuneration), (iii) serving as an officer, director or advisor of or to any Competing Operation (whether or not employed by
the Competing Operation and whether or not associated with remuneration), and/or (iv) directly or indirectly owning any portion of a
Competing Operation; provided that, the foregoing shall not prohibit Employee’s passive ownership of less than 5% of the shares of a
Competing Operation whose shares are publicly traded, but will prohibit Employee from directly or indirectly investing in or co-investing
with any person or entity whose ownership in a Competing Operation requires such person or entity, or any affiliate of the same, to make a
filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) pursuant to Section 13 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, and the rules and regulations of the SEC promulgated thereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other non-competition
restrictive covenant of this Agreement, the RCA, or the LLC Agreement to the contrary, the Employee shall not be prohibited from entering
into the following arrangements: (x) immediately upon the expiration of the Addendum 1 Revocation Period as defined in Addendum 1, a
business or enterprise that provides wealth management advisory and/or pension consulting services via an equity fund, hedge fund, debt
fund, or private investment vehicle so long as such entity (and any affiliate of such entity) remains below five percent (5%) equity in any
Competing Operation, and (y) subsequent to the expiration of the last non-competition restrictive covenant contained in the LLC Agreement,
a business or enterprise of which the Employee is a principal in a private equity firm’s finance and insurance group (or similar group)
(“FIG”) that contains insurance holdings, provided that the insurance-related holdings are not the primary focus or majority of the FIG or its
holdings. If any restrictive covenant contained in this Retirement Agreement is held invalid, unenforceable, or void to any extent by a court
of competent jurisdiction, the provision shall be modified, if possible, by reducing its duration and scope to allow enforcement of the
maximum permissible duration and scope.

2.2    As further consideration for Employee’s Retirement, Employee’s satisfaction of the Severance Conditions (as defined
below), the Released Claims (as defined below) in this Agreement and in Addendum 1, and the other agreements and covenants contained in
this Agreement and Addendum 1, the Company shall pay to Employee (a) the total gross amount of Two Million Five Hundred Thousand
Sixty United States Dollars ($2,560,000.00) (the “Severance Compensation”) and (b) early payment of Employee’s 2023 bonus which would
have otherwise been payable under the Company’s 2023 annual incentive plan in respect of 2023 performance, in the total gross amount of
One Million Four Hundred Forty Thousand United States Dollars ($1,440,000.00), which would otherwise have been subject to a continuing
service obligation and would not be payable until April 2024 (the “2023 Bonus Compensation”), in the case of each of (a) and (b) above,
less ordinary payroll deductions and any outstanding amounts owed by Employee to the Company. The Severance Compensation and the
2023 Bonus Compensation will be paid in a single lump sum as described in Section 2.4 below, subject to the terms and conditions of this
Agreement, and at the time specified in Section 2.4 below. The Severance Compensation and early payment of the 2023 Bonus
Compensation will be reported on IRS Form W-2.

2.3       Provided Employee is eligible for and timely and properly elects to continue health (including medical, dental, and
vision) insurance coverage under the Consolidated Omnibus Reconciliation Act, 29 U.S.C. § 1161 et. seq., as amended (“COBRA”) for
Employee and Employee’s eligible dependents at the same level of coverage prior to the Retirement Date, from the Retirement Date



and continuing for a period of twelve (12) months thereafter (the “COBRA Contribution Period”), the Company shall pay a portion of the
monthly premiums (in an amount equal to the Company contribution for active employees enrolled in the same level of coverage, the
“COBRA Contribution”) directly to the insurer during the COBRA Contribution Period.  The Company’s COBRA Contribution obligation
shall cease if, prior to the end of the COBRA Contribution Period, Employee becomes eligible for other group health insurance providing
medical, dental, and vision coverage.   Employee shall promptly notify the Company if Employee’s eligibility for COBRA ends for any
reason.  Notwithstanding the Company’s COBRA Contribution, at all times, Employee shall be responsible for timely making the COBRA
election for Employee and Employee’s eligible dependents and for paying Employee’s portion of premiums to the applicable carrier.

2.4    Payment of the Severance Compensation, early payment of the 2023 Bonus Compensation and payment of the COBRA
Contribution and the Continued Vesting (as defined below) (collectively, the “Severance Benefits”) is subject to the following conditions (the
“Severance Conditions”) being satisfied (provided that the Severance Compensation and early payment of the 2023 Bonus Compensation
will in no case be paid later than December 31, 2023, but shall be subject to clawback and/or recoupment for failure to comply with such
conditions): (a) subject to Section 2.6, Employee remains employed by, and in good standing with, the Company through the Retirement
Date, and Employee fully and completely meets all of Employee’s obligations set forth in this Agreement and continues to fully and
completely perform the obligations of Employee’s role at the Company through the Retirement Date, (b) Employee executes and returns an
executed original of this Agreement, including without limitation Addendum 1, to the Company, and (c) the Revocation Period and the
Addendum 1 Revocation Period referenced in Section 5 of this Agreement and Addendum 1 have expired without revocation. The Severance
Compensation and early payment of the 2023 Bonus Compensation will be paid by direct deposit. Subject to the terms of this Section 2.4,
Employee’s entitlement to, and the Company’s obligation to provide, the Severance Benefits are contingent upon Employee’s satisfactorily
performing all of Employee’s obligations under this Agreement and the Continuing Obligations (as defined below). Specifically, if the
Company determines reasonably and in good faith that Employee has not satisfactorily performed all of Employee’s obligations under this
Agreement (including, without limitation, abiding by the terms of Section 4 and Section 5 of this Agreement and the Severance Conditions),
or any of the Continuing Obligations, then the Company’s obligation to provide the Severance Benefits shall immediately be deemed
extinguished, and Employee shall forfeit any rights to receive the Severance Benefits; or, if any such failure to satisfactorily perform the
Continuing Obligations occurs prior to the expiration of the last non-competition restrictive covenant under the LLC Agreement, and any
portion of the Severance Benefits has already been provided, Employee shall be required to reimburse the Company in full for the amount of
the Severance Benefits so received; for the avoidance of doubt, if the Employee fails to perform any obligations of this Agreement or any of
the Continuing Obligations after the expiration of the last non-competition restrictive covenant under the LLC Agreement, the Employee
shall not be required to reimburse the Company for any amount of the Severance Benefits received. Exercise of this right by the Company in
good faith and the withholding of funds, whether or not ultimately determined to be justified, will not constitute a breach by the Company of
its obligations under this Agreement or any other agreement between the parties. Except as provided in this Section 2.4, with respect to any
failure to satisfactorily perform the Continuing Obligations that occurs subsequent to the expiration of the last non-competition restrictive
covenant under the LLC Agreement, the Company reserves all other rights available to it under the law and in equity.

2.5    BRP Group previously granted Employee (a) certain restricted shares of BRP Group’s Class A common stock, $0.01
par value (“Restricted Stock”), pursuant to one or more Restricted Stock Award Agreements, by and between BRP Group and Employee
(each a “RSA Award Agreement”), and BRP Group, Inc.’s Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), and (b) certain performance-based
restricted stock units (“PSUs”), pursuant to one or more PSU Award Agreements by and between BRP Group and Employee (each, a “PSU
Award Agreement”, and together with the RSA Award Agreement(s), the



“Award Agreement(s)”). The Award Agreements provide for the Restricted Stock and PSUs to vest over time and subject to certain
conditions contained therein. As further consideration for Employee’s Retirement, the Severance Conditions and the Released Claims in this
Agreement and in Addendum 1, and subject to Employee fully and completely meeting all of Employee’s obligations set forth in this
Agreement, including continuing to provide services to the Company through the Retirement Date, as the same may be communicated to
Employee from time to time by Employee’s leadership team, and executing Addendum 1 on the Retirement Date, the Company agrees to
permit the continued vesting of the Restricted Stock and PSUs following the Retirement Date (“Continued Vesting”), in each case, subject to
all other conditions of the Award Agreements and this Agreement, with the exception only of Employee’s continued employment following
the Retirement Date. For clarity, (i) no performance-based or time-based vesting terms shall be deemed modified by this Agreement with
respect to any Award Agreement, other than the continuing service-based vesting conditions of the Award Agreements as so hereby modified,
(ii) this Agreement does not, and shall not be construed to, accelerate the vesting of any shares of Restricted Stock or PSUs granted pursuant
to any Award Agreement and (iii) Employee will continue to qualify as a Covered Executive under BRP Group’s Clawback Policy (the
“Policy”), and as such, any applicable Incentive Compensation (as defined in the Policy) received by Employee (including any Restricted
Stock or PSUs previously granted to Employee) will remain subject to any applicable reimbursement or forfeiture obligations to the extent
required under the Policy.

2.6        For the avoidance of doubt, the parties to this Agreement hereby acknowledge and agree that (a) in the event
Employee’s employment with the Company is terminated prior to the Retirement Date by Employee for any reason or by the Company with
Cause (as defined in the Plan), or if the other conditions set forth in this Agreement, including Section 2.4 above, are not satisfied, (i) the
Company shall have no obligation to pay Employee any portion of the Severance Benefits as provided in this Section 2, (ii) all of the
unvested Restricted Stock and PSUs will be immediately forfeited in accordance with the applicable Award Agreement(s) and (iii) except as
provided in this Section 2.6(a), this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with the terms hereof, and (b) in the event
that (i) Employee’s employment with the Company is terminated by the Company without Cause prior to the Retirement Date, (ii) Employee
has otherwise complied with all of Employee’s obligations under this Agreement and (iii) the conditions set forth in this Agreement,
including Section 2.4 above, have been satisfied, then this Agreement, including the Company’s obligations under this Section 2, shall
continue in full force and effect in accordance with the terms hereof; provided, that, in the event of such earlier termination of Employee’s
employment by the Company without Cause, the Retirement Date shall be deemed to be the last date of Employee’s employment with the
Company.

2.7    For the avoidance of doubt, Employee’s death or disability prior to the Retirement Date shall not negate the Company’s
obligation to provide the Severance Benefits.

3.        Employee Protections. Nothing in this Agreement or otherwise limits Employee’s ability to communicate directly with and
provide information, including documents, not otherwise protected from disclosure by any applicable law or privilege to the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) or any other federal, state or local governmental agency or commission (“Government Agencies”) regarding
possible legal violations, without disclosure to the Company. The Company may not retaliate against Employee for any of these activities,
and nothing in this Agreement or otherwise requires Employee to waive any monetary award or other payment that Employee might become
entitled to from the SEC or any other Government Agency. Nothing in this Agreement or otherwise requires Employee to disclose any
communications Employee may have had or information Employee may have provided to the SEC or any other Government Agencies
regarding possible legal violations. The Company shall instruct its Board of Directors, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer,
Chief Insurance Innovation Officer, Chief Operating Officer and General Counsel not to knowingly or intentionally, directly or



indirectly, orally, in writing or otherwise, make any disparaging statement or remark or damage or destroy the goodwill, reputation, and
esteem of Employee.

4.    Employee Obligations.

4.1    Employee agrees to execute Addendum 1 of this Agreement (Supplemental General Release) on the Retirement Date.
Employee understands and agrees that his right to the Severance Benefits set forth in Section 2 above (including his right to retain any
Severance Benefits paid to him) are conditioned upon Employee’s execution and non-revocation of Addendum 1.

4.2         Employee understands and agrees that, notwithstanding the termination of the Employee’s employment with the
Company or any other event or circumstance that has occurred up to the date of this Agreement, the following shall survive and continue in
full force and effect in accordance with their terms: (a) the entire RCA, (b) the applicable restrictive covenants and obligations contained in
Article 9 and Section 13.11 of the LLC Agreement; and (c) except as set forth in Section 3 of this Agreement, any other confidentiality,
nondisclosure, non-solicitation, non-acceptance, non-competition, non-disparagement, assignment of inventions or other similar obligations
imposed on Employee pursuant to any agreement previously entered into by and between Employee and the Company or its affiliate
(collectively, the “Continuing Obligations”). Further, except as set forth in Section 3 of this Agreement, Employee will not knowingly or
intentionally, directly or indirectly, orally, in writing or otherwise, make any disparaging statement or remark or damage or destroy the
goodwill and esteem of the Company or any other Released Party (as defined below), and the foregoing obligation shall constitute a
Continuing Obligation hereunder. Employee reconfirms all representations, warranties, and acknowledgements made in the Continuing
Obligations and hereby agrees that Employee shall strictly abide by all of the Continuing Obligations. The continued effectiveness of, and
Employee’s abiding by Employee’s obligations in, the Continuing Obligations are material inducements for the Company to enter into this
Agreement.

4.3       No later than seven (7) days after the Retirement Date, Employee shall return to the Company all property of the
Company in Employee’s possession or under Employee’s control, including but not limited to all Company records, files, equipment,
supplies, keys, confidential or proprietary information, credit card(s), laptop, parking pass, cell and/or smartphone, computer disks, thumb
drives, and other portable storage devices, except as set forth in Section 3 of this Agreement. In addition, except as set forth in Section 3 of
this Agreement, Employee shall return to the Company on a computer disk or thumb drive any electronically stored information that is the
property of the Company, including but not limited to, any data or files Employee has stored on Employee’s home or other computer or on a
portable storage device such as an external hard-drive, computer disk, or thumb drive.

4.4       Employee shall immediately disclose in writing to the Company any and all computer and software passwords and
related security protection information Employee used in Employee’s work with the Company.

4.5       Employee agrees that, except as set forth in Section 3 of this Agreement or as otherwise publicly disclosed by the
Company or BRP Group, Employee will preserve the confidentiality of this Agreement and not, directly or indirectly, discuss or disclose its
existence, substance, or contents to anyone except Employee’s attorney, Employee’s tax and/or financial advisor, Employee’s spouse, or as
compelled or authorized by law; provided that, except as set forth in Section 3 of this Agreement, Employee shall be responsible for ensuring
that this confidentiality provision is fully explained and advised to anyone to whom Employee makes a permitted disclosure under this
Section 4.5, and Employee shall be liable to the Company for any unauthorized disclosure(s) made by any such individuals or parties such
that any confidentiality breaches by such individuals or parties shall be considered breaches by the Employee. Employee acknowledges and
agrees that the Company would not have entered into this Agreement but for these confidentiality provisions.

 



4.6    Effective as of the Retirement Date, Employee agrees that Employee shall have no authority to and shall not enter or
attempt to enter into any agreements with third-parties on behalf of or purportedly on behalf of the Company. Employee shall also not
represent Employee as being employed by or associated with the Company.

4.7    Employee acknowledges and agrees that, except as set forth in Section 3 of this Agreement, Employee has disclosed to
Company management any and all incidents, events, procedures, practices, or occurrences, that Employee is aware of, which have the
potential of exposing the Company to any federal, state, or local civil monetary penalty or exclusion claim or any other claim that Employee
believes may have resulted in a violation of any other federal, state, or local statutes, rules, regulations or guidelines.

4.8        Employee further acknowledges that Employee is not aware of any unreported work-related illness or injury that
Employee has suffered that would entitle Employee to workers’ compensation benefits.

    
4.9       After the Retirement Date, Employee agrees to remain reasonably available to the Company and/or its counsel for

purposes of (a) providing ongoing consulting services to the Company as reasonably requested for a period not to exceed two (2) years
following the Retirement Date, (b) transitioning Employee’s duties, responsibilities and any tasks or projects in which Employee was
involved during Employee’s employment and (c) providing truthful testimony and otherwise assisting the Company and its counsel with any
actual or potential claims, legal disputes, investigations, or other proceedings involving matters within the scope of Employee’s knowledge,
duties, and/or responsibilities during Employee’s employment with the Company, except as set forth in Section 3 of this Agreement. Such
cooperation may include appearances in court, discovery proceedings, or meetings with the Company and/or its counsel. The Company will
pay Employee’s reasonable and documented, out-of-pocket travel and lodging expenses incurred in connection therewith. All
reimbursements made in conjunction with the foregoing are subject to Employee timely providing adequate written proof of expenses and
time (as applicable) spent.

4.10    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Employment Agreement, RCA, the LLC Agreement, any
Award Agreement, this Agreement or any other agreement between the parties, as further consideration for the Severance Benefits, Employee
and Company each agree that the provisions of Section 7 (Law; Venue; Dispute Resolution) of this Agreement shall exclusively govern the
relationship between Employee and Company and shall be the sole and exclusive choice of law and venue applicable to any dispute, claim or
cause of action between Employee and the Company, whether arising out of or related to the Employment Agreement, the RCA, the LLC
Agreement, any Award Agreement, this Agreement, any other agreement between the parties, or otherwise.

4.11    As further consideration for the Severance Benefits, Employee acknowledges and agrees that each of the Continuing
Obligations are valid, binding and enforceable, and Employee and the Releasing Parties (as defined below) irrevocably and unconditionally
agree not to seek, on any basis or in any forum, any invalidation, nonapplication or modification of any of the Continuing Obligations or the
choice of law and venue provided for in Section 4.10 and Section 7.

5.    Release and Covenant Not to Sue.

5.1        Employee, for Employee and Employee’s heirs, successors, and assigns, and anyone claiming by or through them
(collectively, the “Releasing Parties”), irrevocably and unconditionally releases, waives, forever discharges, and covenants not to sue the
Company and its direct and indirect parents, subsidiaries, members and affiliates (including but not limited to (a) Baldwin Risk Partners,
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, (b) BRP Main Street Insurance Holdings, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, (c) BRP
Insurance Intermediary Holdings, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, (d) BRP Middle Market Insurance Holdings, LLC, a Florida
limited liability company, and (e) BRP Medicare Insurance Holdings, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, and each of the direct and
indirect parents, subsidiaries, members and affiliates of each such company), and each of their respective present and former directors,
agents, attorneys, officers, employees, partners, investors, shareholders, members, managers, insurers, predecessors, successors, assigns, and
representatives (the



“Released Parties”), from any and all actual or potential claims, complaints, liabilities, obligations, promises, actions, causes of action,
agreements, damages, costs, debts, and expenses of any kind, whether known or unknown, that the Releasing Parties have ever had or now
have from the beginning of time through the date Employee executes this Agreement, excluding any claims under this Agreement and any
claims for salary, bonuses, commissions, employee benefits, or compensation or payments of any kind from the Company or any of its
affiliates after the date the Employee executes this Agreement through the Retirement Date and any claims under the LLC Agreement
(collectively, the “Released Claims”). Without limitation, the Released Claims include all claims arising out of, related to or connected with
Employee’s employment, the termination of Employee’s employment, or the payment of wages, salary, or any other benefit Employee
received or claims Employee should have received in connection with Employee’s employment; all claims under Title VII of the Civil Rights
Act of 1964, as amended; (42 U.S. C. § 2000e, et seq.); the Civil Rights Acts of 1866, 1871 and 1991, all as amended; 42 U.S.C. § 1981; the
Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, as amended (29 U.S.C. § 2601, et seq.); the Families First Coronavirus Response Act of 2020; the
Americans with Disabilities Act, as amended (42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq.); the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended (29 U.S.C. § 793-94);
the Fair Labor Standards Act, as amended (29 U.S.C. § 201, et. seq.); the Equal Pay Act of 1963, as amended (29 U.S.C. § 206); the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act, as amended (29 U.S.C. § 1001, et seq.) (except as to which the Employee has a vested
entitlement and except any claim for benefits under any employee benefit plan that has not been paid); the Consolidated Omnibus Budget
Reconciliation Act of 1985 (29 U.S.C. § 1161, et seq.) (except as provided in this Agreement); the Age Discrimination in Employment Act
(the “ADEA”) (29 U.S.C. § 621 et seq.); the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act of 1990 (the “OWBPA”) (29 U.S.C. § 623); the National
Labor Relations Act; the Occupational Safety and Health Act; the Fair Credit Reporting Act and any other federal or state whistle blower
statute or regulation; Chapter 760 of the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992, as amended; Section 24, Article X of the Florida State
Constitution; Section 448.110, Florida Statutes; Section 448.08, Florida Statutes; any provision of Chapters 250, 440, 443, 447, 448, and 760
of Florida Statutes; the Florida General Labor Regulations, as amended; any other federal, state, or local law, rule, regulation or ordinance;
any obligations under, arising out of, or related to any other actual or quasi-contract, including but not limited to, salary payments, bonus
payments, any other payouts, benefits, stock, or stock options; common law claims, including but not limited to claims of intentional or
negligent infliction of emotional distress, negligent hiring, retention, training or supervision, defamation, invasion of privacy, breach of a
covenant of good faith and fair dealing, breach of fiduciary duty, breach of express or implied contract, promissory estoppel, negligence or
wrongful termination of employment; any claims for or to unpaid salary, commissions, bonuses, incentive payments, expense
reimbursements, health care benefits, life insurance, disability insurance, and any other income or benefits the Releasing Parties received or
claim they should receive; and all other claims of any kind, including but not limited to any claims for attorneys’ fees. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the Released Claims shall not include (i) any claims for indemnification pursuant to the Company’s or BRP Group’s
organizational documents, any indemnification agreement entered into by the Company or BRP Group and Employee, or applicable law or
(ii) any claims arising pursuant to this Agreement.

5.2        The Releasing Parties warrant and represent that, except in connection with the exercise of any legally protected
whistleblower rights as set forth in Section 3, they have not previously filed any lawsuits relating to any Released Claim against any Released
Party.

5.3      The Releasing Parties have not assigned or otherwise transferred any interest in any Released Claim. The Releasing
Parties shall not commence, join in, or in any manner seek relief through any suit arising out of, based upon, or relating to any Released
Claim.

5.4    If any provision of this release in Section 5 is held invalid, unenforceable, or void to any extent by a court of competent
jurisdiction, the provision shall be modified, if possible, by reducing its duration and scope to allow enforcement of the maximum
permissible duration and scope. The Company reserves the right to rescind this Agreement and recover all amounts paid under it if any
provision of this release is held invalid, unenforceable, or void by a court of competent jurisdiction in a final and nonappealable order, as a
result of a claim or counterclaim made by Employee challenging this release.



6.    Effectiveness; Review of this Agreement.

6.1    Except with respect to (a) the ADEA Release (as defined below), which shall not be effective until the ADEA Release
Effective Date (as defined below), and (b) the Addendum 1 ADEA Release (as defined in Addendum 1), which shall not be effective until the
Addendum 1 ADEA Release Effective Date (as defined in Addendum 1), this Agreement shall be effective as of the Effective Date.

6.2    Employee acknowledges that Employee has read each section of this Agreement, that this Agreement is written in a
manner calculated to be understood by Employee, and that Employee in fact understands Employee’s rights and obligations under this
Agreement, including the fact that Employee is waiving and releasing Employee’s rights to sue the Company. Employee is advised to consult
with legal counsel before executing this Agreement.

6.3    Employee acknowledges that the money being paid pursuant to this Agreement and any other consideration is in excess
of all monies or anything else of value owed to Employee.

6.4    Because Employee is forty (40) years of age or older, and because Employee is waiving in this Agreement claims for
age discrimination arising under the ADEA and the OWBPA (the “ADEA Release”), the parties hereby agree that the ADEA Release is not
effective or enforceable until the first (1st) day after the expiration of the Revocation Period as determined, and not revoked by the
Employee, pursuant to Section 6.6 (the “ADEA Release Effective Date”). If timely revoked, the ADEA Release (and only this specific
release) will be rendered null and void as if it never existed, and such revocation shall give the Company, at its option, the unilateral right to
declare this entire Agreement null and void, in which case the Company shall have no obligation to provide the Severance Benefits.
Employee fully understands all of the terms of the ADEA Release and knowingly and voluntarily enters into this Agreement.

6.5    Employee has up to twenty-one (21) calendar days following the receipt of this Agreement to consider this Agreement
before signing it. However, Employee may consider and sign this Agreement in less time if Employee so chooses. If Employee chooses to
return this Agreement before expiration of the 21-day period Employee does so freely and without duress. Any modification to this
Agreement, material or otherwise, will not restart or affect in any manner the running of the original 21-day period.

6.6        Employee may revoke the ADEA Release within seven (7) calendar days after Employee’s execution of this
Agreement (the “Revocation Period”). To revoke the ADEA Release, Employee shall deliver notice of such election in writing to the
Company’s representative, Seth Cohen, Esq., General Counsel (in accordance with Section 17), before 11:59 p.m. on the seventh day after
execution. If the seventh day does not fall on a business day, then the Revocation Period shall be deemed extended to 11:59 p.m. the next
business day.

7.       Law; Venue; Dispute Resolution. This Agreement has been delivered in the State of Florida and shall be governed by and
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida, and any action based upon or arising out of this Agreement, the Employment
Agreement, the RCA, the LLC Agreement or any Award Agreement shall lie exclusively in the federal or state courts located in Hillsborough
County, Florida, in each case, in accordance with Section 11 of the RCA. Employee and the Company agree to waive any right to have any
such issue resolved by a jury and cede to the Court all matters of law and fact for resolution. This Agreement shall not be construed to waive
any right of removal that may apply to any action filed in any court by either party.



8. Entire Agreement; Modification.

8.1    Employee acknowledges, agrees, and understands that the Continuing Obligations remain applicable and enforceable
and that nothing contained in this Agreement shall be interpreted as waiving, modifying, replacing, or terminating the Continuing
Obligations.

8.2    Subject to Section 4.2 above, this Agreement represents the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the subject
matters addressed herein. However, nothing in this Agreement affects the Employee’s rights under the LLC Agreement.

8.3    This Agreement may not be modified or amended by either party except upon a
written agreement signed by both parties.

9. No Fraud. The parties agree that no inducements, statements, or representations have been made that are not set forth in this
Agreement and that they did not rely on any inducements, statements, or representations not set forth herein.

10. Binding Effect; Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon the parties and their respective heirs,
devisees, legal representatives, personal representatives, successors, and assigns. However, this Agreement is not assignable by any party
without the prior written consent of the other parties, and any attempted assignment without the prior written consent of the other parties shall
be invalid and unenforceable against the other parties.

11. Counterparts and Originals. The parties may execute this Agreement in counterparts. Each executed counterpart shall be
deemed an original, and all of them together shall constitute one document.

12. Titles and Headings. The titles and headings of the various sections of this Agreement are intended solely for convenience
of reference and are not intended to explain, modify, or place any interpretation upon any of the provisions of this Agreement.

13. Severability. If any term or provision of this Agreement is determined to be illegal or unenforceable, to the extent possible,
such term or provision shall be severed from this Agreement and all other terms and provisions shall be remain in full force and effect.

14. Gender and Number. As used in this Agreement, the masculine, feminine or neuter gender, and the singular or plural
number, shall each include the others whenever the context so requires.

15. Interpretation. The language used in this Agreement shall not be construed in favor of or against any of the parties but shall
be construed as if all parties participated jointly in the preparation of this Agreement. The language used in this Agreement shall be deemed
to be the language chosen by the parties to express their mutual intent, and no rule of strict construction shall be applied against any party.

16. Legal Fees and Costs. In any legal proceeding or dispute that arises from this Agreement, the prevailing party (or parties)
may recover his, her, its, or their legal fees and costs from the non-prevailing party (or parties).

17. Notices. Except as otherwise specified in this Agreement, every demand, notice, consent, or approval required or permitted
to be given by a party under this Agreement will be valid only if it is (a) in writing, (b) delivered personally, by commercial courier, or by
first class, postage prepaid, United States mail (whether or not certified or registered and regardless of whether a return receipt is requested or



received by the sender) with a simultaneous copy delivered via email for any such delivery to the Company or Employee, and (c) addressed
by the sender to the intended recipient as follows:

If to Company, to: Attn: Seth Cohen, Esq., General Counsel
4211 W. Boy Scout Blvd., Ste. 800
Tampa, Florida 33607
E-mail: legalnotice@baldwinriskpartners.com

If to Employee, to: Kristopher A. Wiebeck
Address: the personal address maintained in the Company’s
records
E-mail: the personal email address maintained in the Company’s
records

ach party to this Agreement shall promptly notify every other party of any change in its mailing address.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]



THE PARTIES ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THEY HAVE READ AND UNDERSTAND THE ENTIRE AGREEMENT, HAVE HAD A
REASONABLE PERIOD OF TIME TO CONSIDER THIS AGREEMENT PRIOR TO ITS ACCEPTANCE, HAVE BEEN
INSTRUCTED TO AND HAVE CONSULTED THEIR ATTORNEYS AS TO ITS CONTENTS AND EFFECT, AND ENTER THIS
AGREEMENT KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY.

EMPLOYEE VOLUNTARILY ENTERS INTO THIS AGREEMENT WITH THE INTENTION OF RELINQUISHING ALL
KNOWN AND UNKNOWN CLAIMS AND RIGHTS AGAINST THE RELEASED PARTIES.

PLEASE READ THIS AGREEMENT CAREFULLY. THE GENERAL RELEASES INCLUDE A RELEASE OF ALL KNOWN
AND UNKNOWN CLAIMS.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company and Employee have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.

EMPLOYEE:

Executed this 11/4/2023 .

/s/ Kristopher A. Wiebeck                
Kristopher A. Wiebeck

THE COMPANY:
BALDWIN RISK PARTNERS, LLC

Executed this 11/4/2023 .




By: /s/ Seth Cohen            
Name: Seth Cohen            
Title: General Counsel            



BRP COLLEAGUE INC.

Executed this 11/4/2023 .




By: /s/ Seth Cohen            
Name: Seth Cohen            
Title: General Counsel            



ADDENDUM 1

SUPPLEMENTAL GENERAL RELEASE

This is an addendum (this “Addendum 1”), dated as of December 31, 2023, to that certain Retirement Agreement & General Release
(the “Agreement”), dated as of November 3, 2023, by and between Kristopher A. Wiebeck (“Employee”), Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (“BRP LLC”), and BRP Colleague Inc., a Florida corporation (“BRP Colleague”) (BRP LLC and BRP
Colleague are co-employers of Employee and collectively referred to herein as the “Company”). Capitalized terms that are used but not
defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Agreement.

The parties agree as follows:

1.    Employee, for Employee and Employee’s heirs, successors, and assigns, and anyone claiming by or through them (collectively,
the “Releasing Parties”), irrevocably and unconditionally releases, waives, forever discharges, and covenants not to sue the Company and its
direct and indirect parents, subsidiaries, members and affiliates (including but not limited to (a) Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company, (b) BRP Main Street Insurance Holdings, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, (c) BRP Insurance
Intermediary Holdings, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, (d) BRP Middle Market Insurance Holdings, LLC, a Florida limited
liability company, and (e) BRP Medicare Insurance Holdings, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, and each of the direct and indirect
parents, subsidiaries, members and affiliates of each such company), and each of their respective present and former directors, agents,
attorneys, officers, employees, partners, investors, shareholders, members, managers, insurers, predecessors, successors, assigns, and
representatives (the “Released Parties”), from any and all actual or potential claims, complaints, liabilities, obligations, promises, actions,
causes of action, agreements, damages, costs, debts, and expenses of any kind, whether known or unknown, that the Releasing Parties have
ever had or now have from the date Employee executed the Agreement through the date Employee executes this Addendum 1 excluding any
claims under the Agreement and the LLC Agreement (collectively, the “Addendum 1 Released Claims”). Without limitation, the Addendum
1 Released Claims include all claims arising out of, related to or connected with Employee’s employment, the termination of Employee’s
employment, or the payment of wages, salary, or any other benefit Employee received or claims Employee should have received in
connection with Employee’s employment; all claims under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended; (42 U.S. C. § 2000e, et
seq.); the Civil Rights Acts of 1866, 1871 and 1991, all as amended; 42 U.S.C. § 1981; the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, as
amended (29 U.S.C. § 2601, et seq.); the Families First Coronavirus Response Act of 2020; the Americans with Disabilities Act, as amended
(42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq.); the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended (29 U.S.C. § 793-94); the Fair Labor Standards Act, as amended (29
U.S.C. § 201, et. seq.); the Equal Pay Act of 1963, as amended (29 U.S.C. § 206); the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, as
amended (29 U.S.C. § 1001, et seq.) (except as to which the Employee has a vested entitlement and except for any claim for benefits not
paid); the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 (29 U.S.C. § 1161, et seq.) (except as provided under the Agreement);
the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (the “ADEA”) (29 U.S.C. § 621 et seq.); the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act of 1990 (the
“OWBPA”) (29 U.S.C. § 623); the National Labor Relations Act (NLRA); the Occupational Safety and Health Act (OSHA); the Fair Credit
Reporting Act (FCRA) and any other federal or state whistle blower statute or regulation; Chapter 760 of the Florida Civil Rights Act of
1992, as amended; Section 24, Article X of the Florida State Constitution; Section 448.110, Florida Statutes; Section 448.08, Florida Statutes;
any provision of Chapters 250, 440, 443, 447, 448, and 760 of Florida Statutes; the Florida General Labor Regulations, as amended; any
other federal, state, or local law, rule, regulation or ordinance; any obligations under, arising out of, or related to any other actual or quasi-
contract, including but not limited to, salary payments, bonus payments, any other payouts, benefits, stock, or stock options; common law
claims, including but not limited to claims of intentional or negligent infliction of emotional distress, negligent hiring, retention, training or
supervision, defamation, invasion of privacy, breach of a covenant of good faith and fair dealing, breach of fiduciary duty, breach of express
or implied contract, promissory estoppel, negligence or wrongful termination of employment; any claims for or to unpaid salary,
commissions, bonuses, incentive payments, expense reimbursements, health care



benefits, life insurance, disability insurance, and any other income or benefits the Releasing Parties received or claim they should receive;
and all other claims of any kind, including but not limited to any claims for attorneys’ fees.

2.     The Releasing Parties warrant and represent that except in connection with the exercise of any legally protected whistleblower
rights as set forth in Section 3 of the Agreement, they have not previously filed any lawsuits relating to any Released Claim against any
Released Party.

3.    The Releasing Parties have not assigned or otherwise transferred any interest in any Released Claim. The Releasing Parties shall
not commence, join in, or in any manner seek relief through any suit arising out of, based upon, or relating to any Released Claim.

4.        If any provision of this release in Section 1 is held invalid, unenforceable, or void to any extent by a court of competent
jurisdiction, the provision shall be modified, if possible, by reducing its duration and scope to allow enforcement of the maximum
permissible duration and scope. The Company reserves the right to rescind this Addendum 1 and recover all amounts paid under it if any
provision of this release is held invalid, unenforceable, or void by a court of competent jurisdiction in a final and nonappealable order, as a
result of a claim or counterclaim made by Employee challenging this release.

5.    Employee acknowledges that Employee has read this Addendum 1, that it is written in a manner calculated to be understood by
Employee, and that Employee in fact understands Employee’s rights and obligations under this Agreement, including the fact that Employee
is waiving and releasing Employee’s rights to sue the Company. Employee is advised to consult with legal counsel before executing this
Addendum 1.

6.    Except the Addendum 1 ADEA Release (as defined below), which shall not be effective until the Addendum 1 ADEA Release
Effective Date (as defined below), this Addendum 1 shall be effective as of the Addendum 1 Effective Date.

7.       Because Employee is forty (40) years of age or older, and because Employee is waiving in this Addendum 1 claims for age
discrimination arising under the ADEA and the OWBPA (the “Addendum 1 ADEA Release”), the parties hereby agree that the Addendum 1
ADEA Release is not effective or enforceable until the first (1st) day after the expiration of the Addendum 1 Revocation Period as
determined, and not revoked by the Employee, pursuant to Section 9 of this Addendum 1 (the “Addendum 1 ADEA Release Effective
Date”). If timely revoked, the Addendum 1 ADEA Release (and only this specific release) will be rendered null and void as if it never
existed, and such revocation shall give the Company, at its option, the unilateral right to declare the Agreement and this entire Addendum 1
null and void, in which case the Company shall have no obligation to provide the Severance Benefits. Employee fully understands all of the
terms of the Addendum 1 ADEA Release and knowingly and voluntarily enters into this Agreement.

8.    Employee has had up to twenty-one (21) calendar days following the receipt of this Addendum 1 to consider this Addendum 1
before signing it. However, Employee may consider and sign this Addendum 1 in less time if Employee so chooses. If Employee chooses to
return this Addendum 1 before expiration of the 21-day period Employee does so freely and without duress. Any modification to this
Addendum 1, material or otherwise, will not restart or affect in any manner the running of the original 21-day period

9.    Employee further understands that Employee may revoke the Addendum 1 ADEA Release within seven (7) calendar days after
Employee’s execution of this Addendum 1 (the “Addendum 1 Revocation Period”) by delivering a notice of revocation in writing to the
Company’s representative, Seth Cohen, Esq., General Counsel, before 11:59 p.m. on the seventh day after execution.



PLEASE READ THIS ADDENDUM 1 CAREFULLY. THIS GENERAL RELEASE INCLUDES 
A RELEASE OF ALL KNOWN AND UNKNOWN CLAIMS.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company and Employee have executed this Addendum 1 as of the date first above written.

EMPLOYEE:

Executed this 12/31/2023 .

/s/ Kristopher A. Wiebeck                
Kristopher A. Wiebeck

THE COMPANY:
BALDWIN RISK PARTNERS, LLC

Executed this 12/31/2023 .




By: /s/ Seth Cohen            
Name: Seth Cohen            
Title: General Counsel            



BRP COLLEAGUE INC.

Executed this 12/31/2023 .




By: /s/ Seth Cohen            
Name: Seth Cohen            
Title: General Counsel        



EXHIBIT 10.11

RETIREMENT AGREEMENT & GENERAL RELEASE

This RETIREMENT AGREEMENT & GENERAL RELEASE (this “Agreement”), dated as of November 3, 2023, is entered
into by and among John A. Valentine (“Employee”), Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“BRP LLC”), and
BRP Colleague Inc., a Florida corporation (“BRP Colleague”) (BRP LLC and BRP Colleague are co-employers of Employee and
collectively referred to herein as the “Company”). Capitalized terms that are used but not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to
such terms in the Employment Agreement (defined below).

BACKGROUND

Employee is employed by the Company on an “at will” basis pursuant to that certain Amended & Restated Employment Agreement
by and between the Company and Employee, dated October 28, 2019 (the “Employment Agreement”), including the Amended and Restated
Restrictive Covenants Agreement appended thereto (the “RCA”). Employee, BRP Group, Inc. (“BRP Group”) and BRP LLC (and the other
parties signatory thereto) are also parties to that certain Third Amended and Restated Limited Liability Agreement of Baldwin Risk Partners,
LLC, dated as of October 7, 2019 (as amended, the “LLC Agreement”).

The Company and Employee desire to enter into this Agreement to agree to the terms upon which, effective as of 11:59 p.m. Eastern
Time on December 31, 2023 (the “Retirement Date”), (a) Employee shall Retire (as that term is defined below) from the insurance industry,
(b) Employee’s employment with the Company shall terminate and (c) Employee shall resign from all positions as an officer of BRP Group
and any of its applicable direct or indirect subsidiaries (including BRP LLC).

Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, Employee shall not become entitled to any other salary, bonuses, commissions,
employee benefits, or compensation or payments of any kind from the Company or any of its affiliates after the Retirement Date, and all of
Employee’s rights to salary, bonuses, commissions, employee benefits, and other compensation and payments of any kind that would have
accrued or become payable after the Retirement Date shall cease upon such Retirement Date other than those expressly required under
applicable law. The Company may offset any amounts Employee owes it against any amounts it owes Employee hereunder. The Company
represents and affirms that, as of the date of this Agreement, it is not aware of any amounts owed to it by Employee.

The Company will provide Employee with certain financial benefits and other consideration in return for Employee’s execution of
this Agreement, including without limitation, Addendum 1 to this Agreement (“Addendum 1”) and the release Employee is providing under
this Agreement and Addendum 1.

OPERATIVE TERMS

The parties agree as follows:

1. Background. The parties acknowledge and agree that the information contained in the Background section of this
Agreement is true and accurate and agree that all such information and statements are incorporated into the operative terms of this Agreement
by this reference.



2. Retirement; Severance Benefits.

2.1        In consideration of the Severance Benefits (as defined below) provided under this Agreement, Employee agrees to
Retire (as defined below), as of the Retirement Date. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Retire” or “Retirement” means a permanent
retirement from the insurance industry, which for this purpose includes, without limitation, (a) any Competing Business (as defined in the
RCA), (b) any Competitive Enterprise (as defined in the LLC Agreement), (c) any insurance or reinsurance brokerage or agency, (d) any
insurance or reinsurance intermediary, (e) any insurance or reinsurance managing general agent, (f) any insurance or reinsurance
underwriting or claims administration or processing business, (g) any insurance or reinsurance carrier business, and (h) any third-party
administrator business in connection with any of the same, all of which shall constitute a “Competing Operation” for purposes of this
Agreement. For clarity, the foregoing shall prohibit Employee from (i) being employed by a Competing Operation, (ii) directly or indirectly
providing consulting or advisory services to a Competing Operation or an investor in a Competing Operation (in each case, whether or not
associated with remuneration), (iii) serving as an officer, director or advisor of or to any Competing Operation (whether or not employed by
the Competing Operation and whether or not associated with remuneration), and/or (iv) directly or indirectly owning any portion of a
Competing Operation; provided that, the foregoing shall not prohibit Employee’s passive ownership of less than 5% of the shares of a
Competing Operation whose shares are publicly traded, but will prohibit Employee from directly or indirectly investing in or co-investing
with any person or entity whose ownership in a Competing Operation requires such person or entity, or any affiliate of the same, to make a
filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) pursuant to Section 13 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, and the rules and regulations of the SEC promulgated thereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other non-competition
restrictive covenant of this Agreement, the RCA, or the LLC Agreement to the contrary, the Employee shall not be prohibited from entering
into the following arrangements: (x) immediately upon the expiration of the Addendum 1 Revocation Period as defined in Addendum 1, a
business or enterprise that provides wealth management advisory and/or pension consulting services via an equity fund, hedge fund, debt
fund, or private investment vehicle so long as such entity (and any affiliate of such entity) remains below five percent (5%) equity in any
Competing Operation, and (y) subsequent to the expiration of the last non-competition restrictive covenant contained in the LLC Agreement,
a business or enterprise of which the Employee is a principal in a private equity firm’s finance and insurance group (or similar group)
(“FIG”) that contains insurance holdings, provided that the insurance-related holdings are not the primary focus or majority of the FIG or its
holdings. If any restrictive covenant contained in this Retirement Agreement is held invalid, unenforceable, or void to any extent by a court
of competent jurisdiction, the provision shall be modified, if possible, by reducing its duration and scope to allow enforcement of the
maximum permissible duration and scope.

2.2    As further consideration for Employee’s Retirement, Employee’s satisfaction of the Severance Conditions (as defined
below), the Released Claims (as defined below) in this Agreement and in Addendum 1, and the other agreements and covenants contained in
this Agreement and Addendum 1, the Company shall pay to Employee (a) the total gross amount of Two Million Five Hundred Thousand
Sixty United States Dollars ($2,560,000.00) (the “Severance Compensation”) and (b) early payment of Employee’s 2023 bonus which would
have otherwise been payable under the Company’s 2023 annual incentive plan in respect of 2023 performance, in the total gross amount of
One Million Four Hundred Forty Thousand United States Dollars ($1,440,000.00), which would otherwise have been subject to a continuing
service obligation and would not be payable until April 2024 (the “2023 Bonus Compensation”), in the case of each of (a) and (b) above,
less ordinary payroll deductions and any outstanding amounts owed by Employee to the Company. The Severance Compensation and the
2023 Bonus Compensation will be paid in a single lump sum as described in Section 2.4 below, subject to the terms and conditions of this
Agreement, and at the time specified in Section 2.4 below. The Severance Compensation and early payment of the 2023 Bonus
Compensation will be reported on IRS Form W-2.

2.3       Provided Employee is eligible for and timely and properly elects to continue health (including medical, dental, and
vision) insurance coverage under the Consolidated Omnibus Reconciliation Act, 29 U.S.C. § 1161 et. seq., as amended (“COBRA”) for
Employee and Employee’s eligible dependents at the same level of coverage prior to the Retirement Date, from the Retirement Date



and continuing for a period of twelve (12) months thereafter (the “COBRA Contribution Period”), the Company shall pay a portion of the
monthly premiums (in an amount equal to the Company contribution for active employees enrolled in the same level of coverage, the
“COBRA Contribution”) directly to the insurer during the COBRA Contribution Period.  The Company’s COBRA Contribution obligation
shall cease if, prior to the end of the COBRA Contribution Period, Employee becomes eligible for other group health insurance providing
medical, dental, and vision coverage.   Employee shall promptly notify the Company if Employee’s eligibility for COBRA ends for any
reason.  Notwithstanding the Company’s COBRA Contribution, at all times, Employee shall be responsible for timely making the COBRA
election for Employee and Employee’s eligible dependents and for paying Employee’s portion of premiums to the applicable carrier.

2.4    Payment of the Severance Compensation, early payment of the 2023 Bonus Compensation and payment of the COBRA
Contribution and the Continued Vesting (as defined below) (collectively, the “Severance Benefits”) is subject to the following conditions (the
“Severance Conditions”) being satisfied (provided that the Severance Compensation and early payment of the 2023 Bonus Compensation
will in no case be paid later than December 31, 2023, but shall be subject to clawback and/or recoupment for failure to comply with such
conditions): (a) subject to Section 2.6, Employee remains employed by, and in good standing with, the Company through the Retirement
Date, and Employee fully and completely meets all of Employee’s obligations set forth in this Agreement and continues to fully and
completely perform the obligations of Employee’s role at the Company through the Retirement Date, (b) Employee executes and returns an
executed original of this Agreement, including without limitation Addendum 1, to the Company, and (c) the Revocation Period and the
Addendum 1 Revocation Period referenced in Section 5 of this Agreement and Addendum 1 have expired without revocation. The Severance
Compensation and early payment of the 2023 Bonus Compensation will be paid by direct deposit. Subject to the terms of this Section 2.4,
Employee’s entitlement to, and the Company’s obligation to provide, the Severance Benefits are contingent upon Employee’s satisfactorily
performing all of Employee’s obligations under this Agreement and the Continuing Obligations (as defined below). Specifically, if the
Company determines reasonably and in good faith that Employee has not satisfactorily performed all of Employee’s obligations under this
Agreement (including, without limitation, abiding by the terms of Section 4 and Section 5 of this Agreement and the Severance Conditions),
or any of the Continuing Obligations, then the Company’s obligation to provide the Severance Benefits shall immediately be deemed
extinguished, and Employee shall forfeit any rights to receive the Severance Benefits; or, if any such failure to satisfactorily perform the
Continuing Obligations occurs prior to the expiration of the last non-competition restrictive covenant under the LLC Agreement, and any
portion of the Severance Benefits has already been provided, Employee shall be required to reimburse the Company in full for the amount of
the Severance Benefits so received; for the avoidance of doubt, if the Employee fails to perform any obligations of this Agreement or any of
the Continuing Obligations after the expiration of the last non-competition restrictive covenant under the LLC Agreement, the Employee
shall not be required to reimburse the Company for any amount of the Severance Benefits received. Exercise of this right by the Company in
good faith and the withholding of funds, whether or not ultimately determined to be justified, will not constitute a breach by the Company of
its obligations under this Agreement or any other agreement between the parties. Except as provided in this Section 2.4, with respect to any
failure to satisfactorily perform the Continuing Obligations that occurs subsequent to the expiration of the last non-competition restrictive
covenant under the LLC Agreement, the Company reserves all other rights available to it under the law and in equity.

2.5    BRP Group previously granted Employee (a) certain restricted shares of BRP Group’s Class A common stock, $0.01
par value (“Restricted Stock”), pursuant to one or more Restricted Stock Award Agreements, by and between BRP Group and Employee
(each a “RSA Award Agreement”), and BRP Group, Inc.’s Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), and (b) certain performance-based
restricted stock units (“PSUs”), pursuant to one or more PSU Award Agreements by and between BRP Group and Employee (each, a “PSU
Award Agreement”, and together with the RSA Award Agreement(s), the “Award Agreement(s)”). The Award Agreements provide for the
Restricted Stock and PSUs to vest over



time and subject to certain conditions contained therein. As further consideration for Employee’s Retirement, the Severance Conditions and
the Released Claims in this Agreement and in Addendum 1, and subject to Employee fully and completely meeting all of Employee’s
obligations set forth in this Agreement, including continuing to provide services to the Company through the Retirement Date, as the same
may be communicated to Employee from time to time by Employee’s leadership team, and executing Addendum 1 on the Retirement Date,
the Company agrees to permit the continued vesting of the Restricted Stock and PSUs following the Retirement Date (“Continued Vesting”),
in each case, subject to all other conditions of the Award Agreements and this Agreement, with the exception only of Employee’s continued
employment following the Retirement Date. For clarity, (i) no performance-based or time-based vesting terms shall be deemed modified by
this Agreement with respect to any Award Agreement, other than the continuing service-based vesting conditions of the Award Agreements
as so hereby modified, (ii) this Agreement does not, and shall not be construed to, accelerate the vesting of any shares of Restricted Stock or
PSUs granted pursuant to any Award Agreement and (iii) Employee will continue to qualify as a Covered Executive under BRP Group’s
Clawback Policy (the “Policy”), and as such, any applicable Incentive Compensation (as defined in the Policy) received by Employee
(including any Restricted Stock or PSUs previously granted to Employee) will remain subject to any applicable reimbursement or forfeiture
obligations to the extent required under the Policy.

2.6        For the avoidance of doubt, the parties to this Agreement hereby acknowledge and agree that (a) in the event
Employee’s employment with the Company is terminated prior to the Retirement Date by Employee for any reason or by the Company with
Cause (as defined in the Plan), or if the other conditions set forth in this Agreement, including Section 2.4 above, are not satisfied, (i) the
Company shall have no obligation to pay Employee any portion of the Severance Benefits as provided in this Section 2, (ii) all of the
unvested Restricted Stock and PSUs will be immediately forfeited in accordance with the applicable Award Agreement(s) and (iii) except as
provided in this Section 2.6(a), this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with the terms hereof, and (b) in the event
that (i) Employee’s employment with the Company is terminated by the Company without Cause prior to the Retirement Date, (ii) Employee
has otherwise complied with all of Employee’s obligations under this Agreement and (iii) the conditions set forth in this Agreement,
including Section 2.4 above, have been satisfied, then this Agreement, including the Company’s obligations under this Section 2, shall
continue in full force and effect in accordance with the terms hereof; provided, that, in the event of such earlier termination of Employee’s
employment by the Company without Cause, the Retirement Date shall be deemed to be the last date of Employee’s employment with the
Company.

2.7    For the avoidance of doubt, Employee’s death or disability prior to the Retirement Date shall not negate the Company’s
obligation to provide the Severance Benefits.

3.        Employee Protections. Nothing in this Agreement or otherwise limits Employee’s ability to communicate directly with and
provide information, including documents, not otherwise protected from disclosure by any applicable law or privilege to the Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) or any other federal, state or local governmental agency or commission (“Government Agencies”) regarding
possible legal violations, without disclosure to the Company. The Company may not retaliate against Employee for any of these activities,
and nothing in this Agreement or otherwise requires Employee to waive any monetary award or other payment that Employee might become
entitled to from the SEC or any other Government Agency. Nothing in this Agreement or otherwise requires Employee to disclose any
communications Employee may have had or information Employee may have provided to the SEC or any other Government Agencies
regarding possible legal violations. The Company shall instruct its Board of Directors, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer,
Chief Insurance Innovation Officer, Chief Operating Officer and General Counsel not to knowingly or intentionally, directly or indirectly,
orally, in writing or otherwise, make any disparaging statement or remark or damage or destroy the goodwill, reputation, and esteem of
Employee.



4.    Employee Obligations.

4.1    Employee agrees to execute Addendum 1 of this Agreement (Supplemental General Release) on the Retirement Date.
Employee understands and agrees that his right to the Severance Benefits set forth in Section 2 above (including his right to retain any
Severance Benefits paid to him) are conditioned upon Employee’s execution and non-revocation of Addendum 1.

4.2         Employee understands and agrees that, notwithstanding the termination of the Employee’s employment with the
Company or any other event or circumstance that has occurred up to the date of this Agreement, the following shall survive and continue in
full force and effect in accordance with their terms: (a) the entire RCA, (b) the applicable restrictive covenants and obligations contained in
Article 9 and Section 13.11 of the LLC Agreement; and (c) except as set forth in Section 3 of this Agreement, any other confidentiality,
nondisclosure, non-solicitation, non-acceptance, non-competition, non-disparagement, assignment of inventions or other similar obligations
imposed on Employee pursuant to any agreement previously entered into by and between Employee and the Company or its affiliate
(collectively, the “Continuing Obligations”). Further, except as set forth in Section 3 of this Agreement, Employee will not knowingly or
intentionally, directly or indirectly, orally, in writing or otherwise, make any disparaging statement or remark or damage or destroy the
goodwill and esteem of the Company or any other Released Party (as defined below), and the foregoing obligation shall constitute a
Continuing Obligation hereunder. Employee reconfirms all representations, warranties, and acknowledgements made in the Continuing
Obligations and hereby agrees that Employee shall strictly abide by all of the Continuing Obligations. The continued effectiveness of, and
Employee’s abiding by Employee’s obligations in, the Continuing Obligations are material inducements for the Company to enter into this
Agreement.

4.3       No later than seven (7) days after the Retirement Date, Employee shall return to the Company all property of the
Company in Employee’s possession or under Employee’s control, including but not limited to all Company records, files, equipment,
supplies, keys, confidential or proprietary information, credit card(s), laptop, parking pass, cell and/or smartphone, computer disks, thumb
drives, and other portable storage devices, except as set forth in Section 3 of this Agreement. In addition, except as set forth in Section 3 of
this Agreement, Employee shall return to the Company on a computer disk or thumb drive any electronically stored information that is the
property of the Company, including but not limited to, any data or files Employee has stored on Employee’s home or other computer or on a
portable storage device such as an external hard-drive, computer disk, or thumb drive.

4.4       Employee shall immediately disclose in writing to the Company any and all computer and software passwords and
related security protection information Employee used in Employee’s work with the Company.

4.5       Employee agrees that, except as set forth in Section 3 of this Agreement or as otherwise publicly disclosed by the
Company or BRP Group, Employee will preserve the confidentiality of this Agreement and not, directly or indirectly, discuss or disclose its
existence, substance, or contents to anyone except Employee’s attorney, Employee’s tax and/or financial advisor, Employee’s spouse, or as
compelled or authorized by law; provided that, except as set forth in Section 3 of this Agreement, Employee shall be responsible for ensuring
that this confidentiality provision is fully explained and advised to anyone to whom Employee makes a permitted disclosure under this
Section 4.5, and Employee shall be liable to the Company for any unauthorized disclosure(s) made by any such individuals or parties such
that any confidentiality breaches by such individuals or parties shall be considered breaches by the Employee. Employee acknowledges and
agrees that the Company would not have entered into this Agreement but for these confidentiality provisions.

4.6    Effective as of the Retirement Date, Employee agrees that Employee shall have no authority to and shall not enter or
attempt to enter into any agreements with third-parties on behalf of or

 



purportedly on behalf of the Company. Employee shall also not represent Employee as being employed by or associated with the Company.

4.7    Employee acknowledges and agrees that, except as set forth in Section 3 of this Agreement, Employee has disclosed to
Company management any and all incidents, events, procedures, practices, or occurrences, that Employee is aware of, which have the
potential of exposing the Company to any federal, state, or local civil monetary penalty or exclusion claim or any other claim that Employee
believes may have resulted in a violation of any other federal, state, or local statutes, rules, regulations or guidelines.

4.8        Employee further acknowledges that Employee is not aware of any unreported work-related illness or injury that
Employee has suffered that would entitle Employee to workers’ compensation benefits.

    
4.9       After the Retirement Date, Employee agrees to remain reasonably available to the Company and/or its counsel for

purposes of (a) providing ongoing consulting services to the Company as reasonably requested for a period not to exceed two (2) years
following the Retirement Date, (b) transitioning Employee’s duties, responsibilities and any tasks or projects in which Employee was
involved during Employee’s employment and (c) providing truthful testimony and otherwise assisting the Company and its counsel with any
actual or potential claims, legal disputes, investigations, or other proceedings involving matters within the scope of Employee’s knowledge,
duties, and/or responsibilities during Employee’s employment with the Company, except as set forth in Section 3 of this Agreement. Such
cooperation may include appearances in court, discovery proceedings, or meetings with the Company and/or its counsel. The Company will
pay Employee’s reasonable and documented, out-of-pocket travel and lodging expenses incurred in connection therewith. All
reimbursements made in conjunction with the foregoing are subject to Employee timely providing adequate written proof of expenses and
time (as applicable) spent.

4.10    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Employment Agreement, RCA, the LLC Agreement, any
Award Agreement, this Agreement or any other agreement between the parties, as further consideration for the Severance Benefits, Employee
and Company each agree that the provisions of Section 7 (Law; Venue; Dispute Resolution) of this Agreement shall exclusively govern the
relationship between Employee and Company and shall be the sole and exclusive choice of law and venue applicable to any dispute, claim or
cause of action between Employee and the Company, whether arising out of or related to the Employment Agreement, the RCA, the LLC
Agreement, any Award Agreement, this Agreement, any other agreement between the parties, or otherwise.

4.11    As further consideration for the Severance Benefits, Employee acknowledges and agrees that each of the Continuing
Obligations are valid, binding and enforceable, and Employee and the Releasing Parties (as defined below) irrevocably and unconditionally
agree not to seek, on any basis or in any forum, any invalidation, nonapplication or modification of any of the Continuing Obligations or the
choice of law and venue provided for in Section 4.10 and Section 7.

5.    Release and Covenant Not to Sue.

5.1        Employee, for Employee and Employee’s heirs, successors, and assigns, and anyone claiming by or through them
(collectively, the “Releasing Parties”), irrevocably and unconditionally releases, waives, forever discharges, and covenants not to sue the
Company and its direct and indirect parents, subsidiaries, members and affiliates (including but not limited to (a) Baldwin Risk Partners,
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, (b) BRP Main Street Insurance Holdings, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, (c) BRP
Insurance Intermediary Holdings, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, (d) BRP Middle Market Insurance Holdings, LLC, a Florida
limited liability company, and (e) BRP Medicare Insurance Holdings, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, and each of the direct and
indirect parents, subsidiaries, members and affiliates of each such company), and each of their respective present and former directors,
agents, attorneys, officers, employees, partners, investors, shareholders, members, managers, insurers, predecessors, successors, assigns, and
representatives (the “Released Parties”), from any and all actual or potential claims, complaints, liabilities, obligations, promises, actions,
causes of action, agreements, damages, costs, debts, and expenses of any kind, whether



known or unknown, that the Releasing Parties have ever had or now have from the beginning of time through the date Employee executes
this Agreement, excluding any claims under this Agreement and any claims for salary, bonuses, commissions, employee benefits, or
compensation or payments of any kind from the Company or any of its affiliates after the date the Employee executes this Agreement
through the Retirement Date and any claims under the LLC Agreement (collectively, the “Released Claims”). Without limitation, the
Released Claims include all claims arising out of, related to or connected with Employee’s employment, the termination of Employee’s
employment, or the payment of wages, salary, or any other benefit Employee received or claims Employee should have received in
connection with Employee’s employment; all claims under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended; (42 U.S. C. § 2000e, et
seq.); the Civil Rights Acts of 1866, 1871 and 1991, all as amended; 42 U.S.C. § 1981; the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, as
amended (29 U.S.C. § 2601, et seq.); the Families First Coronavirus Response Act of 2020; the Americans with Disabilities Act, as amended
(42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq.); the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended (29 U.S.C. § 793-94); the Fair Labor Standards Act, as amended (29
U.S.C. § 201, et. seq.); the Equal Pay Act of 1963, as amended (29 U.S.C. § 206); the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, as
amended (29 U.S.C. § 1001, et seq.) (except as to which the Employee has a vested entitlement and except any claim for benefits under any
employee benefit plan that has not been paid); the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 (29 U.S.C. § 1161, et seq.)
(except as provided in this Agreement); the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (the “ADEA”) (29 U.S.C. § 621 et seq.); the Older
Workers Benefit Protection Act of 1990 (the “OWBPA”) (29 U.S.C. § 623); the National Labor Relations Act; the Occupational Safety and
Health Act; the Fair Credit Reporting Act and any other federal or state whistle blower statute or regulation; Chapter 760 of the Florida Civil
Rights Act of 1992, as amended; Section 24, Article X of the Florida State Constitution; Section 448.110, Florida Statutes; Section 448.08,
Florida Statutes; any provision of Chapters 250, 440, 443, 447, 448, and 760 of Florida Statutes; the Florida General Labor Regulations, as
amended; any other federal, state, or local law, rule, regulation or ordinance; any obligations under, arising out of, or related to any other
actual or quasi-contract, including but not limited to, salary payments, bonus payments, any other payouts, benefits, stock, or stock options;
common law claims, including but not limited to claims of intentional or negligent infliction of emotional distress, negligent hiring, retention,
training or supervision, defamation, invasion of privacy, breach of a covenant of good faith and fair dealing, breach of fiduciary duty, breach
of express or implied contract, promissory estoppel, negligence or wrongful termination of employment; any claims for or to unpaid salary,
commissions, bonuses, incentive payments, expense reimbursements, health care benefits, life insurance, disability insurance, and any other
income or benefits the Releasing Parties received or claim they should receive; and all other claims of any kind, including but not limited to
any claims for attorneys’ fees. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Released Claims shall not include (i) any claims for indemnification
pursuant to the Company’s or BRP Group’s organizational documents, any indemnification agreement entered into by the Company or BRP
Group and Employee, or applicable law or (ii) any claims arising pursuant to this Agreement.

5.2        The Releasing Parties warrant and represent that, except in connection with the exercise of any legally protected
whistleblower rights as set forth in Section 3, they have not previously filed any lawsuits relating to any Released Claim against any Released
Party.

5.3      The Releasing Parties have not assigned or otherwise transferred any interest in any Released Claim. The Releasing
Parties shall not commence, join in, or in any manner seek relief through any suit arising out of, based upon, or relating to any Released
Claim.

5.4    If any provision of this release in Section 5 is held invalid, unenforceable, or void to any extent by a court of competent
jurisdiction, the provision shall be modified, if possible, by reducing its duration and scope to allow enforcement of the maximum
permissible duration and scope. The Company reserves the right to rescind this Agreement and recover all amounts paid under it if any
provision of this release is held invalid, unenforceable, or void by a court of competent jurisdiction in a final and nonappealable order, as a
result of a claim or counterclaim made by Employee challenging this release.



6.    Effectiveness; Review of this Agreement.

6.1    Except with respect to (a) the ADEA Release (as defined below), which shall not be effective until the ADEA Release
Effective Date (as defined below), and (b) the Addendum 1 ADEA Release (as defined in Addendum 1), which shall not be effective until the
Addendum 1 ADEA Release Effective Date (as defined in Addendum 1), this Agreement shall be effective as of the Effective Date.

6.2    Employee acknowledges that Employee has read each section of this Agreement, that this Agreement is written in a
manner calculated to be understood by Employee, and that Employee in fact understands Employee’s rights and obligations under this
Agreement, including the fact that Employee is waiving and releasing Employee’s rights to sue the Company. Employee is advised to consult
with legal counsel before executing this Agreement.

6.3    Employee acknowledges that the money being paid pursuant to this Agreement and any other consideration is in excess
of all monies or anything else of value owed to Employee.

6.4    Because Employee is forty (40) years of age or older, and because Employee is waiving in this Agreement claims for
age discrimination arising under the ADEA and the OWBPA (the “ADEA Release”), the parties hereby agree that the ADEA Release is not
effective or enforceable until the first (1st) day after the expiration of the Revocation Period as determined, and not revoked by the
Employee, pursuant to Section 6.6 (the “ADEA Release Effective Date”). If timely revoked, the ADEA Release (and only this specific
release) will be rendered null and void as if it never existed, and such revocation shall give the Company, at its option, the unilateral right to
declare this entire Agreement null and void, in which case the Company shall have no obligation to provide the Severance Benefits.
Employee fully understands all of the terms of the ADEA Release and knowingly and voluntarily enters into this Agreement.

6.5    Employee has up to twenty-one (21) calendar days following the receipt of this Agreement to consider this Agreement
before signing it. However, Employee may consider and sign this Agreement in less time if Employee so chooses. If Employee chooses to
return this Agreement before expiration of the 21-day period Employee does so freely and without duress. Any modification to this
Agreement, material or otherwise, will not restart or affect in any manner the running of the original 21-day period.

6.6        Employee may revoke the ADEA Release within seven (7) calendar days after Employee’s execution of this
Agreement (the “Revocation Period”). To revoke the ADEA Release, Employee shall deliver notice of such election in writing to the
Company’s representative, Seth Cohen, Esq., General Counsel (in accordance with Section 17), before 11:59 p.m. on the seventh day after
execution. If the seventh day does not fall on a business day, then the Revocation Period shall be deemed extended to 11:59 p.m. the next
business day.

7.       Law; Venue; Dispute Resolution. This Agreement has been delivered in the State of Florida and shall be governed by and
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida, and any action based upon or arising out of this Agreement, the Employment
Agreement, the RCA, the LLC Agreement or any Award Agreement shall lie exclusively in the federal or state courts located in Hillsborough
County, Florida, in each case, in accordance with Section 11 of the RCA. Employee and the Company agree to waive any right to have any
such issue resolved by a jury and cede to the Court all matters of law and fact for resolution. This Agreement shall not be construed to waive
any right of removal that may apply to any action filed in any court by either party.



8. Entire Agreement; Modification.

8.1    Employee acknowledges, agrees, and understands that the Continuing Obligations remain applicable and enforceable
and that nothing contained in this Agreement shall be interpreted as waiving, modifying, replacing, or terminating the Continuing
Obligations.

8.2    Subject to Section 4.2 above, this Agreement represents the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the subject
matters addressed herein. However, nothing in this Agreement affects the Employee’s rights under the LLC Agreement.

8.3    This Agreement may not be modified or amended by either party except upon a
written agreement signed by both parties.

9. No Fraud. The parties agree that no inducements, statements, or representations have been made that are not set forth in this
Agreement and that they did not rely on any inducements, statements, or representations not set forth herein.

10. Binding Effect; Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon the parties and their respective heirs,
devisees, legal representatives, personal representatives, successors, and assigns. However, this Agreement is not assignable by any party
without the prior written consent of the other parties, and any attempted assignment without the prior written consent of the other parties shall
be invalid and unenforceable against the other parties.

11. Counterparts and Originals. The parties may execute this Agreement in counterparts. Each executed counterpart shall be
deemed an original, and all of them together shall constitute one document.

12. Titles and Headings. The titles and headings of the various sections of this Agreement are intended solely for convenience
of reference and are not intended to explain, modify, or place any interpretation upon any of the provisions of this Agreement.

13. Severability. If any term or provision of this Agreement is determined to be illegal or unenforceable, to the extent possible,
such term or provision shall be severed from this Agreement and all other terms and provisions shall be remain in full force and effect.

14. Gender and Number. As used in this Agreement, the masculine, feminine or neuter gender, and the singular or plural
number, shall each include the others whenever the context so requires.

15. Interpretation. The language used in this Agreement shall not be construed in favor of or against any of the parties but shall
be construed as if all parties participated jointly in the preparation of this Agreement. The language used in this Agreement shall be deemed
to be the language chosen by the parties to express their mutual intent, and no rule of strict construction shall be applied against any party.

16. Legal Fees and Costs. In any legal proceeding or dispute that arises from this Agreement, the prevailing party (or parties)
may recover his, her, its, or their legal fees and costs from the non-prevailing party (or parties).

17. Notices. Except as otherwise specified in this Agreement, every demand, notice, consent, or approval required or permitted
to be given by a party under this Agreement will be valid only if it is (a) in writing, (b) delivered personally, by commercial courier, or by
first class, postage prepaid, United States mail (whether or not certified or registered and regardless of whether a return receipt is requested or



received by the sender) with a simultaneous copy delivered via email for any such delivery to the Company or Employee, and (c) addressed
by the sender to the intended recipient as follows:

If to Company, to: Attn: Seth Cohen, Esq., General Counsel
4211 W. Boy Scout Blvd., Ste. 800
Tampa, Florida 33607
E-mail: legalnotice@baldwinriskpartners.com

If to Employee, to: John A. Valentine
Address: the personal address maintained in the Company’s
records
E-mail: the personal email address maintained in the Company’s
records

ach party to this Agreement shall promptly notify every other party of any change in its mailing address.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
    

    

    



THE PARTIES ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THEY HAVE READ AND UNDERSTAND THE ENTIRE AGREEMENT, HAVE HAD A
REASONABLE PERIOD OF TIME TO CONSIDER THIS AGREEMENT PRIOR TO ITS ACCEPTANCE, HAVE BEEN
INSTRUCTED TO AND HAVE CONSULTED THEIR ATTORNEYS AS TO ITS CONTENTS AND EFFECT, AND ENTER THIS
AGREEMENT KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY.

EMPLOYEE VOLUNTARILY ENTERS INTO THIS AGREEMENT WITH THE INTENTION OF RELINQUISHING ALL
KNOWN AND UNKNOWN CLAIMS AND RIGHTS AGAINST THE RELEASED PARTIES.

PLEASE READ THIS AGREEMENT CAREFULLY. THE GENERAL RELEASES INCLUDE A RELEASE OF ALL KNOWN
AND UNKNOWN CLAIMS.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company and Employee have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.

EMPLOYEE:

Executed this 11/4/2023 .

/s/ John A. Valentine                    
John A. Valentine

THE COMPANY:
BALDWIN RISK PARTNERS, LLC

Executed this 11/4/2023 .




By: /s/ Seth Cohen            
Name: Seth Cohen            
Title: General Counsel            



BRP COLLEAGUE INC.

Executed this 11/4/2023 .




By: /s/ Seth Cohen            
Name: Seth Cohen            
Title: General Counsel            



ADDENDUM 1

SUPPLEMENTAL GENERAL RELEASE

This is an addendum (this “Addendum 1”), dated as of December 31, 2023, to that certain Retirement Agreement & General Release
(the “Agreement”), dated as of November 3, 2023, by and between John A. Valentine (“Employee”), Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (“BRP LLC”), and BRP Colleague Inc., a Florida corporation (“BRP Colleague”) (BRP LLC and BRP
Colleague are co-employers of Employee and collectively referred to herein as the “Company”). Capitalized terms that are used but not
defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Agreement.

The parties agree as follows:

1.    Employee, for Employee and Employee’s heirs, successors, and assigns, and anyone claiming by or through them (collectively,
the “Releasing Parties”), irrevocably and unconditionally releases, waives, forever discharges, and covenants not to sue the Company and its
direct and indirect parents, subsidiaries, members and affiliates (including but not limited to (a) Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company, (b) BRP Main Street Insurance Holdings, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, (c) BRP Insurance
Intermediary Holdings, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, (d) BRP Middle Market Insurance Holdings, LLC, a Florida limited
liability company, and (e) BRP Medicare Insurance Holdings, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, and each of the direct and indirect
parents, subsidiaries, members and affiliates of each such company), and each of their respective present and former directors, agents,
attorneys, officers, employees, partners, investors, shareholders, members, managers, insurers, predecessors, successors, assigns, and
representatives (the “Released Parties”), from any and all actual or potential claims, complaints, liabilities, obligations, promises, actions,
causes of action, agreements, damages, costs, debts, and expenses of any kind, whether known or unknown, that the Releasing Parties have
ever had or now have from the date Employee executed the Agreement through the date Employee executes this Addendum 1 excluding any
claims under the Agreement and the LLC Agreement (collectively, the “Addendum 1 Released Claims”). Without limitation, the Addendum
1 Released Claims include all claims arising out of, related to or connected with Employee’s employment, the termination of Employee’s
employment, or the payment of wages, salary, or any other benefit Employee received or claims Employee should have received in
connection with Employee’s employment; all claims under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended; (42 U.S. C. § 2000e, et
seq.); the Civil Rights Acts of 1866, 1871 and 1991, all as amended; 42 U.S.C. § 1981; the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, as
amended (29 U.S.C. § 2601, et seq.); the Families First Coronavirus Response Act of 2020; the Americans with Disabilities Act, as amended
(42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq.); the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended (29 U.S.C. § 793-94); the Fair Labor Standards Act, as amended (29
U.S.C. § 201, et. seq.); the Equal Pay Act of 1963, as amended (29 U.S.C. § 206); the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, as
amended (29 U.S.C. § 1001, et seq.) (except as to which the Employee has a vested entitlement and except for any claim for benefits not
paid); the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 (29 U.S.C. § 1161, et seq.) (except as provided under the Agreement);
the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (the “ADEA”) (29 U.S.C. § 621 et seq.); the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act of 1990 (the
“OWBPA”) (29 U.S.C. § 623); the National Labor Relations Act (NLRA); the Occupational Safety and Health Act (OSHA); the Fair Credit
Reporting Act (FCRA) and any other federal or state whistle blower statute or regulation; Chapter 760 of the Florida Civil Rights Act of
1992, as amended; Section 24, Article X of the Florida State Constitution; Section 448.110, Florida Statutes; Section 448.08, Florida Statutes;
any provision of Chapters 250, 440, 443, 447, 448, and 760 of Florida Statutes; the Florida General Labor Regulations, as amended; any
other federal, state, or local law, rule, regulation or ordinance; any obligations under, arising out of, or related to any other actual or quasi-
contract, including but not limited to, salary payments, bonus payments, any other payouts, benefits, stock, or stock options; common law
claims, including but not limited to claims of intentional or negligent infliction of emotional distress, negligent hiring, retention, training or
supervision, defamation, invasion of privacy, breach of a covenant of good faith and fair dealing, breach of fiduciary duty, breach of express
or implied contract, promissory estoppel, negligence or wrongful termination of employment; any claims for or to unpaid salary,
commissions, bonuses, incentive payments, expense reimbursements, health care



benefits, life insurance, disability insurance, and any other income or benefits the Releasing Parties received or claim they should receive;
and all other claims of any kind, including but not limited to any claims for attorneys’ fees.

2.     The Releasing Parties warrant and represent that except in connection with the exercise of any legally protected whistleblower
rights as set forth in Section 3 of the Agreement, they have not previously filed any lawsuits relating to any Released Claim against any
Released Party.

3.    The Releasing Parties have not assigned or otherwise transferred any interest in any Released Claim. The Releasing Parties shall
not commence, join in, or in any manner seek relief through any suit arising out of, based upon, or relating to any Released Claim.

4.        If any provision of this release in Section 1 is held invalid, unenforceable, or void to any extent by a court of competent
jurisdiction, the provision shall be modified, if possible, by reducing its duration and scope to allow enforcement of the maximum
permissible duration and scope. The Company reserves the right to rescind this Addendum 1 and recover all amounts paid under it if any
provision of this release is held invalid, unenforceable, or void by a court of competent jurisdiction in a final and nonappealable order, as a
result of a claim or counterclaim made by Employee challenging this release.

5.    Employee acknowledges that Employee has read this Addendum 1, that it is written in a manner calculated to be understood by
Employee, and that Employee in fact understands Employee’s rights and obligations under this Agreement, including the fact that Employee
is waiving and releasing Employee’s rights to sue the Company. Employee is advised to consult with legal counsel before executing this
Addendum 1.

6.    Except the Addendum 1 ADEA Release (as defined below), which shall not be effective until the Addendum 1 ADEA Release
Effective Date (as defined below), this Addendum 1 shall be effective as of the Addendum 1 Effective Date.

7.       Because Employee is forty (40) years of age or older, and because Employee is waiving in this Addendum 1 claims for age
discrimination arising under the ADEA and the OWBPA (the “Addendum 1 ADEA Release”), the parties hereby agree that the Addendum 1
ADEA Release is not effective or enforceable until the first (1st) day after the expiration of the Addendum 1 Revocation Period as
determined, and not revoked by the Employee, pursuant to Section 9 of this Addendum 1 (the “Addendum 1 ADEA Release Effective
Date”). If timely revoked, the Addendum 1 ADEA Release (and only this specific release) will be rendered null and void as if it never
existed, and such revocation shall give the Company, at its option, the unilateral right to declare the Agreement and this entire Addendum 1
null and void, in which case the Company shall have no obligation to provide the Severance Benefits. Employee fully understands all of the
terms of the Addendum 1 ADEA Release and knowingly and voluntarily enters into this Agreement.

8.    Employee has had up to twenty-one (21) calendar days following the receipt of this Addendum 1 to consider this Addendum 1
before signing it. However, Employee may consider and sign this Addendum 1 in less time if Employee so chooses. If Employee chooses to
return this Addendum 1 before expiration of the 21-day period Employee does so freely and without duress. Any modification to this
Addendum 1, material or otherwise, will not restart or affect in any manner the running of the original 21-day period

9.    Employee further understands that Employee may revoke the Addendum 1 ADEA Release within seven (7) calendar days after
Employee’s execution of this Addendum 1 (the “Addendum 1 Revocation Period”) by delivering a notice of revocation in writing to the
Company’s representative, Seth Cohen, Esq., General Counsel, before 11:59 p.m. on the seventh day after execution.



PLEASE READ THIS ADDENDUM 1 CAREFULLY. THIS GENERAL RELEASE INCLUDES 
A RELEASE OF ALL KNOWN AND UNKNOWN CLAIMS.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company and Employee have executed this Addendum 1 as of the date first above written.

EMPLOYEE:

Executed this 12/31/2023 .

/s/ John A. Valentine                    
John A. Valentine

THE COMPANY:
BALDWIN RISK PARTNERS, LLC

Executed this 12/31/2023 .




By: /s/ Seth Cohen            
Name: Seth Cohen            
Title: General Counsel            



BRP COLLEAGUE INC.

Executed this 12/31/2023 .




By: /s/ Seth Cohen            
Name: Seth Cohen            
Title: General Counsel            



EXHIBIT 21

BRP Group, Inc. List of Subsidiaries as of February 28, 2024
Company Name State of Incorporation

Baldwin Risk Partners, LLC Delaware
Baldwin Krystyn Sherman Partners, LLC Florida
BRP Colleague Inc. Florida
BRP Middle Market Insurance Holdings, LLC Florida
BRP Insurance Intermediary Holdings, LLC Florida
BRP Main Street Insurance Holdings, LLC Florida
BRP Medicare Insurance Holdings, LLC Florida
BRP Insurance I, LLC Florida
BRP Insurance II, LLC Florida
BRP Insurance III, LLC Florida
Connected Risk Solutions, LLC Florida
Guided Insurance Solutions, LLC Florida
BRP Financial Services Holdings, LLC Florida
BKS Financial Investments, LLC Florida
BRP Securities, LLC Florida
Millennial Specialty Insurance, LLC Florida
BKS Venture Investments, LLC Florida
Armfield, Harrison & Thomas, LLC Florida
Insgroup, LLC Florida
Insgroup Dallas, LLC Florida
360 Rx Solutions, LLC Florida
Burnham Benefits Insurance Services, LLC Florida
Burnham Gibson Wealth Advisors, LLC Florida
Burnham Risk and Insurance Solutions, LLC Florida
BRP Effective Coverage, LLC Florida
Connected Captive Solutions, LLC Florida
Connected Captive Solutions (Turks & Caicos), Ltd. Turks & Caicos
The Capital Group Investment Advisory Services, LLC Florida
BRP Colleague II Inc. Florida
Preferred Property Program, LLC Illinois
Preferred Property Risk Purchasing Group, LLC Florida
Construction Risk Partners, LLC New Jersey
AHT GovConRisk, LLC Virginia
Westwood Insurance Agency LLC California
MSI of New York, LLC New York
Emerald Bay Insurance Group, LLC Florida
Baldwin Risk Partners (Engaging), LLC Florida
Baldwin Risk Partners (Genuine), LLC Florida
BKS Partners Galati Marine Solutions, LLC Florida
BKS MS, LLC Florida
BKS Smith, LLC Florida
Laureate Insurance Partners, LLC Florida



Company Name State of Incorporation

The Baldwin Group Specialty Solutions, LLC Florida
Juniper Re, LLC Florida
Juniper Re Bermuda, Ltd. Bermuda
Baldwin Risk Partners Insurance Brokers, LLC New York



EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (No. 333-275370) and Form S-8 (Nos. 333-

261126, 333-254162, 333-251194, 333-237384, 333-234309, 333-263196 and 333-270105) of BRP Group, Inc. of our report dated February

28, 2024 relating to the financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-

K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Tampa, Florida

February 28, 2024



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13A-14(a),

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Trevor L. Baldwin, certify that:

1.    I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of BRP Group, Inc.;

2.    Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.    Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.    The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a)    designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)    designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)    evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)    disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an Annual Report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.    The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)    all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)    any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
 

/s/ Trevor L. Baldwin
Trevor L. Baldwin
Chief Executive Officer
Date: February 28, 2024



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION BY CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13A-14(a),

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Bradford L. Hale, certify that:

1.    I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of BRP Group, Inc.;

2.    Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.    Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.    The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a)    designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)    designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)    evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)    disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an Annual Report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5.    The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)    all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)    any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.
 

/s/ Bradford L. Hale
Bradford L. Hale
Chief Financial Officer
Date: February 28, 2024



EXHIBIT 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with BRP Group, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 (the “Report”) for the purpose of
complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States
Code.

Trevor L. Baldwin, Chief Executive Officer, and Bradford L. Hale, Chief Financial Officer, of BRP Group, Inc. (the “Company”), each certify to the best of such officer’s knowledge, that:

1.    The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

2.    The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 

Date: February 28, 2024 By: /s/ Trevor L. Baldwin

    Trevor L. Baldwin

    Chief Executive Officer

     
Date: February 28, 2024 By: /s/ Bradford L. Hale

    Bradford L. Hale

    Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 97

BRP Group, Inc. 

Clawback Policy

Effective December 1, 2023

Introduction

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of BRP Group, Inc. (the “Company”) believes that it is in the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders to create and maintain a culture that emphasizes integrity and accountability and that reinforces the
Company’s pay-for-performance compensation philosophy. The Board has therefore adopted this policy (this “Policy”) which
provides for the recoupment of certain executive compensation in the event that the Company is required to prepare an
accounting restatement due to the Company’s material noncompliance with any financial reporting requirement under the
securities laws, including any required accounting restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial statements that is
material to the previously issued financial statements, or that would result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected
in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period (an “Applicable Restatement”). All determinations of “materiality”
shall be made by the Board in its sole discretion.

Administration

This Policy shall be administered by the Board or, if so designated by the Board, the Compensation Committee, in which case
references herein to the Board shall be deemed references to the Compensation Committee. Any determinations made by the
Board under the Policy (including, without limitation, the amount of Incentive Compensation subject to recoupment, repayment
or forfeiture, and the timing and process relating to such recoupment, repayment or forfeiture) shall be made by the Board in its
sole discretion and shall be final and binding on all affected individuals.

Covered Executives

This Policy applies to the following individuals (“Covered Executives”):

• all individuals who are current or former executive officers of the Company for purposes of Section 16 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”); provided, that “executive officer” shall mean the Company’s
president, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer (or if there is no such accounting officer, the controller),
any vice-president of the Company in charge of a principal business unit, division, or function (such as sales,
administration, or finance), any other officer who performs a policy-making function, or any other person who performs
similar policymaking functions for the Company; provided, further, executive officers of the Company’s parent(s) or
subsidiaries are deemed executive officers of the Company if they perform such policy making functions for the
Company;

• all current and former members of the Company’s executive leadership team designated by the Board to be covered by
this Policy from time to time; and



• all other individuals as may be designated by the Board to be covered by this Policy from time to time.

Recoupment; Accounting Restatement

In the event the Company is required to prepare an Applicable Restatement, the Board shall require reimbursement or forfeiture
of any excess Incentive Compensation received by any Covered Executive during the three completed fiscal years immediately
preceding the date the Company is required to prepare the Applicable Restatement; provided, however, the date the Company is
required to prepare the Applicable Restatement shall be the earlier of the date (i) the Company’s Board concludes, or reasonably
should have concluded, that the Company is required to prepare the Applicable Restatement, or (ii) a court, regulator, or other
legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare the Applicable Restatement. Incentive Compensation shall be deemed
received in the Company’s fiscal year during which the applicable financial reporting measure causes the Incentive
Compensation to be granted, earned or vested, even if payment or grant of the Incentive Compensation occurs after the end of
that fiscal year.

Incentive Compensation

For purposes of this Policy, “Incentive Compensation” means any of the following; provided that, such compensation is
granted, earned, or vested based wholly or in part upon the attainment of a financial reporting measure:

• Annual bonuses and other short- and long-term cash incentives;
• Stock options;
• Stock appreciation rights;
• Restricted stock;
• Restricted stock units (including “PSUs”);
• Performance shares;
• Performance units; and/or
• All awards granted under the Company’s Omnibus Incentive Plan or the Company’s Partnership Inducement Award Plan,

each as may be amended from time to time and any successor thereto.

Financial reporting measures shall mean (i) measures that are determined and presented in accordance with the accounting
principles used in the Company’s financial statements, and any measures that are derived wholly or in part from such measures,
and (ii) any other objective financial measures. Financial reporting measures shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

• Company stock price;
• Total shareholder return;
• Revenues;
• Net income;
• Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization (EBITDA);
• Adjusted EBITDA;
• Organic growth;
• Liquidity measures such as working capital, operating cash flow or free cash flow;
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• Return measures such as return on invested capital or return on assets; and
• Earnings measures such as earnings per share.

Excess Incentive Compensation: Amount Subject to Recovery

The amount, if any, as determined by the Board, to be recovered will be the excess of the Incentive Compensation paid to the
Covered Executive based on the erroneous data over the Incentive Compensation that would have been paid to the Covered
Executive had it been based on the Applicable Restatement, as determined by the Board. The amount of recoupment of Incentive
Compensation shall be calculated without regard to any taxes paid with respect to the Incentive Compensation paid or to be paid.

If the Board cannot determine the amount of excess Incentive Compensation received by the Covered Executive directly from the
information in the Applicable Restatement, including any Incentive Compensation based on stock price and/or total shareholder
return, then it will make its determination based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the Applicable Restatement and the
Company shall maintain documentation of such reasonable estimate.

Method of Recoupment

The Board will determine, in its sole discretion, the method for recouping Incentive Compensation hereunder which may include,
without limitation:

(a) requiring reimbursement of cash Incentive Compensation previously paid;

(b) seeking recovery of any gain realized on the vesting, exercise, settlement, sale, transfer, or other disposition of any equity-
based awards;

(c) offsetting the recouped amount from any compensation otherwise owed by the Company to the Covered Executive, to the
extent permitted by applicable law;

(d) cancelling outstanding vested or unvested equity awards; and/or

(e) taking any other remedial and recovery action permitted by law, as determined by the Board.

No Indemnification

The Company shall not indemnify any Covered Executives against the loss of any Incentive Compensation subject to recoupment
under this Policy.
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Interpretation

The Board is authorized to interpret and construe this Policy and to make all determinations necessary, appropriate, or advisable
for the administration of this Policy.

Effective Date

This Policy shall be effective as of the date it is first adopted by the Board (the “Effective Date”) and shall apply to Incentive
Compensation that is approved, awarded or granted to Covered Executives on or after that date.

Amendment; Termination

The Board may amend this Policy from time to time in its discretion and shall amend this Policy as it deems necessary to reflect
any future regulations adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under, and to comply with, any future rules or
standards adopted by the national securities exchange on which the Company’s securities are listed.

Other Recoupment Rights

The Board may require that any employment agreement, equity award agreement, or similar agreement entered into on or after
the Effective Date shall, as a condition to the grant of any benefit thereunder, require a Covered Executive to agree to abide by
the terms of this Policy, however, even in the absence of such an express requirement, any applicable agreement or other
document setting for the terms and conditions of any compensation covered by the Policy shall be deemed to include the
restrictions imposed herein and to incorporate the Policy by reference and, in the event of any inconsistency, the terms of the
Policy will govern. Any right of recoupment under this Policy is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other remedies or rights of
recoupment that may be available to the Company pursuant to the terms of any similar policy in any employment agreement,
equity incentive plan or award agreement, or similar agreement and any other legal remedies available to the Company. To the
extent that any applicable law or securities market or exchange rules or regulations permit or require recovery of compensation in
circumstances in addition to those specified herein, nothing in this Policy will be deemed to limit or restrict the right or obligation
of the Company to recover such compensation to the fullest extent permitted or required by such law, rules or regulations.

Successors

This Policy shall be binding and enforceable against all Covered Executives and their beneficiaries, heirs, executors,
administrators or other legal representatives.
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